



Marsland Press

PO Box 180432, Richmond Hill, New York 11418, USA

Website: http://www.sciencepub.net

Emails: editor@sciencepub.net sciencepub@gmail.com

Phone: (347) 321-7172

Life Science Journal 2012 Volume 9, Number 2, Part 5 SSN:1097-8135





Volume 9, Number 2, Part 5 June 25, 2012 ISSN:1097-8135

Life Science Journal



Websites: http://www.lifesciencesite.com http://www.sciencepub.net

Emails: lifesciencej@gmail.com editor@sciencepub.net

Volume 9, Number 2, Part 5 June 25, 2012 ISSN:1097-8135

Life Science Journal





Websites: http://www.lifesciencesite.com http://www.sciencepub.net

Emails: lifesciencej@gmail.com editor@sciencepub.net



Acta Zhengzhou University Oversea Version

(Life Sci J)

Life Science Journal, the Acta Zhengzhou University Oversea Version, is an international journal with the purpose to enhance our natural and scientific knowledge dissemination in the world under the free publication principle. The journal is calling for papers from all who are associated with Zhengzhou University-home and abroad. Any valuable papers or reports that are related to life science - in their broadest sense - are welcome. Other academic articles that are less relevant but are of high quality will also be considered and published. Papers submitted could be reviews, objective descriptions, research reports, opinions/debates, news, letters, and other types of writings. Let's work together to disseminate our research results and our opinions.

Editor-in-Chief: Shen, Changyu, Ph.D., Professor, Chinese Academy of Sciences

Associate Editors-in-Chief: Ma, Hongbao; Cherng, Shen; Xin, Shijun

Editorial Boards: Aghdam, Hashemi; An, Xiuli; Chandra, Avinash; Chen, George; Dong, Ziming; Duan, Guangcai; Edmondson, Jingjing; Gao, Danying; Huang, Shuan-Yu; Li, Xinhua; Li, Yuhua; Lindley, Mark; Liu, Hua; Liu, Hongmin; Ma, Margret; Qi, Yuanming; Sabyasachi Chatterjee; Shang, Fude; Shi, Lifeng; Song, Chunpeng; Sun, Yingpu; Wang, Lidong; Wen, Jianguo; Xu, Cunshuan; Xu, Yuming; Xue, Changgui; Zaki, Mona; Zhang, Jianying; Zhang, Kehao; Zhang, Shengjun; Zhang, Xueguo; Zhang, Zhan; Zhang, Zhao; Zhu, Huaijie

Introductions to Authors

1. General Information

- (1) Goals: As an international journal published both in print and on internet, Life Science Journal is dedicated to the dissemination of fundamental knowledge in all areas of nature and science. The main purpose of Life Science Journal is to enhance our knowledge spreading in the world under the free publication principle. It publishes full-length papers (original contributions), reviews, rapid communications, and any debates and opinions in all the fields of nature and science.
- (2) What to Do: The Life Science Journal provides a place for discussion of scientific news, research, theory, philosophy, profession and technology - that will drive scientific progress. Research reports and regular manuscripts that contain new and significant information of general interest are welcome.
- (3) Who: All people are welcome to submit manuscripts in life science fields. Papers of other fields are also considered.
- (4) Copyright and Responsibility of Authors to their Articles: When the manuscript(s) is submitted to the journal, the authors agree the following: All the authors have participated sufficiently in this work; The article is not published elsewhere; Authors are responsibility on the contents of the article; The journal and author(s) have same right for the copyright of the article and either of the journal or author(s) can use it by anyway without noting the other party.
- (5) Publication Costs: US\$500 per article to defray costs of the publication will be paid by the authors when it is received. Extra expense for color reproduction of figures will be paid by authors (estimate of cost will be provided by the publisher for the author's approval).
- (6) Advertisements: The price will be calculated as US\$400/page, i.e. US\$200/a half page, US\$100/a quarter page, etc. Any size of the advertisement is welcome.

2. Manuscript Preparation

Each manuscript is suggested to include the following components but authors can do their own ways:

(1) Title: including the complete article title; each author's full name; institution(s) with which each author is affiliated,

with city, state/province, zip code, and country; and the name, complete mailing address, telephone number, facsimile number (if available), and at least one email address for author(s). (2) Abstract: including Background, Materials and Methods, Results, and Discussions. (3) Key Words. (4) Introduction. (5) Materials and Methods. (6) Results. (7) Discussions. (8) Acknowledgments. (9) References.

3. Manuscripts Submission

- (1) Submission Methods: Submission through email (editor@sciencepub.net) is encouraged.
- (2) Software: The Microsoft Word file will be preferred.
- (3) Font: Normal, Times New Roman, 10 pt, single space.
- (4) Indent: Type 2 space in the beginning of each new paragraph.
- (5) Manuscript: Don't use "Footnote" or "Header and Footer".
- (6) Email: At least one author's email must be put under title.
- (7) Title: Use Title Case in the title and subtitles, e.g. "Debt and Agency Costs".
- (8) Figures and Tables: Use full word of figure and table, e.g. "Figure 1. Annul Income of Different Groups", Table 1. Annual Increase of Investment".
- (9) References: Cite references by "last name, year", e.g. "(Smith, 2003)". References should include all the authors' last names and initials, title, journal, year, volume, issue, and pages etc.

Reference Examples:

Journal Article: Hacker J, Hentschel U, Dobrindt U. Prokaryotic chromosomes and disease. Science 2003;301(34):790-3. **Book**: Berkowitz BA, Katzung BG. Basic and clinical evaluation of new drugs. In: Katzung BG, ed. Basic and clinical pharmacology. Appleton & Lance Publisher. Norwalk, Connecticut, USA. 1995:60-9.

(10) Submission Address: <u>editor@sciencepub.net</u>, Marsland Press, PO Box 180432, Richmond Hill, New York 11418, USA, 347-321-7172.

Marsland Press / Zhengzhou University

PO Box 180432, Richmond Hill, New York 11418, USA http://www.lifesciencesite.com; http://www.sciencepub.net lifesciencej@gmail.com; editor@sciencepub.net

© 2005-2012 Marsland Press / Zhengzhou University

CONTENTS

94	Childhood Brain Lesions: 15 years Experience of King Abdul-Aziz University Hospital (1995-2010) Hessa M. AlJhdali and Awatif A. Jamal	617-623
95	Propolis versus Daktarin® in mucosal wound healing Zoba H. Ali and Heba Mahmoud Dahmoush	624-636
96	Effect of Openings on the Static and Dynamic Behavior of Quadratic Folded Plate Roofing SystemsHala Elkady and Ahmed Hassan	637-646
97	Screening tuberculosis in the Sistan region of Iran: A Population-Based Study Mosayeb Shahryar, Abbasali Niazi and Behzad Narouie	647-650
98	Natural Radioactivity and Heavy Metal s in Milk Consumed in Saudi Arabia and Population Dose Rate Estimates J. H. Al-Zahrani	651-656
99	Effect of Acute Apelin Injection on Cardiac Muscle Performance in both Normal and Diabetic Rats Mohammad I. Shehata, Mostafa H. Abdel-Salam, Dalia I. Abd Alaleem, and Hadeel A Al-Sherbiny	657-669
100	Phenolic and biological activities of <i>Vitex trifolia</i> aerials parts Salah EL- Kousy, Mona Mohamed, Shimaa Mohamed	670-677
101	Determinants of medical care service personnel knowledge sharing intention: an empirical study Ming-Tien Tsai, Kun-Shiang Chen	678-680
102	Sputum Cytology – An Underutilized Diagnostic Tool: A Single Institute Experience Awatif Jamal and Ibrahim Mansoor	681-685
103	Withdrawn	686-691
104	Prognostic Value of Cyclin E and Cyclin Dependent Kinase Inhibitor (P27) Gene Expression in Non – Hodgkin's Lymphoma Manal A. Eid; Basma M. Elgamal; Ghada M. Ezat; Eman A. Amer and Hoda A. Salem	692-699
105	Effect of Seasonal Temperature Changes on Thyroid Structure and Hormones Secretion of White Grouper (EpinephelusAeneus) in Suez Gulf, Egypt Hossam H. Abbas, Mohammad M. Authman, Mona S. Zaki and Gamal F. Mohamed	700-705
106	Metabolic syndrome and risk of Coronary Artery Disease in west of Iran Shila Berenjy , Asmah Bt Rahmat , Zaitun Bt Yassin , Lye Munn Sann , Farzad Sahebjamee , Parichehr Hanachi	706-717
107	Beneficial effects of the burdock ferment liquid on diabetic disorders in STZ-induced diabetic rats Tsung-Hung Chang, I-Min Liu, Chi-Ting Horng, Feng-Chi Tsai, Daih-Huang Kuo, Po-Chuen Shieh, Shih-Chiang Lee, Jeng-Chuan Shiang, Fu-An Chen	718-726
108	Chemical Characteristics and Antioxidant Capacity of Egyptian and Chinese Sunflower	727-735

Seeds: A Case Study S.F. Hamed, Suzanne M. Wagdy, and M.G. Megahed

Synthesis and molecular modeling study of novel pyrrole Schiff Bases as anti-HSV-1 agents Khalid M H Hilmy Dalia H Soliman Esmat B A Shahin Rakia Abd Alhameed	736-745
Analysis of medications returned to community pharmacies in Alexandria, Egypt Samaa Z. Ibrahim, Heba M. Mamdouh and Iman Z. El-Haddad	746-751
Efficiency of some Disinfectants on Bacterial Wound Pathogens Thomas Benjamin Thoha, Musa Oluwaseunfunmi Sikirat, Raheem-Ademola Remi Ramota, Kolawole Rachael, AdebareJohnson Adeleke	752-755
Reduction of Toxic Cr6+ Ions in Presence of Non Toxic Acid Mona A. Darweesh	756-762
Plasma Levels of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Dress Style in a Sample of Egyptian Female University Students	763-767
	 Synthesis and molecular modeling study of novel pyrrole Schiff Bases as anti-HSV-1 agents Khalid M. H. Hilmy, Dalia H. Soliman, Esmat B. A. Shahin, Rakia Abd Alhameed Analysis of medications returned to community pharmacies in Alexandria, Egypt Samaa Z. Ibrahim , Heba M. Mamdouh and Iman Z. El-Haddad Efficiency of some Disinfectants on Bacterial Wound Pathogens Thomas Benjamin Thoha, Musa Oluwaseunfunmi Sikirat, Raheem-Ademola Remi Ramota, Kolawole Rachael, AdebareJohnson Adeleke Reduction of Toxic Cr6+ Ions in Presence of Non Toxic Acid Mona A. Darweesh Plasma Levels of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Dress Style in a Sample of Egyptian Female University Students Maggie M. Fawzi, Enas Swelam and Nagwa S. Said

Childhood Brain Lesions: 15 years Experience of King Abdulaziz University Hospital (1995-2010)

Hessa M. AlJhdali and Awatif A. Jamal

Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, King Abdulaziz University and Hospital Jeddah, Saudi Arabia awatjamal@yahoo.com

Abstract: Pediatric age brain lesions can be of neoplastic and non-neoplastic nature, the latter include: congenital malformations, inflammatory processes, vascular and cystic lesions. One of most concerning brain pathology in childhood age is CNS tumors. Malignant brain tumors are the second most common type of pediatric cancer after leukemia. Cancer of the brain and central nervous system comprised 17% of malignancies in children younger than 20 years of age . In Saudi Arabia childhood CNS cancer accounted 11.3% of all childhood cancers. The current study presented the experience of King Abdulaziz University Hospital regarding Childhood Brain Lesions diagnosed over 15 vears period (1995 to 2010) considering frequency, morphological pattern and the demographic data (age distribution and gender) of these lesions and further compared the findings with the national and international experience. A retrospective study conducted using a computerized search of the archives of Pathology Department at King Abdulaziz University Hospital in Jeddah; from 1995 tell 2010 to retrieve all the brain cases inclusive of all brain regions. In 15 years period 71 cases (25.1%) out of total brain lesions (283 cases) were childhood brain lesions. Non-neoplastic lesions were 40.8% and neoplastic lesions were 59.2%. Congenital malformations (23.9%) were the commonest nonneoplastic brain lesions, while neuroepithelial tumors ranked first among neoplastic lesions and accounted for 25.4% of childhood brain lesions (CBL) in the study. The astrocytic tumors comprised the majority of the glial tumors (94.4%) with mean age of 8.3 years and M: F ratio 1.4:1. The pilocytic astrocytoma represented 64.7% of all astrocytic tumors. The second malignant tumor was embryonal tumors (medulloblastoma) and accounted for 18.3 % of CBL with male predominance. In conclusion, a single institute experience was reported revealing that primary CNS tumors were the commonest brain lesions in the pediatric age. Furthermore, in concurrence with the national and international experience, astrocytic tumors ranked as first primary CNS tumor of childhood age, followed by medulloblastoma. [Hessa M. AlJhdali and Awatif A. Jamal. Childhood Brain Lesions: 15 years Experience of King Abdulaziz University Hospital (1995-2010). Life Sci J 2012;9(2):617-623]. (ISSN:1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 94

Keywords: Pediatric; brain; lesion; neoplastic; congenital malformation; inflammatory; medulloblastoma

1. Introduction

Pediatric age brain lesions can be of neoplastic and non-neoplastic nature and include benign or malignant, primary or secondary neoplasms, as well as congenital malformation, inflammatory or parasitic mass, different types of cysts and vascular lesions ^[1-2]. One of most concerning brain pathology in the childhood pediatric age group is brain tumor because children with CNS cancer do not share the favorable prognosis of those with many other common pediatric neoplasms ^[3]. Cancer of the brain and central nervous system comprise 17% of malignancies in children younger than 20 years of age and the leading cause of cancer death among children ^[4]. Malignant brain tumors are the second most common type of pediatric cancer after leukemia and it is the most common solid tumor ^[3-4]. The annual incidence rate of all primary non-malignant and malignant brain and central nervous system tumors is 16.5 cases per 1000,000 person/ year, and in pediatric age, the annual incidence rate for primary non-malignant and malignant brain and central nervous system tumors is 4.5 cases per 100,000 person/ years ^[5]. In the United state approximately 2200 children younger than the age of 20 are diagnosed with a brain tumor each year ^[3].

Brain tumor represents 22% of the total childhood cancers (< 15 years of age) in Europe, and account for 16% of total childhood cancer in Latin America, 4% in Africa and 19% in East Asia ^[6]. Studies from the Central and Eastern provinces of Saudi Arabia reported lower incidence of childhood primary CNS tumors. Akhtar & Reves ^[7] showed that Lymphomas (Hodgkin's disease accounted for 34%, Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma accounted for 32%) was the commonest tumors among the children under 14 years, leukemias accounted for 19.35% and brain tumors ranked third and accounted for 6.45% of pediatric age tumors. Ibrahim^[8] documented a lower rate of CNS neoplasms in the Eastern province. The total cases of primary CNS tumors identified per annum were 43 cases, the incidence of primary CNS neoplasms was 3.1/100,000 of the total population and it was 2.9/100,000 in Saudis. Saudi Cancer Registry 2007^[4], reported that childhood cancers accounted for 7% of all cancers among Saudis and brain (CNS) cancer accounted for 11.3% of all childhood cancers and it is second cause of childhood cancer after Leukemia which accounted for 34.6% in Saudi children. The incidence of childhood primary CNS neoplasms in Saudi Arabia is far less than the

incidence reported in North America & Europe, but it is similar to that reported for Chinese and black Americans and it is less than the one reported by the Ashkenazi or Safari Jews^[8].

Gurney *et al.* ^[3] reported that the most frequent encountered brain tumor is astrocytomas which accounted for 52% of childhood brain tumors, followed by cerebellar PNET (medulloblastoma) which accounted for 21%, ependymomas accounted for 9%, and other gliomas accounted for 15%.

Ansari & Al-Hilli ^[10] showed that the incidence of malignant brain and spinal cord neoplasms in Bahrain is very low and might be attributed to the small number of Bahraini population, inefficient registration of cancers, and the lack of routine hospital autopsies. Amongst the Bahraini population. astrocytomas were the most common tumor seen in children and comprised 25% of malignant primary CNS tumors. Medulloblastoma ranked as second malignant primary CNS tumor and accounted for 16.9% of all primary CNS neoplasms. Astrocytomas and medulloblastoma were the commonest primary malignant CNS neoplasms in both adults and children.

Jamjoom^[1] revealed that neuroepihelial tumors were the most common intracranial neoplasm (39.7% of the total) and they constituted 73% of all brain tumors below the age of 15 years. **Memon et al.** ^[11] & **Zakrzewski et al.** ^[12] supported the fact that astrocytoma is the most frequent childhood tumor. However, institutional based studies carried in Pakistan by **Ahmed et al.** ^[13] documented predominance of medulloblastoma and paucity of astrocytoma. Furthermore, **Nasir et al.** ^[14] study reported that medulloblastoms did account for 33.3% and astrocytoma accounted for 24.7% of all primary brain tumors among children.

Cerebral neoplasms are heterogeneous tumors in regard to histology and clinical course; there are several classification systems to describe CNS tumors. The World Health Organization Classification System ^[15] and the American Collage of Pathologists update ^[16] were used in the current study to classify CNS neoplasms.

The objective of the current study to report all Childhood brain lesions diagnosed at King Abdulaziz University Hospital over a period of 15years (from 1995 to 2010), including the frequency, the histopathological entities encountered, the age distribution and the gender of the patients. Furthermore, it compared the study findings with national and international experience.

2. Materials and Methods

A retrospective study performed using a computerized search of the archives of Histopathology Department at King Abdulaziz University Hospital in Jeddah from 1995 tell 2010 to retrieve all the brain

cases inclusive of all brain regions. The data was collected using appropriate morphological SNOMED codes (Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine) obtaining the following information, receiving date of the specimen, Hospital identification number, demographic information (age & gender), clinical diagnosis, topography and morphology information. Data double checked, exported to Microsoft Excel program and SPSS program (version14) for analysis. Out of the 283 cases of brain lesions retrieved from the archives between 1995- 2010, Seventy one cases (71) represented the study group of childhood brain lesions, the cut off age range used to represent the pediatric age group in the present study is from 0 day to 18 years.

The pathological reports and available H&E sections as well as the available performed immunehistochemical stained sections, were collected and revised by the pathologist. Detailed radiological imaging as MRI images or both CT and MRI imaging studies information before and after treatment were available from the Radiology Department for the majority of the cases. Detailed Clinical data and follow-up data of the patients were beyond the scope of the study, except for the concise and brief information attached to the pathology request.

3. Results

The current retrospective study is based on histopathological review, associated with radiological correlation, of total brain lesions received during 1995 – 2010 at the Department of Histopathology at King Abdulaziz University (KAUH).

A total of 283 brain surgical cases were received and were 152 (53.7%) male cases and 131 (46.3%) female cases. M: F ratio was 1.2:1 and the age ranged between 0day-99 years (mean age 33.5 years). The cases were divided into two age groups, Adult brain lesions and Childhood brain lesions (Table 1).

71 cases out of 283 cases of total brain lesions were childhood brain lesions and accounted for 25.1% of the total brain lesions with mean age of 6.9 years and M: F ratio of 1.6:1. The frequency of various histological childhood brain lesions in the study were: congenital malformations accounted for 23.9%, infection and inflammatory lesions accounted 12.7%, benign lesions accounted for 4.2% and primary brain tumors accounted for 59. 2%. The total primary brain tumors were neuroepithelial tumors accounted for 25.4%, and non-neuroepithelial tumors accounted for 33.7% (Figure 1). The most common childhood brain tumors diagnosed were the neuroepithelial tumors 18 cases accounted for 25.4% and 13 cases of embryonal tumors and accounted for 18.3% of total brain lesions. Mesenchymal and meningeal tumors were 5 cases and accounted for 7% of benign tumors and sellar region tumors and germ cell tumors each accounted for 4.2% (Figure 1). Embryonal tumors and tumors of the

mesenchymal	and	meninges,	showed	male	predominance.
2		0,			1

Total Brain Lesions= 283 case	Age Range	M:F Ratio	% of Total
			Brain Lesions-283
Adult Brain Lesions= 212 cases	19-99 yrs (Mean= 45.3yrs)	1.1 M: 1 F	74.9%
Childhood Brain Lesions= 71 cases	0day-18yrs (Mean= 6.97yrs)	1.6 M: 1 F	25,1%





Figure 1. Frequency of the Various Histological Childhood Brain Lesions (1995-2010) at KAUH

The Glial astrocytic tumor (94.4%) accounted for the majority of the neuroepithelial tumors, 17 cases were diagnosed with age ranging between 1-18 years (mean age 7.9 years) and M: F ratio of 1.4: 1. All grades of Glial astrocytic tumors according to WHO 2007 were identified in this study ^[15-16]. The pilocytic astrocytoma (Grade I) represented 64.7% of all astrocytic tumors with mean age of 8 years old and M: F ratio of 1.2:1 (Table 2). Clinically these neoplasms occurred mainly in the posterior fossa or cerebellum and histologically composed of fibrillary glial tissue with highly vascularized tumor exhibiting compact and loose areas. The compact areas show bipolar piloid cells with long-hair like processes associated with Rosenthal fibers. Microcytic areas and eosinphilic granular bodies admixed with protoplasmic astrocytes represented the loss textured areas. The Grade II neoplasms accounted for 17.6% with age distribution between 5-12 years old. These neoplasms occurred in various lobes mainly frontal and temporal and showed the classical diffuse neoplastic astrocytic cells proliferation in a fibrillary background with the cells exhibiting mild pleomorphism and hyperchromasia. Grade III the anaplastic glioma occurred in a 10 years old child and accounted for 5.9%, histologically the neoplasm expressed higher morphological atypia and cellularity. Grade IV encountered in 2 cases histologically showed high grade cytological atypia with bizarre nuclei, frequent abnormal mitosis, variation of appearance from one filed to another associated with the classical necrosis and increased glomoriloed blood vessels proliferation.

Congenital malformations was the second encountered brain lesions (10 encephalocele, 4 meningocele and 3 myelomeningocele); this group represented the youngest age group (mean age 2.8 vears). The next category was infection and inflammation forming inflammatory masses within the brain and prompting a biopsy for histo-pathological diagnosis and accounted for 12.7% of all brain lesions (4 cases were abscesses, 2 granulation tissue, 1 aspergillosis, 1 edema with necrosis, 1 chronic nonspecific inflammation). Almost equal M: F ratio was found and the mean age was 11.2 years. Embryonal tumors were third in line (12 cases medulloblastoma and 1 case neuroblastoma) and observed in males only with mean age of 5.3 years; no female cases identified in the study. The available pathological- radiological

correlations of the medulloblastoma cases were obtained. Data about the tumor site, tumor size, the presence of metastasis or residual tumor after treatment was collected. Majority of the cases were reported as classic medulloblastoma (83.3%) displaying anaplastic features, including increased nuclear size, marked cytological pleomorphism, numerous mitoses and pseudo-rossites. In five cases the tumor was located in the midline of the cerebellum, one case showed evidence of dorsolumbar spine metastasis, one presented with residual tumor after surgical resection and two of the patients deceased after diagnosis (Table 3).

Table 2. Percentages of	Various Grads	of Neuroenithelial	Lesions and Age Range
i abie 2. i ci centages oi	various Graus	of requiremental	Destons and rige Range

Neuroepithelial Tumors= 18 cases	Age Range
Astrocytic tumors = 17 (94.4%)	(Mean= 7.9yrs)
Grade I = 11 cases (64 7%)	1 – 18 vrs
Grade $II = 3$ cases (17.6%)	5-12 yrs
Grade III = 1 case (5.9%)	10 yrs
<i>Grade IV</i> = 2 <i>cases (11.8%)</i>	9 – 10 yrs
Ependymal Tumors = 1 (5.6%)	1yrs

Table 3. Embryonal Tumors at KAUH (1995-2010).

Medulloblastoma (MB)=	Age Range	Size Range of The	Site	Metastasis		
12 cases		Tumor				
Classic MB = 10	2-10 yrs	3-6.6 cm	Midline= 5	1 (8.3%)		
Desmoplastic MB = 1	Mean= 5.7yrs	Mean= 4.3cm	RT cerebellum= 4	Dorsal lumbar		
Neuroblastic MB = 1	-		Disseminated=1	spine		
			Not available = 2			

There were 5 cases of meningeal/ mesenchymal tumors according to the WHO classification (4 mesenchymal tumors and one meningioma). All were diagnosed in males with mean age of 10.2 years. The meningioma case was anaplastic type grade III and occurred in a 15 years old male. The other mesenchymal tumors included 2 haemangiomas, one lipoma and one myxoma. The tumors identified in the sellar region were 3 cases, 1 case was craniophrangioma and two were pituitary adenomas. The germ cell tumors were also 3 cases (2 mature teratoma and one mixed germ cell tumor) with mean age of 5.6 years and M: F ratio of 1: 2. The last category comprised 3 cases of benign lesions including two vascular lesions and one benign meningoepithelial cyst (Table 4).

4. Discussion

In Saudi Arabia the experience of childhood brain lesions in general and brain tumors in particular is not extensively documented. Unfortunately many of the epidemiological studies that focused on brain tumors are confounded by selection bias conferred by sole reliance on tertiary referral centers and tertiary referral hospitals in the various regions of the kingdom. No integrated unified Brain Cancer Registry is instituted. However, the small number of the reported studies attempted to give mainly an estimate of the frequency and incidence of brain tumors in this pediatric age group, the frequent histological type, the age range distribution and gender.

Brain lesions in general can be caused by injury, infectious diseases, exposure to certain chemicals or ionizing radiation, problems with the immune system, and other factors ^[3]. Although different environmental exposure was proposed to be related to the development of childhood brain tumors; many investigators claim that childhood brain tumors reflect the inherent risk associated with the complex process of normal development rather than a response to an external toxic insult ^[4-17].

The current study over a period of 15 years estimated the frequency of brain lesions and highlighted the institute experience with the pediatric age group brain lesions (non-neoplastic and neoplastic lesions). 40.8% were non-neoplastic and 59.2% were neoplastic lesions. Congenital malformations were the commonest non-neoplastic brain lesions while astrocytoma was the most frequent tumor in the pediatric age group.

Only few studies included neoplastic and nonneoplastic brain lesions, **Jamjoom**^[1] conducted a study on 212 brain cases diagnosed at King Khalid University Hospital in Riyadh over a period of 5 years and reported that the non-neoplastic brain lesions represented only 13% of the total brain lesions and that neoplastic brain lesions represented 87% of all brain lesions. Abscess, granulomas, gliosis and mucocele were among the non-neoplastic brain lesions and represented 50%, 42.8%, 3.6% and 3.6% respectively of the total intracranial space occupying non-neoplastic lesions. Neuroepithelial tumors ranked first neoplastic

lesions and comprised 39.7% of the total intracranial neoplasms and 73% of all brain tumors seen below the age of 15 years ^[1].

Brain Lesions (Frequencies)	Age Range	Gender Ratio
Congenital Malformations = 17 cases		
Encephalocele = 10	0 day – 15 yrs (Mean= 2.8yrs)	1 M : 1.1 F
Meningocele = 4		
Meningomyelocele = 3		
Infection and Inflammation = 9 cases		
Abscess = 4	1-18 yrs (Mean= 11.2yrs)	1 M : 1.3 F
Granulation tissue = 2		
Aspergillosis = 1		
Edema with Necrosis = 1		
Chronic Non-specific Inflammation = 1		
Benign Lesions = 3 cases		
Vascular Lesion = 2	3-16 yrs (Mean= 7.7yrs)	1 M : 2 F
Benign Meningioepithelial Cyst = 1		
Neuroepithelial Tumors = 18 cases	1-18 yrs (Mean= 7.9yrs)	1.6 M : 1 F
Non- Neuroepithelial Tumors = 24 cases		
Embryonal Tumors = 13	1 day-18yrs (Mean= 7.5yrs)	5 M: 1 F
Tumors of the Mesenchem & Meninges = 5		
Tumors of the Sellar Region = 3		
Germ Cell Tumors = 3		

Table 5. Morphological Distribution of Childhood Brain Tumors, Comparison of Current Study and other Published Studies

References	Location	Period of Study	Total (n) of all	Most common Pediatric
			tumor cases	Tumor
Current study	Saudi Arabia,	1995 – 2010	42	Astrocytic tumors 40.5%
	Jeddah			
Rickert et al., 2001	Germany	2001	340	Astrocytic tumors 37.6%
Zakrzewski <i>et al.</i> ,	Poland	1990 - 2003	216	Astrocytic tumors 41.5%
2003				
Rosemberg et al.,	Brazilian	1974 - 2003	1195	Astrocytic tumors 32%
2005				
Ahmad <i>et al.</i> , 2007	Karachi, Pakistan	1989 - 1998	81	Astrocytic tumors 34.6%
Nasir <i>et al.</i> , 2010	Islamabad,	Jan1998 –	231	Medulloblastoma 33.3%
	Pakistan	July2010		
Saavedra <i>et al.</i> , 2011	Puerto Rico	2002 - 2007	136	Astrocytic tumors 31%

The current study showed higher percentage of non-neoplastic lesion in comparison with **Jamjoom**^[1] experience, this might be attributed to the study design, number of cases, and the study period, furthermore, it might reflect advancing in the imaging techniques and diagnostic expertise as well as treatment modalities. However, the study consensus with the generated experience from the various regions of the kingdom, and it demonstrated that neuroepithelial tumors, mainly glial tumors, are the most frequent brain tumors encountered in the pediatric age group and accounted for 25.3 % of all childhood brain lesions with slightly higher frequency in male and M: F ratio of 1.4:1. Pilocytic astrocytoma was the leading tumor in this age group in the study and represented 64.7% of all astrocytic tumors with M: F ratio of 1.2:1. The second most frequent tumor was embryonal tumor (medulloblastoma) which accounted for 18.3 % and showed male predominance. The current study findings compatible with **Gurney** *et al.* ^[3], were they reported male predominance of the childhood brain tumors. However, many national and international studies showed male predominance of both astrocytic and medulloblastoma tumors ^[12, 13, 18, 19].

The literature displayed a dispute between astrocytoma and medulloblastoma tumors as which compete for the highest frequency. The current study

confirm the previous experience which revealed preponderance of astrocytoma as was reported by Richert et al. ^[18] were he reported that astrocytoma comprising 37.6%, followed by medulloblastoma 17.7%. Similar reports by Zakrzewski et al. [12], Rosemberg et al. ^[19], Memon et al. ^[11], and Ahmad et al. ^[13] were their experience revealed the prevalence of astrocytic tumors as the leading childhood brain tumor followed by medulloblastoma. Furthermore, they reported that Pilocytic astrocytomas are the most frequent grade encountered among the Glial tumors confirming the finding of the current study. Furthermore, Ansari & Al-Hilli [10] observed that among the Bahraini population, astrocytic tumors are common in children and representing 25% of primary CNS tumors but with predominance of diffuse fibrillary astrocytoma. Medulloblastoma ranked as second malignant primary CNS tumor and accounted for 16.9% of all primary CNS neoplasms.

In contrast to the current study finding, Saudi Cancer Registry had meduloblastoma as the first leading childhood brain tumor in their series ^[9, 14]. **Nasir et al.** ^[14] also reported medulloblastoma to be the first ranking children brain tumors under the age of 14 years with a mean age of 6.2 years and they accounted for 33.3% of their cases. Astrocytoma was the second most dominant type accounted for 24.7%, with a mean age of 6.7 years. This discrepancy in findings between studies could be attributed to variation in the ethnicity, race, and selection bias and to the size of the study population. Furthermore, it might be related to the selected cutoff age range of childhood age, which varies between studies especially if we consider the various peak of occurrence of some brain tumors.

Classical type medulloblastoma was the dominant type in our study and other studies with mean age of occurrence 5.7 years ^[14, 20, 21]. **Rodriguez** *et al.* ^[22] reported that 73% of the medulloblastoma cases were classical type, 45% occur in cerebellar hemisphere.

The number of cases presented in the current study is smaller in comparison to the reported national and international studies ^[12, 13, 14, 19, 23] (Table 5). This might be attributed to ineffective case registration, or difficulty in access the established health care system like the University center, or it may be due to limitation of the diagnostic facilities (such as radio-imaging techniques or histopathological diagnostic experts) in early years. Another plausible explanation could be the low ethnic- racial predisposition in the Eastern region of the Kingdome, or a lower prevalence of the risk factors resulting in lower brain lesions / tumors frequency/incidence in the Eastern region. This latter proposal is detected in South Africa population where the incidence of intracranial neoplasm's in whites was higher than in blacks ^[4].

This is single institute study presenting the King Abdulaziz University Hospital experience with childhood brain lesions over a period of 15 years. The results were consistent with national and international experience regarding the childhood neoplastic and non-neoplastic brain lesions. The findings call for a large scale nationwide study to determine the incidence and prevalence of the childhood brain tumors and provide better categorization of this important pediatric pathology among Saudi population.

Correspondence author name:

Awatif A. Jamal,

Associate Professor and Consultant Pathologist, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Pathology Department, Room B/5165, P.

awatjamal@yahoo.com

Referrencs

- 1 Jamjoom ZAB. (1988): Pattern of intracranial space-occupying lesions: the experience of the King Khalid University Hospital. Annals of Saudi Medicine; 9:3-10.
- Butt M, Khan S, Chaudrhy N, Qureshi R. (2005): Intra-Cranial Space Occupying Lesions. A Morphological Analysis. Biomedica; 21:31-35.
- 3 Gurney JG, Smith MA, Bunin GR. (2001): CNS and Miscellaneous Intracranial and Intraspinal Neoplasms. SEER Pediatric Monograph, National Cancer Institute; 51-63.
- 4 Baldwin R, Martin S. (2004): Epidemiology of Brain Tumors in Childhood – a Review. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol., Sep 1; 199(2):118-31.
- 5 Yee G, Rycroft R, Phillips C, Cromartie B, Carson S, Verrill C, Gershman S, Bushhouse S, Lemons D, Williams V, Schymura M, Knight K, Knell M, Fulton J, Dosch K, Weiss N, Dibble R, Martin J, Colsher P. CBTRUS (2008): Statistical Report: Primary Brain Tumors in the United States, 2000–2004. Published by the Central Brain Tumor Registry of the United States; 1-81.
- 6 Garcia M, Jemal A, Ward EM, Center MM, Hao Y, Siegel RL, Thun MJ. (2007): Global Cancer Facts and Figures 2007. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society; 1-45.
- 7 Akhtar S, Reyes L. (1997): Cancer in al-Qassim,
 Saudi Arabia: A retrospective study (1987-1995). Ann Saudi Med.; 17(6):595-600.
- 8 Ibrahim AW. (1992): CNS tumors in eastern Saudi Arabia. Neurosurg Rev.; 15:295-302.
- 9 Al-Eid H, Manalo M, Bazarbashi S, Al-Zahrani A. (2007): Cancer Incidence and Survival Report Saudi Arabia. Saudi Cancer Registry; 1-120.
- 10 Ansari N, Al-Hilli F. (2005): Malignant Tumours of the Brain and Spinal Cord in Bahrain: Patterns of

5. Conclusion

Incidence over a Fifty-Two Year Period. Bahrain Med Bull; 27(2): 1-.6.

- 11 Memon F, Rathi SL, Memon MH. (2007): Pattern of solid paediatric malignant neoplasm at LUMHS, Jamshoro, Pakistan. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad; 19: 55-7.
- 12 Zakrzewski K, Fiks T, Polis L. (2003): Posterior fossa tumour in children and adolescents: a clinicopathological study of 216 cases. Folia Neuropathol.; 41, 251-2.
- 13 Ahmed N, Bhurgri Y, Sadiq S. (2007): Pediatric brain tumours at a tertiary care hospital in Karachi. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.; 8:399-404.
- 14 Nasir S, Jamila B, Khaleeq S. (2010): A retrospective study of primary brain tumors in children under 14 years of age at PIMS, Islamabad. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev.; 11: 1225-1227.
- 15 Louis D, Ohgaki H, Wiestler O, Cavenee W, Burger P, Jouvet A, Scheithauer B, Kleihues P. (2007): The 2007 WHO ClassiWcation of Tumours of the Central Nervous System. Acta Neuropathol.; 114:97–109.
- 16 Parisi J, Miller D, Boyer P, Brat D, Cochran E, Cohen M, DeMasters B, Dolinak D, McComb R, McLendon R, Powell S, Prayson R, Vinters H, Yachnis A. (2011): Previous contributors: Pearl G, Movahedi-Lankarani S, Karpinski N, Min K, Bauserman S, Hansen L, Kerber C. Protocol for the Examination of Specimens from Patients with Tumors of the Brain/Spinal Cord. College of American Pathologists; 1-17.

- 17 Maris JM, Denny CT. (2002): Focus on embryonal malignancies. Cancer Cell Dec; 2(6):447-50.
- 18 Rickert CH, Paulus W. (2001): Epidemiology of Central Nervous System Tumors in Childhood and Adolescence Based on the New WHO Classification. Childs Nerv Syst Sep; 17(9):503-11.
- 19 Rosemberg S, Fujiwara D. (2005): Epidemiology of Pediatric Tumors of the Nervous System According to the WHO 2000 Classification: a Report of 1,195 Cases from a Single Institution. Childs Nerv Syst; 21:940-944.
- 20 Meurer RT, Martins DT, Hilbig A, Ribeiro Mde C, Roehe AV, Barbosa-Coutinho LM, Fernandes Mda C. (2008): Immunohistochemical Expression of Markers Ki-67, NeuN, Synaptophysin, P53 and HER2 in Medulloblastoma and its Correlation with Clinicopathological Parameters. Arq Neuropsiquiatr Jun; 66(2B):385-90.
- 21 Ertan Y, Sezak M, Demirağ B, Kantar M, Cetingül N, Turhan T, Erşahin Y, Mutluer S, Anacak Y, Akalin T. (2009): Medulloblastoma: Clinicopathologic Evaluation of 42 Pediatric Cases. Childs Nerv Syst Mar; 25(3):353-6.
- 22 Rodriguez FJ, Eberhart C, O'Neill BP, Slezak J, Burger PC, Goldthwaite P, Wu W, Giannini C. (2007): Histopathologic Grading of Adult Medulloblastomas. Cancer Jun 15; 109(12):2557-65.
- 23 Saavedra FM, Pastrana EA, Jiménez LM, Fernández M, Billoch J, Sosa I, Vigo J. (2011): Pediatric Brain Tumors in Puerto Rico. P R Health Sci J Dec; 30(4):195-7.

4/4/2012

Propolis versus Daktarin[®] in mucosal wound healing

¹Zoba H. Ali and ² Heba Mahmoud Dahmoush

Departments of ¹Oral Biology and ²Oral Pathology, Faculty of Oral and Dental Medicine, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt. rawya_h2a@yhaoo.com

Abstract: The aim of this study was to compare the effect of propolis versus daktarin on mucosal wound healing. Fifty two albino rats were randomly divided into three groups; G 1 (propolis), G 2 (daktarin) and control group. Following the induction of a surgical mucosal wound in the labial mucosa by means of a 1-mm punch-biopsy instrument, biopsy specimens were taken on days 1, 3, 7 and 14 from groups of sacrificed rats and stained with haematoxylin-eosin stains, Mallory's trichrome stain as well as CD68 immunohistochemical stain. Data were analyzed statistically. Histological evaluation of each specimen was done and scoring criteria were used to compare the healing status of wounds. There was no statistical significance between different groups, on day 1. However there was statistically significant difference between G1 and both G2 and control group on day 3. On day 7, statistically significant difference was found between G1 and control group, but there was no statistically significant difference between G1 and control group, but there was no statistically significant difference between G1 and control group, but there was no statistically significant difference between G1 and control group, but there was no statistically significant difference between G1 and G2. Conclusion: Propolis has an enhancing effect on the healing of oral mucosal wounds compared to daktarin.

[Zoba H. Ali and Heba Mahmoud Dahmoush. **Propolis versus Daktarin[®] in mucosal wound healing.** Life Sci J 2012;9(2):624-636]. (ISSN:1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 95

Key words: Propolis; Daktarin[®]; Labial mucosa; CD68 Immunohistochemical stain.

1. Introduction:

Oral mucosal wound or mouth ulcers are sores or open lesions in the mouth which are caused by various disorders ⁽¹⁾. Wounds are not just a physical hindrance due to blood loss or tissue damage, but they may threaten the individual survival by development of infection and sepsis due to invasion of micro-organisms or contaminants. Mucosal wounds occur frequently, and the healing of the mucosa is important in most surgical outcomes. And although wound healing in the oral mucosa is improved by sound surgical principles, yet it is also mediated by biologic processes beyond the surgeon's control . It should also be noted that ulcers and/or erosions can be the final common manifestation, often clinically indistinguishable, of a wide and complex spectrum of conditions including traumatic lesions, infectious, vesiculo-bullous, neoplastic and gastrointestinal diseases

The immediate imperative of the body is to close the wound and prevent establishment of infection ⁽⁴⁾. Clinically mucosal wound healing in oral cavity occurs by 5 to 7 days ^(5, 6). It achieves this objective by the means of a rapid and robust inflammatory response, with recruitment of neutrophils, macrophages and lymphocytes to the wound site. This is followed by fibroplasia, ECM synthesis and reorganization ⁽⁴⁾. This is especially important in the oral cavity which is colonized and contaminated with numerous micro-organisms ⁽⁴⁾. Thus it is crucial for the oral mucosa to heal healthily and quickly.

Propolis is a golden-dark brown resinous substance that worker bees gather and pack on their hind legs from the sap of trees, shrubs and flower blossoms, the resinous substance of propolis is then carried back to their colony combined with beeswax then used by the bees as a sealant and sterilant in and around the hive. Propolis has a protecting role for the bee colony. Beehives have been found to be more

sterile than most modern day hospitals ⁽⁷⁾.

Hundreds of publications have appeared in the last 40 years describing the biological and health enhancing properties of $propolis^{(8)}$. Propolis has been documented to have many positive medical effects in many fields including an antibacterial, antiviral and antifungal effect ⁽⁹⁻¹¹⁾. Also propolis was found to have an effect against parasites (12,13) as an antiulcer (stomach, skin, buccal) (14,15) as well as an $antioxidant^{(10)}$. Researches have segregated and tested single substances in propolis; however, it is likely that the presence of a large number of products in propolis may produce a synergistic effect greater than the sum of the effects of individual components ⁽¹⁶⁾. Studies evaluating the efficacy of isolated constituents have demonstrated minimal effectiveness compared to the natural compound $^{(17)}$. Similarly Ahn et al., ⁽⁸⁾ stated that the health

enhancing effects are found in the ethanol extractable part of propolis called balsam.

In spite of the big compositional differences of the different propolis types depending on its botanical origin, it is astonishing that the biological effects of the different propolis types are very similar. Antibacterial activity has been demonstrated against both, gram positive and gram negative bacteria, both aerobic and anaerobic types ⁽¹⁸⁾.

Moreover, in vitro antiviral activity of propolis has been attributed to a synergistic action of both flavonoid and flavanol components in propolis⁽¹⁹⁾. Daktarin[®] oral gel contains the active ingredient miconazole. Miconazole is an antifungal medicine used to treat infections with fungi and yeasts⁽²⁰⁾. Miconazole also has some antibacterial action and kills certain bacteria that may also be present in the infection^(21, 22).

However many side effects had been associated with its use in some patients, and the most commonly reported side effects include: nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, allergic reactions and hepatitis $^{(23)}$. Since daktarin[®] is widely used in the oral cavity as compared to propolis, it has been the aim of the present study to evaluate the efficiency of propolis in healing oral mucosal ulcers in comparison with daktarin[®].

2. Materials and Methods

This study was undertaken in the department of Oral Histology and the department of Oral Pathology, Faculty of Oral and Dental Medicine, Cairo University, Egypt, based on an ethical approved protocol.

Fifty two 3-months old male rats (albino rats) were selected, with an initial weight ranging between 220 and 240 grams. The rats were kept in housing cages (polyethylene, $16 \times 40 \times 30$ cm), six animals per cage, with standardized food and water, under a light/dark cycle of 12 h. The cages were kept in a room which had a constant temperature of $25\pm1^{\circ}$ C. In order to prevent the animals from coming in contact with their feces and/or urine, a permeable metal floor was installed in the cages, separating the rats from the lower part of the cage.

All surgical procedures were performed under general anesthesia, by intramuscular administration of 0.1 ml of ketamine hydrochloride (SIGMATEC Company) combined with 0.05 ml of xylazine hydrochloride (ADWIA Company), per 100 g body weight of the animal. After anesthesia, the labial mucosa was antiseptically cleaned with 2% chlorhexidine then a surgical mucosal wound was made in the labial mucosa of all animals by means of a 1-mm punch-biopsy instrument (Acu-Punch, Acuderm Inc., Ft. Lauderdale, FL, USA). The wounds were done so that their depths would include the submucosa.

The same investigator performed all the surgical procedures.

The animals were randomly divided into three groups as follows; group1 (G1; n=20) was treated with propolis applied to the wound site on the labial mucosa three times daily, group2 (G2; n=20) was treated with daktarin applied to the wound site on the labial mucosa three times daily, and group 3 (G3; n=12) was left to heal spontaneously and served as the control group.

Within each group, the rats were subdivided such as 5 rats of G1, 5 rats of G2 and 3 rats of G3 were consecutively sacrificed on days 1, 3, 7 and 14.

The type of propolis used in this study was Bee Propolis extract (Honey paste) (Y.S. Organic Bee Farms 2774N. 4351 Rd. Sheridan, IL 60551 USA). While the Daktarin[®] used was miconazole nitrate (Janssen Cilag. Pharm. N.V., Turnhoutseweg 30, B-2340 Beerse, Belgium)

Biopsy samples were fixed with 10% formalin and embedded in paraffin for histological examination. Specimens were cut into 5-µm sections and stained with:

- 1. Haematoxylin-eosin (HE) stains.
- 2. Mallory's trichrome stain used for collagen fibers identification.

For immunohistochemical procedure: Sections of 4-µm thickness were mounted over optiplus slides. These slides were electrically charged. The sections were de-paraffinized and rehydrated, rinsed in PBS and incubated in PBS containing H₂O₂ for ten minutes. The primary antibody used was the monoclonal mouse anti-human CD68, clone KP1 (code N1577 Dako). The tissue sections were incubated with the primary antibody over night in moist chamber at 4°C then rinsed with PBS, 3 times 2 minutes each. The sections were labeled with a streptavidin- biotin method using Dako- LAB vision Catalog CA94539). The sections were visualized with freshly prepared solution containing 3, 3 diaminobenzidin DAB the sections were finally counterstained with methylgreen and viewed by light microscope.

The cellular staining pattern of anti-CD68, is granular cytoplasmic of variable intensity. The expression of macrophages was determined by counting the CD68-positive stained cells in 5 fields of magnification 400. The means and standard deviations were recorded for each group, and oneway ANOVA was used to compare the differences of the means of the groups and determine significant differences as well as Paired Student's t-Test to compare between each two groups at every time point.

The number of CD68-positive cells was expressed as [(number of +ve cells)/per 400 x visual field]

Slides were coded and microscopically examined to be evaluated for the histological parameters of wound healing (24, 25) including the amount of granulation tissue, inflammatory infiltrate collagen fiber deposition as well as endothelial cells in each wound.

Histological evaluation:

Scoring criteria were adopted after **Sultana** *et* (26)

al., ⁽²⁶⁾ to compare the healing status of wounds in an ascending order for specific points as follows: Amount of granulation tissue (Profound - 1, Moderate - 2, scanty - 3, absent - 4). Inflammatory infiltrate (Profound - 1, Moderate - 2, few - 3), Collagen fiber orientation (Vertical - 1, Mixed- 2, Horizontal - 3), Amount of early collagen (Profound -1, Moderate - 2, Minimal - 3, Absent - 4). Amount of mature collagen was (Profound - 1, Moderate - 2, Minimal - 3). In addition, dilated blood capillaries and endothelial cells proliferation was added as a scoring criterion as follows (Profound proliferation -1, Moderate proliferation- 2, capillary dilatation only - 3).

Total healing score of each case was calculated by adding the score of individual criteria. Lower scores indicated poorer wound healing. While higher scores pointed to a better healing process. Healing status was graded as follows:

Healing status was graded as follows:

Good (16 - 19), fair (12 - 15) and poor (08 - 11)⁽²⁶⁾.

3.Results

Histological examination of the groups sacrificed on day one:

The control group showed moderate inflammatory cell infiltration (neutrophils and macrophages) in the control cases. The cells with positive expression of CD68 (CD68+ macrophages) in control group were $[(9.80 \pm 3.70)/\text{per 400 x visual field}].$

Endothelial cells were noticeably dilated.

No excessive granulation tissue was seen as well as no collagen fiber deposition as seen both histologically and by Mallory's trichrome stain. (Fig.1)

Group 1 treated with propolis showed few inflammatory cell infiltrations (neutrophils and macrophages) in all cases. (Fig.2) CD68+ macrophages were [(6.00 ± 2.24) /per 400 x visual field]

Endothelial cells showed normal number and architecture with the exception of one case which revealed dilated blood vessels.

No excessive granulation tissue was seen as well as no collagen fiber deposition.

Group 2 treated with daktarin showed moderate inflammatory cell infiltration (neutrophils and macrophages) in 80% of cases and mild inflammatory cell infiltration in 20%. CD68+ macrophages in group 2 were [(8.40 ± 3.78)/per 400 x visual field]

Using ANOVA test and Paired Student's t-Test the difference in mean macrophage count (CD68+ macrophages) did not show any statistical significance between different groups, P > 0.05(Tables I-IV and histogram I)

All cases revealed dilated blood vessels and 40% of them their dilatation was extreme.

No excessive granulation tissue was seen as well as no collagen fiber deposition

Histological examination of the groups sacrificed on day three:

The control group showed profound inflammatory cell infiltration (neutrophils and macrophages) in control cases. (Fig. 3) The cells with positive expression of CD68 (CD68+ macrophages) in control group were [(22.0 ± 6.82) /per 400 x visual field].

Endothelial cells showed proliferation and attempts of excessive blood vessel formation.

Excessive granulation tissue was seen as well as collagen fiber deposition in a mesh like pattern.

Interrupted epithelization covered the granulation tissue.

Group 1 treated with propolis showed a few inflammatory cell infiltrations (neutrophils and macrophages) in 4 cases (Fig. 4) while 1 case still showed moderate inflammatory cell infiltration. CD68+ macrophages in group 1 were [($10.8\pm$ 4.09)/per 400 x visual field]

Endothelial cells showed normal number and architecture.

No excessive granulation tissue was seen. A small amount of well organized horizontally oriented collagen fibrils were seen.

Evidence of early epithelization was seen in all cases of group 1

Group 2 treated with daktarin[®] showed profound inflammatory cell infiltration (neutrophils and macrophages) in one of cases, moderate inflammatory cell infiltration in 3 of the cases and few inflammatory cell infiltration in one case. The cells with positive expression of CD68 (CD68+ macrophages) in group 2 were $[(24.8\pm 5.50)/\text{per }400 \text{ x visual field}]$

Using ANOVA test, there was a highly significant difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68+) between different groups, (P=0.004). (Table V and histogram II). Using Paired Student's t-Test CD68+ macrophages in group 1 were significantly lower than those in both control group and group 2, P <0. 01. However, no statistical significance was found between G2 and control group P>0.05 (Tables VI-VIII)

All cases revealed dilated blood vessels but no endothelial proliferation. A moderate amount of granulation tissue was seen as well as collagen fibrils deposition. Some of the collagen fibrils showed disorganization while some were well organized.

Evidence of early epithelization was seen in all cases of group 2 except the one showing profound inflammatory cell infiltration. (Fig. 5)

Histological examination of the groups sacrificed on day seven:

The control group showed a marked decrease in inflammatory cell infiltration with only sporadic chronic inflammatory cells seen in the examined fields. The cells with positive expression of CD68 were [(15.2 ± 5.31) /per 400 x visual field].

A slight increase in the number of blood vessels than normal was seen, as well as more than group 1 and group 2.

Granulation tissue still persisted under an incompletely epithelized wound surface which showed re-epithelization delay compared to the other two groups. Collagen bundles showed some organization, yet with delayed collagen build up and delay in scar maturation compared to the other groups. Collagen showed mainly a wavy or longitudinal organization of the fibers (Figs. 8 & 9).

Group 1 treated with propolis showed almost no inflammatory cells infiltration with normal number and architecture of the blood vessels. CD68+ macrophages were [(5.40 ± 2.07)/per 400 x visual field] (Fig. 6).

No excessive granulation tissue was seen. And the collagen bundles showed complete organization. Complete epithelization was seen (Fig. 10).

Group 2 treated with daktarin showed very few inflammatory cells in 2 cases and few inflammatory cells in 3 cases. The cells with positive expression of CD68 were [(8.60 ± 1.67) /per 400 x visual field] (Fig. 7).

Using ANOVA test, there was a highly significant difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68+) between different groups, (*P*=0.004). (Table IX and histogram III). Using Paired Student's t-Test CD68+ macrophages in group 1 were significantly

lower than those in both control group and group 2, P < 0.01. Moreover, there was a statistical significance between G2 and control group (p < 0.05 and > 0.01) (Tables X-XII)

All cases revealed normal vascularity. Granulation tissue was scanty and showed complete epithelization. Collagen fibers showed good organization, with few areas showing a mixed horizontally oriented and mesh like pattern of collagen organization (Fig.11)

Histological examination o f the groups sacrificed on day fourteen:

All three groups including the control group, group 1 and group 2 showed clearance of all inflammatory cells and normal vascularity. No granulation tissue was seen. And the collagen bundles showed complete organization. Complete epithelization was seen. No histopathological differences were seen between the different groups.

The progression of healing was assessed histologically on the basis of individual scoring criteria adopted after **Sultana** *et al.*, (26) used on days 1, 3, 7 and 14. The results showed that wounds healed progressively with time.

On day 1 healing status was poor for all examined cases. On day 3 healing status was poor for all control group, as well as 40% of G1 and 80% of G2. However, 60% of G1 and 20% of G2 showed fair healing. On day 7; healing status was fair for all control group, as well as 40% of G1 and 80% of G2, while 60% of G1 and 20% of G2 showed good healing. On day 14, healing status was fair for 50% of control group, as well as 40% of G2. But, healing was good for 100% of G1 and 60% of G2 as well as 50% of control group.

From the above findings it can be summarized that the peak of inflammatory cells infiltration was seen at the control group not treated by either propolis or daktarin, with declining cell numbers in all groups after one week. The group treated with propolis showed a noticeable low inflammatory cell infiltrate at all time points along the study. The cells with positive expression of CD68 (CD68+ macrophages) were significantly lower than both control group and group 2 at day 3 (P < 0.01), but was significantly lower compared to control group only on day 7. Inflammatory cells completely cleared by day 14 for all groups.

All cases showed dilated blood vessels with variable intensities on day 1, however only the control group showed endothelial cell proliferation on day 3 which persisted till day 7 but with a fewer number.

Granulation tissue was noticeably found in the early stages of wound healing in both the control

group and group 2; more prominently in the control group. Granulation tissue decreased by day 7, but remained more in the control group compared to



Fig. (1): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 1^{st} postoperative day in control group (G 3) showing wound site and underlying disorganized collagen (Mallory trichrome x 100).



group 1 and group 2. No granulation tissue was found

in any of the groups by day 14.

Fig. (3): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 3^{rd} postoperative day in control group showing severe inflammatory cell infiltrate. (H & E stain x 100).



Fig. (2): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 1^{st} postoperative day in propolis group showing wound site with few inflammatory cell infiltration. (H&E stain x 100).



Fig. (4): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 3^{rd} postoperative day showing mild inflammatory cell infiltrate in G1. (H & E stain x 100).



Fig. (5): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 3^{rd} postoperative day showing profound inflammatory cell infiltrate and dilated blood vessels in one of the lesions in G2. Note the lack of epithelization with severe inflammatory response. (H & E stain x 100).



Fig. (6): A: Immunohistochemical photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 7^{th} postoperative day in G1. (CD68 x 400).

Collagen fiber deposition was present in all groups starting in the early stage of wound healing (3-day). Collagen appeared bluish when examined by Mallory's trichrome stain. There was a quantitative increase in collagen synthesis which increased with time in subsequent groups. Collagen fibers orientation ranged from a mesh like organization in the control group to horizontally oriented fibrils in group 1. Mixed orientation was seen in group 2. Collagen fibrils showed organization and maturation on day 7 in all cases, although collagen in the control group showed some delay in scar maturation compared to the other groups. Collagen fibers showed maturation and horizontal organization in all cases on day 14.



Fig.(7): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 7^{th} postoperative day showing mild inflammatory cell infiltrate in G2. (CD68 x 400)



Fig. (8): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 7^{th} postoperative day showing short wavy, longitudinally arranged collagen bundles in control group. (Mallory's Trichrome stain x 200)



Fig. (9): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 7th postoperative day showing longitudinally arranged collagen bundles in control group. (Mallory's Trichrome stain x 400)



Fig. (10): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 7^{th} postoperative day showing well organized horizontally oriented collagen deposition in G1. An indication of good healing (Mallory's trichrome stain x 400)



Fig. (11): Photomicrograph of labial mucosa of 7th postoperative day showing a mixed horizontally oriented and mesh like pattern of collagen organization in G2 (Mallory's Trichrome stain x 400)

Histologically assessed scoring criteria showed that healing progressed with time in all groups. G1 treated with propolis showed advanced healing when compared with the other two groups at all time points. Early epithelization was seen starting day 3 in all groups, however, cases showing profound inflammatory cells infiltration did not show epithelization in this early stage. On day 7, all examined cases showed epithelization.

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)			
Group	M±SD	F-Value	<i>p</i> -Value	
Control	9.80 ± 3.70			
Propolis	6.00 ± 2.24	1.679	0.228	
Daktarin®	$\textbf{8.40} \pm \textbf{3.78}$			

No significant difference, (*p*>0.05).

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)				
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value		
Control	9.80 ± 3.70	1.9649	0.0850		
Propolis	6.00 ± 2.24				

 Table II: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68)
 between Control and Propolis groups after 1day using Paired Student's t-Test

Not significant difference, (p>0.05).

Table III: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68) between Control and Daktarin[®] groups after 1day using Paired Student's t-Test

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Control	9.80 ± 3.70	0.5916	0.5704
Daktarin [®]	8.40 ± 3.78		

Not significant difference, (p>0.05).

Table IV: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68) between Propolis and Daktarin[®] groups after 1day using Paired Student's t-Test

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Propolis	6.00 ± 2.24	1.2216	0.2566
Daktarin®	$\textbf{8.40} \pm \textbf{3.78}$		

Not significant difference, (p>0.05).



Histogram I: Showing difference in macrophage count (CD 68) between different groups after 1day.

 Table V: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68)
 between different groups after 3days using ANOVA statistical test:

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	F-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Control	22.0 ± 6.82		
		8.814	0.004**
Propolis	10.8± 4.09		
Daktarin®	24.8 ± 5.50		

** High significant difference, (p<0.01).

ing i	an cu Student s t-1 est			
		Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
	Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
	Control	22.0 ± 6.82	3.6003	0.0070**
	Propolis	10.8± 4.09		

Table VI: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68) between Control and Propolis groups after 3days using Paired Student's t-Test

** High significant difference, (p < 0.01).

Table VII: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68) between Control and Daktarin[®] groups after 3days using Paired Student's t-Test

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Control	22.0 ± 6.82	0.7149	0.4950
Daktarin[®]	24.8 ± 5.50		

Not significant difference, (p>0.05).

Table VIII: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68) between Propolis and Daktarin[®] groups after 3days using Paired Student's t-Test

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Propolis	10.8 ± 4.09	5.0936	0.0009**
Daktarin®	24.8 ± 5.50		

** High significant difference, (p<0.01).



Histogram II: Showing difference in macrophage count (CD 68) between different groups after 3days.

Table IX: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68)	between different groups after 7days using
ANOVA statistical test:	

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
group	M±SD	F-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Control	15.2 ± 5.31		
Propolis	5.40 ± 2.07	10.61	0.002**
Daktarin®	8.60 ± 1.67		

** High significant difference, (p<0.01).

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Control	15.2 ± 5.31	4.7012	0.0015**
Propolis	5.40 ± 2.07		

 Table X: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68)
 between Control and Propolis groups after 7days

 using Paired Student's t-Test

** High significant difference, (p<0.01).

Table XI: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68) between Control and Daktarin[®] groups after 7days using Paired Student's t-Test

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Control	15.2 ± 5.31	3.5109	0.0080**
Daktarin®	8.60 ± 1.67		

** High significant difference, (p<0.01).

Table XII: Difference in mean macrophage count (CD 68) between Propolis and Daktarin[®] groups after 7days using Paired Student's t-Test

	Mean macrophage count (CD 68)		
Group	M±SD	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value
Propolis	5.40 ± 2.07	2.6854	0.0277*
Daktarin®	8.60 ± 1.67		

Significant difference, (p<0.05and >0.01).





4. Discussion:

We chose to study wound healing by second intention because it is a clinical condition that is frequently encountered in traumatic oral ulcers and by the oral surgeons. An experimental time period of 14 days was chosen because most wounds even if infected would show complete healing by the end of this time period. A chief strength of this study was that all of the wounds were made under the same experimental conditions and were standardized for size, depth and site. The choice of male rats also cancelled the effect of sex hormones on wound healing. Sex hormones likely modulate oral mucosal wound healing.

Studies in rats are of low cost and provide useful information that could be difficult to obtain in

humans. In studies with humans, it is difficult to eliminate biases in relation to their behavioral variables, and standardize and maintain the same living conditions during the entire experiment. Thus, the use of rats in this work produced simple information but still capable of encouraging further researches in this area of knowledge.

In the present study, surgical mucosal wounds were made in the labial mucosa of all animals by means of a 1-mm punch-biopsy instrument before being removed with a scalpel from the rat's labial mucosa. This method is very useful for creating uniform ulcer diameters.

Since reduced wound inflammation is associated with improved tissue repair (27, 28), we examined inflammatory cell infiltration in the oral mucosal wounds of different groups. Whereas macrophages infiltration was found in all the studied specimens peaking in day 3 for all groups, the cells with positive expression of CD68 (CD68+ macrophages) were significantly lower than both control group and the group treated with daktarin at day 3 (P < 0.01), but was significantly lower only in comparison to control group on day 7

Neutrophils and macrophage infiltration is the most prominent feature of the innate response, but they are also a double edged sword. They are aggressive against microbes, but they cause major collateral damage by releasing a corrosive cocktail of

protease enzymes and active oxygen species $^{(4)}$.

Even though crucial for antibacterial defense, neutrophils and macrophages can become an unwelcome, damaging presence in a wound, if they

stay in residence for too long ⁽⁴⁾. Hence, lower inflammatory responses have been associated with faster wound healing (29, 30).

There was a decrease in CD68 positive cells in the group treated with propolis at all time points along the study. This was of a statistical significance when compared to both control group and group 2 on day 3, (P < 0.01)

However, on day 7, the group treated with propolis showed significantly lower macrophage count compared to the control group, P<0. 01, but did not show statistical significance compared to group 2.

The finding of reduced inflammatory cell infiltration in oral wounds treated by propolis is in keeping with the accelerated repair. The antiinflammatory activity of propolis has been reviewed

by Almeida and Menezes, ⁽³¹⁾. Propolis has inhibitory effects on mieloperoxidase activity, NADPH-oxidase ornithine decarboxilase, tirosine-

protein-kinase, and hyaluronidase from guinea pig mast cells. This anti-inflammatory activity can be explained by the presence of active flavonoids and cinnamic acid derivatives. The former includes acacetin, quercetin, and naringenin the latter includes caffeic acid phenyl ester (CAPE) and caffeic acid (CA)⁽³¹⁾. On the other hand, **Santos** *et al.*, ⁽³²⁾ observed that propolis propolis gel and Daktarin showed complete clinical remission of palatal edema and erythema and concluded that the efficacy of propolis was comparable to Daktarin.

Nevertheless, in the oral cavity, propolis had been found to inhibit different pathogenic microbes such as bacteria, fungi and viruses (33-35) and can be against the different applied successfully stomatological pathologic conditions: stomatitis, paradontosis, gingivitis and caries^(34,36,37)

In the present study, granulation tissue was noticeably found in the early stages of wound healing in both the control group and group 2; more prominently in the control group. This is in line with Stephens et al., ^(38,40) who stated that oral mucosal fibroblasts produce HGF as well as keratinocyte growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2). Following injury, fibroblasts migrate into the wound, proliferate and produce the matrix proteins (fibronectin, hvaluronic acid, collagen and proteoglycans) and, in

doing so, form granulation tissue (41). They also interact with keratinocytes, releasing growth factors and cytokines that play a further role in modulating

wound repair $^{(42)}$. The composition of the ECM (and thus the final wound healing outcome) can be altered by the balance between the MMPs and TIMPs enzymes produced by fibroblasts.

In this study, granulation tissue decreased by day 7, but remained more in the control group compared to group 1 and group 2. No granulation tissue was found in any of the groups by day 14.

The orderly collagen formations at different stages of wound healing at different days have been recognized as histologic characteristics of healing. These include increased diameter, increased inter-fibril binding, and rearrangement of fibrils with time to become more

organized in a manner that maximizes strength⁽⁴³⁾ Based on these histological parameters it was noticed in our study that collagen fiber deposition was present in all groups starting in the early stage of wound healing (3-days). Increasing with time until it reached a maximum mature arrangement by day 14.

This is in accordance with Cotran *et al.*, $^{(44)}$ and Barbul, $^{(45)}$.

Collagen fibers orientation ranged from a mesh like organization in the control group to horizontally oriented fibrils in group 1. Mixed orientation was seen in group 2. Collagen fibrils showed organization and maturation on day 7 in all cases. Horizontal collagen orientation during wound

healing had been reported by **Mustafa**, (24) and (45)

Barbul, ⁽⁴⁵⁾. Although collagen in the control group showed some delay in scar maturation compared to the other groups, collagen fibers showed maturation and horizontal organization in all cases on day 14, hence indicating complete healing.

In this current study, all cases showed complete epithelization on day 7, this is in agreement with Yilmaz et al', who when evaluated the therapeutic effectiveness of honey on oral mucosal ulcers stated that the wounds of all their studied groups were covered by new mucosa epithelium and were similar

to the normal one on day 7 and 14. $^{\left(46\right) }$

Conclusion:

Propolis has an enhancing effect on the healing of oral mucosal wounds. It was linked to decreased inflammatory reaction. Therapeutic value of propolis in oral mucosal wound healing is more effective compared to daktarin. Further investigations about the therapeutic effects of propolis on oral lesions might substitute or aid the conventional treatment methods. Thus, further in vivo investigations are required to support this assumption.

Corresponding author:

Zoba H. Ali, Oral Biology Department, Faculty of Oral and Dental Medicine, Cairo University, Cairo, Egypt. <u>rawya h2a@yahoo.com</u>

References:

- Gonsalves W.C, Chi A.C, Neville B.W. (2007): Common oral lesions: Part I. Superficial mucosal lesions. Am. Fam. Physician;75(4):501-507.
- 2. Markiewicz M.R, Margarone III J.E, Barbagli G, Scannapieco F.A. (2007): Oral Mucosa Harvest: An Overview of Anatomic and Biologic Considerations, EAU-EBU Update Series 5,:179-187.
- Campisi G, Compilato D, Cirillo N, Ciavarella D, Panzarella V, Amato S, Lo Muzio L. (2007): Oral ulcers: three questions on their physiopathology. Minerva Stomatol.; 56 (5):293-302.
- 4. Enoch S, (2009): Scarless healing: oral mucosa as a scientific model Wounds UK, , 5(1):42-48.
- Birn H, Winther J. E. (1982): Surgical standard procedures suture. In : Manual of Minor Oral Surgery. London :W.B Saunders ,1982 :22.

- Gordon R, Seward M.H, David A, Gowan M.C.(1987): Intraoral incisions and suturing. In: Killey and Kay's outline of oral surgery part one. 2nd ed. India: 10p publishing limited, 1987: 42.
- Marcucci MC, Ferreres F,Garc a-Viguera C, Bankova VS, De Castro SL, Dantas AP, Valente PHM, Paulino N. 2001: Phenolic compounds from Brazilian propolis with pharmacological activities. J Ethnopharmacol 74: 105-112.
- Ahn M-R, Kunimasa K, Ohta T, Kumazawa S, Kamihira M, Kaji K, Uto Y, Hori H, Nagasawa H, Nakayama T. (2007): Suppression of tumor-induced angiogenesis by Brazilian propolis: Major component artepillin C inhibits in vitro tube formation and endothelial cell proliferation. Cancer Letters; 252 (2): 235-243.
- 9. Banskota A.H, Tezuka Y, Kadota S. (2001): Recent progress in pharmacological research of propolis. Phytotherapy Res.; 15 (7): 561-571.
- Farooqui T, Farooqui A. (2010): Molecular Mechanism Underlying the Therapeutic Activities of Propolis: A Critical Review. Curr Nutr Food Sci.; 6: 188-199.
- Sforcin J.M, Bankova V. (2011): Propolis: Is there a potential for the development of new drugs? J Ethnopharmacol.; 133: 253-260
- Pontin K, Da Silva Filho A.A, Santos F.F, Silva M.L, Cunha W.R, Nanayakkara N.P, Bastos J.K, de Albuquerque S. (2008): *In vitro* and *in vivo* antileishmanial activities of a Brazilian green propolis extract Parasitol Res.; 103(3):487-492.
- Ozbilge H, Kaya E.G, Songul A.S, Silici S. (2010): Anti- leishmanial activities of ethanolic extract of Kayseri propolis. African J. Microbiology Res.; 4 (7): 556-560.
- De Barros M.P., Sousa J.B., Bastos J.K., De Andrade S.F. (2007): Effect of Brazilian green propolis on experimental gastric ulcers in rats. J. Ethnopharmacology.;110 (3): 567-571.
- 15. Hsiao G, Lee J.J, Lin K. H, Shen C.H, Fong T.H, Chou D.S, Sheu J.R. (2007): Characterization of a novel and potent collagen antagonist, caffeic acid phenethyl ester, in human platelets: *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies. Cardiovascular Res.;75 (4): 782-792.
- Wegner T, Wagner H. The active components and the pharmacological multi-target principle of STW (Iberogast[®]). Phytomedicine, 2006;13 (Suppl.1),20-35.
- Amoros M, Simoes C. M, Girre L, Sauvager F, Cormier M. (1992): Synergistic effect of flavones and flavonols against herpes simplex virus type 1 in cell culture. Comparison with the antiviral activity of propolis. J Nat Prod; 55(12):1732-1740.
- Kujumgiev A, Tsvetkova I, Serkedjieva Y, Bankova V.S, Christov R, Popov S. (1999): Antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral activity of propolis of different geographic origin, Journal of Ethnopharmacology; 64: 235-240.
- Cardile V, Panico A, Gentile B, Borrelli F, Russo A. (2003): Effect of propolis on human cartilage and chondrocytes. Life Sci.;73(8):1027-1035.
- 20. Ansari S, Prasad R. (1993): Effect of miconazole on the structure and function of plasma membrane of

Candida albicans. Original Res. Article FEMS Microbiology Letters; 1 (114):93-98.

- Van Cutsem J.M, Thienpont D. (1972): Miconazole, a broad-spectrum antimycotic agent with antibacterial activity. Chemotherapy.;17(6):392-404.
- Khaliq J.A, Raza S. M, Anis I, Khan M. I. (2009): *In vitro* antifungal and antibacterial activities of extracts of Galium tricornutum subsp. longipedunculatum. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem.;24(1):192-196.
- Robert G. Irwin, Andreas H. Grill, Thomas J. Walsh. (1998): Antifungal drugs. Side effects of drugs Annual Vol. 21; 282-292.
- 24. Mustafa S. (1997): Effect of copper salt of Ibuprofen on wound healing in experimental rats. M.phil: Pathology Thesis, University of Dhaka.; 87.
- 25. Maria jose E, Marta G, Fernando L, Meana Alvaro, Eva G, Jose L Jorcano, Sara G Llames, (2004): An in vivo model of wound healing in genetically modified skin humanized mice, in Wound healing (original Article). J. Investigative Dermatology; 123: 1-19
- Sultana J, Molla M.R, Kamal M, Shahidullah M, Begum F, Bashar MA. (2009): Histological differences in wound healing in Maxillofacial region in patients with or without risk factors. Bangladesh J. Pathol.; 24 (1): 8.
- 27. Wetzler C, Kampfer H, Stallmeyer B, Pfeilschifter J, Frank S. (2000): Large and sustained induction of chemokines during impaired wound healing in the genetically diabetic mouse: prolonged persistence of neutrophils and macrophages during the late phase of repair. J Invest Dermatol.; 115:245–253.
- Wilgus T.A, Vodovotz Y, Vittadini E, Clubbs E.A, Oberyszyn T.M. (2003): Reduction of scar formation in full-thickness wounds with topical celecoxib treatment. Wound Repair Regen;11:25–34.
- 29. Dovi J.V, He L.K, DiPietro L.A. (2003): Accelerated wound closure in neutrophil-depleted mice. J Leukoc Biol.;73:448-455.
- Dovi J.V, Szpaderska A.M, DiPietro L.A. (2004): Neutrophil function in the healing wound: adding insult to injury? Thromb Haemost.;92:275-280.
- Almeida E.C.D, Menezes H. (2002): Antiinflammatory activity of propolis extracts: a review 2104. J. Venomous Animals and Toxins including Tropical Diseases.; 8 (2): 191-212.
- 32. Santos V.R, Gomes R.T, de Mesquita R.A, Mariela de Moura D.G, França E.C, de Aguiar E.G, Naves M.D, Abreu J.A.S, Sheila Abreu R.L. (2008): Efficacy of Brazilian propolis gel for the management of denture stomatitis: a pilot study. Phytotherapy Res.;11 (22): 1544–1547.
- Santos F.A, Bastos E.F, Maia A.A, Uzeda M, Carvalho M.A.R, Farias L.M, Moreira E.S.A. (2003): Brazilian propolis: physicochemical properties, plant origin and antibacterial activity on

periodontopathogens. Phytotherapy Res.;17(3):285-289.

- 34. Hayacibara M.F, Koo H, Rosalen P.L, Duarte S, Franco E.M, Bowen W.H, Ikegaki M, Cury J.A. (2005): *In vitro* and *in vivo* effects of isolated fractions of Brazilian propolis on caries development. J. Ethnopharmacology.;101 (1-3): 110-115.
- Scazzocchio F, D'auria F.D, Alessandrini D, Pantanella F. (2006): Multifactorial aspects of antimicrobial activity of propolis. Microbiological Res. ;161 (4): 327-333.
- Amaral R.C, Gomes R.C, Rocha Dos Santos W.M, Abreu S.L.R, Santos V.R. (2006): Periodontitis treatment with brasilian green propolis gel. Pharmacologyonline.; 3: 336-341.
- 37. Oliveira ACSS, Murgo DOA. (2006): Estidio da aplicacao da propolis ma odontologia (revisao de literatura) Application of propolis in odonotology, a review, X Encontro Latino Americano de Iniciação Científica e VI Encontro Latino Americano de Pós-Graduação – Universidade do Vale do Paraíba:; 737-740.
- Stephens P, Hiscox S, Cook H, Jiang W.G, Zhiquiang W, Thomas D.W. Phenotypic variation in the production of bioactive hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor by oral mucosal and skin fibroblasts. Wound Repair Regen. 2001; 9(1): 34–43
- 39. Okazaki M, Yoshimura K, Uchida G, Harii K. (2002): Elevated expression of hepatocyte and keratinocyte growth factor in cultured buccalmucosa- derived fibroblasts compared with normal-skin-derived fibroblasts. J Dermatol Sci.; 30(2): 108–115.
- Shannon D.B, McKeown S.T, Lundy F.T, Irwin C.R. (2006): Phenotypic differences between oral and skin fibroblasts in wound contraction and growth factor expression. Wound Repair Regen.; 14(2): 172–178.
- 41. Enoch S, Moseley R, Stephens P, Thomas D.W. (2008): The oral mucosa: a model of wound healing with reduced scarring. Oral Surgery.; 1(1): 11–21.
- 42. Slavin J. (1996): The role of cytokines in wound healing. J Pathol.; 178(1): 5–10.
- 43. Baum C.L, Arpey C.J. (2005): Normal cutaneous wound healing: clinical correlation with cellular and Molecular events. Dermatol Surg.; 31: 674-686.
- Cotran R.S, Kumar V, Collin's T. (1999): Tissue repair: cellular growth, Fibrosis and wound healing. In: Robins Pathological Basis of Disease. 6th edition. Philadelphia, USA : W.B. Saunders ; 22-118.
- Barbul A. (2005): Wound healing. In: Scwartz's Principles of surgery. 8th Ed New York : The McGraw - Hill companies, Inc.; 222-223.
- Yilmaz N, Nisbet Ö, Nisbet C, Ceylan G, Hoşgör F, Dede ÖD, (2009): Biochemical evaluation of the therapeutic effectiveness of honey in oral mucosal ulcers.Bosnian J. Basic Medical Sci.; 9 (4): 294-295.

4/13/2012

Effect of Openings on the Static and Dynamic Behavior of Quadratic Folded Plate Roofing Systems

¹Hala Elkady and ²Ahmed Hassan

¹Civil Engineering Department, National Research Center of Egypt ² Civil Engineering Department, Beni-suef University, Egypt Ahmedhb96@yahoo.com

Abstract: This paper investigates the effect of openings on the structural behaviour of quadratic folded plate Q.F.P. roofs by using different geometric configurations for the main elements of the system. The impact of such variance on the behaviour of the structure system under both static and dynamic conditions is also investigated. The selected and investigated parameters in this study are the location and size of the openings, as well as the rise of the folded plates (height). Spans of 14 m, 20 m and 26 m were selected for all of the investigated parameters. To meet the goals of this study, a 3-D Finite Element Model (FEM) was adopted to examine the suggested variables. A linear static analysis was performed to analyse the effect of the investigated parameters on the system deflections, moments, tension and compression stress. Q.F.P. slabs with rises varying from 90 cm to 180 cm were studied. The results indicated that the difference in the rise reduced the roof deflection by 72%. Moreover, the behaviour of the folded plate with openings at different locations was improved. The compression stress of the O.F.P. roofs increased by 120% to 170% when the location of the centre openings on the models length increased from 14 m to 26 m. Folded plate openings at at the quarter length of the folded plate further reduced the compression stress by 5% to 56% when the model span changed from 14 m to 26 m. The location of the edge openings had a slight effect on the compressive stress compared to other factors. The opening location did not have a significant effect on the tensile stress of the Q.F.P. slabs. Furthermore, the results indicated that the maximum bending moment for the intermediate beams increased by 69% when the centre openings were located at the beam centre. The maximum bending moment at 0.57 L (intermediate beam length) for the quarter opening location increased by 64% compared to control model. The edge opening location had a slight effect on the diaphragm bending moment and the intermediate beam fixed-end moment. Four different opening sizes were studied, and the effect of the opening size for the 26-m model was found to increase the static and dynamic behaviour by no more than 6%. Three-dimensional dynamic modal analyses were performed, and the effect of different opening locations on the fundamental modes was investigated. The results of the modal analysis showed that the openings location did not significantly affect the fundamental frequencies or fundamental mode shapes. The results obtained from this study emphasise the importance of using an elaborate numerical analysis to address such sensitive models; furthermore, the geometric properties and openings location of each contributing element clearly affected the overall performance of the system. Finally, the model results indicated that the folded plate opening location at the centre of the beam is the most effective parameter of those investigated here, while the edge opening location in the folded plate had the lowest effect on both the static and dynamic behaviour of the investigated system.

[Hala Elkady and Ahmed Hassan. Effect of Openings on the Static and Dynamic Behavior of Quadratic Folded Plate Roofing Systems. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):637-646]. (ISSN:1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 96

Key words: Folded plates; Height; Openings location; Free vibrations.

1. INTRODUCTION

The folded plate is one of the most practical structures used in civil engineering applications because it has numerous merits, including its light weight, the ease at which it is formed, its low cost and its high resistance to loads. The folded plate is used in many applications, such as roofs, sandwich plate cores and cooling towers. As the use of folded plates is advantageous compared to flat plates, their behaviour with and without openings under different load conditions must be investigated. There are several methods available for analysing this type of structure (1 to 8). While conventional analysis methods are simple and easy, they have certain limitations related to the generality of application and precision.

Early researchers solved folded plate problems in an approximate manner with the use of the beam

method or a theory that neglected the relative joint displacement (2). However, these two methods could not easily address generalised folded plate problems. Computational approaches and numerical methods for the analysis of folded plates offer more precise solutions than conventional analysis methods. The methods of interest include finite strip methods; one of the earliest studies based on this method, which was introduced by [Cheung 1969], was that of [Gollev and Grice 1989], along with the study presented in the same year by [Eterovic and Godoy 1989]. The combined boundary element-transfer matrix method [Ohga et al., 1991] and finite element method (FEM) were the focus of many previous studies [Liu and Huang, 1992; Perry et al., 1992; Duan, 2002]. The FEM is more convenient than the combined boundary element-transfer matrix method because it can be applied to analyse large complex structures; furthermore, various types of boundary conditions and loadings can be easily implemented. For these reasons, most of the commercial software used for structural analysis uses the FEM method.

This study focused on the Q.F.P. roof because it is one of the most common types of roofs used for roofing systems. The presented parametric study on the effect of opening location on folded plate behaviour was examined using finite element analysis and linear static three-dimensional F.E. analysis. The study analysed the effects of the opening location and the rise of the folded plate on the slab deflection, intermediate beam moments, and stress distribution of the slab's maximum stress.

In some cases, Q.F.P. slabs system should include openings. These openings may be small, such as those needed to accommodate heating, plumbing, and ventilating risers, floor and roof drains, and access hatches, but in some cases, openings may be larger than the code limitation in size and position. The presence of large openings in the slab system reduces the stiffness and increases the deflection; previous studies investigated the effect of the openings on the behaviour of the flat plate structure.

Based on the output of models, design charts for this particular system will be presented to select the best opening location, and the effects of various parameters on the behaviour of the structural system will be evaluated. Recommendations will be given in accordance with the impact of the opening location on the behaviour of the structural system.

2 Finite Element Analyses

2.1 Geometry and Dimensions of the Investigated Systems

Q.F.P. panels with a width of 7.8 m were studied, as presented in Figure 1. This width was kept constant throughout the analysis, while the three different spans of 14 m, 20 m, and 26 m were changed to investigate their effect on the behaviour of the structural system. A constant opening size of 3 m×2 m was considered for each panel for openings that were located on the top surface of the folded plate slab at different positions (centre, quarter, and edge). The height of the models varied from 90 to 180 cm. A 3-D F.E. analysis was performed, and the roof was modelled using 3-D quadratic shell elements, which are presented in Figure 2. The intermediate beams, end diaphragms, and columns were modelled as 3-D frame elements, as shown in Figure 2. The length of the openings ranged from 2 m to 8 m, while a constant width of 3 m was used for the different opening locations.



Figure 2: 3-D model of the investigated folded plate panels and centre opening location

2.2 Static Analysis of the Q.F.P. System

A 3-D static linear F.E. analysis was performed by applying each of the parameters under

investigation separately. A static load of 150 kg/cm² was applied on all of the models to mimic flooring and service loads. Throughout the analysis, the deflections

and stresses of the folded plate were checked and the maximum bending moments at the intermediate beams and diaphragm were reported. The effect of the tested parameters will be presented in detail later.

2.2.1 Effect of the Opening Location on the Maximum Deflection of the Q.F.P. System for a Constant Rise

The first investigated parameter was the effect of the folded plate opening location on the maximum deflection at the centre of the folded plate. Spans of 14 m, 20 m, and 26 m were studied. Figure 3 shows the maximum deflection of the folded plate slabs at the central point for the different lengths used versus the opening location for the folded plate. When the openings are located at the centre of the beam, the maximum deflection for the span with a length of 26 m and rise of 0.9 m increased from 47.6 mm to 58.2 mm, with a percentage increase of 22%. When the openings were located at the quarter length of the beam, the maximum deflection of the beam centre was 51.8 mm, with a percentage increase of 9 % compared to control model. The maximum central deflection was 47.6 mm when the openings were located on the edge, which has a minor effect on the centre deflection point. The measured deflection value when the openings were located at the edge is approximately the same as in the control model.

For the 20-m Q.F.P. span, the central deflection was 15.7 mm when the rise of the folded plate was 0.9 m, as presented in Figure 3. In the most of the investigated cases, the opening location has a significant effect on the extent to which the central deflection increases. For example, when the openings were located at the centre and quarter of the beam, the deflection increased to 19.3 mm and 17 mm, respectively, corresponding to 23% and 8% increases compared to the control case.

The central deflection of the folded plate with a 14-m span was 3.73 mm; this case is considered to be the control model. The effect of the opening location on the central deflection were 4.45 mm (increasing by 19 %), 3.89 mm (increasing by 4 %), and 3.77 mm for the corresponding to centre, quarter, and edge opening locations, respectively.



Figure 3: Maximum deflection of the Q.F.P. slabs versus different opening locations for different rises

2.2.2 Effect of the Folded Plate Rise on the Maximum Deflection

In this study, the folded plate rise was varied from 90 cm to 180 cm. The folded plate rise can significantly decrease the central deflection, as shown in Figure 3. For the longest investigated span of 26 m, the increase of the folded plate depth (rise) from 0.9 m to 1.8 m with centre opening location reduced the deflection from 58.2 mm to 16.5 mm, while the deflection induced at the quarter opening location decreased from 51.8 mm to 14.8 mm when the folded plate rise increased from 0.9 m to 1.8 m.

For the 20-m model, increasing the folded plate rise from 0.9 m to 1.8 m decreased the central deflection from 19.3 mm to 5.62 mm at the centre opening location, while the central point deflection decreased from 17 mm to 5 mm for the same increase in the folded plate rise when the openings were located at the quarter length of the beam.

For the 14-m span, the central deflection decreased by 65 % for both the centre and quarter opening locations, as presented in Figure 3. The Q.F.P. slab rise decreases the effect of the opening location on the maximum deflection.

2.2.3 Effect of the Folded Plate Opening Location on the Intermediate Beam Moment

This study considered three opening locations for the Q.F.P. slabs: at the centre, quarter and edge of the beam. These openings can significantly increase the maximum bending moment of the intermediate beam, and the value of the moment depends on the opening positions. For the 26-m span without openings, the maximum bending moment at the centre of the intermediate beam was 16.8 m.t, while the bending moment was 28.37 meter-tons (increasing by 67 %). For the 20 m and 14 m folded plate lengths, the maximum bending moments increased by 60% and 42 %, respectively. The effect of the opening location at the quarter or edge of the beam has no effect on the maximum moment at the centre of the beam, as the maximum moment is similar to that of the control model, as shown in Figure 4. The maximum moment occurred at the quarter of the intermediate beam at the opening location, and it increased by 64 %, 46% and 30% for the model lengths of 26 m, 20 m and 14 m, respectively, as shown in Figure 5. The edge opening location has a limited significant effect on the intermediate beam bending moment, as shown in Figure 6.

Figures 4-6 present the effects of the opening location and Q.F.P. rise on the bending moment of the intermediate beam. These figures show that the increase of the folded plate rise from 0.9 to 1.8 m results reduces the moment of the intermediate beam at different locations for all of the investigated models.





Figure 4: Maximum moment of the intermediate beam versus different opening locations

quarter moment



Figure 5: Intermediate beam moment at the quarter versus different opening locations



Figure 6: Fixed end moment of the intermediate beam versus different opening locations

2.2.4 Effect of the Opening Location on the Folded Plate Compression and Tension Stresses

For the minimum investigated rise of 0.9 m, the presence of different opening locations at the centre, quarter and edge of the beam results in a maximum tensile stress and maximum compression stress at the bottom and top of the beam, respectively. Changes in the opening location do not significantly affect the tensile stress, as shown in Figure 7. However, they do significantly affect the compression stresses. At the centre opening location of the 26-m, 20-m and 14-m

spans, the compression stress increased by 174%, 170% and 120 %, respectively, compared to the control beam. For the quarter opening location, the compression stress increased by 56%, 30% and 5 % for the 26-m, 20-m and 14-m spans, respectively. The edge opening location did not noticeably affect the compression stress, which was maximised near the location of the openings. For example, the maximum stress occurred at 0.57 L of the folded plate length for the quarter opening, while it occurred at 0.62 L of folded plate length for the edge opening location.



Figure 7: Maximum tension and compression stress versus different openings locations

2.2.5 Effect of the Opening Location on the Folded Plate Compression and Tension Stresses

In this study, the length of the openings ranged from 2 m to 8 m, while a constant width of 3 m was used for the different opening locations. The folded plate opening sizes do not significantly increase the static or

dynamic effects. For the longest investigated span of 26 m, the models indicated that the effects of these parameters are less than 6%.

2.3 FREE VIBRATION ANALYSIS

The investigated systems were subjected to a free vibration analysis. An eigenvalue analysis was adopted in the linear dynamic analysis. The arrangement of the mode shapes was consistent for the investigated spans with different parameters. Column sway dominates the first three modes, while the subsequent modes are dominated by roof deformations. Figure 8 displays the roof modes and clearly shows that the dominating mode for the Q.F.P. slab is the intermediate symmetric bending mode. The second mode was anti-symmetric bending, followed by the symmetric bending of the external spans and the alternating modes of anti-symmetric and symmetric plate bending.

In Figure 9, the fundamental frequencies of the system are provided for the Q.F.P. slabs with spans of 14, 20

and 26 meters. As shown in the figure, the first three modes were column lateral displacements. The fundamental modes for the folded plate roof began at the fourth mode. The frequency of the three fundamental modes for the 14- and 20-m roof spans were very similar, while the frequency for the 26-m span was 27% lower than these frequencies.

Figure 10 presents the effect of the roof rise on the fundamental frequencies of the system for the 20-m span. Rises of 90 and 180 cm were investigated, and the figure shows that the system with the higher rise has 20% higher fundamental frequencies. This result is likely due to the higher stiffness of the roof in this case. Based on the free

vibration analysis, the change in the opening location has no effect on the roof modes or the fundamental frequencies.



Fifth mode shape of the Q.F.P slab

Third mode shape of the Q.F.P. slab with edge openings



Fourth mode shape of the Q.F.P. slab with edge openings Fifth mode shape of the Q.F.P. slab with edge openings



Figure 8: Fundamental mode shapes of the Q.F.P. slab

Figure 9: Fundamental mode frequencies for the folded plate roofs with different spans



Figure 10: Effect of the folded plate rise on the fundamental frequency under free vibrations

3 Discussions of Results

For the models considered in this study, the edge opening location has a limited effect on the Q.F.P. roofs' central deflection, maximum bending moment, edge moment of the intermediate beam and diaphragm bending moment. This effect did not exceed 3%, as shown in Figure 11. The central opening location

clearly affects the central deflection compared to the defections induced in both the quarter and edge opening locations. The centre opening location increased the central deflection by 14 % more than the quarter opening for the 14-m and 20-m spans and by 14% more than the quarter opening for the 26-m span.

Doubling the height of the investigated folded plate from 0.9 meters to 1.8 meters is associated with an average deflection reduction of 72%, as shown in Figure 12, which also shows that the degree to which

the central deflection increases for the 20-m and 26-m spans were similar, while the effect of the opening location in the 14-m span was lower.



Figure 11: Maximum deflection of the Q.F.P. slabs versus different opening locations for different lengths



Figure 12: Maximum deflection of the Q.F.P. slabs versus different opening locations for different lengths

The maximum moment location occurred at the intermediate beam centre in the case of the control and centre opening location models. For the quarter opening location model, the maximum moment occurred at a length of 0.75 (at the opening location) for the intermediate beam length. The location of the maximum moment for the edge opening location model was similar to that of the control model, as presented in Figure 13.

Varying the opening location significantly affected the maximum moment of the intermediate beam. The centre opening location increased the maximum moment by 67%, 60% and 42% for the 26 m, 20 m and 14 m spans, respectively. The maximum moment is located at the quarter of the intermediate beam at the opening location, and it increased by 64 %, 46% and 30% in the 26-m, 20-m and 14-ms, respectively, as shown in Figure 13. The effect of the opening location on the edge moment and diaphragm bending moment did not exceed 3%. At the quarter opening location, the opening location did not appear to affect the maximum moment at the intermediate beam centre or the edge moment. The effect of the opening location on the maximum tensile stress was minor and did not exceed 4%. However, the opening location significantly affected the compression stress, which increased by 174%, 170%, and 120% for the 26-m, 20-m and 14-m spans, respectively. The quarter opening location increased the compression stress by 56%, 30%, and 5% for the 26-m, 20-m, and 14-m spans, respectively.

The openings size does not significantly affect the static or dynamic behaviour of the beam. Increasing the opening size decreased the total load on the folded plate system (dead or live load). For the dynamic analysis, varying the opening size did not significantly affect the folded plate inertia; thus, effect of the opening size on the dynamic behaviour was not significant.

The opening locations from the centre to the edge of the beam have a limited effect on the fundamental frequency of the Q.F.P. slab. The arrangement of the mode shape patterns was not affected by variations in the opening locations from the centre to the edge of the beam. In other words, the mode shapes were of the same order for all of the investigated spans.



Figure 13: Intermediate beam moment versus different opening locations

4 Conclusions

- The proposed approximate static solutions for the fixed boundary conditions at the end diaphragms of the Q.F.P. slab ends (9, 10, and 11) are not reliable for the longer spans, especially for spans higher than 20 meters. Thus, the stiffness should be included in the numerical modeling.
- Increasing the folded plate rise was the most significant factor in improving the static analysis for deflection control, while increasing the roof rise increases the fundamental frequencies of the system.
- The rise effect was most effective in shorter spans.
- Increasing the folded plate rise enhanced the structural behaviour of the Q.F.P. system.
- The edge opening location has a limited effect on the Q.F.P. roofs static and dynamic behaviour.
- Centre and quarter opening locations have an effect on the change in static deflections, or straining actions of the system.
- Spans from 14 to 20 meters for the investigated Q.F.P. slabs had very close fundamental frequencies, this effect widens noticeably on analysing longer spans.
- The centre opening location significantly affected the Q.F.P. slabs deflection greater than quarter opening location by 14%.
- The variation of the opening location has a significant effect on the maximum moment of intermediate beam, while the centre opening location increased the maximum moment by 67%, 60% and 42% which corresponding spans of 26 m, 20 m, 14 m, respectively.
- The opening location has a limited effect on the edge moment and diaphragm bending moment,

which did not increase by more than 5% compared to the control model.

- The quarter opening location did not affect the maximum moment at the intermediate beam centre or the edge moment. The maximum moment is located at the quarter of the intermediate beam at the opening location, and compared to the control model, it increased by 64 %, 46% and 30% for the model lengths of 26 m, 20 m and 14 m, respectively.
- The opening location has no effect on the maximum tensile stress, while it significantly affects the compression stress, which increased by 174%, 170%, 120% for the spans of 26 m, 20 m, 14 m, respectively, compared to the control model.
- The opening locations from the centre to the edge of the beam have a limited effect on the fundamental frequency of the Q.F.P. slab.
- The openings sizes do not have a significant effect on the static and dynamic behaviour of the beams.
- The arrangement of the mode shape patterns was not affected by variations in the opening locations from the centre to the edge of the beam. In other words, the mode shapes were of the same order for all of the investigated spans.

Corresponding author

Hala Elkady

Professor, Civil Engineering Department, National Research Center of Egypt <u>Ahmedhb96@yahoo.com</u>

5 References

[1] Cheung YK.,"Folded plate structures by finite strip method.", Jr of Struct Div ASCE 1969;95:2963-79.

- [2] Golley BW, Grice WA.,"Prismatic folded plate analysis using finite strip-element.", Comput Methods Appl Mech Eng 1989;76:101–18.
- [3] Eterovic AL, Godoy LA.," An exact-strip method for folded plate structures.", Comput Struct 1989;32(2):263–76.
- [4] Ohga M, Shigematsu T, Kohigashi S., "Analysis of folded plate structures by a combined boundary element-transfer matrix method", Jr. of Comput Struct 1991;41(4):739–44.
- [5] Liu WH, Huang CC.," Vibration analysis of folded plates.", Jr. of Sound Vibr 1992;157(1):123–37.
- [6] Perry B, Bar-Yoseph P, Rosenhouse G., " Rectangular hybrid shell element for analyzing folded plate structures.", Comput Struct 1992;44(1-2):177-85.
- [7] Duan M, Miyamoto Y., "Effective hybrid/mixed finite elements for folded-plate structures.", J Eng Mech 2002;128(2):202–8.
- [8] Guha Niyogi A, Laha MK, Sinha PK., Finite element vibration analysis of laminated composite folded plate structures", Jr. of Shock Vibr 1999;6:273–83.
- [9] Bar-Yoseph P, Hersckovitz I., "Analysis of folded plate structures.", Jr. of Thin-Walled Struct 1989;7:139–58.
- [10] H. Elkady and A. Hasan "Effect of Geometric Configuration of Quadratic Folded Plate Roofing Systems on Their Static and Dynamic Behavior" Journal of American Science, Vol. 6, Issue. 7 July, 2010 ISSN 1545-1003, page 318-326.
- [11] Bandyopadhyay JN, Laad PK.,"Comparative analysis of folded plate structures.", Jr. of Comput Struct 1990;36(2):291–6.
- [12] Peng L.X, Kitipornchai S., Liew K.M., "Bending analysis of folded plates by the FSDT meshless method", Journal of thin walled str. 44, 2006, p 1138-1160.
- [13] Belytschko T, Lu YY, Gu L. ,"Element-free Galerkin methods", . Int J Numer Methods Eng 1994;37:229–56.
- [14] Liew KM, Ng TY, Wu YC.," Meshfree method for large deformation analysis—a reproducing kernel particle approach.", Eng Struct 2002;24(5):543–51.
- [15] Bernadou .M, "Finite Element Methods for Thin Shell Problems", J. Wiley & Sons, 1996.
- [16] Chapelle B, K.J. Bathe, "Fundamental considerations for the finite element analysis of shell structures", Comput. Struc. 1998;66:19–36.
- [17] Liew KM, Wu YC, Zou GP, Ng TY., "Elasto-

plasticity revisited: Numerical analysis via reproducing kernel particle method and parametric quadratic programming", Int J Numer Methods Eng 2002;55(6):669–83.

- [18] Liew KM, Huang YQ, Reddy JN. "Moving least square differential quadrature method and its application to the analysis of shear deformable plates.", Int J Numer Methods Eng 2003;56(15):2331–51.
- [19] Liew KM, Zou GP, Rajendran S., "A spline strip kernel particle method and its application to twodimensional elasticity problems.", Int J Numer Methods Eng 2003;57(5):599–616.
- [20] Liew KM, Chen XL., "Buckling of rectangular Mindlin plates subjected to partial in-plane edge loads using the radial point interpolation method", . Int J Solids Struct 2004;41(5–6):1677–95.
- [21] Liew KM, Cheng Y, Kitipornchai S., "Boundary element-free method (BEFM) for twodimensional elastodynamic analysis using Laplace transform.", Int J Numer Methods Eng 2005;64(12):1610–27.
- [22] Liew KM, Ren J, Reddy JN., "Numerical simulation of the thermomechanical behaviour of shape memory alloys.", Int J Numer Methods Eng 2005;63(7):1014–40.
- [23] Liew KM, Cheng Y, Kitipornchai S., "Boundary element-free method (BEFM) and its application to two-dimensional elasticity problems.", Int J Numer Methods Eng 2006;65(8):1310–32.
- [24] Chen JS, Pan C, Wu CT, Liu WK., "Reproducing kernel particle methods for large deformation analysis of nonlinear structures." Comput Methods Appl Mech Eng 1996;139:195–227.
- [25] Liew KM, Wang J, Tan MJ, Rajendran S., "Postbuckling analysis of laminated composite plates using the mesh-free KP–Ritz method " Comput Methods Appl Mech Eng 2006;195(7– 8):551–70.
- [26] Ren J, Liew KM., "Mesh-free method revisited: two new approaches for the treatment of essential boundary conditions." Int J Comput Eng Sci 2002;3(2):219–33.
- [27] Wang J, Liew KM, Tan MJ, Rajendran S., " Analysis of rectangular laminated composite plates via FSDT meshless method.", Int J Mech Sci 2002;44:1275–93.
- [28] Liew KM, Lim HK, Tan MJ, He XQ. "Analysis of laminated composite beams and plates with piezoelectric patches using the element-free Galerkin method." Comput Mech 2002; 29(6):486–97.

4/12/2012

Screening tuberculosis in the Sistan region of Iran: A Population-Based Study

Mosayeb Shahryar¹, Abbasali Niazi² and Behzad Narouie^{3*}

1: Department of Internal Medicine, Infectious Diseases & Tropical Medicine Research Center, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Zahedan, Iran

2:Department of Pathology, Infectious Diseases & Tropical Medicine Research Center, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Zahedan, Iran.

3:Researcher of Clinical Research Development Center, Ali-Ebne-Abitaleb Hospital, Zahedan University of Medical Science, Zahedan, Iran.

*Corresponding Author:

Behzad Narouie (MD) ;General Practitioner, Researcher of Clinical Research Development Center, Ali-Ebne-Abitaleb Hospital, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Zahedan, Iran

Email :b_narouie@yahoo.com Telefax : +985413414103

Abstract: Estimation of the prevalence of tuberculosis is one of the most important needs for the provision of health services in Iran. In this study, we investigate the prevalence of pulmonary tuberculosis in the Sistan region of Iran. A cross-sectional study was carried out during 2010 in the Sistan region of Iran. Sistan has a total population of 410,713, including 50,322 families. 21,645 of these individuals (or 5.27%) have a history of chronic cough (a cough lasting more than 2 weeks) based on our survey. Individuals who were suspected of having tuberculosis were referred to the district health center. For each case, diagnostic procedures including physical examination of the chest for evaluation of Bacillus Calmette-Guérin status, obtaining of 3 sputum smear samples, and radiography of the chest. Of 410,713 individuals, 6250 (or 1.52%) demonstrated scarring typical of BCG, and chronic cough was confirmed via clinical workup in 8140 participants. Among these participants, 4034 (0.98% of the Sistan population) presented with productive cough; sputum specimens were taken from this group. Chest radiographs showed characteristic pulmonary tuberculosis lesions in 27 (6.58%) of 410 patients in whom radiography was performed on the basis of clinical findings. Seven patients were identified as having tuberculosis through sputum smears; five other patients were found to not have tuberculosis via this method. With respect to the different types of diagnostic methods used, the differences among them for positive predictive value, specificity and sensitivity were significant (p < 0.05). The likelihood ratio for chest radiography was also significantly greater than that for the sputum smear method (33.31 versus 19.1; p < 0.05). Only 276 of the patients with pulmonary Tuberculosis were identified via Health Service System (HSS) screening method in Sistan, and the rest were diagnosed though recent study. Our findings suggest that the diagnostic power of chest radiograph is more than sputum smear; however, we think the HSS method for taking sputum was not a controlled one.

[Mosayeb Shahryar , Abbasali Niazi and Behzad Narouie. Screening tuberculosis in the Sistan region of Iran: A Population-Based Study. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):647-650]. (ISSN:1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 97 Key Words: Chronic Cough, Pulmonary Tuberculosis, Sputum Smear.

Introduction:

Tuberculosis continues to be a major clinical problem in specific populations world-wide. During the last two decades, a troubling, marked increase in drug-resistant strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (MTB) has been seen, further complicating the course and treatment of this disease.

Tuberculosis is of particular concern in low and intermediate income countries such as Iran (1). In Sistan, the annual incidence rate of TB was 96 cases per 100000 population in 2005, 7 times higher than in the general population in Iran (2).The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends the DOTS strategy (for "directly observed treatment, short course") to combat TB in most high-income countries (3). For case finding, integration of active and passive discovery of cases is recommended, with a priority placed on detection of infectious cases (4, 5).

Chronic cough (>2 weeks duration) is an important symptom in the diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. This symptom could be used as a screening index in the evaluation of TB prevalence in specific communities. In Zabol, however, even though the incidence rate of smear-positive pulmonary TB, miliary TB, and TB meningitis had apparently decreased the real incidence and prevalence of tuberculosis in this area is still unknown (3).
Before 1990, vaccination with BCG was not mandatorily given in Iran, and the annual risk of tuberculosis infection was estimated at 0.5-1%. These days, vaccination of ARTI is almost impossible (5, 6). Sistan is a region in the Sistan and Baluchistan province in eastern Iran (population, 410,713). The aim of this cross-sectional study was to compare the diagnostic value of chest radiograph with sputum smear as screening methods for TB in patients with chronic (>2 weeks duration) cough(7, 8).

Materials and methods:

A total of 50,322 families were interviewed (410,713 individuals) for this study. Individuals experiencing cough of >2 weeks duration were eligible for this study during 2010. Those with suspected tuberculosis were referred to the District Health Center. For each individual enrolled in the study who was suspected of having tuberculosis, the following diagnostic procedures were performed: physical examination of the chest, determination of BCG status through inspection for typical scars, and obtaining of three sputum specimens for laboratory submission; in the lab, these samples underwent microscopy examination and Ziehl Nielsen staining. The quality of the laboratory examinations was controlled by the central laboratory in Zabol, in the center of Sistan. Whether chest radiographs were obtained was left to the discretion of the physician. For cases in which radiographs were obtained, the films were read independently by two radiologists who were aware of the subject's signs or symptoms. Disagreements on interpretation of the radiographs were settled by consensus between the two specialists who read them at first primary care physician and then radiologists read the CXR.

After performing the aforementioned steps, all diagnosed pulmonary TB cases were registered in the study and referred to public health services for standard treatment. The diagnosis of tuberculosis was based on a combination of clinical findings, laboratory reports and response to treatment. Data analyses were performed using SPSS z-tests (SPSS/IBM, Armonk, NY, United States) to compare the sputum smear tests with radiography with respect to positive predictive value, negative predictive value, specificity, and sensitivity.

Results:

Of the 410,713 individuals initially included, 21,645 (8213 female and 13,432 male) had a history of more than 2 weeks' cough. Of these 21,645 individuals, 6250 had scarring that was typical of BCG. Chronic cough was confirmed in 8140 participants through clinical workup. Additionally, seven new pulmonary TB cases

were diagnoses through direct microscopy examination of sputum smear samples. (Table and Figure 1)

Chest radiography suggested the presence of pulmonary TB in 27 cases; seven of these had positive sputum smears, 10 had negative sputum smears, and 10 had old TB lesions. Five of these 27 patients had no history of pulmonary TB. (Table 2)

Sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV, and the likelihood ratio for sputum smear samples and chest radiography are shown in. (Table 3)

Discussion:

The reported incidence of pulmonary TB is lower in comparison with the actual incidence of disease in Sistan shown during this the study. 5270 individuals presented with chronic cough; 4034 of these presented with positive cough, and 0.173% of these were smear positive (7 of 4034). A similar study in Iran indicated that 1.5% of these types of cases had sputum smear samples that were positive for TB. Another study showed that 20% of cases with chronic cough had smear samples that showed the presence of TB (10). In Sistan in 2010, the prevalence of pulmonary TB and smear-positive pulmonary TB was 96 and 67 per 100,000 population, respectively.

During the present study, all of those with positive sputum smear samples presented clinically with anorexia and weight loss. Fever, cough, and weight loss have been reported as the most common symptoms of pulmonary TB in different studies (9, 11, 12). However, fever and chronic cough were not sensitive enough for adequate TB diagnosis in some studies (13). Overall, chest radiography has greater diagnostic ability than does sputum smear samples (9, 14); this was confirmed again in the present study, which found that chest radiography is significantly better than sputum testing for the diagnosis of TB.

The use of radiography for diagnosis of pulmonary TB has some limitations. Considering active pulmonary TB, 46.4 of suspected patients had positive results on chest radiography (active disease or old TB lesions). Of total tuberculosis cases and suspected cases, active disease was identified in 44.4% of them by means of chest radiography; 25.9% had positive results via sputum microscopy/laboratory examination. Annual incidence of pulmonary TB and the incidence of TB as shown on smear samples were 100 and 19.3 per 100,000 populations, respectively. The Iranian Health Service System identified 67 smear-positive cases of TB in 2006, while the recent study identified 12 additional cases with pulmonary tuberculosis at the same time. Therefore, the Health Service System only identified 90.54% of patients with tuberculosis. In our opinion, the only key for diminishing this difference is revising the application of diagnostic tools.

Conclusion Our findings suggest that the diagnostic power of chest radiograph is more than sputum smear; however, we think the HSS method for taking sputum was not a controlled one.

Acknowledgment:

We appreciate the Deputy of Research of Zahedan University of Medical Sciences for their financial and technical support of our study. We are indebted to Dr.Ali Davarian for his leading suggestions in literary revision of this article and would like to Acknowledge our colleague in Clinical Research Development Center of Ali-Ebne-Abitaleb Hospital, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences for their help preparing this manuscript.

References:

1- Regular quarterly and annual reports of case detection, Control of Disease Centre, I.R.Iran Health Minister, 2005.

2- WHO.Tuberculosis control in prisons .A manual for program managers. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, 2000

3-Salek S, Salek SO, Mohammadi A .Chronic cough and Pulmonary Tuberculosis in the urban Population of rudsar –Tanaffos, 2003; 8:64-9.

4-Coninx R, Maher D, Reyes H.Tuberculosis in prisons in countries with high prevalence .BMJ 2000;320:440-2.

5-Masjedi MR, Tabatabaee D,Salek S .Tuberculosis guide ,I.R.Iran ,Foreign Minister Publish Center ,1997:64-5.

6-Miller LG, Asch SM, Yu EI .Apopulation –based survey of tuberculosis symptoms: how atypical presentation? Clin Infect Dis 2000; 30; 2:293-9.

7-Sretrirutchai S Silapapojakul K,Palittapongarnpim p .Tuberculosis in Thai prisons:magnitude, transmission and drug susceptibility.Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2002;6:208-4.

8-Centre of Disease Control and Prevention. Rapid assessment of tuberculosis in a large prison system – Botswana, 2002. MMWr 2003; 52:250-2.

9-March F Coll PGuerrero RA .predictors of tuberculosis transmission in prisons: an analysis using conventional and molecular methods.Aids 2000; 14:525-35.

10-Nyanglu D S, Harries AD, Kangombe C.Tuberculosis in a prison population in Malawi ,lancet 1997;350:1284-87.

11-Datta M ,Radhamani MP ,Sadacharam K. Survey for Tuberculosis in tribal population in north Arcot District .Int J Tuber Lung Dis 2001;5:240-9.

12-Sanchez A, Gerhardt ,Natal S .Prevalence of pulmonary tuberculosis and comparative evaluation of screening strategies in brazilian prison .Int J Tuber ,2005.633-8.

13-Toman K, Tuberculosis case finding and chemotherapy.Questions and answers. Geneva, Switzerland: Word Health Organization, 1979.

14-Aerts A, Habouzit M,Mschiladze L.Pulmonary tuberculosis in prisons of the ex-URSS state Georgia: results of a national-wide prevalence survey among sentenced inmates. Int J Tub 2000; 4:1104-10.

10/5/2012



Figure 1. Frequency distribution of chronic cough in different age groups, Zabol, in 2010.

Table1. Results of sputum – smear direct microscopy					
Productive cough	Sputum- smear				
4034	Total	positive	negative		
	3670 (90.9%)	7(0.19%)	3663(99.81%)		

Table2.Radiologic finding of patients with chronic cough

Lesion	Number of patients
Compatible with pulmonary TB	27(6.6%)
Non-Tuberculosis	190(46.4%)
Heart and alveolar lesion	14 (3.4%)
Non specific	20(4.9%)
Normal graph	159 (38.7%)
Total	410(100%)

Table3. Statistical comparison between sputum smear and chest X-ray

	Sputum smear	Chest X-ray	P value	
sensitivity	57.7	96	0.00	
specificity	100	85	0.023	
PPV	100	54	0.00	
NPV	9.1	100	0.11	
Likelihood ratio	19.1	33.31	0.00	

Natural Radioactivity and Heavy Metals in Milk Consumed in Saudi Arabia and Population Dose Rate Estimates

J. H. Al-Zahrani

Physics Department, Girls Faculty of Science, King Abdulaziz University, Saudi Arabia Corresponding author: jalzhrani@kau.edu.sa

Abstract

This paper represents an important part of the Saudi Food and Drug Authority plane to reach its aims regarding the safety and effectiveness of food for humans. The results of radioactivity analysis carried out for 40 K, 232 Th and 226 Ra in powdered infant's milk used in Saudi Arabia (Jeddah city). The main detected activity corresponding to 40 K was within the range reported in different parts of the world with average activity of 234.18 ± 1.9 BqKg $^{-1}$, while the average activities of 226 Ra, 232 Th were 0.46 Bqkg $^{-1}$, and 0.35 Bqkg $^{-1}$, respectively, although the activity of some samples were below the detection limit. The total average effective dose due to annual intake of 226 Ra, 232 Th and 40 K from the ingestion of the powdered milk for infants were estimated to be 410μ Sv for infant ≤ 1 Y and 157μ Sv for infants (1-2Y) ,which are lower than allowed value (1mSv). The heavy metals analyses were done by atomic absorption spectrophotometer. The geometric mean of Fe, Zn, Mn,Cu and Pb in the samples of powdered milk was found to be 3.033, 2.91, 0.031, 0.182 and 0.034 mg/ kg respectively, where as the daily intake was computed to be 0.186, 0.179, 0.002, 0.001 and 0.002 mg / day, respectively. The results showed that the intake of heavy metals through the ingestion of milk did not exceed the limit of one as proposed by US-IPA. This study could be useful as a baseline data for radiation and heavy metals exposure to infant's milk and their impact on infant's health[J. H. Al-Zahrani. Natural Radioactivity and Heavy Metal s in Milk Consumed in Saudi Arabia and Population Dose Rate Estimates. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):651-656]. (ISSN:1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 98

Keywords: Natural Radioactivity, Milk, Heavy Metals, Ingestion dose, Hazard quotient

1-Introduction:

Milk is an important vector of radio nuclides and heavy metals to man that may get into the environment from the mining activities .The radio nuclides and heavy metals enter the human body mainly by two routes namely : inhalation and ingestion, Licata et al., (2004). Also milk is one of the important food for human nutrition and contains all the macronutrients namely protein, carbohydrates, fat, vitamins (A,D and B groups) and trace elements particularly calcium, phosphate, magnesium, zinc and selenium, Abollino et al.,(1998); Buldini et al.,(2002). Milk is the main basic foodstuffs for the infants especially for infants less than one year because they generally consume more milk on apery body weight basis than adults. So, the assessment of radioactivity and heavy metals levels in the powdered infant's milk and the associated doses are of crucial importance for controlling the radiation levels and necessary in establishing rules and regulations relating to radiation protection, Quindos et al., (1994) . It is also important to understand the behaviour of natural radio nuclides and heavy metals in the environment because such informations can be used as the associated parameter values for radiological assessment (Vera et al. (2003). In addition Potassium is an essential constituent of cellular tissue,⁴⁰ K is one of the most important natural radio nuclides . Also, the heavy metals such as Fe ,Zn,Cu , Mn and Pb are essential at very low concentrations for the survival of all forms of life .

There is increasing world wide concern about quality of powdered milk, studies in recent years have been indicated, Shukla(1994) Melquiades *et al* (2001); Melquiades and Appoloni (2002); Al-Masri *et al* (2004); Navarrte *et al* (2007); Desmani *et al* (2009); Zaid et al (2010); Shanti *et al* (2010); Marko and Borut (2011); Soma *et al* (2011).

In Saudi Arabia no surveys of radioactivity in powdered infant's milk have been carried out and no baselines of concentration of natural and anthropogenic radioisotopes have been reported. Therefore, the establishment of radio-isotope concentrations will prove meaningful information that can contribute to knowledge of population exposure and to the setting up of original baseline, IAEA (1989).

The aim of this study was to investigate the concentration of some long-lived radio nuclides (226 Ra, 232 Th and 40 K) and the concentration of some heavy metals such as Fe , Zn , Cu , Mn and Pb in the powdered infant's milk . In addition estimation of the annual internal dose from the intake of natural isotopes and heavy metals . These measurements can be useful as baseline values for the estimation of the internal radiation and heavy metals doses .

2. Materials and Methods:

Twenty five samples of different types of powdered infant's milk were collected from the local markets in Saudi Arabia (Jeddah City) between 2010-2012. The

Type of samples are listed in Table (1). The powdered samples were stored in tight plastic containers for four weeks to allow radioactive equilibrium to be reached between parents and their daughter radio nuclides , Ibrahim and Pimpl (1994).Detection and measurements of the radio nuclides in the powdered infant's samples were carried out by gamma ray spectrometer using a NaI (TI) detector 3x3 inch with a 1024-chanel computer analyzer. The detector has a peak efficiency of 1.2x10⁻⁵at1332.5KevCo-60and an energy resolution (FWHM)of7.5% for662kev.samples were accounted 10 hours, the activity concentration of Pb^{214} (352Kev) and Bi^{214} (609 Kev,1120Kev) were chosen to provide an estimate of ²²⁶Ra ,while that of the daughter radionuclidesTi²⁰⁸ (2651Kev)Pb²¹² (239Kev) Ac²²⁸ (911Kev) were chosen as indicator of ²³²Th,⁴⁰ K was directly measured using its single photo peak at 1460 KeV emitter ,jibiri et al.,(2007). The activity concentration (AE,i) in Bq kg⁻¹, for a radionuclide i with a detected photo peak at energy E,was obtained from the following equation, Noorddin (1999): $AE;i(Bq kg^{-1}) = NE;i/e_E t cd M(1)$

Where:

NE; i = is the net peak-area of the radionuclide i at energy E, e_E is the detector energy-dependent efficiency at energy E, t is the counting live time in sec, cd is the gamma-ray yield per disintegration of the nuclide i for its transition at energy E, M is the mass of the sample.

Heavy metals were analysed using an atomic absorption spectrophotometer (A Analyst 700) reagents blank determinations were used to correct the instrument readings. Also, after every 4 samples readings standards were run to make sure that the obtained results were within ranges.

3. Results and Discussions

3.1. Radioactivity analysis of infant's milk

The measured activity concentration of ²²⁶R, ²³²Th and ⁴⁰K detected in the samples of powdered infant's milk under study including their uncertainty are summarized in Table (1).It can be noticed that ⁴⁰K was detected in most of samples and varied between 210.21±.31 Bqkg⁻¹ to 257.51±3.33 Bqkg⁻¹ with an average value of 234.18 ±1.9 Bqkg⁻¹.The measured concentration ranged from 0.25±0.03 Bqkg⁻¹ to 0.85±.12 Bqkg⁻¹ and from 0.09±.02 Bqkg to 0.76±.12 Bqkg⁻¹ for²²⁶Ra and ²³²Th respectively. On the other hand, the highest values of ⁴⁰K were detected with activities 250.8±2.55 , 257.51±3.33 and 252.3±275 Bqkg⁻¹ in samples No. (12, 14 and 20) respectively. The lowest concentration of ⁴⁰K was found 210.20±.31Bqkg⁻¹ in sample No.(24) . While the lowest concentrations of ²²⁶Ra and ²³²Th were 0.25±.03 Bqkg⁻¹ and 0.09±0.02 Bqkg⁻¹ in samples

No.(1) and No.(15), respectively.The ²²⁶ Ra,²³² Th,⁴⁰ K activities measured in the present work were comparable with completion of others activated values of milk samples around the world were presented in Table (2). It is important to remark that the ²²⁶Ra ²³²Th and ⁴⁰K activities levels determined in the present study are similar to those of powdered milk consumed in other countries, Melquiades *et al.*, (2002); Al-Marsi *etal.*,(2004); Hosseni *et al.*,(2006) ;Ibrahim *et al.* ,(2007);Zaid *et al.*,(2010) **Table(1) :activity concentrations of** ²²⁶**Ra**,²³²**Th And** ⁴⁰**K in powered infant's milk (Bgkg**

Table (2):	Comparison	of the average	concentrations	of
	Comparison	or the average	concentrations	UL.

No.	Samples	226Ra	232Th	40K
1	Semilac Gain	0.25±0.03		
2	Eptamil	0.55±0.10	0.29+0.02	210.7±2.26
3	Bi0mil	0.32±.02	0.76±.12	222.3±0.47
4	Iasomil	0.68±.08		
5	Babelac	0.61±.07		
6	Hiap	0.30±.03		
7	Expret	0.44±.0.03	$0.64 \pm .06$	216.9±0.9
8	Novalac	0.49±.04		
9	Maial mam	0.28±.02	$0.45 \pm .05$	
10	Meloppa	0.33±.02	0.23±.07	
11	Fabimilk	0.85±.12	$0.62 \pm .04$	
12	Saha			250.8±2.55
13	Smilac total		0.30±.09	
14	Gain kids		$0.65 \pm .14$	257.51±3.33
15	France		0.09 ± 0.02	229.9±2.12
16	Blemil plus		0.45 ± 0.04	226.1±2.37
17	Eptajenuer			248.7±3.31
18	Gain plus		0.48 ± 0.06	247.3±2.73
19	Brame care		0.39±0.02	219.1±3.05
20	Nan		0.41±0.07	252.3±2.57
21	Novalac			243.2±0.41
22	Ronagrow			219.9±0.88
23	Larilac		0.73±0.03	227.2±2.76
24	Soupermail		0.56±.03	210.21±0.31
25	Promil		0.22±0.07	231.5±0. 61
	Average	0.46	0.35	234±1.9

Table (2): Comparison of the average concentrations of
²²⁶ Ra, ²³² Th and ⁴⁰ Kin powered infant's milk
with those published data in powder milk(Bqkg ⁻¹)

Region	²²⁶ Ra	²³² Th	⁴⁰ K	Reference
Present Work	0.25 - 0.85	0.09 - 0.76	210-257	present Work
Iran/France	0.05	0.142	434	Hosseni et al., (2006)
Jordan	0.52.14	0.781.28	349—392	Zaid et al.,(2010)
Newzealand	0.1490.186	0.147 –.166	594-605	Hosseni et al., (2006)
France	0.05±.011	0.142±.026	434.1	Hosseni et al, ,(2006)
Brazil		1.7 – 3.7	489	Melquiades et al., (2002)
Egypt			222.11	Ibrahim et al. (2007)
Syria			129435	Al-Marsi et al.,(2004)

3.2. Internal dose of the radio nuclides from ingested milk

Radiation doses to population from intake of radio nuclides in foods can be calculated from the Formula reported in Reference (UNSCEAR 2000):

$$\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{C} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{R} \quad ----- \quad (2)$$

Where :

D is the effective dose by ingestion of the radionuclide ($Sv Y^{1}$),**A**is the activity concentration of the radionuclides in the sample ($Bqkg^{-1}$), **C** is the internal dose conversion factor by ingestion of the radionuclides ($Sv Bq^{-1}$), **R** is the annual intake of milk ($Kg Y^{1}$) which depends on a given age (ICRP 1996).

Annual effective ingestion dose due to milk consumption strongly depends on the milk consumption. In our study the average mass of the milk consumed by the infant \leq 1Y and infant 1-2Y were 22.4KgY⁻¹ and 15KgY⁻¹, UNSCEEAR(1993). **Table 3:The dose conversion factor of** ⁴⁰K, ²²⁶Ra,

²³²Th for the age infants (≤1Y)and (1-2Y

Dose conversion factors (Sv Bq-1)								
⁴⁰ K ²²⁶ Ra ²³² Th								
Infants ≤1Y	6.2×10 ⁻⁸	4.7×10 ⁻⁶	4.6×10 ⁻⁶					
Infants	4.2×10 ⁻⁸	9.6×10 ⁻⁷	4.5×10 ⁻⁷					
(1-2Y)								

For the calculation, the recommended conversion factors ICRP (1996) in Table (3) with Table (1) were used . The results listed in Table (4) showed that the average annual doses received from the intake of 40 K, 232 Th, 226 Ra due to the ingestion of the powdered infant's milk were 410 µSv Y⁻¹ and 157 µSv Y⁻¹ for the ages \leq 1Y and 1-2 year respectively .Also 40 K

gives the largest contribution to the total average annual effective dose due to the high consumption rate of milk in the first year, after the age of one year the baby starts to have more solid foodstuff than milk .These results for all ages of infants are within the typical world wide range of annual dose (200–800 mSv) due to the ingestion of all natural radiation sources UNCEAR(2000).

Table 4: Annual radionuclide intake and effective ingestion dose due to the intake of ²²⁶ Ra , ²³²Th and⁴⁰K in powdered infant's milk

Radionuclide		Intake		Ingestion dose	
		(B	qY^{-1})	(µSv Y ⁻¹)	
		Inf	<i>ants</i>	Infe	ants
		≤1Y	1-2 Y	≤1Y	1-2Y
⁴⁰ K	Minimum	4709	3153	291.94	132.43
	Maximum	5768	3882	357.63	163.07
	Average	5246	3512	325	148
²²⁶ Ra	Minimum	5.6	4.0	26.32	3.6
	Maximum	19	13	89.49	12.24
	Average	10	7.0	48	7.0
²³² Th	Minimum	2.0	1.35	9.27	0.61
	Maximum	17	11	78.31	5.13
	Average	8.0 5.0		36	2.0
Total A	Average			410	157

3.3. Heavy metals analysis of infant's milk

The range of Fe, Zn, Mn ,Cu and Pb in the milk samples were 2.125 - 3.971 mg/kg , 2.04 -3.943mg/kg ,0.005 - 0.063 mg/kg , 0.019 - 0.336 mg/kg and 0.012 - 0.098 mg/kg respectively, Table (5). The geometric mean concentration of Fe, Zn, Mn, Cu and Pb was found to be 3.033, 2.91, 0.031 ,0.182 and 0.034 mg/kg respectively .The mean of each heavy metal was compared with acceptable limits recorded by International Dairy Federation ,IDF(1979) in which the limits were given as 0.37,3.28, 0.025, 0.1 and 0.049 mg/kg for Fe, Zn, Mn, Cu and Pb respectively. It was appeared that all heavy metals values reported in this study were within the accepted limits, except the value of iron, which was found exceeded the permissible limit, but it is similar to average value 4.02 - 3.94 mg/kg in milk reported by Jelena et al., (2007) and the value 4.91 mg /l represented by Soma et al.,(2011). The infants need iron unusually o rapid growth. In addition, the institute of medicine has estimated that growing infant needs to gain iron of 0.7 mg per day, IMDR (2001).

0.205

0.335

0.146

0.019

0.152

0.141

Pb

0.018

0.026

0.038

0.021

0.097

0.016

0.042

0.059

0.043

0.012

0.061

0.024

3.4. Daily intake of heavy metals and hazard quotient

HQ = ADD/RfDo

3.208

3.114

3.421

3.225

2.223

3.118

2.231

Fe

3.033

0.063

0.052

0.012

0.046

0.036

0.041

0.035

Mn

0.031

4.343

3.849

2.457

3.449

2.510

2.321

3.081

Zn

2.91

Expret

Novalac

Maial

mam

Meloppa

Fabimilk

Geomean

Ssaha Smilactotal

Risk from heavy metals intake through ingestion may be characterized using a hazard quotient (HO). This is the ratio of the average daily dose (ADD ;milligrams per kilogram of body weight per day) of a chemical to a reference dose (Rf Do; milligrams per kilograms per day)defined as the maximum tolerable daily intake of specific metal that dose not result in any deleterious health effects:

-----(3)

The HQ was estimated for the heavy metals by the intake of the milk, if HO > 1.0, then the ADD of a particular metal exceeds the RfDo ,indicating that there is a potential risk associated with that metal.

The average daily dose(ADD) was calculated by dividing the intake by the average body weight of infants 8.5 Kg and 14.6 Kg for infants \leq 1Y and infants (1-2Y) respectively ,Dang et al ...(1996).The daily intake was estimated taking into account

						U					
Samples	Concentration of heavy metals (mg/kg)			Sampels	Conce	entration	of heavy r	netals (mg	g/kg)		
	Fe	Mn	Zn	Cu	Pb		Fe	Mn	Zn	Cu	P
Semilac	3.271	0.022	2.142	0.132	0.025	Gain kids	3.124	0.037	3.153	0.300	0.0
Gain											
Eptamil	3.367	0.026	3.549	0.213	0.098	France	3.057	0.026	2.593	0.146	0.0
Bi0mil	3.614	0.015	2.348	0.202	0.045	Blemil plus	3.478	0.042	3.046	0.215	0.0
Iasomil	3.271	0.037	3.362	0.243	0.027	Eptajenuer	3.001	0.009	3.182	0.135	0.0
Babelac	3.1.22	0.031	2.611	0.122	0.021	Gain plus	3.345	0.005	3.943	0.221	0.0
Hiap	2.535	0.008	3.139	0.162	0.023	Brame care	3.971	0.032	3.087	0.143	0.0

0.120

0.232

0.202

0.143

0.119

0.336

0.155

Cu

0.182

0.015

0.019

0.024

0.032

0.015

0.016

0.041

0.034

Pb

Nan

Novalac

Larilac

Promil

Soupermail

Ronagrow

3.036

2.858

3.593

2.125

2.146

2.374

0.026

0.025

0.054

0.018

0.058

0.021

4.085

2.195

2.041

3.278

2.127

2.846

Table 5.	Concentration	of heavy	metals in	infant's	milk
I abie o i	Concentration	or neary	meeting m	mane 5	

the geometric mean concentration of the metals in milk and the average milk consumption per day for infants≤1v and infants (1-2Y) respectively UNSCEEAR(1993). The RfDo of all the heavy metals except Pb were considered from US-EPA(2003). The RfDo of Pb was taken from WHO(1993).

Estimated exposure and hazard quotient due to intake of infant's milk are given in Table (6). Results showed that the daily intake of Fe, Mn, Zn, Cu and

Pb was 0.186,0.002,0.011,0.021,0.0002 mg/day respectively. These results are normally

significantly lower than the recommended desirable levels of , 3.0 - 5.0 mg/kg and 0.5 - 1.0 mg/kg for Zn and Cu respectively, FAO/WHO (1992). The hazarded quotients(HQ) of the heavy metals suggest that the heavy metals in the infant's milk

does not pose any apparent threat to the infants, where the HQs of all the considered heavy metals were below the value of (1) as suggested by US-EPA The HO ranges from 0.0017 (Mn) to 0.07 (Zn).

Heavy metals	"RTDo (mg/kg body weight/day	Geomean (mg/kg)	'Intake (mg /day)	"ADD (mg/kg body weight/day)	HQ (hazard Quotien t)
Fe	7.0×10 ⁻¹	3.033	0.186	0.022	0.031
Mn	1.4×10 ⁻¹	0.031	0.002	0.0002	.0017
Cu	4.0×10 ⁻²	0.182	0.011	0.0013	0.033
Zn	3.0×10 ⁻¹	2.91	0.179	0.021	0.07
Pb	3.5×10 ⁻³	0.034	0.002	0.0003	0.007

Table 6Intake and hazard quotient of heavy metalsmilk due to ingestion of infant's

^aRfDo (Reference oral dose) , ^bIntake and ^bADD (for infants age $\leq IY$)

Conclusions

Natural radioactivity such as²²⁶Ra, ²³²Th, and ⁴⁰K radio nuclides were determined for most available powdered infant's milk consumed in Saudi Arabia. The main gamma activity arises from ⁴⁰ K which was a detected value to be within the world wide ranges as reported in other regions around the Natural radioactivity such as 226 Ra , 232 Th ,and 40 K radio nuclides were determined for most available powdered infant's milk consumed in Saudi Arabia. The main gamma activity arises from ⁴⁰ K which was a detected value to be within the world wide ranges as reported in other regions around the world. ²²⁶Ra and ²³²Th activities were below the detection limits. In addition the annual effective internal dose due to the intake of powdered infant's milk was calculated, the main contributor was ⁴⁰K at the first year due to high consumption rate of milk concentration of heavy metals in infant's milk will provide baseline data and there is a require for intensive of the sampling for quantification of the result. The contribution to the dietary intake of heavy metals was lower than Provisional Tolerable Daily Intake reported by the Joint, FAO/WHO (1992). The largest contributors to the dose received from ingestion of milk in general was due to natural radio nuclides, particularly ⁴⁰K which was an essential constituent of cellular tissue.⁴⁰ K is one of the most important natural radio nuclides. Regular monitoring of these radio nuclides and the metals in the milk and in other food to prevent excessive build up of the metals in the food chain.

4.References

Abollino.O.,Aceto.M.,Bruzzoniti,M.C.,Mentasti, E. & Sarzanini,C.," Speciation of copper and

manganese in milk by solid - phase extraction/inductively coupled plasmaatomic emission spectrometry ".*Annals Chim Acta*, 375, 299–306 (1998).

- Alasri.M.S.,Mukallati.H.,AlHamwi.A.,Khalili.H.,Ha ssan.M.,Assaf.H.,Amin.Y.,Nashaw-ati.A.," Natural radionuclides in Syrian diet and their daily intake ",Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry Vol. 260, No. 2, 405.412 (2004).
- Buldini.P.L.;Cavalli.S.&Sharma.J.L.Matrix removal for the ion chromatographic determination of some trace elements in milk", *Microchem Journal*, 72, 277–284 (2002).
- Dang.H.S.,Jaiswal.D.D.,Parameswaran.M.,Deodhar. K.P.&Krishnamony.S.," Age dependent physical and anatomical Indian data for application in internal Dosimetry " *Radiation Protection Dosimetry*, 63,217– 222 (1996)
- Desimoni.j.,Sives,f.,Errico.L.,Mustrantonio.g.,andTa ylor.M.A.,"activity levels of gammaemitters in Argentinean cow milk" Journal of food composition and analysis, 22, 250-253, (2009).
- FAO,WHO. Assessment of dietary intake of chemical contaminants WHO / HPP / FOS / 92.6 UNEP / GEMS / 92. F2, United Nations Environmental program , Nairobi (1992).
- Hosseni.T.,Fathivand.A.A.,Barati.H.&Karimi.M "Assessmentof Radionuclides in Imported Foodstuffs in Iran", J. Radiat ., 4(3), 149 -153, (2006).
- IAEA. International Aomic Energy Agency measurement of Radiation in Food and the Environment.Technical Reports Series 295, Vinna (1989).
- Ibrahim.H.Saleh,Abdelfatah.F.Hafez,Nadia.H.Elanan y,Hussen.A.Motaweh,Mohammed.A.Naim," Radiolo-icalon Solids, Foodstuff and Fertilizers in the Alexandria region Egypt", Turkish J. Eng. Env.Sci.31, 9-17, (2007).
- Ibrahim.N.M.,&Pimpl.M.,"Uranuim concentration in Sediments of the Suez canal", Appl. Radia . Isot .45,919 -921, (1994) .
- IDF. International Dairy Federation Bulletin chemical Residuesin milk and milk products , D. F. Document 133 (197) . 9
- ICRP . International Commission on Radiological Protection . Age - dependent doses to members of the public from intake of radionuclides.Part5: Compilation of ingestion and inhalation coefficients ICR Publication72 , Oxford : Pergamon Press (1996).

- ICRP. International Commission on Radiological protection Dose coefficients for intakes of radionuclides byworkers ICRP Publication 68 Oxford pergamon Press (1994).
- IMDR. Institute of Medicine Dietary Reference Intakes.Washington,Dc:National Academy Press (2001).
- Jelena Zagorska ,IngaCiprovica andDainaKarklin "Heavy metals in organic milk Chemistry and materials science ,Vo.6 ,part 14,75-79 (2007).
- Jibiri.N.N,Farai.I.P.,Alausa.S.K."Activity concentration of 226Ra , 228Th and 40K in different food crops from a high background radiation area in Bitsichi, Jos Plateau,Nigeria ".Radiat Environ Biophys 46:53–59 8 (2007) .
- Licata.P.,Trombetta.D.,Cristiani.M.,Giofre.F.,Martin o.D.,Calo.M.,Naccari.F.,"Levels of toxic and essential metals in samples of bovine milk from various dairy farms in Calabria Italy",Environ Res 30,1-6 (2004).
- MarkoStrok&Borut Smodis"Natural radioactivity in milk from the vicinity of a former uranium mine Nuclear Engineering and Design241,1277–1281(2011).
- Melquiades.F.L.&Appoloni.C.R., "Radiationof powdered milk produced at Londrina, PR , Brazil.Radiat, Phys. Chem. 61, 691–692 (2001).
- Melquiades.F.L.&Appoloni.C.R.,"40K,137Cs and 232Th activities razilian milk samples measured by gamma-ray spectrometry ",Ind.J.Pure.Appl.Phys.40,5–11 (2002).
- Navarrete.J.M.,Martinez.T.&Cabrera.L"comparative study between radioactive contamination in powder milk by Chernobly accident (137Cs) and natural radioactivity(40K)" Journal of radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry Vol. 272, No.2 277 – 279 (2007).
- Noorddin . I. ," Natural activities of U ,Th and K in building materials Journal of Environmental radioactivity ,43 , 255-258 (1999) .
- Shanthi.A.G., ThampiThankaKumaran.B.G., Allan GnanaRaj.G.&Maniya.C.,Natural radionulides the in South Indian foods and their annual dose Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research A 619, 436 – 440 (2010).
- Shukla.V.K.,Menon.M.R.,Ramachandran.T.V.,Sathe. A.P.&Hingorani.S.B."Naturaland fallout radioactivity in milk and diet samples Bombay and population dose-rate estimates ", Environ Radioact ,25, (3) , 229–37 (1994)

- SomaG.,GurdeepSingh.V.N.,Jha.R.M.,Tripathi,"Risk assessment due to ingestion of natural radionuclides and heavy metals in the milk samples: a case study from a proposed uranium mining area, Jharkhand ", nviron Monit Assess 175:157–166(2011).
- UNSCEAR.United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation Sources and effects of ionizing radiation .Report to General Assembly (New York : United Nations)(2000).
- UNSCEAR.United Nations Scientific Committee on the Effects of Atomic Radiation. Sources and effects of ionizing radiation. Report to General Assembly (New York: United Nations) (1993).
- US–IPA.Carcinogenicity assessment,RIS ntegrated RiskInformation System US invironmental Protection Agency Washington , DC ,USA (2003) .
- VeraTome.F.,BlancoRodriguezM.P.,Lozano.J.C.,"So il-to-Plant transfer factor for natural radionuclides and stable element in medoterranean area" J. Environ. Radioact. 65, 161–175(2003).
- Quindos.L.S., Fenandez .P.L.&Soto.J.," Natural radioactivity in spanish soil",Health Physics ,66 ,194-200 (1994) .
- WHO. World Health Organization Guideline for drinking water quality " measurement of natural and Artificial adioactivity inpowder milk corresponding Annual Effective Dose Radiation Protection Vol. 1Recommendations Geneva (1993).
- Zaid.Q.Ababneh,Khled.M.Aljarrah&Anas.M. Abab nehAbdalmajeid.M.Alyassin Measurement of Natural and Artificial radioactivity inPowder Milk crresponding Annual Effective Dose," Radiation Protection Dosimetry, Vol. 138, No. 3, pp. 278 – 283 (2010).

4/16/2012

Effect of Acute Apelin Injection on Cardiac Muscle Performance in both Normal and Diabetic Rats

Mohammad I. Shehata, Mostafa H. Abdel-Salam, Dalia I. Abd Alaleem, and Hadeel A Al-Sherbiny

Department of physiology, Faculty of medicine, Zagazig University miar2009@gmail.com

Abstract: Background: Apelin is an adipokine originally identified as the endogenous ligand of the G protein coupled receptor APJ. Several studies have demonstrated that apelin and its receptor are involved in the regulation of cardiovascular function. Apelin was also found to have a positive inotropic effect in both rat and human hearts. However, this effect in case of cardiovascular diseases is controversial. Diabetes mellitus is one of the major risk factors for cardiovascular disease which is the leading cause of death in those patients. Aim: This study was designed to detect possible acute effects of in vivo apelin-13 injection on cardiac performance in both normal and diabetic state, with a trial to clarify possible involved mechanisms .Material & methods: This study was conducted on 72 healthy, adult, male albino rats. The animals were divided equally into three main groups: Group I: Control group. Group II: Streptozotocin -induced diabetic non treated rats. Group III: Insulin treated diabetic rats. Experimental design: In the three groups we examined the effect of acute injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol /kg b.wt) alone or in the presence of propranolol (0.2 mg/kg b.wt), verapamil (4.8 mg/kg), benzamil HCL (Na/ Ca⁺² exchange (NCX) blocker) (10 nmolkg), on cardiac muscle performance. Results: The present results demonstrated that apelin-13 administration significantly increased cardiac muscle performance (p < 0.001) without any significant changes in heart rate, in all groups, as evidenced by the significant increase in (+dT max/t max) and (-dT max/tr). In addition, this increase was more significant in diabetic rats in comparison with that of both control and diabetic treated rats. Moreover, the observed effects are independent of the voltage- gated calcium channels or B- adrenergic receptors but appear to involve activation of the sacrolemmal Na⁺⁺ /Ca⁺⁺ exchanger (NCX). Conclusion: apelin-13 exerted both positive inotropic and lusiotropic effects without affection of the heart rate in vivo, which was more significant in diabetic rats in comparison with that of both normal and insulin treated rats. Our results also suggested that this response to apelin involved activation of Na⁺- Ca⁺² exchange channels (NCX). Therefore, the use of apelin may be investigated as a potential therapeutic target for diabetic cardiomyopathy. However, the impact of chronic administration requires further attention.

[Mohammad I. Shehata, Mostafa H. Abdel-Salam, Dalia I. Abd Alaleem, and Hadeel A Al-Sherbiny. Effect of Acute Apelin Injection on Cardiac Muscle Performance in both Normal and Diabetic Rats. Life Sci J 2012; 9(2):657-669]. (ISSN: 1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 99

Key words: Apelin, diabetes, heart pressure, rats

1. Introduction

Apelin is a bioactive peptide originally identified from bovine stomach extracts as the endogenous ligand of the G protein coupled receptor

APJ (Boucher *et al.*, 2005). Apelin is considered as an adipokine, essentially as the result of its increased expression during adipocyte differentiation and its release by differentiated adipose cells into the medium culture (Wei *et al.*, 2005).

The next studies have demonstrated that apelin and its receptor are widely expressed in the central nervous system (CNS) and peripheral tissues, and involved in the regulation of cardiovascular function (Hosoya *et al.*, 2000, Lee *et al.*, 2000, Kawamata *et al.*, 2001, Macaluso *et al.*, 2011).

Most importantly, apelin has been shown to act as an endogenous inotrope regulating cardiac contractility (Ashley *et al.*, 2005, Jia *et al.*, 2006, Zeng *et al.*, 2007) and playing an important role in paracrine signaling in the heart (Chen *et al.*, 2003 and Földes *et al.*, 2003). Diabetes mellitus is one of the major risk factors for cardiovascular disease which is the leading cause of death in those patients. Aside from large vessel disease and accelerated atherosclerosis, which is very common in diabetes, diabetic cardiomyopathy is a clinical condition diagnosed when ventricular dysfunction develops in patients with diabetes in the absence of coronary atherosclerosis and hypertension (Avogaro *et al.*, 2004).

Apelin expression in adipose tissue is regulated by nutritional status, such as fasting and refeeding (Boucher et al., 2005), insulin (Wei et al., 2005) and tumor necrosis factor- alpha (Daviaud et al., 2006). Mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus had decreased apelin expression (Boucher et al., 2005), whereas apelin levels were increased in obese, hyperinsulinemic humans compared to normal weight subjects (Heinonen et al., 2005 and Boucher et al., 2005).

In addition, accumulating evidence supports apelin involvement in cardiovascular function, but its

causative relationship with ischemic heart disease is (Ronkainen controversial et al., 2007, Chandrasekaran et al., 2008 and Rastaldo et al., **2011).** Limited evidence has emerged, indicating the association of reduced apelin with coronary atherosclerosis (Weir et al., 2009). Consistent with previous studies of Li et al. (2008), Kadoglou et al. (2010) found lower apelin levels in patients with coronary artery diseases (CAD) than in the healthy controls. Besides this finding, they confirmed the correlation of low apelin concentrations with a CAD presence and severity. Moreover, lower plasma apelin was associated with left ventricular systolic and diastolic function impairment (Przewlocka-Kosmala et al., 2011)

Importantly, the latter relationship was independent of other traditional cardiovascular risk factors. Taken together, apelin emerged as a novel biomarker of coronary atherosclerosis development and severity, but this result remains to be proved prospectively (Kadoglou *et al.*, 2010).

Up to our knowledge, there is no information on the functional in vivo effects of apelin in case of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Moreover, the possible mechanisms of action of apelin on cardiac performance have not yet been sufficiently cleared.

This study was designed to detect possible acute in vivo effects of apelin on cardiac performance in both normal and diabetic state, with a trial to clarify possible involved mechanisms.

2. Animals and methods Animals:

This study was conducted on 72 healthy, adult, male albino rats weighing 180- 200 gm. The animals had free access to water and chow and were kept at room temperature.

Ethical committee approval for the study was obtained from Zagazig University

The animals were divided equally into 3main groups:

Group I: To study the acute effect of apelin-13 injection (10 nmol /kg) (Cheng et al., 2003) on cardiac muscle performance of normal rats.

Group II: To study the acute effect of apelin-13 injection (10 nmol /kg) (Cheng et al., 2003) on cardiac muscle performance of strptozotocin -induced type 1 diabetic non treated rats.

Diabetes was induced by a single intra-peritoneal injection of freshly prepared solution of streptozotocin 65 mg/kg of body weight dissolved in 0.2 mmol/L sodium citrate, at pH 4.5 (Lutz and Pardridge, 1993) and the rats maintained for 6 weeks (Srinivasan et al., 1997, Shenoy and Goyal 2002).

Three days later, diabetes induction was confirmed through measurement of blood glucose level in each animal (blood was sampled from the tail vein) with the One Touch Ultra Glucometer (Yves and Theo, 2007) and rats with blood glucose levels more than 250 mg/dl were selected for experiments (Coskun et al., 2004). The rats were provided with oral 10% glucose solution after 6 hours of streptozotocin administration for the next 48 hours.

Group III: To study the acute effect of apelin-13 injection (10 nmol /kg) on cardiac muscle performance of strptozotocin -induced type 1 diabetic insulin treated rats. These animals were treated with regular (R) and NPH (N) insulin (2UR at diagnosis of diabetes and then 1R/3N at 6 P.M and 1R/1N at 9 A.M daily subcutaneously for 6 weeks after induction of diabetes (Sivitz et al., 1998).

Methods:

Recording of cardiac muscle performance parameters via D1 isometric transducer (Bioscience, London) attached to **a** 4-channel oscillograph "MD4" (Bioscience, London)

The rats were anaesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of ethyl carbamate (urethane) in a dose 1.75-2 gm /kg body weight injected intraperitonealy as 25 % freshly prepared aqueous solution (**Gosh, 1971**). Tracheotomy was performed on the neck to open a direct airway through an incision in the trachea and connected to the artificial ventilator. The rats were ventilated with room air at 60-70 breaths/ min. The right jugular vein was cannulated to infuse saline or drugs throughout the experiment. Upon completion of the surgical procedures, the animals were allowed to stabilize, generally for 30 min.

A 6-0 prolene suture was fixed to the ventricle and passed via thoracotomy to be attached to the hock of D1 isometric transducer (the baseline tension of the rat heart is adjusted at 2.00 grams). The FC 117 direct input coupler is fixed to one channel of the oscillograph and connected to D1 isometric transducer. Calibration of the isometric transducer using increasing weights, and recording the corresponding pen deflection was done before starting anesthesia.

Experimental design

Experiment I: to study the acute effect of apelin-13 injection (10 nmol/kg) (Cheng et al., 2003) on cardiac muscle performance in the three main groups (n=18)

Experiment II: to study the acute effect of apelin-13 injection (10nmol/kg) on cardiac muscle performance 10 minutes after the propranolol injection (0.2mg/kg) **(Vongpatanasin et al., 1999)** in the three main groups (n=18)

Experiment III: to study the acute effect of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac muscle performance

10minutes after the verapamil (ca $^{+2}$ channel blocker) injection (4.8mg/kg) (**Persson et al., 2007**) in the three main groups (n=18).

Experiment IV: to study the acute effect of apelin-13 injection (10nmol/kg) (Cheng et al., 2003) on cardiac muscle performance 10 minutes after benzamil HCL (Na/ Ca⁺² exchange (NCX) blocker) injection (10 nmol/kg) (Nishimura et al., 1998) in the three main groups (n=18).

NB: The maximal effect of apelin injection on cardiac muscle performance was calculated and statstatically investigated in all experiments (this effect was about 5-10 minutes after its injection).

Calculation of the studied parameters

1-Maximum tension developed (+dT $_{max}$): It was obtained from the calibration of tension on the graph in grams.

2-Time to reach maximum tension (t_{max}): From the point of maximum tension a vertical was drawn to meet the baseline of the recorded tension on the graph. The distance on the baseline from the onset of tension rise till vertical line was measured. As the speed of the oscillograph equal to 50 mm/ sec, so every 1mm measured on the baseline equal to 0.02sec. According to the latter equation the time to reach maximum tension (t_{max}) was calculated in seconds.

3- Rate of developing tension (+dT $_{max}$ / t $_{max}$): By dividing Maximum tension developed (+dT $_{max}$) by time to reach maximum tension (t $_{max}$) was calculated as gm/ sec.

4-Time of cardiac relaxation (t_r) : It was calculated by measuring the distance on the baseline from the point of maximum tension till return to basal tension. The time of cardiac relaxation was assessed as every 1mm equals 0.02 sec.

5-Rate of cardiac relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$ **):** By dividing the maximum tension developed by the time of cardiac relaxation (t_r); the rate of cardiac relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) was calculated and expressed as gm/sec.

6- Calculation of the heart rate/ minute was carried out by counting the number of the heart cycles (n) per fixed distance of chart paper (Gay, 1965).

Statistical analysis:

Data were presented as mean \pm SD. Statistical significance was determined by one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) between the three main groups, and student's t test (paired and unpaired) in the same group. P values less than 0.05 were considered to be significant. In statistical analysis, SPSS program version 10.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc. Chicago, IL, USA) was used.

3. Results

Table 1: Shows blood glucose levels (mg/dl) at the end of the study period in all groups. Serum glucose levels in group II (mean \pm SD) (413.5 \pm 85.49mg/dl) was significantly increased (P< 0.001) when compared with that of group I (78.1 \pm 6.32mg/dl). Moreover, in group III serum glucose levels were significantly decreased and return to the normal levels when compared with that of group II (81.77 \pm 5.88mg/dl& P < 0.001).

Table 2 and record 1: Show cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension (+dTmax/tmax) [gram/second] and cardiac relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation (-dTmax/ tr) [gram/second] and heart rate in the three main groups: There was a significant decrease in (+dTmax/tmax)[gram/second] (mean \pm SD) (91.7 \pm 5.2 gram/second) in diabetic group in comparison with that of both Control (110.3 \pm 12.8 gram/second, P<0.01) and insulin treated (104.8 \pm 10.7 gram/second, P<0.05) groups.

In addition, there was a significant decrease in (dTmax/ tr) [gram/second]: (mean \pm SD) (31.2 \pm 3.6 gram/second) in diabetic group in comparison with that of both control (36.1 \pm 2.3 gram/second, *P*<0.01) and insulin treated groups (36.8 \pm 0.8 gram/second, *P*<0.01).

In addition, there was a significant decrease in heart rate (mean \pm SD) (320 \pm 15.5 beat\ min) in diabetic group in comparison with that of both control (355 \pm 22.6 beat\ min, P<0.05) and insulin treated (350 \pm 31 beat\ min, P<0.05) groups.

Table 3 and record 2: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension (+dTmax/tmax) [gram/second] in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P< 0.001) increase in (+dTmax/tmax) from (mean \pm SD) (110.3 \pm 12.8 gram/second) to (133.3 \pm 12.9 gram/second) after apelin injection.

In group II: there was a significant (P < 0.001) increase in (+dTmax/tmax) from (mean± SD) (91.7± 5.2 gram/second) to (120.5± 5.8 gram/second) after apelin injection.

In group III: there was a significant (P < 0.001) increase in (+dTmax/tmax) from (mean± SD) (104.7± 10.7 gram/second) to (127,5± 10 gram/second) after apelin injection.

Moreover, the percentage of increase was more significant in diabetic group (group II), (mean \pm SD) was (31.5 \pm 2.6) compared to that of both group I (21.2 \pm 3.1, P < 0.001) and group III (20.2 \pm 3, P < 0.001).

Table 4 and record 2: Show the effect of I.V.bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac

relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation (-dTmax/tr) [gram/second] in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P< 0.001) increase in (-dTmax/tr) from (mean \pm SD) (36.1 \pm 2.3 gram/second) to (44.8 \pm 3.1 gram/second) after apelin injection.

In group II: there was a significant (P < 0.001) increase in (-dTmax/tr) from (mean± SD) (30.8 ± 2.8 gram/second) to (40.5 ± 2.9 gram/second) after apelin injection.

In group III: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in (-dTmax/tr) from (mean±SD) (37±1 gram/second) to (46.1±1.2 gram/second) after apelin injection.

Moreover, the percentage of increase was more significant in diabetic group (group II), (mean \pm SD) was (29.8 \pm 3.2) compared to that of both group I (23.1 \pm 4.1, P<0.01) and group III (25.5 \pm 3, P<0.05).

Table 3 and record 3: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension (+dTmax/tmax) [gram/second] in the presence of verapamil (4.8 mg/kg) in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P < 0.001) increase in the rate of development of tension (+dTmax/tmax) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of verapamil, (mean± SD) was (94.3± 9.3 gram/second) compared to (79± 7.7 gram/second) before apelin-13 injection.

In group II: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of development of tension (+dTmax/tmax) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of verapamil, (mean \pm SD) was (83.8 \pm 13 gram/second) compared to (64.2 \pm 9.3 gram/second) before its injection.

In group III: there was a significant (P<0.01) increase in the rate of development of tension (+dTmax/tmax) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of verapamil, (mean \pm SD) was (85.3 \pm 9.6 gram/second) compared to (72.6 \pm 7.1 gram/second) before its injection.

Furthermore, no significant difference was detected in the percentage of increase in (+dTmax/tmax) in the presence of verapamil in comparison to that produced by apelin alone in all groups.

Table 4 and record 3: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) [gram/second] in the presence of verapamil injection (4.8mg/kg) in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of verapamil, (mean± SD) was (37.2± 2.5 gram/second) compared to (29.8± 1.4 gram/second) before apelin-13 injection.

In group II: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of verapamil, (mean± SD) was (35.5± 2.9 gram/second) compared to (27.4± 2.2 gram/second) before its injection.

In group III: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of verapamil, (mean± SD) was (38± 2.5 gram/second) compared to (30.7± 1.9 gram/second) before its injection.

Furthermore, no significant difference was detected in the percentage of increase in $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$ in the presence of verapamil in comparison to that produced by apelin alone in all groups.

Table 3 and record 4: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension ($+dT_{max}/t_{max}$) [gram/second] in the presence of propranolol injection (0.2mg/kg) in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ after apelin-13 injection in the presence of propranolol, (mean± SD) was (91.5± 6.5 gram/second) compared to (76.3± 6.5 gram/second) before apelin-13 injection.

In group II: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ after apelin-13 injection in the presence of propranolol, (mean± SD) was (66.6± 4.5 gram/second) compared to (52± 3.7 gram/second) before its injection.

In group III: there was a significant (P<0.01) increase in the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ after apelin-13 injection in the presence of propranolol, (mean \pm SD) was (87.7 \pm 7.2 gram/second) compared to (72.3 \pm 6.4 gram/second) before its injection.

Furthermore, no significant difference was detected in the percentage of increase in $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ in the presence of propranolol in comparison to that produced by apelin alone in all groups.

Table 4 and record 4: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) [gram/second] in the presence of propranolol injection (0.2mg/kg) in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of propranolol, (mean± SD) was (38.5± 2.4 gram/second) compared to (31.7± 1.8 gram/second) before apelin-13 injection.

In group II: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$ after apelin-13 injection injection in the presence of propranolol, mean± SD) was (36.7± 1.3 gram/second)

compared to $(28.2\pm 0.7 \text{ gram/second})$ before its injection.

In group III: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation ($-dT_{max}/t_r$) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of propranolol, (mean± SD) was (37.8± 2.2 gram/second) compared to (30.2± 1.9 gram/second) before its injection.

Furthermore, no significant difference was detected in the percentage of increase in $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$ in the presence of propranolol in comparison to that produced by apelin alone in all groups.

Table 3 and record 5: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ [gram/second]in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride injection (10 nmol/kg) in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P<0.01) increase in the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ after apelin-13 injection in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride, (mean± SD) was (120.3± 13.1 gram/second) compared to (111.8± 12.8 gram/second) before apelin-13 injection.

In group II: there was a significance (P<0.001) increase the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ after apelin-13 injection injection in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride, (mean± SD) was (106.5± 5.3 gram/second) compared to (90.6± 5 gram/second) before its injection.

In group III: there was a significance (P<0.001) increase the rate of development of tension (+dT_{max}/t_{max}) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride, (mean± SD) was (118.6± 9.5 gram/second) compared to (109.6± 8.4 gram/second) before its injection.

Furthermore, benzamil hydrochloride injection partially blocked the action of apelin as evidenced by the significant decrease in the percentage of increase in $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ in comparison with that produced by apelin alone in all groups (p<0.001).

 Table 4 and record 5: Show the effect of I.V.

 bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac

relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$ [gram/second] in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride injection (10 nmol/kg) in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a significant (P<0.01) increase in the rate of relaxation (-dTmax/tr) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride, (mean \pm SD) was (41 \pm 1.4 gram/second) compared to (37.3 \pm 0.9 gram/second) before apelin-13 injection.

In group II: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation (-dTmax/tr) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride, (mean \pm SD) was (35.8 \pm 2.9 gram/second) compared to (30.1 \pm 1.9 gram/second) before its injection.

In group III: there was a significant (P<0.001) increase in the rate of relaxation (-dTmax/tr) after apelin-13 injection in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride, (mean \pm SD) was (41.2 \pm 4.2 gram/second) compared to (37.4± 3.7 gram/second) its injection. Furthermore, before benzamil hydrochloride injection partially blocked the action of apelin as evidenced by the significant decrease in the percentage of increase in (-dTmax/tr) in comparison with that produced by apelin alone in all groups (P<0.001).

Table 5: Shows the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 at a dose of 10 nmol/kg on HR (beat\ min) in the three main groups.

In group I: there was a non-significant (P>0.05) change in HR after apelin-13 injection, (mean \pm SD) was (360 \pm 19 beat\ mim) compared to (355 \pm 22.6 beat\ mim) before its injection.

In group II: there was a non-significant (P>0.05) change in HR after apelin-13 injection, (mean \pm SD) was (325 \pm 12.2 beat\ mim) compared to (320 \pm 15.5 beat\ mim) before its injection.

In group III: there was a non-significant (P>0.05) change in HR after apelin-13 injection, (mean \pm SD) was (355 \pm 35.1 beat\ mim) compared to (350 \pm 31 beat\ min) before its injection.

		y na na atana na na na na na Tumu tu	1, 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1
	Control	Diabetic	Diabetic treated
le an	y an		
x	78.1	413.5	81.5
SD	6.32	85.49	5.88
P value of LSD vs control	P<(0.001	NS
P value of LSD vs diabetic		P<0.	001
P value of LSD vs control P value of LSD vs diabetic	P<(0.001 P<0.	001

Table 1: Shows blood glucose levels (mg/dl) at the end of the studied period in all groups.

NS: non-significant

<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	(+dT _{max} /t _{max}) [gram/second]		n/second]	(-dT _{max} /t _r) [gram/second]			HR (beat/min.)		
	Control	Diabeti c	Diabetic treated	Control	Diabetic	Diabetic treated	Control	diabetic	Diabetic treated
- X	110.3	91.7	104.7	36.1	31.2	36.8	355	320	350
SD	12.8	5.2	10.7	2.3	3.6	0.8	22.6	15.5	31
P value of LSD vs control	P< (0.01	NS	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~).05	NS	<).05	NS
Vs diabetic		nna i suna i enne i mad i AMA i AMA i AMA i AMA i A	P< 0.05	y par i nar i nar i nar i nar i titi i titi i titi i titi i titi i titi i	ene e name e enne e name e name e di Hill e Hill	P<0.01		nn - mar - mar - mar - mar - mar - Mill - Mill - Mill - Mill - Mill	< 0.05

Table (2): Shows the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ [gram/second]and rate of relaxation $(-dT_{max}/t_{r})$ [gram/second], and heart rate (beat/min) in all groups:

NS: non-significant

Table (3): Shows the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) alone or in the presence of verapamil (4.8mg/kg), propranolol (0.2mg/kg) or benzamil Hcl (10 nmol/kg) on the rate of development of tension (+dT_{max}/t_{max}) [gram/second] in the three main groups.

		Control	Diabetic	Diabetic Treated
Apelin	Before	110.3±12.8	91.7±5.2	104.7±10.7
	After	133.3±12.9***	120.5±5.8 ^{***}	127.5±10 ^{***}
	% of increase	21.2±3.1	31.5±2.6*** ^{\$}	20.2±3*** [¥]
9 (* 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1900 * 1 1	verapamil	79±7.7	64.2±9.3	72.6±7.1
Verapamil	verapamil + Apelin	94.3±9.3***	83.8±13***	85.3±9.6**
	% of increase	19.4±1.7 [€]	27.5±2.6 [€]	21.1±3.4 [€]
9 (* 1990) * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * 1990 * * *	Propranolol.	76.3±6.5	52±3.7	72.3±6.4
Propranolol	Propranolol + Apelin	91.5±6.5***	66.6±4.5***	87.7±7.2**
	% of increase	19.9±2.5 [€]	28±2.4 [€]	21.4±2.4 [€]
Benzamil Hcl	Benzamil	111.8±12.8	90.6±5	109.6±8.4
	Benzamil +Apelin	120.3±13.1**	106.5±5.3***	118.6±9.5***
	% of increase	7.5±2.4***€	17.7±2.2***€	8.2±1.9***€

** Significant VS. pre-injection values of apelin P< 0.01

- *** Significant VS. pre-injection values of apelin P<0.001
- ^{\$} VS control
- [¥] VS diabetic.
- ϵ VS % of increase with Apelin alone

Table (4): The effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) alone or in the presence of verapamil (4.8mg/kg), propranolol (0.2mg/kg) or benzamil hydrochloride (10 nmol/kg) on the rate of relaxation (dT_{max}/t_r [gram/second] in the three main groups

		Control	Diabetic	Diabetic Treated
	Before	36.1±2.3	30.8±2.8	37±1
Apelin	After	44.8±3.1***	40.5±2.9***	46.1±1.2***
	% of increase	23.1±4.1	29.8±3.2** ^{\$}	25.5±3* [¥]
	Verapamil	29.8±1.4	27.4±2.2	30.7±1.9
Verapamil	verapamil + Apelin	37.2±2.5***	35.5±2.9***	38±2.5***
	% of increase	23.3±1.4 [€]	29.8±1.5 [€]	23.2±2.8 [€]
	Propranolol.	31.7±1.8	28.2±0.7	30.2±1.9
<u>Propranolol</u>	Propranolol + Apelin	38.5±2.4***	36.7±1.3***	37.8±2.2***
	% of increase	22.8±2.8 [€]	30.8±2.5 [€]	25±3.1 [€]
Benzamil Hcl	Benzamil	37.3±0.9	30.1±1.9	37.4±3.7
	Benzamil +Apelin	41±1.4 ^{**}	35.8±2.9 ^{***}	41.2±4.2***
	% of increase	9.7±2.6***€	19±4.3*** [€]	9.7±2.6*** [€]

Significant VS. pre-injection values of apelin P< 0.01 Significant VS. pre-injection values of apelin P< 0.001

- \$ **VS** control
- ¥ VS diabetic.
- € VS % of increase with Apelin alone

Table (5): The effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 at a dose of 10 nmol/kg on HR (beat\ min) in the three main groups.

		n (na 1 mai 1 '		
		Control	Diabetic	Diabetic Treated
Anolin	Before	355±22.6	320±15.5	350±31
Арени	After	360±19	325±12.2	355±35.1
P value of paired t test		NS	NS	NS

NS:non-significant



Group III

Record 1: Shows $(+ dT_{max}/t_{max})$ [gram/second] and $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$ [gram/second] in the three main groups.



Record 2: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension (+dT_{max}/t_{max}) [gram/second] and cardiac relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation (-dT_{max}/t_r) [gram/second] in the three main groups.



Record 3: Show the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension (+dTmax/tmax) [gram/second] and cardiac relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation (-dTmax/tr) [gram/second] in the presence of verapamil injection (4.8 mg/kg) in the three main groups.



Record 3: Shows the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) on cardiac contractility parameter; the rate of development of tension (+dT_{max}/t_{max}) [gram/second] and on cardiac relaxation parameter; rate of relaxation (-dT_{max}/t_r) [gram/second] in the presence of propranolol injection (0.2mg/kg) in the three main groups.



Group III

Record 4: Shows the effect of I.V. bolus injection of apelin-13 (10 nmol/kg) the rate of development of tension $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ [gram/second] and the rate of relaxation $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$ [gram/second] in the presence of benzamil hydrochloride injection (10 nmol/kg) in the three main groups.

4. Discussion

Apelin is the endogenous ligand for the previously orphaned G-protein-coupled receptor, APJ. This novel pathway is widely expressed in the

cardiovascular system and is emerging as an important mediator of cardiovascular homeostasis (**Japp** *et al.*, **2010**).

In our study, streptozotocin induced diabetic rats had a significant weight loss (about 25%) and displayed typical manifestations of diabetes mellitus such as polydypsia, polyurea, and hyperglycemia. The results of this study showed that both contraction and relaxation of cardiac muscle were significantly reduced in case of diabetic rats as indicated by the significant decrease in (+dT max/ t max) and (-dTmax/tr) in comparison with that of both control and insulin treated groups. In addition, there was a significant decrease in heart rate in the diabetic rats as compared with that of the two other groups of rats.

Our results are in agreement with those of who concluded that STZ-diabetic rats exhibited a significant decrease in indices of both contractility and relaxation as compared to control rats and STZ-diabetic rats treated with insulin (Borges *et al.*, 2006).

This can be explained as follows; in STZ diabetic rats the ability of the sarcoplasmic reticulum to take up and release calcium is depressed. Similarly reports for decreases in Na⁺/K⁺ATPase and adenylyl cyclase accompanied by decreases in sodium/calcium exchanges and calcium pump activity have been documented in diabetes (Nordin and Gilat, 1990). In addition to cardiomyopathy, alteration in the lipid metabolism seems to be another factor involved in cardiac depression (Shenoy and Goyal, 2002).

Furthermore, myocardial dysfunction is an important feature that might be associated with a number of intrinsic alterations of cardiac myocytes (Ren and Bode, 2000). There are several studies in vivo (anesthetized animals) and in vitro (Langhendorff and isolated myocytes) showing an impairment of Ca⁺⁺ homeostasis and Ca⁺⁺signaling in diabetes (Ren et al., 2000, and Choi et al., 2002). The most significant abnormalities involved delay of the relaxation process, slow relaxation ratio and delay in peak ratio of isometric and isotonic relaxation (Choi et al., 2002).

Finally, an impairment of sympathetic innervations of the heart, frequently observed in diabetes (Maeda *et al.*, 1995 and Fazan *et al.*, 1999), should be also taken into consideration in the impairment of myocardial contractility found in STZ-diabetic rats.

Moreover, the development of STZ-induced bradycardia has been attributed to a down regulation of myocardial beta adrenoceptors (**Baba and Ishikawa, 1992**), and depression of myocardial calcium metabolism (Nordin and Gilat, 1990).

In addition, in the present study, treatment with insulin prevented the occurrence of alterations caused by diabetes, i.e. bradycardia and low $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ and $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$.

Although several studies demonstrated that insulin can prevent, or even reverse, the derangements caused by chronic diabetes (Fein *et al.*, **1981, Schaan** *et al.*, **1997)**. Nevertheless, the mechanism responsible for this protective effect is still unknown, because diabetes is a long-standing metabolic disorder with several outcomes. It has been demonstrated in normal cardiac myocytes that insulin speeds the glucose transport into the cell (**Bayliss** *et al.*, **1928**). However, it has been demonstrated also that insulin promotes a positive inotropic effect independent of glucose uptake (Oye and Sinclair, **1966**).

Our results are in line with those of **Stroedter** *et al.* (1995) who reported the improvement of cardiac performance in diabetes following the subcutaneous administration of insulin. They also suggested that the dysfunction of the heart observed in diabetes may be caused by conspicuous alterations of myocardial metabolism caused by insulin deficiency, which can be reversed by means of exogenous replacement of the hormone.

Moreover, the results of this work demonstrated that apelin-13 administration significantly increased cardiac muscle performance without any significant changes in heart rate , in all groups, as evidenced by the significant increase in $(+dT_{max}/t_{max})$ and $(-dT_{max}/t_r)$. In addition, this increase was more significant in diabetic rats in comparison with that of both control and diabetic treated rats

Our results are supported by those of other investigators who concluded that acute apelin infusion increases cardiac contractility and cardiac output (Berry *et al.*, 2004, Jia *et al.*, 2006, Atluri *et al.*, 2007), furthermore, other studies reported significant increase in the diastolic function of the heart after apelin injection (Berry *et al.*, 2004, , Pan *et al.*, 2010).

The mechanisms by which apelin exerts its inotropic effects have been only partially elucidated and remain the subject of debate. However, in our study the observed effects are independent of ATP calcium channels or B- adrenergic receptors but appear to involve activation of the sacrolemmal Na⁺⁺ /Ca⁺⁺ exchanger (NCX), as verapamil failed to attenuate the inotropic response to apelin. Moreover, the effect of apelin remained unchanged in the presence of propranolol .On the other hand, administration of benzamil HCL (Na/ Ca⁺² exchange (NCX) blocker) partially blocked the effect of apelin-13 injection on the cardiac performance.

Our results are in line with **Dai** *et al.* (2006) who reported that in intact rat hearts, inhibition of NCX suppresses the apelin-induced inotropic response indicating that this mechanism may contribute to apelin-mediated inotropic activity, they

also concluded that apelin increased the amplitude of the intracellular $Ca2^+$ transient (Dai *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, Kentish, 1999 concluded that, apelin does not alter voltage-gated Ca^{++} channels in cardiomyocytes.

In addition, the positive inotropic effect of apelin is independent of angiotensin II, endothelin-1, catecholamines and nitric oxide release (Szokodi et al., 2002) but appear to involve activation of the sacrolemmal Na⁺/H+ exchanger (NHE), probably through phospholipase C and protein kinase Cdependent pathways (Szokodi et al., 2002, Farkasfalvi et al., 2007). In single cardiomyocytes, NHE activity increases following exposure to apelin while, in intact rat hearts, the inotropic response to apelin is markedly attenuated by a specific inhibitor of NHE. Stimulation of NHE can lead to intracellular alkalinization and sensitization of cardiac myofilaments to intracellular Ca⁺⁺ (Karmazyn et al., 1999). In keeping with this, the increased NHE activity is accompanied by an increase in intracellular pH (Farkasfalvi et al., 2007). Moreover, activation of NHE can also indirectly increase intracellular Ca⁺⁺ as the resulting accumulation of Na^+ within cells stimulates the reverse mode $Na^+/Ca^{+\!+}$ exchanger (NCX) (Karmazvn et al., 1999, Kentish et al., 1999).

Thus the inotropic effects of apelin may involve increased intracellular Ca^{++} availability in addition to enhanced myofilament responsiveness to Ca^{++} ions (Japp and Newby, 2008).

The results of the above studies suggest that activation of NHE and NCX contributes to the inotropic effect of apelin, whereas voltage-activated Ca2are not involved, whatever, the finding that 40% of the apelin-induced positive inotropic effect remained unaffected even after combined inhibition of NHE and NCX indicates the existence of additional signaling mechanisms (Berry *et al.*, 2004).

Furthermore, the effect of apelin on myocardial efficiency could be mediated also via PKC (Ashley et al., 2005) this is because cardiac apelin–APJ signaling is abrogated by PKC inhibitors and PKC phosphorylation of the cardiac fibers has been shown to reduce the requirements of the contractile apparatus for both calcium and ATP (promoting efficient ATP utilization) (Pi et al., 2003). Furthermore, apelin injection increased coronary blood flow to the cardiac muscle (Japp et al., 2010).

In addition, our results are supported by the following studies who reported that apelin has positive inotropic effects in vivo in both normal rat hearts and rat hearts in failure after myocardial infarction (Szokodi *et al.*, 2002, Berry *et al.*, 2004, Dai *et al.*, 2006), and so apelin may have used as an acute inotropic agent in patients with ischemic heart

failure (Berry *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly, an apelinknockout mice showed severely impaired heart contractility (Kuba *et al.*, 2007), which suggests that decrease in endogenous apelin plays a pivotal role in heart failure (Berry *et al.*, 2004, Atluri *et al.*, 2007; Sheikh *et al.*, 2008).

Lastly, the findings of the more significant effects in diabetic rats in comparison with that of both control and insulin treated rats, might be explained, at least partially, by means of an upregulation of APJ receptors exhibited by STZdiabetic rats, which may be due to decrease in apelin synthesis and secretion in the injured endothelium and myocardium (Jia *et al.*, 2006), even though this hypothesis deserves better investigation.

In addition to the above explanation, **Dray** *et al.* (2008) demonstrated that acute injection of apelin was able to improve glucose tolerance and to increase glucose utilization in heart; this noticeable effect needs to be further depicted.

However, in addition to confirming the *in vivo* positive inotropic effect, Ladeiras-Lopes *et al.* (2008) demonstrated that apelin has a negative inotropic effect in isolated cardiac muscle, suggesting other cells may be required in addition to myocardial cells so that positive inotropic effect is revealed.

As regards the effect of apelin-13 on the heart rate, our results are in agreement with those of Lee et al. (2000), who reported insignificant changes in heart rate after apelin injection. While those results are in disagreement with the results of other investigators who concluded that apelin injection decreased heart rate in rodents (Tatemoto et al., 1998).

Moreover, our finding also in controversy to those of other investigators who reported that IV apelin injection increased heart rate in conscious sheep and both anaesthetized and conscious rats (Cheng *et al.*, 2003, Charles *et al.*, 2006).

The reason for these discrepancies among findings is unclear; however, possible explanations are as follows: in case of anaesthetized rats, anesthetics are well known to affect the sympathetic nervous system (Kagiyama *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, the diversity of the previous results may be due to differences in methodology and the different doses of apelin administered (Chamdrasekaran *et al.*, 2008). In addition, cardiovascular response to apelin may exhibit interspecies differences (Japp and Newby *et al.*, 2008)

Conclusion,

Apelin-13 exerted both positive inotropic and lusiotropic effects without affection of the heart rate in vivo, which was more significant in diabetic rats in comparison with that of both normal and insulin treated rats. Our results also suggested that this response to apelin involved activation of Na^+ - Ca^{+2} exchange channels (NCX).

Since different mechanisms are responsible for the diabetic cardiomyopathy and response rate to treatments is far from homogenous and ideal, the search for additional therapeutic agents continues. Therefore, the use of apelin may be investigated as a potential therapeutic target for this pathology. Furthermore, studies examining the effects of chronic apelin administration on long-term cardiac function will also be useful in assessing apelin treatment of chronic heart failure

Finally, more studies are recommended to investigate not yet discovered mechanism/s of apelin actions on the cardiovascular system on the cardiac performance.

Corresponding author Dalia I. Abd Alaleem

Department of physiology, Faculty of medicine, Zagazig University

miar2009@gmail.com

References

- Ashley EA, Powers J, Chen M, Kundu R, Finsterbach T, Caffarelli A, Deng A, Eichhorn J, Mahajan R, Agrawal R, Greve J, Robbins R, Patterson AJ, Bernstein D, Quertermous T (2005): The endogenous peptide apelin potently improves cardiac contractility and reduces cardiac loading in vivo. Cardiovasc Res., 65:73–82.
- Atluri P, Morine KJ. Liao GP, Panlilio CM, Berry MF, Hsu VM Hiesinger W, Cohen JE, Joseph Woo Y (2007): Ischemic heart failure enhances endogenous myocardial apelin and APJ receptor expression, Cell. Mol. Biol. Lett. 12: 127–138.
- Avogaro A, Vigili de Kreutzenberg S, Negut C, Tiengo A, Scognamiglio R (2004): Diabetic cardiomyopathy: a metabolic perspective. The American Journal of Cardiology 93 (8A), 13A–16A.
- Bayliss LE, Muller EA, Starling EH (1928): The action of insulin and sugar on the respiratory quotient and metabolism of the heartlung preparation. J Physiol, 65:33-47.
- Berry MF, Pirolli TJ, Jayasankar V Burdick J, Morine KJ, Gardner TJ, and Woo YJ (2004): Apelin has in vivo inotropic effects on normal and failing hearts. Circulation, 110: II187–II193
- Borges GR, Oliveira M,Salgado HC, Jr RF (2006): Myocardial performance in conscious streptozotocin diabetic rats. Cardiovascular Diabetology, 5:26
- Boucher J, Masri B, Daviaud D, Gesta S, Guigné C, Mazzucotelli A, Castan- Laurell I, Tack I, Knibiehler B, Carpéné C, Audigier Y, Saulnier-Blache J S, Valet P (2005): Apelin, a newly identified adipokine up-regulated by insulin and 877 obesity. Endocrinology 146: 1764–1771.
- Chandersekaran B, Dar O, McDonagh (2008): The role of apelin in cardiovascular function and heart failure, European journal of heart failure 10: 725-732.
- Chen MM, Ashley EA, Deng DX, Tsalenko A, Deng A, Tabibiazar R, Ben- Dor A, Fenster B, Yang E, King JY, Fowler M, Robbins R, Johnson FL, Bruhn L, McDonagh T, Dargie H, Yakhini Z, Tsao PS, Quertermous T (2003): Novel role for the potent endogenous inotrope apelin in human cardiac dysfunction. Circulation 108:1432–1439

- Cheng X, Cheng XS, Pang CC (2003): Venous dilator effect of apelin, an endogenous peptide ligand for the orphan APJ receptor, in conscious rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 470:171–5.
- Choi KM, Zhong Y, Hoit BD,Grupp IL, Hahn H, Dilly KW, Guatimosim S, Lederer WJ, Matlib MA (2002): Defective intracellular Ca (2+) signaling contributes to cardiomyopathy in Type 1 diabetic rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 283:H1398-H1408.
- Dai T, Ramirez-Correa G, Gao WD (2006): Apelin increases contractility in failing cardiac muscle. Eur J Pharmacol, 553:222–228.
- Dray C, Knauf C, Daviaud D, Wage A, Boucher J, Bule' on M, Cani PD, Attane'C, Guigne'C, Carpe' ne'C, Burcelin R, Castan-Laurell I, Valet P (2008): Apelin Stimulates Glucose Utilization in Normal and Obese Insulin-Resistant Mice Cell Metabolism, 8: 437–445.
- Farkasfalvi K, Stagg MA, Coppen SR, Siedlecka U, Lee J, Soppa GK, Marczin N, Szokodi I, Yacoub MH, Terracciano CM (2007): Direct effects of apelin on cardiomyocyte contractility and electrophysiology. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 357:889–895.
- Fazan R Jr., Dias da Silva VJ, Ballejo G, Salgado HC (1999): Power spectra of arterial pressure and heart rate in streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats. J Hypertens, 17:489-495.
- Gay W I (1965): Methods of animal experimentation. Vols 1

 7 Academic Pess, New York. USA.
- 17. Gosh MN (1971): Fundamental of experimental pharmacology. 1st edition, Scientific Book Agency, Calcutta.
- Goyal RK, Lakkad NB, Rao MV (1997): Effects of chronic treatment with enalapril on streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Pharmacol Rev Comm.5:201-209.
- Heinonen M V, Purhonen AK, Miettinen P, Paakkonen M, Pirinen E, Alhava E, Akerman K, Herzig K H (2005): Apelin, orexin-A and leptin plasma levels in morbid obesity and effect of gastric banding. Regul. Pept. 130: 7–13.
- Japp AG and Newby DE (2008): The apelin-APJ system in heart failure: pathophysiologic relevance and therapeutic potential. Biochem Pharmacol .75:1882–1892..
- 21. Japp AG, Cruden N L, Barnes G, van Gemeren N, Mathews J, Adamson J, Johnston N R, Denvir M A, Megson I L, Flapan A D, Newby D E (2010): Acute cardiovascular effects of apelin in humans: potential role in patients with chronic heart failure, Circulation;121;1818-1827.
- 22. Kadoglou NP, Lampropoulos S, Kapelouzou A, Gkontopoulos A, Theofilogiannakos EK, Fotiadis G, Kottas G (2010): Serum levels of apelin and ghrelin in patients with acute coronary syndromes and established coronary artery disease—kozani study. Transl Res. 155: 238 246.
- 23. Kagiyama S, Fukuhara M, Matsumura K, Lin Y, Fujii K, Iida M (2005): Central and peripheral cardiovascular actions of apelin in conscious rats. Regul Pept; 125:55–9
- Karmazyn M, Gan XT, Humphreys RA, Yoshida H, Kusumoto K (1999): The myocardial Na (+)-H (+) exchange: structure, regulation, and its role in heart disease. Circ Res, 85:777–86.
- 25. Kentish JC (1999): A role for the sarcolemmal Na (+)/H (+) exchanger in the slow force response to myocardial stretch. Circ Res, 85:658–60.
- 26. Kuba K, Zhang L, Imai Y, Arab S, Chen M, Maekawa Y, Leschnik M, Leibbrandt A, Markovic M, Schwaighofer J, Beetz N, Musialek R, Neely GG, Komnenovic V, Kolm U, Metzler B, Ricci R, Hara H, Meixner A, Nghiem M, Chen X, Dawood F, Wong KM, Sarao R, Cukerman E, Kimura A, Hein L, Thalhammer J, Liu PP, Penninger JM (2007): Impaired heart contractility in Apelin gene-deficient mice associated with aging and pressure overload. Circ Res. 101(4):e32-42.
- 27. Ladeiras-Lopes R, Ferreira-Martins J, Leite-Moreira AF (2008): The apelinergic system:the role played in human

physiology and pathology and potential therapeutic applications. Arq Bras Cardiol; 90:343–9.

- Lee D K, Cheng R, Nguyen T, Fan T, Kariyawasam A P, Liu Y, Osmond D H, George S R, O'Dowd B F (2000): Characterization of apelin, the ligand for the APJ receptor. J. Neurochem. 74: 34–41.
- 29. Li Z, Bai Y, Hu J (2008): Reduced Apelin Levels in Stable Angina. Inter Med 47: 1951-1955.
- Lutz A.J. and Pardridge W.M. (1993): Insulin therapy normalizes glucose transporter mRNA but not immunoreactive transporter protein in streptozotocindiabetic rats. Metab. 42: 939-944.
- Macaluso NJ, Pitkin SL, Maguire JJ, Davenport AP, Glen RC. (2011) :Discovery of a competitive apelin receptor (APJ) antagonist. ChemMedChem. Jun 6;6(6):1017-23.
- Maeda CY, Fernandes TG, Timm HB, Irigoyen MC (1995): Autonomic dysfunction in short-term experimental diabetes. Hypertension, 26:1100-1104.
- Nishimura M, Ohtsuka K, Nanbu A, Takahashi H, and Yoshimura M (1998): Benzamil blockade of brain Na⁺ channels averts Na⁺-induced hypertension in rats. *Am J Physiol Regulatory Integrative Comp Physiol* 274: R635-R644.
- Nordin C and Gilat E (1990): Delayed after depolarisation and activity in ventricular muscle from rats in STZ induced diabetes. Circ Res, 57: 28-34.
- 35. Oye I and Sinclair D (1966): Insulin in myocardial infarction. Lancet, 1:366.
- Pan C, Teng X, Zhang, Cai Y, Zhao J, Wu W, Wang X, Tang C, and Qi Y (2010): Apelin antagonizes myocardial impairment in sepsis. J Cardiac Fail 16: 609-617.
- Persson KG, Burger AP, Mugabo P, Green I (2007): In vivo effects of Crinum macowanii on the Rat Cardiovascular System. MSc Thesis ,Department of Medical Bioscience, University of the Western Cape.
- Pi Y, Zhang D, Kemnitz KR, Wang H, Walker JW (2003): Protein kinase C and A sites on troponin I regulate myofilament Ca2+ sensitivity and ATPase activity in the mouse myocardium. J Physiol; 552: 845–57
- Przewłocka-Kosmala M, Kotwica T, Mysiak A, Kosmala W (2011) Reduced circulating apelin in essential hypertension and its association with cardiac dysfunction. J Hypertens. May; 29(5):971-9.
- 40. Rastaldo R, Cappello S, Folino A, Berta GN, Sprio AE, Losano G, Samaja M, Pagliaro P.(2011) : Apelin-13 limits infarct size and improves cardiac postischemic mechanical recovery only if given after ischemia. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. Jun;300(6):H2308-15
- Ren J and Bode AM (2000): Altered cardiac excitationcontraction coupling in ventricular myocytes from spontaneously diabetic BB rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 279: H238-H244.
- Ronkainen VP, Ronkainen JJ, Hanninen SL, Leskinen H, Ruas JL, Pereira T, Poellinger L, Vuolteenaho, O., Tavi P (2007): Hypoxia inducible factor regulates the cardiac expression and secretion of apelin. Faseb J. 21: 1821-1830.

4/29/2012

- 43. Schaan BD, Maeda CY, Timm HB, Medeiros S, Moraes RS, Ferlin E, Fernandes TG, Ribeiro JP, Schmid H, Irigoyen MC (1997): Time course of changes in heart rate and blood pressure variability in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats treated with insulin. Braz JMed Biol Res, 30:1081-1086.
- 44. Sheikh AY, Chun HJ, Glassford AJ, Kundu RK, Kutschka I, Ardigo D, Hendry SL, Wagner RA, Chen MM, Ali ZA, et al. (2008): In vivo genetic profiling and cellular localization of apelin reveals a hypoxia-sensitive, endothelial-centered pathway activated in ischemic heart failure. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 294:H88–H98.
- Shenoy A G and Goyal R K (2002): Improvement of insulin sensitivity by perindopril in spontaneously hypertensive and streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Indian Journal of Pharmacolog,y 34: 156-164.
- Sivitz WI, Walsh S, Morgan D, Donohoue P, Haynes W, Leibel L (1998): Plasma leptin in diabetic and insulin treated diabetic and normal rats. Metab. 47: 584-591.
- 47. Srinivasan P S, Hakim Z S,Santani D and K. Goyal R K (1997): Effects of chronic treatment with amlodipine in streptozotocindiabetic and spontaneously hypertensive rats. Department of Pharmacology, L.M. College of Pharmacy, Navrangpura, Ahmedabad-380 009, India
- Stroedter D, Schmidt T, Bretzel RG, Federlin K (1995): Glucose metabolism and left ventricular dysfunction are normalized by insulin and islet transplantation in mild diabetes in the rat. Acta Diabetol, 32:235-243..
- Szokodi I, Tavi P, Foldes G, Voutilainen-Myllyla S, Ilves M, Tokola H, Pikkarainen S, Piuhola J, Rysa J, Toth M, Ruskoaho H (2002): Apelin, the novel endogenous ligand of the orphan receptor APJ, regulates cardiac contractility. Circ Res 91:434–440.
- Tatemoto K, Hosoya M, Habata Y, Fujii R, Kakegawa T, Zou M, Kawamata Y, Fukusumi S, Hinuma S, Kitada C, Kurokawa T, Onda H, Fujino M (1998): Isolation and characterization of a novel endogenous peptide ligand for the human apj receptor. Biochemical and biophysical research communications: 251: 471–476.
- Vongpatanasin W, Mansour Y, Chavoshan B, Arbique D, Victor GR. (1999): Cocaine Stimulates the Human Cardiovascular System via a Central Mechanism of Action. Circulation, 100: 497-502
- Wei L, Hou X, Tatemoto K (2005): Regulation of apelin mRNA expression by insulin and glucocorticoids in mouse 3T3-L1 adipocytes Regul. Pept. 132: 27-32.
- Weir RA, Chong KS, Dalzell JR, Petrie CJ, Murphy CA, Steedman T, Mark PB, McDonagh TA, Dargie HJ, McMurray JJ (2009): Plasma apelin concentration is depressed following acute myocardial infarction in man. Eur J Heart Fail. 11:551–558.
- Yves MH and Theo FM(2007): The effect of low dose insulin on mechanical sensitivity and allodynia in type1 diabetes neuropathy. Neurosc. Letters, 417: 149-154.
- Zeng XX, Wilm TP, Sepich DS, Solnica-Krezel L (2007): Apelin and its receptor control heart field formation during zebrafish gastrulation. Dev Cell, 12: 391–402

Phenolic and biological activities of Vitex trifolia aerials parts

¹ Salah EL- Kousy, ^{*2} Mona Mohamed, ³ Shimaa Mohamed

¹Department of Medicinal Chemistry, Theodor Bilharz Research Institute (TBRI), Giza, Egypt ²Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, Monoufia University ³Department of Chemistry, Mubarak City for Scientific Research and Technological Application Shima321321@yahoo.com; tbi20042003@yahoo.co.uk

Abstract: *Vitex trifolia* (Family: Verbenaceae) grows as an herbaceous plant in Egypt. Most of the Verbenaceae plants contain phenolic compounds which have important pharmacologically properties. *V. trifolia* aerial parts methanol extract was fractionated by repeated column chromatographic separation to obtain a phenyl ethanoid which isolated for the first time from the genus *Vitex* along with five phenolic metabolites. The identification and structure elucidation of the isolated compounds were based on chemical and spectral data (UV, ESI-MS, ¹HNMR, ¹³CNMR, HMQC and HMBC) and also by direct comparison with respectively published data. Cytotoxic activities of the plant aerial parts extracts (methanol, ethyl acetate and chloroform) have been studied herein for the first time using, brine shrimp bioassay method (LC₅₀ values 140 mg ml⁻¹, 165 mg ml⁻¹ and 180 mg ml⁻¹, respectively). Total phenolic content of different aerial parts extracts and the antioxidant activity of the major isolates has been studied as well. The radical scavenging activities of compounds 1 - 3 were measured and compound 1 have been identified as the most promising compound.

[Salah EL- Kousy, Mona Mohamed, Shimaa Mohamed. **Phenolic and biological activities of** *Vitex trifolia* aerials parts. Life Sci J. 2012;9(2):670-677]. (ISSN: 1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 100

Key words: Vitex trifolia, Flavonoids, Antioxidant, Cytotoxicity, Phenylethanoid

1. Introduction

The Vitex genus family Verbenaceae is comprised of about 250 species of shrubs and trees; it's widely cultivated in warm temperate and subtropical regions. Vitex trifolia L. is a deciduous shrub which commonly known as common chaste tree (1), the plant has been used as an antiinflammatory (2), antibacterial (3,4), antipyretic (5), hepatoprotective (6), trypanosidal, and sedative for headache, rheumatism, and the common cold in Asian countries (7), It's also used for the treatment of cough, febrifuge, fever and amenorrhea (8). The plant is known to possess various active constituents viz. essential oil (9), halimane-type diterpenes, vitetrifolins (10,11), flavonoids (12,13), chalcones (14), triterpens (15,16), lignans (17,18), iridoides (19, 20), and ecdysteroids (21). In continuation of our studies on biologically active substances from medicinal plants, we reported herein the isolation and characterization of six phenolic compounds 1-6 from V. trifolia aerial parts methanol extract. In addition the cytotoxicity towards brine shrimps larva was determined for the three aerial parts extracts (methanol, chloroform and ethyl acetate). Total phenolic content of different aerial parts extracts and the antioxidant capacity of compounds 1 - 3 have been studied as well.

2. Material and Methods Plant material

Aerial parts of *Vitex trifolia* were collected from shibin El-kanater Garden (El- kaluobia city, the North - East of Egypt) in January 2008, the plant was authenticated by Mohamed El-Kassas (Professors of Taxonomy, Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, Cairo University, Giza, Egypt), voucher specimens (Reg. No.: V-1) are kept in the herbarium of City for Scientific Research and Technological Application.

Experimental

The NMR spectrum was recorded at 300 (¹H) and 75 (¹³C) MH_z. on a Varian Mercury 300 NMR spectrometers and δ values were reported as ppm relative to TMS in DMSO-d₆. ESI-MS analyses were measured on a Finnegan LCO deco LC/MS and double focusing sector field MAT 90 MS spectrometers (Finnegan, Bremen, Germany). For column chromatography (CC), Sephadex LH-20 (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden), microcrystalline cellulose (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and polyamide 6S (Riedel de Haën AG, Seelze, Germany) were used. For paper chromatography Whatman No. 1 sheets (England) were used. The spots were detected by spraving anisaldehyde-H₂SO₄ reagent followed by heating. UV spectra of pure samples were recorded, separately, as MeOH solutions and with different diagnostic UV shift reagents on a Shimadzu UV 240 spectrophotometer.

Extraction and isolation

The air-dried powdered aerial parts of *V. trifolia* (800 g) were exhaustively extracted under reflux with

hot 80% MeOH (3 x 5 L). After evaporation of the solvent, the dry residue obtained, was defatted with petroleum ether (60-80 °C) (3 x 1 L) to give residue which was extracted by suspended in water and extracted with CHCl₃ (3 x 500 mL) and ethyle acetate separately (3 X 500). The water soluble portions from CHCl₃ and EtOAc were collected and desalted by precipitation with excess MeOH. After evaporation of the MeOH, the extract (100 g) was suspended in H₂O and fractionated on a polyamide column (110×6 cm, 300 g) using a stepwise gradient from H₂O, H₂O/MeOH mixtures up to pure MeOH for elution. Based on chromatographic properties (Co-PC) with the use of UV light, 1% FeCl₃ and for detection, the spray reagents Naturstoff individual 65 fractions (150 ml) each were collected in 6 fractions (A - F). Fractions A and B $(H_2O, 15 g)$ were exhibited free sugar characters. 2D - PC of fraction C (10% methanol, 20 g) showed a major blue spot, it was purified by a Sephadex LH - 20 column using 20% aqueous MeOH to afforded a pure sample of compound 1. Five dark purple spots were detected on 2D - PC of fraction D (20-30%- MeOH, 20 g), which gave yellowish green fluorescence under UV after spraying with Na / PE. Separation of the individual major compounds was carried out on a cellulose column using H_2O / MeOH (7:3), this fractionation led to the isolation of chromatographically pure samples of compounds 2 and 3. Fraction E (40-70% MeOH, 15 g) showed three dark purple minor spots on the 2D - Pc of this fraction, they were changed to orange and greenish yellow upon spraying with Naturstoff reagent. Application of fraction E on cellulose column using *n*-butanol saturated with water resulted in three subfractions. Final purification of this subfractions were carried out by successive fractionation on Sephadex LH-20 CC using H₂O / MeOH (60%), resulted in chromatographically minor samples of compounds. Two dark purple spots and a blue one were detected on 2D-PC of fraction F (80-100%) MeOH, 20 g). It was rechromatographed on a Sephadex LH-20 column using 95% EtOH as an eluent to afford pure samples of compounds 4, 5 and 6. All separation processes were followed up by Comp. PC using Whatman No. 1 paper with (S_1) *n*- $BuOH - HOAc - H_2O$ (4:1:5, upper layer) and (S₂) 15% aqueous HOAc as a solvent systems.

Determination of total phenolic content

Total phenolic content determined with the Folin-Ciocaltea (FC) (22). 100 μ l of the aerial parts extract dissolved in methanol (equivalents to 1mg of extract) were mixed with 750 μ l of (FC) reagent (previously diluted 10-fold with distilled water) and allowed to stand at 22°C for 5 min; 750 μ l of Na₂CO₃ (60 g /l) solution were added to the mixture. After 90

min, the absorbance was measured at 750 nm. All determinations were carried out in triplicate. The standard curve of gallic acid was carried out and the equation Y = 2.4412 X was obtained. This equation was used to obtain the gallic acid equivalents (mg of gallic acid per mg dry weight extract). The results were represented in table 3

Antioxidant activity

The DPPH is a purple stable organic radical with an absorption band in the range of 515-528 nm; when the radical accept an electron or a free radical species, the result is a visually noticeable discoloration from purple to yellow. Because the DPPH radical can accommodate many samples in a short period of time and is sensitive enough to detect active molecules at low concentrations.

a- DPPH radical scavenging activity

The ability of *V. trifolia* pure compounds **1-3** to scavenge DPPH radicals was evaluated according to the procedure described by Molyneux and Songklanakarin (23). To 1 ml of each sample at a concentration of 100µg/ml was mixed with 1ml of 0.1m M DPPH in methanol. The mixture was then shaken and left for 20 min. at room temperature in the dark. The absorbance was measured at 517 nm using a spectrophotometer. Ascorbic acid was used as a reference standard. All experimental were carried out in triplicate. The activity of each sample was expressed as percentage DPPH radical scavenging relative to the control using the following equation: DPPH radical scavenging % = [(control absorbance sample absorbance)/control absorbance] \times 100. The scavenging effect (antioxidant activity) of each sample was expressed as SC₅₀ which is the concentration of the extract required for 50% scavenging of DPPH radicals compared with that of the standard ascorbic acid (Table 4).

B-Evaluation of total antioxidant capacity.

An aliquot of 0.1 ml of sample solution was combined in an Eppendorf tube with 1 ml of reagent solution (0.6 M sulfuric acid, 28 mM sodium phosphate, and 4 mM ammonium molybdate). The tubes were capped and incubated in a thermal block at 95°C for 90 min. After the samples had cooled to room temperature, the absorbance of the aqueous solution of each was measured at 695 nm against a blank. A typical blank solution contained 1 ml of reagent solution and the appropriate volume of the same solvent used for the sample, and it was incubated under the same conditions as the rest of the sample (24).

All chemicals and solvents used in the two previous antioxidant methods were of analytical grade. DPPH (2, 2-diphenyl 1-picrylhydrazyl) were purchased from Sigma Co. (USA), while the other reagents sodium phosphate, ammonium molebdate, ascorbic acid and sulfuric acid were purchased from Merk Chemical Co. (Germany).

Brine shrimp lethality bioassay

The cytotoxicity was measured by brine shrimp lethality bioassay (25), where eggs of brine shrimp Artemia salina (Atremia Inc., California) were allowed to hatch into their larvae under convenient conditions. Assays were performed in test tubes with ten larvae in each, and methanol, ethyl acetate, and chloroform extracts were separately dissolved in distilled water to give six assay concentrations (1000, 800, 600, 400, 200, 100 and, 10 mg /ml) solubility was aided by DMSO; the final volumes were adjusted to 5 ml sea salt solution immediately after adding the shrimp. After 24 h, the number of surviving shrimp at each dose was recorded. Each dose was examined in triplicate. The same steps carry out for potassium dichromate as positive control and DMSO as negative control. The values and the statistical analysis of the results were calculated and carried according to Reed-Muench method (26, 27)

The statistical analysis

Values were expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical difference between groups were computed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison tests were used to compare between treated and control groups. The level of significance was accepted at p < 0.05. Statistical analysis was performed by the aid of Instat version 2 computer program (Graph pad software, Inc., San Diego, USA).

3. Result and Discussion

The defatted total aqueous methanol extract of V. trifolia aerial parts was fractionated by repeated column chromatographic separation to obtain compounds 1-6. Based on chemical and physicochemical analyses, they were identified as 2-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)ethyl-2-O-[6-deoxyα-Lmannopyranosyl-4'-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-2propenoate]- β -D-glucopyranoside 1, vitexin 2. isovitexin 3, luteolin-7-O- β - glucuronopyranoside 4, quercitrin 5 and methyl caffeiate 6.

Compound 1: was expected to be a phenylethanoid on the basis of its chromatographic properties, UV spectral data and acid hydrolysis products. Its negative ESI-MS spectrum gave a dimeric adduct and molecular ion peaks at m/z = 1247.0 and 623.1 assignable to $[2M-H]^-$ and $[M-H]^-$, respectively, together with three fragment ions at 461.1, 179.1 and 161.1 for $[M-H-caffeate]^-$, [caffeate]⁻ and [caffeate-H₂O]⁻, respectively to prove its identity as 3,4- dihydroxyphenethyl-alcohol-caffeoyl-rhamnosylglucoside. In the aromatic region of its ¹H NMR spectrum (Table 1), an A^2X^2 -spin

coupling system of H-7" and H-8" at 7.59 and 6.29 ppm, respectively (each d, J = 15.9 Hz) together with an ABM one of H-2", H-6" and H-5" at 7.17, 7.05 and 6.87 ppm, respectively were indicative an Ecaffeoyl moiety. The characteristic signals of the aglycone moiety (3, 4-dihydroxyphenethyl alcohol) were assigned in the form of an ABM spin coupling system at 6.77, 6.73 and 6.57 ppm for H-2, H-5 and H-6, respectively in the aromatic region and its characteristic AX-system of two triplets for H-7 and H-8 at 2.78 and 3.84, respectively in the aliphatic region. The ¹H-NMR also showed two anomeric proton signals at 4.43 ppm (H-1', d, J = 7.8 Hz) and at 5.29 (H-1", brs) together with the signal at 1.11 (3H, d, J = 6 Hz- CH₃-6"). The glucoside moiety adopts an $O-\beta-4C_1$ -pyranose, while rhamnosyl adopts an $O-\alpha$ - $^{1}C_{4}$ -pyranose depending on all of their δ - and J-values in ¹H and ¹³C-spectra (Table 1). The connectivity of the caffeoyl moiety on OH-4 of glucose was followed from the downfield location of H-4' as t-like at 4.90, whereas, the connectivity of O-rhamnosyl on C-2glucoside was concluded from the characteristic downfield shift of its ¹³C NMR signal to 79.66 ppm. Depending on the assignment of all other signals of ¹H and ¹³C NMR with the aid of the cross peaks in 2D-NMR spectra (¹H¹H-COSY, HMQC and HMBC) and comparison with previously reported data. (28, 29), compound 1 was identified as 2-(3,4dihvdroxvphenvl)ethvl-2-O-[6-deoxv-a-Lmannopyranosyl-4-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-2propenoate]-β-D-glucopyranoside (28, 29).

Compounds 2, 3 both occur as yellow amorphous powder they gave dark purple spots under UV light (365 nm), and this color changes with NH₃, FeCl₃ and Naturstoff reagent, (yellow, green and greenish yellow, respectively). In compound 2 R_f: 0.59 (S₁), 0.55 (S₂). -UV spectral data λ_{max} (nm), (MeOH) =: 344.5, 269.5, 229.5, 288.5 and 248 where in compound 3 R_{f} 0.51 (S₁), 0.54 (S₂). -UV spectral data λ_{max} (nm), (MeOH) =: 345, 270.5, 228, 289.5 and 247. On complete acid hydrolyses they remained without any change and this indicated that compounds 2, 3 are C-glycosides. -Negative ESI-MS spectrum of both compounds showed a molecular ion peak at m/z = 431 [M-H], corresponding to a molecular weight of 432, which was in complete accordance with apigenin C-hexoside. The fragment ion peak at m/z = 269 [M -H- hexose] in both compounds corresponding to apigenin. ⁻¹H-NMR spectrum of compound 2 and 3 (Table 2) showed two doublets at δ (7.95 – 7.84), and δ (6.92-6.9) both integrating for two protons and are assigned to (H-2' / 6') and (H-3' / 5') of the 1', 4' disubstituted B-ring, respectively. Signals at δ 6.55 and 6.50 ppm are due to protons attached at C-3 in the apigenin skeleton of the compounds 2 and 3, respectively. Absence of the

characteristic signal of H-8 led us to identify compound 2 as 8-subistetuted apigenin, while the absence of characteristic signal of H-6 in compound 3 led us to identify it as 6-subistetuted apigenin. Presence of C- β - glycoside moiety in the structure of 2 and 3 were concluded depending on the anomeric protons coupling at δ 4.7 and 4.98 ppm, respectively with characteristic high J-values (9Hz) in both compounds. In the ¹³C NMR spectrum of compound **2** and **3** (Table 2), the signals at $(\delta 128.9 \text{ and } 128.36)$ ppm) and (\delta 115.9 and 116.11 ppm) revealing to C (2' / 6') and (3' / 5'), respectively. The methane carbon signal at δ 102.59 and 102.6 ppm were characteristic for C-3 apigenin aglycone in 2 and 3, respectively. The characteristic downfield shifts of C-8 to δ = 104.6 ppm ($\Delta \approx 10$ ppm) and upfield of both C-7 and C-9 to δ 161.2 and 156 ppm, respectively was diagnostic for 8-C-glycosedation in compound 2, while the characteristic downfield shifts of C-6 to δ 109.1 ($\Delta \approx 10$ ppm) and upfield of both C-7 and C-5 to δ 161.43 and 160.7 ppm, respectively was diagnostic for 6-C-glycosedation in compound 3. C- β - glycoside moiety in the two structures can be obtained from the signal at around 74 ppm, indicating that the anomeric carbon is attached to C- atom and not to the usual oxygen in the both aglycone. Six Cresonances of the β -C- glucopyranoside moiety were assigned in the range of 82-60 ppm in the both compounds. The remaining carbon resonances of both compounds were completely assigned by comparison with previously corresponding data (30, 31). Therefore, 2 and 3 were finally identified as vitexin and isovitexin, respectively.

Compound 4: occurs as yellow amorphous powder, R_f: 0.7 (S1), 0.3 (S2). -UV/V λ_{max} (MeOH) =: 345; (NaOMe): 266 sh, 329sh, 401; (NaOAc): 268, 326sh, 386; (H₃BO₃): 260, 300 sh, 370,428 sh; (AlCl₃): 272, 300 sh, 325, 426; (HCl): 272, 290, 355, 383. It was found to be substituted at 7-OH by absence of bathochromic shift upon addition of NaOAc. On complete acid hydrolyses of 4, letulin was detected in the organic phase while, glucuronic acid was detected in the aqueous phase (Co-PC with authentic samples). ESI-MS of 4 gave a molecular ion peak at m/z = 461 corresponding to M.Wt = 462. The fragment ion peak at m/z 285 = [aglycone-H] which consistence with letulin and was attributed to the loss of glucuronic acid moiety. ¹H NMR (300 MHz DMSO-d₆) δ : = 7.39 (1H, d, J = 2.1 Hz, H-2'), 7.35 (1H, d, J = 2.1 Hz, H-6'), 6.89 (1H, d, J = 8.4Hz, H-5'), 6.75 (1H, d, J = 1.8 Hz H-8), 6.66 (1H, s,H-3), 6.38 (1H, d, J = 2.1 Hz, H-6), 5.16 (1H, d, J =6.9 Hz, H-1") 3.90 - 3.30 (remaining sugar protons). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz DMSO-d₆) δ : = 182.53 (C-4), 171.41 (C-6"). 165.24 (C-2), 163.33 (C-7), 161.81 (C-5), 157.62 (C-9), 150.73 (C-4'), 146.53 (C-3'),

121.93 (C-1'), 119.75 (C-6'), 116.89 (C-5'), 114.39 (C-2'),106.1 (C-10), 103.79 (C-3), 100.16 (C-1"), 100.05 (C-6), 95.32 (C-8), 76.59 (C-5"), 75.68 (C-3"), 73.54 (C-2"), 72.14 (C-4"). ⁻¹HNMR spectrum exhibited signals at δ - values 7.39 ppm ($d, J = 2.1 \text{ H}_Z$, H-2'), 7.35 ppm (dd, J = 8.4 and 2.1 H_z, H-6'), and 6.89 ppm (d, J = 8.4 H_Z, H-5'), characteristic for ABX spin coupling system for a 3', 4'- disubstituted B- ring. The glucuronosedation at 7- OH was concluded from downfield shift of both H-6 and H-8 $(\approx + \Delta 0.2 \text{ ppm})$ and the β – anomeric proton signal at 5.16 $(J = 7H_7)$ (30). ⁻¹³CNMR spectrum of 4 showed 21 carbon signals fifteen of them were attributed to the aglycone moiety and assigned by comparison with corresponding data (31), while the sex remaining signals for the glucuronic acid moiety. Slight upfield shift of C-7 and downfield shift of both C-6 and C-8 were further confirmation for the glucuronosedation at 7-OH (32). So the structure of 4 was deduced as letulin 7-O- glucuronopyranoside. (30, 31)

Compound 5: occurs as yellow amorphous powder R_f: 0.6 (S1), 0.4 (S2). -UV λ_{max} (MeOH) =: 259, 355, 300 sh.; (NaOMe): 270, 325sh, 399; (NaOAc): 270, 325sh, 460; (NaOAc /H₃O₃): 269, 325,390; (AlCl₃): 239, 275, 343, 425. It appeared as dark purple fluorescence under UV light turned to orange with Naturstoff spray reagent. On complete acid hydrolyses quercetin was detected in the organic phase, while rhamnose was detected in the aqueous phase (Co-PC with authentic samples).⁻¹H NMR (300 MHz DMSO-d₆) δ : = 7.3 (1H, d, J = 1.8 Hz, H-2'), 7.26 (1H, dd, J = 8.4, 1.2 Hz, H-6'), 6.87 (1H, d, J =8.4 Hz, H-5'), 6.39 (1H, d, J = 2.1 Hz, H-8), 6.21(1H, d, J = 2.1 Hz, H-6), 5.26 (brs, H-1"), 3.98 (brs, H-2"), 3.6 (brd, H-3") 3.80 - 3.30 (remaining sugar protons), 1.2 (1H, d, J = 5.7 Hz, H-6"). ⁻¹³C NMR (75 MHz DMSO- d_6) δ : = 177.33 (C-4), 164.1 (C-7), 161.28 (C-5), 156.31 (C-9), 156.17 (C-2), 148.42 (C-4'), 144.9 (C-3'),132.91 (C-3), 121.73 (C-1'), 121.24 (C-6'), 116.03 (C-5'), 115.18 (C-2'),104.06 (C-10), 102.2 (C-1"), 98.43 (C-6), 93.59 (C-8), 71.94 (C-4"), 70.66 (C-2"), 70.31 (C-3"), 68.34 (C- 5"), 17.26 (C-6").

Negative ESI-Ms spectrum of compound 5: showed a molecular ion peak at m/z = 447.1 [M-H]⁻, together with a fragment ion peak at 301.2 [M-H -146]⁻, corresponding to the loss of rhamnose moiety which confirmed the presence of quercetin as aglycone. The UV methanol spectrum showed characteristic absorption bands at λ_{max} 259 and 355 nm for band II and I, respectively for quercetin moiety. The bathochromic shift observed upon addition of NaOMe (+42 nm in band I) with increase in the intensity proved the presence of free 4-OH. Compound 5: showed in the aromatic region of its ¹HNMR spectrum two characteristic spin coupling systems, the first one occur as an ABX of three types of protons at $\delta = 7.3$ (1H, d, J = 1.8 Hz), 7.26 (1H, dd, J = 8.4, 1.2 Hz) and 6.87 (1H, d, J = 8.4 Hz) assignable to H-2', 6' and 5', respectively of 3', 4'dihydroxy B-ring. The second coupling system occurs as an AM of two meta coupled protons at $\delta =$ 6.39 (1H, d, J = 2.1 Hz), 6.21 (1H, d, J = 2.1Hz) assignable for H-8 and H-6, respectively of 5, 7dihydroxy A-ring. The presence of 3-Orhamnopyranosyl in 5 was concluded from its aliphatic proton signal (brs) at $\delta = 5.26$ ppm. Stereo structure of sugar moiety was established as α -¹C₄pyranose based on the typical J- and δ -values in both of its ⁻¹H- and ⁻¹³C-NMR signals. The remaining carbon resonances of 5 were completely assigned by comparison with previously corresponding data (31). Therefore, compound 5: was finally identified as $-L^{-1}C_{4}$ -rhamnopyranoside auercetin 3-0α (querecterin) (32).

Compound 6: occurs as pale yellow amorphous powder. -UV-spectral data λ_{max} (nm), (MeOH): 235 sh., 325, 340; (+NaOMe): 250, 300, and 350. It gave a blue fluorescent spot under -UV- light which turned into greenish blue with NA/PE and gave blue color with FeCl₃ spray reagents. ⁻¹H-NMR spectral data revealed the presence of caffeoyl moiety from the ABM spin coupling system at $\delta = 6.90$ ppm (1H, d, J = 1.8 H_z), δ = 6.82 ppm (1H, dd, J = 1.8, 8.5 H_z) and $\delta = 6.68$ ppm (1H, d, J = 8.5 Hz) for the three aromatic protons H-2, H-6 and H-5, respectively. In addition the AX spin coupling system at $\delta = 7.46$ ppm and 6.16 ppm (each 1H, d, J = 16 H_Z) for the Eolefinic protons of H-7 and H-8, respectively. Furthermore the singlet signal at 3.51(3H, s, OCH₃) in the aliphatic region was assigned to methoxy group. Compound 6 was completely assigned by comparison with authentic samples and previously corresponding data (33). From the previous data compound 6 was identified as *E*- methyl caffeate. The results in (Table 3) showed that methanol extract had the highest amount of total phenolic content $(3.5 \pm$ 0.054 mg gallic equivalent per mg dry extract) followed by ethyl acetate extract $(1.38 \pm 0.038 \text{ mg})$ gallic equivalent per mg dry extract) and the lowest one was chloroform extract $(0.87 \pm 0.015 \text{ mg gallic})$ equivalent per mg dry extract).

The brine shrimp lethality assay is considered a useful tool for preliminary assessment of toxicity. The brine shrimp bioassay can be employed for this purpose as it appears to be a convenient, rapid and inexpensive. All extracts used showed significant lethality against brine shrimp. The methanol extract was found to be the most active extract which has LC₅₀ value about 140 mg /mg followed by ethyl acetate 165 mg /mg and chloroform 180 mg /mg.

Antioxidative and radical scavenging properties of compounds (1-3) were evaluated using 1, 1-

diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical and phosphomolybdenum method (Table 4). The antioxidant results showed that compound 1 is a highest scavenger of the artificial radical. Compound 1 is phenylethanoid (E-isomer) glycoside and identified as strong antioxidant (34). It is suggested that the 3, 4-dihydroxyphenethyl alcohol group might be more responsible for their activities than the caffeoyl group (35).

In conclusion, we have clearly shown that different extracts of Vitex trifolia displays cytotoxic activity on the brine shrimp lethality bioassay. Also the methanol extract has the highest value of total phenolic content due to the presence of flavonoids followed by chloroform and ethyl acetate extracts, and the antioxidant results showed that compound 1 is the strongest antioxidant.

MHz, D	$MSO-d_6$)	
No.	$\delta_{\rm H1}$	δ_{C1}
1		131.25
2	6.77 d (1.6)	116.87
3		144.25
1		145.7
5	6.73 <i>d</i> (8.1)	115.95
5	6.57 <i>dd</i> (8.1, 18)	121.05
7	2.78 <i>t</i> -like (7.5)	36.24
3	3.84 <i>t</i> -like (7.5)	72.17
1'	4.43 <i>d</i> (7.8)	103.78
יר	4.01*	70.65

Table 1: ¹ H, ¹³ CNMR spectral data of 1	(300/75
MHz, DMSO- d_6)	

110.	υ _{ΠI}	θUI
1		131.25
2	6.77 <i>d</i> (1.6)	116.87
3		144.25
4		145.7
5	6.73 <i>d</i> (8.1)	115.95
6	6.57 <i>dd</i> (8.1, 18)	121.05
7	2.78 <i>t</i> -like (7.5)	36.24
8	3.84 <i>t</i> -like (7.5)	72.17
1'	4.43 <i>d</i> (7.8)	103.78
2'	4.01*	79.65
3'		73.94
4'	4.903 <i>t-like</i> (10)	72.17
5'		76.27
6'	4.02 brd (12)	62.36
6'	3.37 *	62.36
1"	5.29 <i>d</i> (1.5)	101.85
2"	3.89 <i>brs</i>	71.53
3"		70.28
4"		71.98
5"	3.71 <i>m</i>	69.47
6"	1.11 <i>d</i> (6)	18.54
1'''		127.62
2""	7.17 <i>d</i> (2.1)	115.26
3""		148.89
4'''		146.25
5""	6.87 <i>d</i> (8.1)	116.36
6'''	7.05 dd (8.1, 2.1)	122.77
7""	7.59 d (15.9)	147.76
8'''	6.29 d (15.9)	115.15
9'''		169
a .		

 δ in ppm and J values in H_Z, are given in parentheses, *Unresolved protons

No.	δ _{H2}	δc_2	δ_{H3}	δc ₃
2		163.9		163.23
3	6.55 s	103.4	6.50 <i>s</i>	102.6
4		182.0		181.83
5		160.4		160.7
6	6.45 <i>s</i>	98.4		109.1
7		161.2		161.43
8		104.6	6.44 <i>s</i>	94.02
9		156		156.46
10		104.5		102.6
1		121.6		121.09
2	7.95 d (8.3)	128.9	7.84 <i>d</i> (8.1)	128.36
3	6.9 <i>d</i> (8.5)	115.9	6.92 <i>d</i> (8.1)	116.11
4		161.01		161.43
5	6.9 <i>d</i> (8.5)	115.9	6.92 <i>d</i> (8.1)	116.11
6	7.95 d (8.3)	128.9	7.84 <i>d</i> (8.1)	128.36
1"	4.7 <i>d</i> (9)	73.5	4.98 <i>d</i> (8.1)	73.32
2"		71		70.54
3"		78.7		79.1
4"	4.11 <i>d</i> (7.8)	70.6	4.11 <i>d</i> (7.8)	70.27
5	3.79-3.34		3.79-3.34	
6"	3.79-3.34		3.79-3.34	

Table 2 ¹H, ¹³CNMR spectral data of 2, 3 (300/75 MHz, DMSO-*d*₆)

 δ in ppm and J values in H_Z, are given in parentheses.

Table 3 Total phenolic content TPC (mg Gallic equivalent/ mg dry extract) and Cytotoxicity expressed as % mortality and LC_{50} of *Vitex trifolia* aerial parts different extracts. Values of mortality and total phenolic content given are mean \pm SE. (N=6). (Mean \pm SD).

Concentration mg ml ⁻¹ (Mean±SD)						TPC	
10 100 200 400 600 800 1000							
9.33 ± 0.21	34.67±0.23	74.33±0.22	85.00±0.37	93.67±0.22	98.67±0.42	99.33±0.21	3.5 ± 0.054
10.0 ± 0.36	34.00±0.37	58.66±0.56	79.66±0.20	91.33±0.21	96.67±0.21	99.67±0.22	1.38 ± 0.038
8.33±0.23 26.00±0.43 57.67±0.22 67.66±0.21 79.32±0.20 94.00±0.37 99.32±0.42							0.87 ± 0.015
	$ \begin{array}{r} 10 \\ 9.33 \pm \ 0.21 \\ 10.0 \pm \ 0.36 \\ 8.33 \pm \ 0.23 \end{array} $	10 100 9.33± 0.21 34.67±0.23 10.0± 0.36 34.00±0.37 8.33± 0.23 26.00±0.43	Concentre 10 100 200 9.33± 0.21 34.67±0.23 74.33±0.22 10.0± 0.36 34.00±0.37 58.66±0.56 8.33± 0.23 26.00±0.43 57.67±0.22	Concentration mg ml ⁻¹ (M 10 100 200 400 9.33± 0.21 34.67±0.23 74.33±0.22 85.00±0.37 10.0± 0.36 34.00±0.37 58.66±0.56 79.66±0.20 8.33± 0.23 26.00±0.43 57.67±0.22 67.66±0.21	Concentration mg ml ⁻¹ (Mean±SD) 10 100 200 400 600 9.33± 0.21 34.67±0.23 74.33±0.22 85.00±0.37 93.67±0.22 10.0± 0.36 34.00±0.37 58.66±0.56 79.66±0.20 91.33±0.21 8.33± 0.23 26.00±0.43 57.67±0.22 67.66±0.21 79.32±0.20	Concentration mg ml ⁻¹ (Mean±SD) 10 100 200 400 600 800 9.33± 0.21 34.67±0.23 74.33±0.22 85.00±0.37 93.67±0.22 98.67±0.42 10.0± 0.36 34.00±0.37 58.66±0.56 79.66±0.20 91.33±0.21 96.67±0.21 8.33± 0.23 26.00±0.43 57.67±0.22 67.66±0.21 79.32±0.20 94.00±0.37	Concentration mg ml ⁻¹ (Mean±SD) 10 100 200 400 600 800 1000 9.33± 0.21 34.67±0.23 74.33±0.22 85.00±0.37 93.67±0.22 98.67±0.42 99.33±0.21 10.0± 0.36 34.00±0.37 58.66±0.56 79.66±0.20 91.33±0.21 96.67±0.21 99.67±0.22 8.33± 0.23 26.00±0.43 57.67±0.22 67.66±0.21 79.32±0.20 94.00±0.37 99.32±0.42

TPC = Total phenolic content

Table 4 DPPH as indicated by the low SC50 value and total antioxidant capacity (mg of ascorbic acid equivalent / g of extract). (Mean±SD)

sample	DPPHSC ₅₀ (µg/ ml)	Total antioxidant capacity (mg AAE/ g extract)
Compound 1	4.70 ± 0.12	900.21 ± 0.36
Compound 2	15.36 ± 0.07	315.35 ± 13.55
Compound 3	30.48 ±0.47	355.71 ± 1.36
Ascorbic acid	7.90 ± 0.20	

Results are (means \pm S.D. (standard deviation) (n = 3); AAE (ascorbic equivalent).



1- $R^1 = \alpha$ -L- rhamnopyranoside, $R^2 = E$ - caffeoyl





Figure 1. Chemical structures of compounds isolated from *Vitex trifolia* aerial parts

Corresponding author

Mona Mohamed Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, Monoufia University Shima321321@yahoo.com tbi20042003@yahoo.co.uk

References

- 1. Google Website (2009): Verbenaceae, Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia 31 December 2009.
- Kimura T (1996): International Collation of Traditional and Folk Medicine. World Scientific Singapore, 1: 66 - 67.
- Hossain MM, Paul N, Sohrab MH, Rahman E, Rashid MA(2001): Antibacterial activity of *Vitex trifolia*. Fitoteripia, 72: 695.
- 4. Hernandez MM, Heraso C, Villarreal ML, Vargas-Arispuro I, Aranda E(1999): Biological activity of

crude plant extracts from Vitex trifolia L. (verbenaceae), J. Ethnopharmacol., 67: 37-44.

- Ikram M, Khattak SG, Gilani SN (1987): Antipyretic study on some indigenous Pakistani medicinal plants, J. Ethnopharmacol., 19: 185-87.
- Anadan R, Jayakar B, Karar B, Babuji S, Manavalan R, Kumar RS (2009): Effect of ethanol extract of flowers of *Vitex trifolia* Linn. on CCl₄ induced hepatic injury in rats, Pak. J. Pharm. Sci., 22:, 391-394
- Kiuchi F, Matsuo K, Ito M, Qii TK, Honda G (2004): New Norditerpenoids with Trypanocidal Activity from *Vitex trifoli*, Chem. Pharm. Bull, 52: 1492-1494.
- Chopra RN, Nayar SL, Chopra IC(1956): Glossary of Indian Medicinal Plants, CSIR Publications, New Delhi, 257.

- 9. Pan JG, XU ZL, Fan JF(1989): GC-MS analysis of essential oils from four *Vitex* species, Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi, 14: 357-59.
- 10. Jarry H, Spengler B, Wuttke W, Christoffel V (2006): *In vitro* assays for bioactivity-guided isolation of endocrine active compounds in *Vitex agnus-castus*, Maturitas, 55: 26-36.
- 11. Ono M, Ito Y, Nohara T (2001): Four new halimane-type diterpenes, vitetrifolins D-G, from the fruit of *Vitex trifolia*, Chem. Pharm. Bull, 49:1220-1222.
- 12. Bhargava SK(1989): Antiandrogenic effects of a flavonoids rich fraction of *Vitex negundo* seeds: a histological and biochemical study in dogs, J. Ethnopharmacol., 27: 327-339.
- Sathiamoorthy B, Gupta P, Kumar M, Chaturvedi AK, Shukla PK, Maurya R (2007): New antifungal flavonoid glycoside from *Vitex negundo*, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett., 17:239-242.
- 14. Thuy TT, Porzel A, Ripperger H, Sung TV, Adam G(1998): Chalcones and ecdysteroids from *Vitex leptobotrys*, Phytochemistry, 49: 2603-2605.
- Chandramu C, Manohar RD, Krupadanam DG, Dashavantha RV(2003): Isolation, characterization and biological activity of betulinic acid and ursolic acid from *Vitex negundo* L., Phytotherapy Research, 17: 129-134.
- Chawla AS, Sharma AK, Handa SS(1992b): Chemical investigation and anti-inflammatory activity of *Vitex negundo* seeds, J. Natural Product, 55: 163-167.
- 17. Haq AU, Malik A, Khan MTH, Haq AU, Khan SB, Ahmad A, Choudhary MI (2006):Tyrosinase inhibitory lignans from the methanol extract of the roots of *Vitex negundo* linn. And their structure activity relationship, Phytomedicine, 13: 255-260
- Kawazoe K, Yutani K, Takaishi Y(1999): Aryl naphthalenes norlignanes from *Vitex Rotundifolia*, Phytochemistry, 52: 1657-1659.
- 19. Sridhar C, Subbaraju GV, Venkateswarlu Y, Raju TV(2004): New acylated iridoide glucoside from *Vitex altissima*, J. Natural product, 67:2012-2016.
- Kuruüzüm-uz A, Ströch K, Dermirezer L Ö, zeeck A(2003): Glucosides from *Vitex agnus-castus*, Phytochemistry, 63: 959-964.
- 21. Suksamrarn A, Sommechai C(1993): Ecdysteroids from *Vitex pinnata*, Phytochemistry, 32: 303-306.
- 22. Kukic J, Popvic V, Petrovic S, Mucaji P, Ciric A, Stojkovic D, Sokovic M (2008): Antioxidant and antimicrobial activity of *cynara cardunculus* extracts, Food Chemistry, 107:861-868.
- 23. Molyneux P(2004): The use of the stable free radical diphenylpicrylhydrazyl (DPPH) for

estimating antioxidant activity, J. Sci. Technol., 26 :211-221.

- 24. Mensor L, Menezes FS, Leitao GG, Reis AS, Dos Santos Tc, Coube CS, Leitão SG (2001): Screening of Brazilin plant extracts for antioxidant activity by the use of DDPH free radical method. Phytotherapy Research, 15: 127-130.
- 25. Montanher ABP, Pizzolatti MG, Brighente IMC(2002): An Application of the Brine Shrimp Bioassay for General Screening of Brazilian Medicinal Plants, Acta Farm. Bonaerense, 21: 175-178.
- Ipsen J, Feigi P(1970): Bancroft's Introduction to Biostatistics, 2nd ed., Harper & Row, New York, Chap. 15.
- 27. Miya TS, Holck HGO, Yim GKW, Mennear JH, Spratto GR (1973): Laboratory Guidein Pharmacology, 4th ed., Burgess Publishing, Minneapolis, 1237.
- Abougazar H, Bedir E, Ekhan IA, Calis I, Wiedemanniosides A-E(2003): New phenylethanoids glycosides from the roots of *Verbascum wiedemannianum*, Planta Med., 69: 814-819.
- 29. Budzianowska A, Skrzypczak L, Budzianowska J (2004): Phenylethanoids glucosides from *in vitro* propagated plants and callus cultures of *Plantago lanceolata* L., Planta Med., 70:834-840.
- Harborne JB(1984): Phytochemical Methods a Guide to Modern Techniques of Plant analysis, 2nd ed. Chapman & Hall London, p. 49–50.
- 31. Mohamed M , Hamed M, Abdou A, Ahmed W, Saad A(2011): Antioxidant and Cytotoxic constituents from *Wisteria sinensis, Molecules*, 16 : 4020-4030.
- Mohamed M, Ahamed W, El-Said M, Hayen H(2008): New Acylated Flavonol Diglycosides of *Cynanchum acutum*, J. Natural product Comm., 3: 193-198
- 33. Xiang1 M, Su H, Hu J, Yan1 Y (2011): Isolation, identification and determination of methyl caffeate, ethyl caffeate and other phenolic compounds from *Polygonum amplexicaule* var. *sinense*, J. Med. Plants Research, 5:1685-1691.
- 34. Ono M, Morinaga H, Masuoka C, Ikeda T, Okawa M, Kinjo J, Nohara T(2005): New bisabolane-type sesquiterpenes from the aerial parts of *Lippia dulcis*, Chem. Pharm. Bull, 53:1175-1177.
- 35. Nagao T, Abe F, and Okabe H (2001): Antiproliferative constituents in the plants 7. Leaves of *Clerodendron bungei* and leaves and bark of *C. trichotomum*, Biol. Pharm. Bull, 24: 1338-1341.

4/29/2012

Determinants of medical care service personnel knowledge sharing intention: an empirical study

Ming-Tien Tsai¹, Kun-Shiang Chen^{1,2,*}

¹ Department of Business Administration of Management, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, ROC ² Department of Optometry, Chung Hwa University of Medical Technology, Tainan, Taiwan, ROC *corresponding author: <u>yco168@gmail.com</u>

Abstract: Historically, knowledge management plays a predominant role in enhancing organizational performance. Organizations adopt what methods to capture useful knowledge from knowledge repositories for accumulation, is the largest challenge in the organization. The organization will be encourage and instruct inter-organization members vigorous to promote the exchange and sharing of knowledge attitude and intention to facilitate organizational competitiveness and operating performance. In the health care domain, reliance on staff expertise to perform the operation is very professional practice. Medical service personnel in the implementation of daily operation often need to communicate with colleagues and work together to exclude the health care problem. This research review the theory of reasoned action, and individual's intrinsic motivations with extrinsic factors to observe related impact on the antecedents of knowledge sharing intention. Further, to this end, the authors integrate knowledge sharing literature to inference and develop a conceptual framework to empirical factors interrelationships in medical care service area.

[Ming-Tien Tsai, Kun-Shiang Chen. Determinants of medical care service personnel knowledge sharing intention: an empirical study. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):678-680] (ISSN:1097-8135) http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 101

Keywords: medical care service personnel, extrinsic rewards, resource availability, anticipated reciprocal relationships, theory of reasoned action

1. Introduction

In the twenty-first century, we are face on the knowledge economy era. The medical care staff is more focused on learning new professional skill and services for accumulated their professional knowledge to increase organization performance. This situation will continued influence to various health care related groups and organizations. Within the health care industry, practitioner will face on increasingly challenges and competition in the operating environment [1]. Health care provider is full of all kinds of specialization and knowledge related to the operation the patient lives, the slightest negligence will be cause inconvenience to patients, or even killed, the newspapers of such rumors frequently seen, therefore, how the medical organization to strengthen and training members enhancing professional knowledge and impetus the knowledge exchanges, is an important issue. The medical industry is a knowledge-intensive industry, remain competitive advantage and accumulate knowledge is the organizational main subject. As a result, the knowledge management efficiency of the organization has become the most important and critical test in facing turbulence environment [1]. According to prior literatures finding, a number of dilemmas associated with knowledge sharing (exchange) in a organization. For instance, how to encourage self-interest organization employees to participate in the organization and to openly share valuable knowledge

with other organization employees are critical roles in the medical care service (MCS) industrial. [3]. In essence, the personal behavior intention is filled with nature of elusive. Among them, concern about both individual and supervisor manager motivation are key of successful management activity. Consequently, exploring MCS personnel (MCSP) knowledge sharing intention will assist industrial to establish knowledge management policy. With this purpose in mind, the aim of this study is to deepen our comprehension of the antecedents that increase or decrease employees' tendencies to engage in knowledge-sharing intentions. For this reason, knowledge sharing intentions are likely to be influenced not only by individual motivations but also by contextual forces [4].

Based on previous literatures, the study propose a theoretical model which include extrinsic factor and individual beliefs combine with the theory of reasoned action (TRA) [5]. At the same time, by delivering questionnaires to the relevant MCSP fill out and collect their arguments for analysis.

Our essay is organized as follows, first, review previous literature arguments to develop a conceptual model for knowledge sharing intentions and depicted in the figure 1. The following section proposes and describes the elicited external beliefs and demonstrated within the relationship to TRA. The third section presents the research model and develops the research hypothesis to empirical relationships of the factor. Finally, we present the six positive hypothesis between six constructs, introduce methodology, discuss the study finding and its contributions following.



Figure 1. Research model

2. Methodology

2.1 Sample collection

Based on previous TRA and beliefs of individual literatures argument that regarding MCSP execution tasks and similar goals of this study. The suitable sample size and questionnaire of this study was determined and collected by reference literature related to this study. The contained 21 items questionnaire of this research is also conducted by using the Likert five point classification scale also ranging from "disagree strongly" (1) to "agree strongly" (5). According to pilot test, the formal questionnaire was delivered in medical care organizations such as hospital, physician clinic, and pharmacy in all regions of Taiwan. The sample resource and diversity by MCSP gender, age, degree, department, position and experience. During the March, 2011 to May, 2011, a total of 700 sets hard and soft copies of the survey questionnaires are distributed via email, and public places. Due to reminder mail and go through reminder telephone call for MCSP participator, the total 355 completed sets of the questionnaires were returned (given an overall response rate of 50.7%), however, 36 respondents with incomplete filled out questionnaires which are exclusive for further statistical analysis. Finally, 319 respondents was used in the data analysis. The respondents' characteristics and demographics are shown in Table 1.

2.2 Statistical analysis

In this study, all of the collected data was tested by SPSS 16.0 and LISREL 8.52 version of the statistical package software for used to analysis the

whole received respondents' data and complete the results.

2.3 Measure

This study apply explanatory factor analysis (EFA), confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), reliability analysis (RA) and path analysis to extraction the collected data into certain factors and supplemented by structure equation modeling (SEM) analysis to estimate constructs interrelated [6-7].

Table 1. Respondents' characteristics and demographics (n=319)

Measure	Items	Frequency	Percentage	
Wiedsure	itellis	requeitey	(%)	
Condor	Male	136	42.6%	
Gender	Female	183	57.4%	
	18~28	95	29.8%	
	29~39	82	25.7%	
Age	40~44	64	20.0%	
	45~49	43	13.5%	
	50~	35	11.0%	
	Senior school	124	38.9%	
Dograa	Bachelor	105	33.0%	
Degree	Master	85	26.6%	
	PhD.	5	0.2%	
	Hospital	187	58.6%	
Department	Physician clinic	99	31.0%	
	Pharmacy	33	10.3%	
	Department	276	86.5%	
	employee	270	80.370	
Position	Department	27	8 5%	
	supervisor	27	0.570	
	Senior manager	16	5.0%	
	~5 years	57	17.9%	
Evenorionaa	6~12 years	97	30.4%	
Experience	13~20 years	109	34.2%	
	21~ years	56	17.6%	

3. Results

3.1 Research finding

The results from EFA, RA, and CFA which were show that all of above standard coefficient. In addition, within the six hypothesis by SEM analysis in research model, H2 is non-significant (coefficient=0.07) revealed that MCSP are not limited the self's norm to process knowledge sharing. Otherwise, the H3 present negative significant also expose interpersonal reciprocal relationships may not help to MCSP adopt knowledge sharing intention. The analysis data from the empirical evidence are stated in Table 2 and Figure 2.

Construct	EFA		RA	CFA		
Intention to knowledge sharing	ITT1	0.854	0.923			
	ITT2	0.854		P value=0.000 GFI=0.938 AGFI=0.916 RMSEA=0.041		
	ITT3	0.768				
	ITT4	0.760				
Attitude toward knowledge	ATT1	0.831	0.931			
	ATT2	0.816				
	ATT3	0.786				
	ATT4	0.785				
	SN1	0.861	0.912			
Subjective norm	SN2	0.850				
	SN3	0.844				
	SN4	0.833				
Anticipated reciprocal relationships	PR2	0.901	0.935			
	PR3	0.891				
	PR4	0.889				
Extrinsic rewards	ER1	0.814	0.922			
	ER2	0.809				
	ER4	0.781				
Resource availability	RA1	0.822	0.894			
	RA2	0.814		94		
	DA3	0.807				

Table 2 Results of statistics analysis



Figure 2. Results of the SEM analysis Note: *: p<0..05; **:p<0.01; ***:p<0.001

4. Discussion

In this study, TRA as the main core structure, and integrate anticipated reciprocal relationships, extrinsic rewards and resources availability as the antecedents to explore relationship the MCS personnel's knowledge sharing intention. In light with the prior literatures, only a few scholars to discuss the availability of resources influence the individual intent to knowledge sharing. This research analyzing the relevant literatures and empirical evidence that supported or non-supported six hypothesis. In addition, this study also filled out the gap of academic theory and MCPS practices. Future study could be expand this research findings to investigate other industrial and organization.

References

- 1. Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2): 179-211.
- Davenprot, T. H., De Long, D. W., & Beers, M. C. (1998). Successful knowledge management projects. Sloan Management Review (Winter): 43-57.
- 3. Silberman, C. E. (1992). What is it like to be a patient in the 1990s?, in technology and health care in an era of limits. Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press, Washington, DC., 165-197.
- Wood, D. J., & Gray, B. (1991). Toward a comprehensive theory of collaboration. Journal of Applied Behavioral Science, 27(2): 139-162.
- Yoo, Y., & Torrey, B. (2002). National culture and knowledge management in a global learning organization, in the strategic management of intellectual capital and organizational knowledge. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L., & Black, W. C. (1995). Multivariate data analysis. In (Vol. 4th Ed). NJ.: Englewood Cliffs, Prentice Hall.
- Joreskog, K. G., & Sorbom, D. (1981). Lisrel vi: Analysis of linear structural relationships by maximum likelihood and least square method.: Mooresville, IN; SSI.

3/21/2012

Sputum Cytology – An Underutilized Diagnostic Tool: A Single Institute Experience

Awatif Jamal¹ and Ibrahim Mansoor²

¹Department of Histopathology, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia ²Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Histopathology Section, International Medical Center, Jeddah,

Saudi Arabia

awatjamal@yahoo.com

Abstract: Objective: Sputum cytology is a valuable diagnostic tool which under underutilized in our clinical practice. The aim of this study is to report our experience utilizing this tool to diagnose various respiratory disorders and to report the utility and accuracy of this procedure in our institute. Design: A retrospective analysis of all sputum smears from Jan 1995 to December 2010. Settings: The Department of Pathology at King Abdulaziz University hospital Jeddah, Western region of Saudi Arabia. Subjects and Methods: All sputum cytology samples received at the Department of Pathology were reviewed. Interventions: Cytology smears, clinical history and surgical follow-ups were reviewed. Main Outcome measures: The data was analyzed to calculate sensitivity, specificity, and predictive values. **Results:** A total of 191 cases of sputum cytology were examined during this period and only 38 (20%) patients had a subsequent follow up biopsies. Cytology diagnosis was categorized (reporting system of our laboratory) as atypical in 4 cases, malignant in 5 cases, inflammatory in 17 cases, insufficient in 21 cases, and negative in 144 patients. The subsequent histological follow-up in 38 cases was categorized as malignant in 21 cases, inflammatory /benign in 12 cases and negative in 5 cases. Cross-tabulating the cytology with surgical follow-up revealed 3 true-positive, one falsepositive, 16 true-negative, and 15 false-negative cases. Conclusion: Sputum cytology showed high specificity (94%) and positive-predictive value (75%) and low sensitivity (16.7%) and a negative-predictive value (52%). The low sensitivity limited the sputum-cytology as a screening tool. But in patients suspected of having malignant lesions the high specificity of this tool can be utilized to get diagnosis before proceeding to invasive procedures.

[Awatif Jamal and Ibrahim Mansoor. **Sputum Cytology – An Underutilized Diagnostic Tool: A Single Institute Experience.** Life Sci J 2012; 9(2):681-685]. (ISSN: 1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 102

Key Words: Sputum, Mucus, Cytology.

1. Introduction

Lung cancer outcome has improved a lot by early screening and detection by multiple modern diagnostic techniques. The current the methodologies available that can be utilized in reaching a diagnosis of lung cancer are: sputum cytology; flexible bronchoscopy [FB]; and transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA). Recently positron emission tomography (PET) scanning has emerged to help in achieving the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer as well^[1].

In order to decide which specific diagnostic modality to be used effectively, it should fulfill two main criterions: the first criterion is that it should have maximum yield with regards to diagnosis and staging of the disease. Secondly it should be minimally invasive. The diagnostic modality should also take into account the patient clinical condition and the treatment plan which will be offered to them after the specific diagnosis ^[1].

Sputum cytology examination was widely used at the end of the 20^{th} century for discovering lung cancer in high-risk patient at an early stage and it was viewed by clinicians as a simple, non-invasive, cheap investigation. Early reports on sputum cytology suggested that positive identification of lung cancer could be achieved in 57% to 66% of patients with a clinically obvious tumor ^[2]. Literature of Sputum cytology established that this non-invasive method is an acceptable method of establishing the diagnosis of cancer in suspected patients. Several studies identified that sensitivity of sputum cytology in diagnosing suspected lung lesion ranged from 0.42 to 0.97, while the specificity ranged from 0.68 to 1.0. These studies also showed that the pooled sensitivity of sputum cytology was 0.66, and the pooled specificity was 0.99^[1,3]. **Sing et al.** and **Rivera et al.** declared in their studies that sputum specimens are most valuable in the detection of early and peripheral carcinomas and that the diagnostic yield in lung carcinoma depends on the location of the tumor, the histological type and the stage ^[4,1].

Studies from National Cancer Institute (NCI) has reviewed the role of sputum cytology as a screening tool and has shown 85 to 90% 5-year survival rate in small number of patients with negative radiological examination for lung cancer and positive by sputum cytology alone. The most common histological type of carcinoma encountered in these studies was squamous cell carcinoma^[5].

The diagnostic accuracy of sputum cytology also depends on the number of samples obtained, the preservation technique of the sample, the location of the tumor (central vs peripheral) and the size of the tumor. Patients yielding positive sputum cytology often have: bloody sputum; low FEV1 values; large tumor volume (> 2.4 cm); centrally located tumors; and squamous cell histology ^[1].

2. Material and Methods

All consecutive sputum samples received at King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Department of Histopathology were reviewed over the period of fifteen years (from January 1st, 1995 to December 31st, 2010).

All the sputum cytology specimens in this study where collected and prepared in adherence (as much as possible) to the international guide lines for sputum cytology specimen collection and preparation.

A series of three (3) sputum specimens, one each day for three days, were collected as recommended by the university laboratory policy and procedure. Deep cough specimens were required if malignancy was suspected. Specimens are immediately processed to avoid cell degeneration and growth of contaminating micro-organisms. The gross/ physical specimen characteristics (volume in mL, gross appearance) were described and recorded in the final sputum cytology report (macroscopic section).

Pick-and-smear preparations were made from 'suspicious' areas of the specimen, which may appear as gray/white or blood-tinged mucus strands. Different areas of the specimen were sampled. Specimen was placed onto appropriately labeled frosted-end glass slides for direct smearing; the material was spread and manipulated between two opposing slides to produce a thin, mirror image, even layer of specimen on each slide

Four smears are prepared. Three smears are fixed immediately in 95% alcohol (or equivalent) and one smear is air-dried; three smears are stained with the Papanicolaou stain and one is stained with Diff-Quik. Mucoid specimens are treated with Mucolex solution (Shandon), equal volume of Mucolex solution is added to the specimen, mix then centrifuge.

Sputum specimens are regarding as being unsatisfactory when no pulmonary macrophages are identified. All stained slides are screened for abnormal findings. No radiological or demographic data was collected since it was beyond the scope of this study. A summary of the findings is prepared using current acceptable terminology based on established cytomorphologic criteria and adopted as protocol reporting system in our laboratory, and released on a standard report format.

A total of 191 sputum cytology cases were collected and categorized as: Atypical, Malignant, Inflammatory, Insufficient and Negative (Table 1). The records and the histopathological slides of 38 patients that had subsequent surgical follow up biopsies were retrieved and examined. The surgical histopathological categories were as follow: Malignant, Inflammatory and Negative (Table 2). Correlation of the sputum cytology and surgical biopsy was performed (Table 3), sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values were calculated.

3. Results

A total of 191 Sputum smear /cytology diagnosis were collected and categorized as atypical, malignant, inflammatory, insufficient and negative (Table 1). The detailed cytological diagnosis were: 4 cases atypical cells, 5 malignant cases of which 3 were adenocarcinoma, 1case non-small cell carcinoma and 1 case squamous cell carcinoma. Inflammatory cases were 17 of which 8 cases were fungal infection (5 Candida, 2 aspergillus, 1 fungal hyphae unclassified), 4 cases of tuberculosis infection and 5 cases were only abundant inflammation. Insufficient or inadequate for diagnosis were 21 cases and negative for malignancy 144 cases.

The subsequent histological follow-up in 38 cases was categorized as malignant in 21 cases. inflammatory /benign in 12 cases and negative in 5 cases (Table 2). Of the 21 malignant cases in surgical follow-up, we identified 3cases of adenocarcinoma that were diagnosed on both surgical follow-up and cytology as adenocarcinom (true-positive), 3 cases were diagnosed as inflammatory/ benign on cytology while on surgical follow-up were malignant (false negative). 3 cases were insufficient for diagnosis, and 12 cases were diagnosed as negative for malignancy on cytology while were malignant on surgical follow-up biopsies (false negative) (Table 3). 16 cases were diagnosed as negative on both cytology and surgical follow-up (true negative). One case was diagnosed as positive on cytology but was negative on surgical follow-up (false positive). Excluding the 3 nondiagnostic cases(insufficient for diagnosis), there were 3 true-positive cases, 16 true-negative cases, one falsepositive case and 15 false-negative cases. The sensitivity was 16.7%, specificity of 94%, positive predictive value of 75% and negative predictive value of 52%.

categories	
Cytology Dx Categories	Count
Atypical	4
Malignant	5
Inflammatory	17
Insufficient	21
Negative	144
Grand Total	191

 Table 1: Summary of sputum cytology diagnosis categories

 Table 2: Summary of surgical diagnosis categories

Surgical Dx Categories	Count		
Malignant	21		
Inflammatory	12		
Negative	5		
Grand Total	38		

Table 3: Cytohistological correlation of sputum cytology and surgical biopsy follow-up.

	Surgical Dx Categories				
Cytology Dx Category	Inflammatory	Malignant	Negative	Total	
Atypical		1		1	
Malignant		2	1	3	
Inflammatory		3	1	4	
Insufficient		3		3	
Negative	12	12	3	27	
Grand Total	12	21	5	38	

4. Discussion

An adequate sputum sample is composed of mucus and various types of respiratory cells that are cleared by the mucociliary apparatus and includes bronchial epithelial cells, few squamous cells and abundant alveolar macrophages. Before the development of fibreoptic bronchoscopy (FB), sputum cytology was the only alternative to thoracotomy for tissue diagnosis of many pulmonary neoplasms. At that time sputum was the most common respiratory tract specimen examined because it is relatively easy to collect and causes minimal discomfort to the patient. Unfortunately, utilization of sputum cytology as the mainstay in respiratory cytology has declined significantly probably due to the advent of bronchoscopy, tans thoracic imaging guided fine needle aspiration (FNA), trans-bronchial needle aspiration, EUS-guided FNA and due to the lowsensitivity of sputum cytology. Kennedy et al. underlined the valuable role of sputum cytology in early detection of lung cancer in selected patients and suggested reevaluation of the role of sputum cytology ^[5]. Furthermore, many studies have reported that sputum cytology has resulted in detection of lung cancer at an early stage and improved 5-years survival rate [5].

Regrettably, screening asymptomatic smokers with sputum cytology does not decrease mortality from lung cancer due to its low-sensitivity. However; sputum cytology has a high specificity and positive predictive value and can be clinically very useful for symptomatic individual ^[4, 6]. It has been shown that sputum cytology has an important role especially in patients with relative or absolute, contraindication to bronchoscopy examination. Moreover, it is reported that sputum cytology can be helpful in diagnosing peripheral lesions, inaccessible to bronchoscopy, or if bronchoscopy has failed in providing diagnostic material ^[2]. Furthermore, sputum cytology has a role if a tissue diagnosis is needed to direct the patient treatment, and surgery is unlikely to be performed, then sputum cytology represent the appropriate noninvasive procedure ^[2]. **Rivera and Mehta** recommends sputum cytology for patients who present with centrally located tumors (*i.e.*, SCLC or squamous call carcinoma) and in those who present with hemoptysis, with a central lesion with or without radiographic evidence of metastatic disease, and in whom a semiinvasive procedure such as bronchoscopy or TTNA might pose a higher risk ^[1].

Multiple studies have stated that the accuracy of sputum cytology and sensitivity of diagnosing lung cancer is difficult to summarize because of a range of methodological problems which are strongly related to the number of sputum samples and the specimen adequacy ^[1]. Schreiber et al. and Rivera et al. emphasized the importance of adequate sampling and claimed that many institutions have no established Programs for sputum collection and processing and that explain the lower sensitivity reported in many studies ^[3, 1]. To have a yielding sputum cytology results more attention has to be given to the optimal collection and submission of the sputum and to the method of sputum preparation ^[7, 11, 12]. Deep cough specimen of the lower respiratory tract containing numerous pulmonary macrophages is mandatory to obtain ^[9]. In fact sputum induction increases the detection of lung cancer ^[10]. Furthermore, it was emphasized that positive samples with higher sputum cytology yield are often submitted by specialist physicians such as chest physicians^[2].

Collecting multiple sputum samples over several days optimizes sensitivity of sputum cytology. **Bocking** *et al.* have shown that the sensitivity of sputum cytology in detecting lung cancer is highly dependent on the number of sputum specimens
collected per patient, ranging from approximately 0.68 for a single specimen, to 0.78 for two specimens, to 0.85– 0.86 for three or more specimens $^{[7]}$. In another study the sensitivity of sputum cytology for the diagnosis of malignancy increases with the number of specimens examined, from 42% with a single specimen to 91% with five specimens $^{[8]}$. The type of patients from whom the sputum was collected was another concern. Elderly individual with productive cough and exacerbation of chronic obstructive air way disease or congestive heart failure and with low clinical suspicion of malignance have low yield of positive sputum cytology $^{[2]}$.

The specificity of sputum examination is high, ranging from 96% to 99%, and the positive and negative predictive values are 100% and 15%, respectively reported by Fraire et al. [13]. The present study is comparable to other studies in the literature and it reports high specificity (94%) and positive predictive value (75%) and showed a lower sensitivity (16.7%) and negative predictive value (52%). The diagnostic yield in lung carcinoma as was stated by Sing et al.^[4] and Rivera et al.^[1] is dependent on the location of the tumor, the histological type and the stage of the tumor and that sputum specimen are most valuable in the detection of early and peripheral carcinomas^[4]. Accuracy in tumor classification is 75% to 80%^[14] and is tumor type dependent^[15]. It is evident from the literature that sensitivity of sputum cytology depends on the location of the malignant tumor: 46% to 77% of central lung cancers but only 31% to 47% of peripheral cancers [4, 6]. In another study by Schreiber et al. the sputum cytology sensitivity was higher for central lesions than for peripheral lesions $(0.71 \text{ vs } 0.49, \text{ respectively})^{[3]}$.

The lower sensitivity in our study can be explained by the uncontrolled protocol for sputum specimen collection, the time of collection, variation between physician and their confidence in the sputum cytology, the frequency and the number of specimen obtained by patient as well as some variations in the laboratory preparation techniques. This retrospective study establishes the high reliability and specifity of the sputum cytology examination and discloses the underutilization of this test at our institution. Furthermore, our study encourages the use of this simple non-invasive procedure in high risk patient with high clinical suspicion of lung cancer, especially in patient complaining of hemoptasis, or have central lesion and or when performing bronchoscopy is contraindicated or inappropriate. The study highlighted careful evaluation and the use of other investigational modalities in case of negative sputum cytology; since many studies have underlined that a single negative sputum result does not guarantee the absence of a malignancy, especially in a patient suspected of having lung cancer.

5. Conclusion

Sputum cytology is highly specific diagnostic tool in expert hands and to improve the yield of this simple non invasive examination a basic recommendation is to be followed: collection of multiple sputum specimens from the suspected patients involving specialist physicians is highly encouraged. Furthermore, attention has to be made during collection, submission and preparation of the sputum to improve the quality of the specimen and cytology results. Unified protocol or an institutional guide for collection, submission and preparation of the specimen should be generated and followed if increased sensitivity and specificity of sputum cytology is aimed.

Corresponding author

Awatif Jamal

Department of Histopathology, King Abdulaziz University Hospital, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia awatjamal@yahoo.com

References

- 1. Rivera M.P and Mehta A.C. (2007): Initial diagnosis of lung cancer. ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd Edition). Chest; 132:131S–148S.
- Gledhill A, Bates C, Henderson D, DaCosta P, Thomaslung G. (1989): Sputum cytology: a limited role. J Surg Oncol.; 40:107-111.
- 3. Schreiber G. and McCrory D. (2003): Performance characteristics of different modalities for diagnosis of suspected lung cancer, Summary of published Evidence Chest; 123;115S-128S.
- 4. Sing A, Freudenberg N, Kortsik C, *et al.* (1997): Comparison of the sensitivity of sputum and brush cytology in the diagnosis of lung carcinomas. Acta Cytol.; 41(2):399-408.
- 5. Kennedy T, Miller Y, MD, Prindiville S. (2000): Screening for lung cancer revisited and the role of sputum cytology and fluorescence bronchoscopy in a high-risk group. CHEST; 117: 72s-79s.
- 6. Rosenthal DL. (1988):Cytopathology of pulmonary disease. Los Angeles, Karger ; 23-62.
- Böcking A, Biesterfeld S, Chatelain R, *et al.* (1992)
 Diagnosis of bronchial carcinoma on sections of paraffin-embedded sputum: Sensitivity and specificity of an alternative to routine cytology. Acta Cytol.; 36:37-47.
- Erozan YS, Frost JK (1970): Cytopathologic diagnosis of cancer in pulmonary material: A critical histopathologic correlation. Acta Cytol.; 14:560-565.
- 9. Guidelines of the Papanicolaou Society of Cytopathology for the examination of cytologic specimens obtained from the respiratory tract (1999): The Papanicolaou Society of

Cytopathology Task Force on Standards of Practice. Mod Pathol ; 12(4):427-436.

- 10. Khajotia RR, Mohn A, Pokieser L, *et al.* (1991): Induced sputum and cytological diagnosis of lung cancer. Lancet; 338:976-977.
- 11. Saccomanno G, Saunders RP, Ellis H, *et al*. (1963): Concentration of carcinoma or atypical cells in sputum. Acta Cytol.; 7:305-310.
- Tang CS, Tang CM, Lau YY, Kung IT (1995): Sensitivity of sputum cytology after homogenization with dithiothreitol in lung cancer detection. Two years of experience. Acta Cytol.; 39(6):1137-1140.

4/15/2012

- 13. Fraire AE, Underwood RD, McLarty JW, Greenber SD (1991): Conventional respiratory cytology versus fine needle aspiration cytology in the diagnosis of lung cancer. Acta Cytol.; 35(4):385-388.
- 14. Suprun H, Pedio G, Ruttner JR (1980): The diagnostic reliability of cytologic typing in primary lung cancer with a review of the literature. Acta Cytol .; 24:494-500.
- 15. Liang X M (1997): Accuracy of cytological diagnosis and cytotyping of sputum in primary 6. J Clin Pathol.; 50:566-568.

Prognostic Value of Cyclin E and Cyclin Dependent Kinase Inhibitor (P27) Gene Expression in Non – Hodgkin's Lymphoma

Manal A. Eid¹; Basma M. Elgamal²; Ghada M. Ezat³; Eman A. Amer⁴ and Hoda A. Salem⁵

Clinical Pathology Departments, Tanta University¹; NCI, Cairo University²; El-Fayoum University³; ⁴ Biochemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy Ahram Canadian University ⁵Clinical Pharmacy Department, Faculty of Pharmacy, Al-Azhar University basmaelgamal@gmail.com

Abstract: The eukaryotic cell cycle is controlled by protein kinase complexes composed of cyclins and cyclin dependent Kinases (Cdks). The activity of Cdks is regulated by binding of positive effectors, the cyclins, and by association-dissociation of inhibitory subunits, designated cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs). Cyclins. Cdks. and CKIs are frequently altered in human cancer. P27 is a CKI that regulates progression from G1 into S phase and appears to play a role in both cell growth and differentiation. Cyclin E, in conjunction with its kinase partner Cdk2, regulates many aspects of cell division. Many human cancers express high levels of cyclin E, and this is thought to directly contribute to cell transformation and tumor aggressiveness. The aim of this study was to study the prognostic value of p27 and cyclin E protein expression levels in relation to the staging of NHL, laboratory data, clinical manifestations and to predict patient's survival. The patients were subjected to full work-up for diagnosis of NHL and Western blot analysis for detection of p27 and cyclin E protein expression.40 newly diagnosed patients suffering from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) in different stages and twenty healthy subjects were the subject matter of this study. Our results showed over expression of cyclin E and down regulation of p27, which was significantly associated with advanced staging of the disease. There was a positive correlation between age and over expression of cyclin E and inverse correlation with p27 expression. Over expression of cyclin E and down regulation of p27 were significantly associated with laboratory and clinical findings, delayed remission, increased relapse and increased death rate. Conclusion: p27 and cyclin E expression are significant, independent prognostic factors and reliable molecular markers in predicting recurrence and selection of patients for adjuvant therapy in malignant lymphoma.

[Manal A. Eid; Basma M. Elgamal; Ghada M. Ezat; Eman A. Amer and Hoda A. Salem. **Prognostic Value of Cyclin E and Cyclin Dependent Kinase Inhibitor (P27) Gene Expression in Non – Hodgkin's Lymphoma.** Life Sci J 2012;9(2):692-699]. (ISSN: 1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 104

Keyword: Cylin E, p27, non Hodgkin's lymphoma, gene expression

1. Introduction:

Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL) is a group of closely related B and T-cell cancers of the lymphatic system. The incidence of NHL is rising, particularly in countries of the industrialized world. The incidence of NHL in the United States has increased by 5% over the past 15 years. The cause of this increased incidence is not fully understood, but several risk factors have been blamed including: exposure to chemicals, viral infections, organ transplantation and blood transfusion, family history, and lifestyle factors ⁽¹⁾.

In general, the incidence of NHL is 50% higher in men than in women ⁽²⁾. The cancer can develop in people at all ages, including children, although it is most common in those aging from 45 - 60 years.

The eukaryotic cell cycle is controlled by protein kinase complexes composed of cyclins and cyclin dependent Kinases (Cdks). The activity of Cdks is regulated by binding of positive effectors, the cyclins, and by association-dissociation of inhibitory subunits, designated cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs)⁽³⁾.

Two families of CKIs have been identified; INK4 and Cip/Kip families. The INK4 Family members including P15^{INK4B}, p16^{INK4A}, p18^{INK4C}, and p19^{INK4D} bind to and inhibit Cyclin-D-dependant kinases (cdk4 and cdk6).The Cip/Kip family members, including p21^{CIP1}, p27^{KIP1}, and p57^{KIP2} preferentially inhibit cdk2⁽⁴⁾.

Cyclins, Cdks, and CKIs are frequently altered in human cancer. P27^{KIP1} is a CKI that regulates progression from G1 into S phase by inhibiting a variety of Cyclin-Cdk complexes. P27 appears to play a role in both cell growth and differentiation ⁽⁵⁾.

Cyclin E, in conjunction with its kinase partner Cdk2, regulates many aspects of cell division ⁽⁶⁾. Cyclin E-Cdk2 exerts its cell cycle regulatory activities by phosphorylating substrates involved in G1 progression, S-phase entry and centrosome duplication, as well as a kinase- independent function involved in exiting quiescence ⁽⁷⁾. Many human cancers express high levels of cyclin E, and this is thought to directly contribute to cell transformation and tumor aggressiveness $^{(8)}$.

P27Kip1 protein level changes during cell cycle progression, accumulating when cells progress through G1 and sharply decreasing just before cells enter S phase. Additionally, p27Kip1 protein levels rise when cells exit the cell cycle to G0, and decreases when cells enter the cell cycle again ⁽⁹⁾. These alternations in p27Kip1 levels are caused by regulation at the protein degradation level ⁽¹⁰⁾.

Deregulation of cell cycle control is a critical step in the development of human cancers and, therefore, knowledge of the expression of cell cycle regulatory proteins in tumor cells is essential for understanding tumor cell behavior and may be important for predicting prognosis of cancer patients (11)

Aim of work:

The aim of the present work is to study the expression level of the cell cycle regulators cyclin E and p27 proteins by Western blot analysis on 40 newly diagnosed patients with NHL in different disease stages and detect their correlation with the staging of NHL, laboratory data, clinical manifestation and patient's survival.

2. Subjects and Methods:

40 newly diagnosed patients suffering from NHL, were selected from the inpatients of the Oncology Unit of Tanta University Hospital and the National Cancer Institute (NCI), Cairo University. The study was designed to continue for 18 months of follow up. Twenty healthy subjects matched in age and sex, were also included, as a control group. The subjects included in this study were divided into two main groups:

- **Group 1:** Patients suffering from NHL in different stages of the disease at presentation and after treatment. They were 25 males and 15 females, their ages ranged from 25-75 years. They were 6 patients with Mucosa Associated Lymphoma Tissue (MALT), 6 patients with Follicular lymphoma, 7 patients with Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, 5 patients with Anaplastic large T-cell lymphoma, 5 patients with Peripheral T-cell lymphoma, 4 patients with B-cell Burkitt like lymphoma, 4 patients with Mantle cell lymphoma and 3 patients with Marginal zone lymphoma (nodal).
- They were divided into four subgroups according to Ann Arbor staging system:
- **Group Ia:** Included 7 patients in stage I suffering from one cervical or axillary lymph node enlargement and discovered accidentally during routine examination of other diseases.

- **Group Ib:** included 8 patients in stage II suffering from both cervical and axillary lymph nodes enlargement with or without splenomegaly or B symptoms (night sweating, unexplained fever and unexplained loss of more than 10% of the body weight in the last 6 months).
- **Group Ic:** included 15 patients in stage III suffering from both cervical and axillary or inguinal or abdominal lymph nodes enlargement, ascitis, pleural effusions or B symptoms.
- **Group Id:** included 10 patients in stage IV suffering from both, cervical and axillary or inguinal or abdominal lymph nodes enlargement, spenomegaly, B symptoms and bone marrow infiltration with or without hepatomegaly or ascitis or pleural effusion.
- **Group II:** normal control group; twenty healthy subjects selected from hospital staff. They were 12 males and 8 females, their ages ranged from 25-60 years.
- *Patients with exclusion criteria were out of our study; including patients with inflammatory disease, malignant disease other than NHL, and previous exposure to chemotherapy.
- *The Standard CHOP treatment protocol was adopted to our patients: C-Cyclophosphmide 750 mg/m² I.V for 1 day. H-Doxorubicin (Adriamycin) 50 mg/m² I.V for 1 day. O-Vincristine (Oncovin) 1.4 mg/m² I.V for 1 day; and -Prednisone 100 mg daily for 5 days.
- This protocol was given one time every 3 weeks for 6 doses.
- According to response to treatment, patients of group Ic and Id were further subdivided into Icc, Idc (cured) and Icn, Idn (non-cured), respectively.
- *Patients were in complete remission when complete absence of symptoms and signs occurred and laboratory investigation returned to normal levels, while its persistence indicated non-cure.

Patients' group was subjected to the following:

A) Full work-up for diagnosis of NHL:(1)Detailed history and clinical investigation searching for important signs of prognostic significance as night sweating, unexplained fever, unexplained loss of more than 10% of the body weight in the last 6 months, lymphadenopathy, organomegaly, ascitis and pleural effusion.(2)Radiological examination including chest x-ray, CT scan chest, pelvi-abdominal CT scan and ultrasonography.(3)Laboratory investigation: four ml venous blood was collected under complete aseptic technique, delivered into two tubes; one containing EDTA for CBC and the other was plain for LDH and uric acid assessment. BM

aspiration for cytochemistry and immunophenotyping was done.

B)10 ml venous blood was collected into heparinized tubes for mononuclear cell separation, and protein extraction for detection of Cyclin E and p27 by size separation of the proteins in the mixture on polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE). The separated proteins were then transferred to poly vinylidenediflouride (PVDF) membrane (Bio-Rad Laboratory). Detection of the protein under investigation by its specific antibody and determination of its size relative to standard protein of known size was performed.

Informed consent was taken from every patient and control before enrollment in the study and the research was approved by the Ethical committee of Tanta University.

Statistical methods:

Data was analyzed using SPSSwin statistical package version 17 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Numerical data were expressed as mean and standard deviation. Qualitative data were expressed as frequency and percentage. Chi-square test (Fisher's exact test) was used to examine the relation between qualitative variables. For quantitative data. comparison between two groups was done using Mann-Whitney test (non-parametric t-test). Comparison between 3 groups was done using Kruskal-Wallis test (nonparametric ANOVA). A pvalue < 0.05 was considered significant and of <0.001 was considered highly significant.

3. Results:

NHL Patients were divided according to Ann Arbor staging system, as shown in Tables 1 and 2.

Stage I (Group Ia): Seven patients, 4 males (57.1%) and 3 were females (49.9%). Their age ranged from 32 to 59 with mean of 51.14 ± 10.22 years. Stage II (Group Ib): Eight patients, 6 males (75%) and 2 females (25%). Their age ranged from 25 to 62 with mean of 49.87 ± 12.94 years. Stage III (Group Ic): Fifteen patients, 9 males (60%) and 6 females (40%). Their ages ranged from 38 - 75 with mean of 57.6 ± 8.77 years. (Group Id): Ten patients, 6 males (60%) and 4 females (40%). Their ages ranged from 48 - 75 with mean of 60.4 ± 7.5 years. As regards the control group, their ages ranged from 25 to 60 years with a mean of 49.95 + 6.81 years. There was a high statistically significant difference between the expression of p27 and cyclin E in patients and controls (p = 0.0001 for both). Figure (1) demonstrates Western blot analysis of cyclin E and p27 in patients compared to controls.



Fig. (1): Cyclin E and P27 protein expression in NHL cases by Western Blot analysis in comparison to controls.

Table ((1)):	Distribution	of	patients	according	to age
---------	-----	----	--------------	----	----------	-----------	--------

	Age (years)					
	G Ia	G Ib	G Ic	G Id		
Range	32 - 59	25 - 62	38 - 75	48 – 75		
Mean	51.14	49.87	57.60	60.40		
± SD	10.22	12.94	8.77	7.50		
	<i>p</i> -value = 0.079					

Table (2): Relation between sex and the stage of NHL

			Sex	
		Male	Female	Total
CL	Ν	4	3	7
Gla	%	57.1	42.9	100
СЪ	N Ia % Ib % Ic N Id % Id % N 1 Id %	6	2	8
GID	%	75	25	100
CL	Ν	9	6	15
Gić	%	60	40	100
СЫ	Ν	6	4	10
Gla	%	60	40	100
	Ν	25	15	40
Total	%	62.5	37.5	100
		<i>p</i> -value	e = 0.876	

Down regulation of p27 and over expression of Cyclin E was significantly correlated with advancement of the stage of NHL with *p*-value of 0.001 as shown in tables 3 and 4.

Ago	P27				
Age (years)	Normal expression	Down regulation			
Mean	47.15	59.70			
±SD	11.18	6.76			
	<i>P</i> . value = 0.000	*			

 Table (3): Relation between p27 expression and the stage of NHL

 Table (4): Relation between cyclin E expression and stage of NHL

			P27	
		Normal expression	Down regulation	Total
G Ia	Ν	6	1	7
	%	85.7	14.3	100
G Ib	Ν	6	2	8
	%	75	25	100
G Ic	Ν	1	14	15
	%	6.7	93.3	100
G Id	Ν	0	10	10
	%	0	100	100
Total	Ν	13	27	40
	%	32.5	67.5	100
		<i>p</i> -va	lue = 0.001*	

Table (5): P27 expression in relation to age

	P27					
Age (years)	Normal expression	Down regulation				
Mean	47.15	59.70				
±SD	11.18	6.76				
<i>P</i> . value = 0.000*						

Table (6): Cyclin E expression in relation to age

A go (vooms)	Cyclin E						
Age (years)	Over expression	Normal expression					
Mean	62.77	49.77					
±SD	5.41	9.52					
<i>P</i> . value = 0.000*							

As regards the relation of expression of p27 and cyclin E with sex, no statistical significance could be detected between p27 down regulation or cylin E over expression and sex (p value = 0.138 and 0.251 respectively). However, there was a highly significant association between down regulation of p27 and over expression of cyclin E and increasing age with a p value of 0.0001 for each, as shown in tables 5 and 6. Elevated LDH and reduction in Hb were highly significant with down regulation of p27 with a p value of 0.0001. Thrombocytopenia was associated with down regulation of p27 (P=0.002). There was no significant relation between p27 down regulation and WDCs count with a p value of 0.097, nor with hyperuricemia with a p value of 0.065 (Table 7).

Table (7): P2	27 e	xpression	in	relation	to	Laboratory
results						

		No	ormal	D	own	Р.
		expi	ression	regi	ilation	value
		Ν	%	Ν	%	
LDH	Ν	12	92.3	6	22.2	0.000*
	↑	1	7.7	21	77.8	
HB	Ν	12	92.3	9	33.3	0.000*
	\rightarrow	1	7.7	18	66.7	
Platelet	Ν	13	100	14	51.9	0.002*
	\rightarrow	0	0	13	48.1	
WBCs	Ν	13	100	22	81.5	0.097
	\rightarrow	0	0	5	18.5	
Uric	Ν	13	100	21	77.8	0.065
acid	\uparrow	0	0	6	22.2	

Elevated LDH and reduced Hb were highly significant with over expression of cyclin E with a p value of 0.0001. Cyclin E over expression was associated with leucopenia (P=0.008), thrombocytopenia (P=0.0001) and hyperuricemia (P = 0.003) (Table 8).

Table (8):Cyclin E expression in relation tolaboratory results

			Cyclin E				
		0	ver	No	<i>p</i> .		
		expi	ession	expi	ression	value	
		Ν	%	Ν	%		
I DII	Ν	1	5.6	17	77.3	0.000*	
LDH	↑	17	94.4	5	22.7	0.000	
IID	Ν	4	22.2	17	77.3	0.001*	
нв	↑	14	77.8	5	22.7	0.001	
Distalat	Ν	6	33.3	21	95.5	0.000*	
Platelet	↑	12	66.7	1	4.5	0.000	
WDC	Ν	13	72.2	22	100	0.000*	
WBCS	↑	5	27.8	0	0	0.008	
Uric	Ν	12	66.7	22	100	0.002*	
acid	1	6	33.3	0	0	0.003*	

Down regulation of p27 was significantly associated with B symptoms with P value 0.0001. Significant relations were found between down regulation of p27 and the presence of respiratory manifestations, bleeding manifestations, bone ache and splenomegaly with p values of 0.047; 0.047, 0.002, 0.033 and 0.001 respectively. No significant relation was found between p27 down regulation and the presence of hepatomegaly (P=0.065), abdominal manifestations (P=0.13) or neurological manifestation (P=0.097) (Table 9).

			r 2	r 2 /			
		No	ormal	D	own	Р.	
		expi	ression	regu	ilation	Value	
		N	%	N	%		
Agromation	Presence	6	46.2	0	0	0.000*	
Asymptomatic	Absence	7	53.8	27	100	0.000	
P symptoms	Presence	7	53.8	27	100	0.000*	
B symptoms	Absence	6	46.2	0	0	0.000	
Dospiratory	Presence	0	0	7	25.9	0.047*	
Respiratory	Absence	13	100	20	74.1	0.047	
Dlooding	Presence	0	0	13	48.1	0.002*	
Dieeunig	Absence	13	100	14	51.6	0.002	
Dono ooho	Presence	1	7.7	11	40.7	0.002*	
Done ache	Absence	12	92.3	16	59.3	0.003	
splanomogaly	Presence	2	15.4	21	77.8	0.000*	
sprenomegary	Absence	11	84.6	6	22.2	0.000	
II	Presence	0	0	6	22.2	0.065	
nepatomegaly	Absence	13	100	21	77.8	0.005	
Abdominal	Presence	3	23.1	13	48.1	0.120	
Abuominai	Absence	10	76.9	14	51.9	0.130	
CNE	Presence	0	0	5	18.5	0.007	
UND	Absence	13	100	22	81.5	0.097	

Table (9): P27 expression in relation to clinical data

Over expression of cyclin E was significantly associated with B symptoms (P=0.004), the presence of respiratory manifestation (P=0.024), bleeding manifestations (P=0.0001), bone aches (P=0.013), the presence of hepatomegaly (P=0.003), abdominal manifestations (P=0.014) and neurological manifestations (P=0.008) (Table 10).

There was a significant inverse relation between the expression of cyclin E and p27 in NHL patients with p value of 0.004 (Table 11).

After the follow up period, when the fate of the patients was correlated with the level of expression of p27 and cyclin E, the following results were obtained:

Group Ia (Stage I): Significant relation associated between good prognosis and the normal expression of P27 and vice versa with a p value of 0.004. Over expression of cyclin E associated significantly with bad prognosis and vice versa with a p value of 0.013.

Group Ib (Stage II): A borderline significance could be detected between prognosis and the expression of p27 and cyclin E with a p value of 0.061 and 0.058 respectively.

Group Ic (Stage III): Significant relation associated between bad prognosis and the down regulation of p27 and vice versa with a p value of 0.045. Over expression of cyclin E associated with bad prognosis but it was of a borderline significance with a p value of 0.051.

Group Id (Stage IV): Significant association was found between bad prognosis and the down regulation of p27 and vice versa with a p value of 0.042. Over expression of cyclin E associated significantly with bad prognosis with a p value of 0.045.

Table (10):	Cyclin	E exp	ression	in	relation	to c	linical	data
---------	------	--------	-------	---------	----	----------	------	---------	------

			Су	clin E		
		0)ver	No	ormal	Р.
		exp	ression	exp	ression	value
		N	%	N	%	
Agromation	Presence	0	0	6	27.3	0.16*
Asymptomatic	Absence	18	100	16	72.7	0.10
D symmetry	Presence	18	100	14	63.6	0.004*
Б symptoms	Absence	0	0	8	36.4	0.004
Despinatory	Presence	6	33.3	2	9.1	0.024*
Respiratory	Absence	12	66.7	20	90.9	0.024
Dlooding	Presence	12	66.7	1	4.5	0.000*
ыеешіід	Absence	6	33.3	21	95.5	0.000
Dono ocho	Presence	9	50	3	13.6	0.012*
Done ache	Absence	9	50	19	86.4	0.015
Splanomogaly	Presence	17	94.4	6	27.3	0.000*
spienomegaly	Absence	1	5.6	16	72.7	0.000
Handtoneale	Presence	6	33.3	0	0	0.002*
Hepatomegaly	Absence	12	66.7	22	100	0.003
Abdominal	Presence	11	61.1	5	22.7	0.01.4*
Abuominai	Absence	7	38.9	17	77.3	0.014
CNS	Presence	5	27.8	0	0	0.008*
CIND	Absence	13	72.2	22	100	0.008

 Table (11): Relation between cyclin E expression and the expression of p27 in NHL patients

				Cycli	n E		
		exp)ver ression	No exp	ormal ression	Т	otal
		N	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
P27	Normal expression	1	5.6	12	54.5	13	32.5
	Down regulation	17	94.4	10	45.5	27	67.5
	Total	18	100	22	100	40	100
		1	P = 0.004*				

 Table (12): Fate according to NHL staging in relation to cyclin E and P27 expression

Groups	Fate &	Expression	Remission	relapse	Died	<i>P</i> value
	D77	Normal expression	6	1	0	0.044*
Group	127	Down regulation	1	3	1	0.044
Ia	Cyclin	Over expression	0	3	1	0.013*
	Е	Normal regulation	7	1	0	0.015
	P77	Normal expression	5	1	0	0.061
Group	127	Down regulation	1	3	2	0.001
Ib	Cyclin	Over expression	1	3	2	0.058
	Е	Normal regulation	5	1	0	0.058
	D77	Normal expression	0	0	1	0.045*
Group	127	Down regulation	0	0	14	0.045
Ic	Cyclin	Over expression	0	0	10	0.051*
	Е	Normal regulation	0	0	5	0.001
	P77	Normal expression	0	0	0	0.042*
Group	127	Down regulation	0	0	10	0.042
Id	Cyclin	Over expression	0	0	8	0.045*
	Е	Normal regulation	0	0	2	0.045

Kaplan-Meier analysis of overall survival in NHL patients in relation to p27 expression shows significant short overall survival with p27 down regulation with (P=0.004) as shown in fig. 2.



Fig. (2): Overall survival in NHL patients in relation to p27 expression at the end of the study

Kaplan-Meier analysis of overall survival in NHL patients in relation to Cyclin E expression show significant short overall survival with Cyclin E over expression with (P=0.011) as shown in fig.3.



Fig (3): Overall survival in NHL patients in relation to Cyclin E expression at the end of the study

Kaplan-Meier analysis of overall survival in NHL patients in relation to Cyclin E expression shows significant short event free survival with Cyclin E over expression with (P=0.041) as shown in fig. 4.



Fig. (4): Event free survival in NHL patients in relation to Cyclin E expression at the end of the study

Kaplan-Meier analysis of event free survival in NHL patients in relation to P27 expression shows significant short event free survival with P27 over expression with (P=0.03) as shown in fig.5.



Fig. (5): Event free survival in NHL patients in relation to P27 expression at the end of the study

4. Discussion

A re-evaluation of parameters of cell cycle kinetics in view of our increasing knowledge of the molecular pathways of cell cycle control may provide more prognostic information for the management of patients with malignant lymphomas. Precise staging of NHL is prerequisite for the selection of a suitable therapeutic regiment and influence the likelihood of its success $^{(1, 12)}$.

The aim of the present work was to study the expression of the cell cycle regulators Cyclin E and P27 proteins by Western blot analysis on 40 newly diagnosed patients with NHL in different disease stages and to correlate their expression with the laboratory data, clinical manifestations, staging of NHL, and patient's survival.

In relation to the staging of NHL the present study showed that over expression of Cyclin E was significantly correlated with worsening of NHL outcome.

In agreement with this study **Keyomarsi** *et al.*, ⁽¹³⁾ and **Qi** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁰⁾ had observed a correlation between cyclin E expression, proliferation and aggressive staging. In contrast to this study **Farleya** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁴⁾ showed that expression of cyclin E was not associated with tumor stage.

In this study, the cyclin E expression in relation to sex was statistically not significant. On the other hand, the advancement of age of NHL patients was highly significantly associated with over expression of cyclin E. In agreement with this study **Xiangming** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁵⁾ showed that expression of cyclin E was related to the age of patients. In contrast, **Farleya** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁴⁾ showed that expression of cyclin E was not correlated with age. As regards cyclin E expression and its relation to clinical data and laboratory findings, it was found that cyclin E over expression is significantly associated with worsening of all clinical and laboratory results. We agree in our results with **Ferreri** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁶⁾ who showed that high levels of cyclin E have been associated with advanced NHL manifestation.

Regarding the fate of the patients in relation to expression of cyclin E, our study demonstrated that over expression of cyclin E associated significantly with bad prognosis as delayed response to treatment, high rate of relapse and high incidence of mortality. The overall survival using Kaplan-Meier analysis in NHL patients in relation to cyclin E expression, showed significant short overall survival with Cyclin E over expression.

Event free survival showed significantly shorter event free survival with cyclin E over expressed patients. We agree in this with **Hayashi** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁷⁾ and **Keyomarsi** *et al.*, ⁽¹³⁾ who reported that all patients with a high level of cyclinE died. Also, **Keyomarsi** *et al.*, ⁽¹³⁾ and **Porter** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁸⁾ reported that the overall survival and the event-free survival were significantly longer among patients with low levels of cyclin E than among patients whose tumors had high levels of this protein. However, **Porter** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁸⁾ reported that high expression of cyclin E protein was not statistically significantly associated with either overall survival or event-free survival.

As regards p27 expression; down regulation of p27 in NHL patients was significantly associated with advanced staging of the disease. In agreement with our study, is the study of **Yasui** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁹⁾, who reported that down regulation of p27 expression significantly correlated with advanced stage, depth of tumor invasion and lymph node metastasis. These findings coincide also with those reported by **Xiangming** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁵⁾; **Chiarle** *et al.*, ⁽²⁰⁾; **Khoo** *et al.*, ⁽²¹⁾; **Moreira** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁵⁾; **Gelen** *et al.*, ⁽²³⁾ and **Filipits** *et al.*, ⁽²⁴⁾ reported that p27 expression did not correlate with any of the clinic-pathological parameters examined including stage of the tumors, but **Xiangming** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁵⁾ reported that down regulation of p27 protein expression is age related and age has been reported as an important prognostic factor for malignant lymphomas.

Other authors as **Gelen** *et al.*, ⁽²³⁾; and **Filipits** *et al.*, ⁽²⁴⁾ investigated the relationship between the expression of p27 and a series of clinico-pathological parameters including age and did not correlate p27 expression with any of the clinic-patholgical parameters examined.

Regarding the fate of the patients in relation to expression of p27, our study demonstrated that p27

down regulation is associated significantly with bad prognosis as delayed response to the treatment, high rate of relapse and high incidence of mortality.

Analysis of the overall survival in NHL patients in relation to p27 expression showed significant short overall survival with p27 down regulation. Analysis of event free survival also showed significant short event free survival with p27 down regulation.

In agreement with our results, are the results of **Yasui** *et al.*, ⁽¹⁹⁾, **Erlanson** *et al.*, ⁽²⁵⁾ and **Moller** *et al.*, ⁽²⁶⁾, who reported that reduced expression of p27 had been associated with aggressive tumor growth and predicted poor survival of patients. **Chiarle** *et al.*, ⁽²⁰⁾ reported that total or partial loss of p27 appears to be a consistent feature of mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) and one that differentiates MCL from low-and even high-grade lymphomas, because p27 expression appears to correlate inversely with the cell proliferation index and the overall survival times.

Moreover, Gelen *et al.*, ⁽²³⁾ reported that the presence of recurrence and relapse was more frequent in tumors with low p27. Boudova *et al.*, ⁽³⁾ reported that loss of p27 expression is a negative prognostic factor in the majority of B-Cell lymphomas. Also Paik *et al.*, ⁽²⁷⁾ reported that p27 down regulation has been seated to be indicative of a poor prognosis in malignant lymphoma. Porter *et al.*, ⁽¹⁸⁾ reported that the expression of p27 protein was statistically significantly associated with overall survival and with event-free survival, and lower expression associated with poorer survival.

This work revealed that when p27 down regulation is accompanied with cyclin E overexpression this indicates advancing stage of the disease, delayed response to the treatment, increased possibility of relapse and recurrence and finally increased risk of death as indicated by short overall and event free survival among the patients. Several other authors reported that a high cyclin E level was shown to be a prognostic marker for poor prognosis, particularly when correlated with a low p27 level ^(10, 16, 18, 28, 29)

Conclusion:

P27 and cyclin E expression are important prognostic markers for lymphomas and, when combined with serum LDH levels, distinct prognostic subgroups of NHL patients can be defined. Modulation of p27 and cyclin E expression may be a potential therapeutic strategy to improve clinical outcome in patients with NHL in the future.

Acknowledgements

We thank our patients and healthy subjects for their willing participation in our research. Disclosure statement: The authors declared no conflicts of interest.

Corresponding author

Basma M. Elgamal² NCI, Cairo University, Cairo Egypt basmaelgamal@gmail.com

References:

- Zinzani PL (2005): Lymphoma; Diagnosis, Staging, Natural History, and Treatment Strategies. Semin Oncol; 32(1):S4-S10.
- 2. Fisher SG (2004): The epidemiology of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Oncogene, 23: 6524–34.
- 3. Boundova L, Vanecek T, Sima R, *et al.* (2003): Role of p27 Protein in The Cell Cycle and Its Appearance in Lymphoid Tissues, Particularly Non-Hodgkin's b-Cell Lymphomas. Cesk Pathol.; 39:126-129.
- Sanchez-Beato M, Sanchez-Agilera A and Piris MA (2003): Cell Cycle deregulation in B-Cell Lymphomas. Blood.; 101:1220-1235.
- Cheson BD, Pfistner B, Juweid ME, *et al.* (2007): Revised response criteria for malignant lymphoma. J Clin Oncol.; 25 (5): 579-86.
- Gutkind, SJ (2000): Signaling Networks and Cell Cycle Control: The molecular basis of cancer and other diseases (ed.). Totowa, NJ: Humana Press. pp 557-68.
- Reed SI, (2005): Deregulation of Cyclin E in Cancer. In Reed SI (ed.). The ubiquitin proteosome systems: roles and targets in cancer. AACR educational book. pp 53-56.
- Smith AP, Henze M, Lee JA, et al. (2006): Deregulated cyclin E promotes p53 loss of heterzygosity and tumorigenesis in the mouse mammary gland Onecogene; 25:7245-7259.
- Rosen DG, Yang G, Cai KQ, et al. (2005): Subcellular localization of p27kip1 expression predicts poor prognosis in human ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res.; 11: 632-637.
- Qi C, Xiang S, Shin MS, *et al.* (2006): Expression of the cyclin-dependent Kinase inhibitor p27 and its deregulation in mouse B cell lymphomas. Leukemia Research; 30:153-163.
- 11. Mitelman F, Johansson B, and Mertens F (2007): The impact of translocations and gene fusione on cancer causation. Nat Rev Cancer; 7:233.
- 12. Rademarker J. (2007): Hodgkin's and Non-Hodgkin's Lymphomas0 Radiol Clin N Am.; 45:69-83.
- Keyomarsi K, Tucker SL, Buchholz TA, et al. (2002): Cyclin E and Survival in Patients with Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med.; 347(20):1566-1575.
- Farleya J, Ozbunb L, Samimic G and Birrerb M J (2007): Cell cycle and related protein. Disease Markers; 23: 433–443.
- 15. Xiangming C, Natsugoe S, Takao S, *et al.* (2000): The Cooperative Role of P27 with Cyclin E in the Prognosis of Advanced Gastric Carcinoma. Cancer; 89:1214-1219.
- 16. Ferreri AJ, Ponzoni M, Pruner G, et al. (2001): Immuno reactivity fo p27 and cyclin E is an

independent predictor of survival in primary gastric non Hodgkin's lymphoma. Int J Cancer; 94:599-604.

- 17. Hayashi H, Ogawa N, Ishiwa N, *et al.* (2001): High cyclin E and low p27/Kip1 expressions are potentially poor prognostic factors in lung adenocarcinoma patients. Lung Cancer; 34: 59-65
- Porter PL, Barlow WE, Yeh IT., *et al.* (2006): p27Kip1 and Cyclin E Expression and Breast Cancer Survival After Treatment With Adjuvant Chemotherapy. Journal of the National Cancer Institute; 98(23):1723-1731.
- 19. Yasui W, Kudo, Y, Semba S, *et al.* (1997): Reduced expression of Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor p27kip1 is associated with advanced stage and invasiveness of gastric carcinomas. Jpn J Cancer Res.; 88:625-629.
- Chiarle R, Fan Y, Piva R, *et al.* (2002): S-Phase Kinase-Associated Protein 2 Expression in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Inversely Correlates with p27 Expression and Defines Cells in S phase. Am J Pathol., 160:1457-1466.
- Khoo MC, Freeman JL, Witterick IJ, et al. (2002): Underexpression of p27/Kip in Thyroid Papillary Microcarcinomas with Gross Metastatic Disease. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg., 128:253-257.
- 22. Moreira JG, Colleoni GW, Cangi MG, *et al.* (2003): Reciprocal Cdc25A and p27 Expression In B-Cell Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. Diag Mol Pathol., 12:128-132.
- Gelen T, Elpek GO, Aksoy NH, *et al.* (2003): P27 Labeling Index and Proferation in Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors: Correlations with Clinico-Pathologic Factors and Recurrence. Jpn J Clin Oncol., 33(7):346-352.
- 24. Filipits M, Pohl G, Stranzl T, *et al.* (2003): low p27kip1 expression is an independent adverse prognostic factor in patients with Multiple Myeloma. Clinical Cancer Research, 9: 820-826.
- Erlanson M, Portin C, Linderholm B, *et al.* (1998): Expression of cyclin E and the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27 in malignant lymphomas-Prognostic Implications. Blood, 92; 770-777.
- Moller MB, Skjodt K, Mortensen LS and Pedersen NT (1999): Clinical significance of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27 expression and proliferation in NHL: independent prognostic value of p27. Br J Haematol., 105:730–736.
- 27. Paik JH, Jeon YK, Park SS, *et al.* (2005): Expression and prognostic implications of cell cycle regulatory molecules p16, p21, p27, p14 and p53 in germinal centre and non-germinal centre B-like diffuse large Bcell lymphomas. Histopathology; 47 (3): 281-291.
- 28. Shapiro GI (2006): Cyclin-dependent kinase pathways as targets for cancer treatment. Journal of Clinical Oncology; 24 (11): 1770-1783.
- 29. Grabowski P, Schrader J, Wanger J, et al. (2008): Loss of Nuclear p27 Expression and Its Prognostic Role in Relation to Cyclin E and p53 Mulation in Gastro-entero-pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. Clincal Cancer Res.; 14: 7378.

2012/4/4

Effect of Seasonal Temperature Changes on Thyroid Structure and Hormones Secretion of White Grouper (*Epinephelus Aeneus*) in Suez Gulf, Egypt

Hossam H. Abbas¹, Mohammad M. Authman¹, Mona S. Zaki¹ and Gamal F. Mohamed²

¹ Hydrobiology Department, National Research Centre, Cairo, Egypt
 ² Food Processing Department, National Research Centre, Cairo, Egypt

Abstract: The thyroid is the largest and one of the phylogenetically oldest endocrine glands in vertebrate species. It is the first endocrine structure to become recognizable during an animal's development. Although the thyroid gland is structurally conserved in all vertebrate species, exhibiting a similar follicular structure and function. Seasonal temperature changes on the thyroid gland structure and hormones secretion was examined in white grouper; Epinephelus aeneus in Seuz Gulf, Egypt. 60 male of white grouper; E. aeneus (138.5±6.05 g) were netted from Suez Gulf during a year from July 2008 to June 2009. Water temperature and salinity were ranging from 12 to 34°C and 39 to 40 ppt during cold and warm seasons, respectively. Blood samples were collected from the caudal vein for thyroid hormones analysis. Samples of E. aeneus were dissected to expose the internal organs, histological examination and measuring the cell height of the thyroid epithelium. Thyroid gland composed of follicles scattered around the ventral aorta, near the gills. Follicular cells varied according to secretion of the gland during warm and cold seasons. Thyroid hormones [Triidothyronine (T_3) and Thyroxin (T_4)] were detected in the fish serum in levels ranged from 1.28-4.08 ng/ml for T_3 and 0.22-1.11 ng/ml for (T_4) in the warm and cold seasons, respectively. The results showed that the height of thyroid epithelium and plasma concentration of thyroid hormones (thyroid activity) in Epinephelus aeneus increased significantly during spring and summer. The peak of these factors occurred in midsummer (August). Then, the thyroid activity decreased significantly during autumn and early winter from October to December according to the decreasing of temperature. T₃ and T₄ increased significantly from January to April.

[Hossam H. Abbas, Mohammad M. Authman, Mona S. Zaki and Gamal F. Mohamed. Effect of Seasonal Temperature Changes on Thyroid Structure and Hormones Secretion of White Grouper (*Epinephelus Aeneus*) in Suez Gulf, Egypt. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):700-705]. (ISSN: 1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 105

Key Words: White grouper, Epinephelus aeneus, Thyroid Gland, Triidothyronine, Thyroxin, Histology, Serum.

1. Introduction

The thyroid is the largest and one of the phylogenetically oldest endocrine glands in vertebrate species (**Dickhoff and Darling, 1983**). It is the first endocrine structure to become recognizable during an animal's development. Although the thyroid gland is structurally conserved in all vertebrate species, exhibiting a similar follicular structure and function, there are some gross morphological differences among species, and the responses of this structure to environmental influences are also differ across the phylum (**Rupik, 2011**).

Thyroid hormones (THs) include triiodothyronine (T₃) and thyroxin (T₄); are essential for regulating normal growth, development, differentiation, metabolism, and maintenance of normal physiological functions (e.g., homeostasis) in vertebrates (**Szisch** *et al.*, 2005; Zoeller *et al.*, 2007; Schnitzler *et al.*, 2012). In all vertebrates embryogenesis, organogenesis and growth acutely depend on thyroid hormones (Power *et al.*, 2001).

In fish, thyroid hormones are involved in the control of osmoregulation, metabolism, somatic growth and post-hatching metamorphosis (Power *et al.*, 2001; Yamano, 2005; Schnitzler *et al.*, 2012). Although there is an extensive diversity in teleosts, developmental stages in most of them include larva,

juvenile, and adult, which appear to regulate by THs (Wright and Alves, 2001). As it seems, thyroid hormones (THs) involve in many physiological processes in teleosts. It has been suggested that photoperiod, temperature, and food intake may play species specific role in regulation of seasonal thyroid cycles (Comeau *et al.*, 2000), and these seasonal changes may act to promote growth, migratory activity, and reproductive development (Leatherland, 1994). It has been found that the changes of thyroid gland depend on species or population and are sensitive to food intake and diet composition models (MacKenzie, 1998).

Groupers of the genus *Epinephelus* are widely distributed throughout the tropical and subtropical waters of the world. They are commercially important and highly regarded as a favorite marine food fish. The groupers possess excellent biological characteristics: they are fast-growing and disease resistant (**Yeh** *et al.*, **2003**). As no detailed study has been carried out on the thyroid patterns of *E. aeneus*, in Suez Gulf, Egypt, the present study was conducted on annual changes of the morphometric structure and hormones secretion of thyroid gland, triidothyronine (T_3) and thyroxin (T_4) in *E. aeneus*, in two seasons (cold and warm).

2. Material and Methods

Sampling:

60 male of white grouper; *E. aeneus* (138.5 \pm 6.05 g) were netted from Suez Gulf during a year from July 2008 to June 2009. Water temperature and salinity were ranging from 12 to 34°C and 39 to 40 ppt during cold and warm seasons, respectively.

Blood sampling:

Blood samples were collected from the caudal vein by a syringe with a little saturated solution of sodium citrate to prevent blood coagulation. The blood samples were kept on ice for up to 30 min and then, serum was separated using centrifuge (3000 rpm for 15 minutes) and frozen at -20°C for thyroid hormones analysis.

Thyroid gland histology:

E. aeneus was dissected to expose the internal organs and the jaws were cut at the corners to expose pharyngeal region. All tissues between the gills were fixed in Bouin's fixative for 72 hrs and then stored in 70% ethanol. Tissues were dehydrated using an ethanol series and embedded in paraffin (**Biswas** *et al.*, 2006). Samples were then sectioned at 5-6 μ m and were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for basic histological analyses. The cell height of the thyroid epithelium was measured under an Olympus microscope with a camera Lucida attachment according to Halasz and Martin, 1985 in a total of 15 follicles per fish. Measurements were made at four points within each follicle at 90° from one another and reported as the mean \pm SEM.

Thyroid hormones analysis

Triiodothyronine (T_3) :

The gamma coat [125 I] T₃ Radioimmunoassay kit purchased from DiaSorin, Stillwater, Minnesota, USA was used for the quantitative determination of triiodothyronine (T₃) level in serum as previously described by **Van der Geyten** *et al.* (2001).

Thyroxin (T₄):

The gamma coat $[^{125}$ I] total T_4 Radioimmunoassay kit purchased from DiaSorin, Stillwater, Minnesota, and USA was applied for the determination of total thyroxin (T_4) levels in serum as previously described by **Van der Geyten** *et al.* (2001).

Statistical analysis:

All values of thyroid hormone levels were represented as means±SE. The significant difference between warm and cold season values was analyzed using the t-test (Software Program of Statistical Analysis, **SPSS**, 2008).

3. Results

White grouper (*Epinephelus aeneus*) fish from Suez Gulf, Egypt is shown in figure (1) and inactive thyroid structure is shown in Photomicrograph (1) showing lobules, follicles and interlobular connective tissues of the thyroid gland.

Structure of thyroid tissue:

The obtained results showed that the thyroid gland of *E. aeneus*, such as other teleosts is not capsulated. It was composed of follicles, which scattered throughout the pharyngeal region along with the dorsal surface of ventral aorta and bronchial arteries near the gills. The follicles were round and their walls were consisted of epithelial cells, include follicular cells and a few parafollicular cells, surrounding the central lumen full of colloid fluid. The epithelial cells were cuboidal to squamous during warm and cold seasons, respectively. The mean water temperature of Suez Gulf and the mean epithelial cell height for fishes during a year is shown in Table 1.

The results showed that there is 20% correlation between epithelial cell height and water temperature. Follicular epithelial cells had maximum height in August, then their height significantly decreased to January, after which it slowly increased throughout the winter (P<0.05). Fish thyroid gland was characterized by predominance of macrofollicles rich in colloid material during warm months (especially July to August) (Photomicrograph 1), whereas in cold months (especially October to December) thyroid gland showed some microfollicles with less colloid content and more interstitial connective tissue (Photomicrograph 1). There was a significant increase in ratio of parenchyma to stroma in summer in comparison with winter (P < 0.05).

Seasonal changes of serum triidothyronine (T_3) and thyroxin (T_4) : The results obtained with the RIA method are shown in Table 2. This method confirms that the serum level of T_3 and T_4 increased significantly from January to April, and again from April to June. This level was maintained up in summer and the peak of them in serum occurs during August $(4.08\pm0.33 \text{ and } 1.11\pm0.02 \text{ ng mL}^{-1}$, respectively), then declining significantly during autumn and early winter from October to December (P < 0.05) to reach their lowest level in November (1.28±0.28 and 0.22±0.04 ng mL⁻¹, respectively). Both hormones varied similarly across seasons and there was 99% correlation (at the level of 0.01) between two hormones. The increasing of T₃ and T₄ were correlated with increase of temperature (98 and 82%, respectively) and with the height of thyroid epithelial cell.



Figure 1: Showing the white grouper (Epinephelus aeneus) from Suez Gulf, Egypt



Photomicrograph 1: Inactive thyroid follicle in December (left); Active thyroid follicle in August (right), Parafollicular cells (white arrows) and follicular epithelial height (two head arrows) (H&E 400X)

Table 1: Cha	anges in heights of thyroid epithelial cells (Mean \pm SE) according to the changes of water
	temperature during a year.

	Month	IS										
	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.
Water Temperature (°C)	12	14	19	25	28	31	33	34	32	24	21	15
Epithelial Height	1.75	1.95	2.25	2.50	2.80	3.30	3.62	3.71	3.41	2.51	1.58	1.37
(µm)	±0.7	±0.6	±0.4	±0.5	±0.8	±0.7	±0.6	±0.4	±0.4	±0.5	±0.8	±0.4
-Data are represent	ed as me	$ean \pm SE$		Y=0.	0491x + 2	.8568	$R^2 = 0.0$	0472				

Table 2: Seasonal variations of the thyroid hormone concentrations (ng/ml) during a year in the White Grouper (Mean ± SE).

	Months	5										
	Jan.	Feb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	June	July	Aug.	Sep.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.
Water Temperature (°C)	12	14	19	25	28	31	33	34	32	24	21	15
т	2.57	2.77	2.94	3.38	3.51	3.62	3.96	4.08	3.78	1.44	1.28	1.64
13	±0.23	±0.30	±0.31	±0.21	±0.33	±0.25	±0.21	±0.33	±0.18	±0.19	±0.28	±0.26
т	0.62	0.73	0.79	0.81	0.86	0.87	1.04	1.11	0.96	0.35	0.22	0.37
14	± 0.05	±0.03	±0.06	± 0.02	± 0.08	±0.04	±0.02	±0.02	±0.03	±0.04	±0.04	±0.03

-Data are represented as mean \pm SE Y= -0.0003x + 0.0018 R² = 0.0018

4. Discussion

The synthesis of thyroid hormones (THs) occurs in the thyroid follicle, a single layer of epithelial cells enclosing a colloid-filled space and thyroxin (L-T₄) is the predominant hormone secreted. T₄ has few direct actions and is considered to act principally as a precursor for triiodothyronine (T₃), the biologically active form of the hormone (**Power** *et al.*, **2001**). The conversion of T₄ to T₃ occurs in the peripheral tissue by the enzymatic removal (5-monodeiodination of one of the iodide units of the outer ring of T₄. THs circulate in serum bound to thyroid hormone-binding proteins that include, albumin, transthyretin (TTR) and thyroxin-binding globulin in vertebrates (**Power** *et al.*, **2000**).

The present study showed that, thyroid gland of *E. aeneus* is not compact organ and is found in the subpharyngeal region, such as other teleosts. However, in some species thyroid follicles are found in heart, head kidney and kidney.

According to micrometric data, thyroid follicular cells of *E. aeneus* vary in size in cold and warm seasons. Also in Atlantic stingray, *Dasyatis Sabina*, follicular cells vary in size and shape, according to the activity of the gland (**Volkoff** *et al.*, **1999**). The surrounding epithelial cells are flattened, cuboidal, or columnar, depending on their activity. Tall, columnar epithelial cells with basophilic colloid containing vacuole-like spaces, characteristics of an active thyroid gland, were seen in warm season. In *Solea senegalensis*, thyroid represented colloid-filled follicles surrounded by a cuboidal epithelium during summer, suggesting a high activity state of this organ (**Ortiz-Delgado** *et al.*, **2006**).

Although seasonal cycle of thyroid hormones have been observed in numerous fish species, but the seasonal changes in thyroid hormones in E. aeneus have not been studied. Circulating thyroid hormone concentrations represent just one component of the multilevel control of target tissue metabolism by the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis. In the present study, significant monthly changes were observed in circulating levels of thyroid hormones in E. aeneus during a year. Thyroid hormones are a component of a large complex network of responses to a number of environmental and physiological factors, many of which also influence growth, development, and metabolism (Hadley, 2000). They are involved in the regulation of energy management, functioning primarily to help control basal metabolic rate by regulating lipid metabolism (Hadley, 2000).

Levels of thyroid hormones can be influenced by many factors including age, gender, diet, nutritional status, season and physiological condition (**Rolland**, **2000; Schnitzler** *et al.*, **2012**). Stimuli such as the lunar cycle, rainfall, turbid water, temperature shock, chemicals, water quality, and swimming activity induce an increase in serum thyroid hormones

concentration (Iwata et al., 2003). Swift (1960) suggested that the seasonal changes in thyroidal activity in many teleosts are regulated primarily by water temperature. This relationship of glandular activity and water temperature is interpreted as further evidence that the basic function of the thyroid is concerned in the control of the animal's metabolism, to compensate for changes in the environmental temperature. Thus the release of thyrotropic hormone from the pituitary would seem to be influenced by the environmental temperature. Serum levels of thyroid hormones were sensitive to temperature in starved eels Anguilla anguilla L. (Leloup and De Luze, 1985) and also in trout fed specific diets (Latherland et al., **1980**). In the present study, mean serum T_3 and T_4 showed similar seasonal changes patterns. Both hormones decreased significantly during autumn and early winter from October to December according to decrease of temperatures, feed consumption and somatic growth.

In general, fasting and food restriction decrease both T_3 and T_4 levels in most animals (**Janan** *et al.*, **1995**). Loter *et al.* (2007) also reported minimum thyroid hormones in cold months. T_3 and T_4 increased significantly from January to April, and again from April to July. Thyroid activity increase in the winter corresponds with intermediate temperatures and feed consumption during rapid reproductive development and spawning period of *E. aeneus*.

E. aeneus spawns during late winter and early spring (Abou-Seedo *et al.*, 2003). In normal diploid catfish, *Heteropneustes fossilis*, a general inverse relationship between thyroid hormone levels and advanced reproductive state has been observed (Cyr *et al.*, 1988), which suggested involvement of thyroid hormones in reproductive maturity. Weber *et al.* (1992) found that accumulation of thyroid hormones into oocytes of tilapia, *Oreochromis mossambicus*, was against its concentration gradient, which could be a reason for depletion of thyroid in serum of normal diploid female specimens during the spawning period.

Increase of T₃ and T₄ serum concentrations in spring coincides with increasing ambient temperature but the results of the present study showed that the peak activity occurs during midsummer when temperature increase precipitously from July to September with elevating of feed consumption and somatic growth. These requirements vary seasonally in a poikilothermic animal such as a fish, increasing with the rising temperature of the water in summer and decreasing in winter (Swift, 1955). Loter et al. (2007) reported that increased both T₄ substrate availability (higher serum T₄ levels) and increased temperature would lead to much greater enzyme activity and T₃ production in summer. In summary, the activities of the hepatic thyroid hormones deiodination pathways appear to be regulated to provide a much greater availability of T₃ in summer, when fish are eating and growing most actively, than in winter (Loter *et al.*, 2007). Decreased food consumption during cold season may depress thyroid hormone cycles in many fishes. The seasonal trend is consistent with the hypothesis that thyroid hormone production is activated during periods of increased nutrient assimilation (MacKenzie *et al.*, 1998).

Conclusion

All together, high magnitude seasonal changes of thyroid hormones in *E. aeneus* suggest that this species provides an excellent opportunity to examine the relative contributions of the generation mechanisms of dynamic cycles in circulating thyroid hormone levels. This study was designed to determine basal concentrations of thyroid hormone in *E. aeneus*, utilizing assays which have been validated for this species. The relationships between these hormones and food deprivation, reproductive state, other circulating hormones, immunoglobulins and contaminants can now be identified by further investigations.

Correspondence author name

Hossam H. Abbas

Hydrobiology Department, National Research Centre, Cairo, Egypt

h3abbas@yahoo.com

5. References

- Abou-Seedo, S. F.; S. Dadzie and K.A. Al-Kanaan (2003): Sexuality, sex change and maturation patterns in the yellowfin seabream, *Acanthopagrus latus* (Teleostei: Sparidae). Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 19: 65–73.
- Biswas, A.; S. Kundu; S. Roy; J. De; M. Pramanik and A.K. Ray (2006): Thyroid hormone profile during annual reproductive cycle of diploid and triploid catfish, *Heteropneustes fossilis* (Bloch). General and Comparative Endocrinology, 147: 126–132.
- Comeau, L.A.; S.E. Campana; J.M. Hanson and G.A. Chouinard (2000): Seasonal changes of thyroid hormones in field-collected Atlantic cod in relation to condition indices, water temperature and photoperiod. Journal of Fish Biology, 57: 571–588.
- Cyr, D.G.; N.R. Brommage; J. Duston and J.G. Eales (1988): Seasonal patterns in serum levels of thyroid hormones and sex steroids in relation to photoperiod-induced changes in spawning time in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. General and Comparative Endocrinology, 69: 217–225.
- 5. Dickhoff, W.W. and D.S. Darling (1983): Evolution of thyroid function and its control in lower vertebrates. Am. Zool., 23: 697–707.
- 6. **Hadley, M.E. (2000):** Endocrinology, 5th ed. Prentice-Hall, New Jersey, pp: 312–335.

http://www.lifesciencesite.com

- 7. Halasz, P. and Martin, P. (1985): Megellan: Program for quantitative analysis of histological sections. School of Anatomy, University of New South Wales, Australia.
- Iwata, M.; H. Tsuboi; T. Yamashita; A. Amemiya; H. Yamada and H. Chiba (2003): Function and trigger of thyroxin surge in migrating chum salmon *Oncorhynchus keta* fry. Aquaculture, 222: 315–329.
- Janan, J.; P. Rudas; T. Bartha; S. Bozó and Gy. Gábor (1995): Effect of severe energy restriction and refeeding on thyroid hormones in bulls. Acta Veterinaria Hungarica, 43: 173–177.
- Leatherland, J.F. (1994): Reflections on the thyroidology of fishes: from molecules to humankind. Guelph Ichthyology Reviews, 2: 1– 67.
- Leatherland, J.F.; C.Y. Cho; J.W. Hilton and S.J. Slinger (1980): Further studies on the effect of diet on serum thyroid hormone concentrations and thyroid histology in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri* (Pisces, Salmonidae). Environmental Biology of Fishes, 2: 175–179.
- Leloup, J. and A. De Luze (1985): Environmental effects of temperature and salinity on thyroid function in teleost fishes. In: the Endocrine System and the Environment, Eds., Follett B.K.; S. Ishii and A. Chandola. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, pp: 23–32.
- Loter, T.C.; D.S. MacKenzie; J. McLeese and J.G. Eales (2007): Seasonal changes in channel catfish thyroid hormones reflect increased magnitude of daily thyroid hormone cycles. Aquaculture, 262: 451–460.
- MacKenzie, D.S.; C.L.M. Van Putte and K. Leiner (1998): Nutrient regulation of endocrine function in fish. Aquaculture, 161:3–25.
- Ortiz-Delgado, J.B.; N.M. Ruane; P. Pousão-Ferreira; M.T. Dinis and C. Sarasquete (2006): Thyroid gland development in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis* Kaup 1858) during early life stages: A histochemical and immunohistochemical approach. Aquaculture, 260: 346–356.
- Power, D.M.; L. Llewellyn; M. Faustino; M.A. Nowell; B.Th. Bjornsson; I.E. Einarsdottir; A.V.M. Canario and G.E. Sweeney (2001): Thyroid hormones in growth and development of fish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, C Toxicol. Pharmacol., 130 (4):447-459.
- Power, D.M.; N.P. Elias; S.J. Richardson; J. Mendes; C.M. Soares and C.R.A. Santos (2000): Evolution of the thyroid hormone binding protein, transthyretin. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 119:241–255.
- Rolland, R. (2000): A review of chemicallyinduced alterations in thyroid and vitamin A status from field studies of wildlife and fish. J. Wildl. Dis., 36: 615–635.

- Rupik, W. (2011): Structural and ultrastructural differentiation of the thyroid gland during embryogenesis in the grass snake *Natrix natrix* L. (Lepidosauria, Serpentes). Zoology, 114: 284–297.
- Schnitzler, J.G.; P.H.M. Klaren; J.M. Bouquegneaua and K. Das (2012): Environmental factors affecting thyroid function of wild sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) from European coasts. Chemosphere, 87:1009–1017.
- 21. Software Program of Statistical Analysis (SPSS), (2008): Software Program of Statistical Analysis, Version 17.0 Edition for Windows. SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, US.
- 22. Swift, D.R. (1955): Seasonal variations in the growth rate, thyroid gland activity and food reserves of brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.). Journal of Experimental Biology, 33: 751–764.
- Swift, D.R. (1960): Cyclical activity of the thyroid gland of fish in relation to environmental changes. Symposia of the Zoological Society of London, 2: 17–27.
- Szisch, V.; N. Papandroulakis; E. Fanouraki and M. Pavlidis (2005): Ontogeny of the thyroid hormones and cortisol in the gilthead sea bream, *Sparus aurata*. General and Comparative Endocrinology, 142: 186–192.
- 25. Van der Geyten, S.; A. Toguyeni; J.F. Baroiller; B. Fauconneau; A. Fostier; J.P. Sanders; T.J. Visser; E.R. Kühn and V.M. Darras (2001): Hypothyroidism induces type I iodothyronine deiodinase expression in tilapia liver. General and Comparative Endocrinology, 124: 333–342.

3/23/2012

http://www.lifesciencesite.com

- Volkoff, H.; J.P. Wourms; E. Amesbury and F.F. Snelson (1999): Structure of the thyroid gland, serum thyroid hormones, and the reproductive cycle of the Atlantic stingray, *Dasyatis sabina*. Journal of Experimental Biology, 284(5): 505–516.
- 27. Weber, G.M.; D.K. Okimoto; N.H. Richman III and E.G. Grau (1992): Patterns of thyroxin and triiodothyronine in serum and follicle-bound oocytes of the tilapia, *Oreochromis mossambicus*, during oogenesis. General and Comparative Endocrinology, 85: 392–404.
- Wright, M.L. and C.D. Alves (2001): The decrease in plasma melatonin at metamorphic climax in *Rana catesbeiana* bullfrog tadpoles is induced by thyroxin. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A, 129: 653–663.
- Yamano, K. (2005): The role of thyroid hormone in fish development with reference to aquaculture. JARQ, 39: 161–168.
- Yeh, S.L.; C.M. Kuo; Y.Y. Ting and C.F. Chang (2003): Androgens stimulate sex change in protogynous grouper, *Epinephelus coioides*: spawning performance in sex-changed males. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, 135(C):375–382.
- 31. Zoeller, R.T.; S.T. Tan and R.W. Tyl (2007): General background on the Hypothalamic– Pituitary–Thyroid (HPT) axis. Crit. Rev. Toxicol., 37: 11–53.

Metabolic syndrome and risk of Coronary Artery Disease in west of Iran

Shila Berenjy^{1,2}, Asmah Bt Rahmat³, Zaitun Bt Yassin⁴, Lye Munn Sann⁵, Farzad Sahebjamee⁶, Parichehr Hanachi⁷

- 1. PhD. Candidate, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor D. E., Malaysia
 - 2. Faculty of Food Sciences and Technology, Varamin-Pishva Branch, Islamic Azad University, Varamin, Iran
 - 3. Professor, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor D. E., Malaysia
- 4. Associate Professor, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor D. E., Malaysia
- 5. Professor, Department of Community Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor D. E., Malaysia

6. Associate Professor Department of cardiology, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences Kermanshah, Iran

7. Associate Professor Biochemistry unit, Biology Department, Faculty of Science Alzahra University, Tehran-Iran shila135071@yahoo.com

Abstract: A major concern about MS (Metabolic Syndrome) and CAD (Coronary Artery Disease) is that patients with these defects are at higher risks of mortality and morbidity due to a combination of MS risk factors. The purpose of study was to examine the differences between CAD and non-CAD patients regarding their MS components and selected lifestyle behaviors (i.e., dietary intake, physical activity patterns, and smoking habits) and there was an attempt to determine whether MS was an independent risk factor for CAD among the patients. The study used case-control methodology for collection and analysis of the data. 600 participants recruited for study. CLR was applied to quantify the odds Ratio (OR) of CAD associated with MS and its components and other life style risk factors of CAD. MS increased the risk of CAD 4.19 times significantly (OR=4.19, 95%CI=2.603-6.47, P= 0.0001). Multivariate analysis showed that MS conveyed no additional predictive information beyond its components (odds Ratio=0.81, p=0.6). The focus of physicians should be treatment of individual CAD risk factors, using the metabolic syndrome will not improve prediction of CAD as compared with detailed information on individual CAD risk factors.

[Shila Berenjy, Asmah Bt Rahmat, Zaitun Bt Yassin, Lye Munn Sann, Farzad Sahebjamee, Parichehr Hanachi. **Metabolic syndrome and risk of Coronary Artery Disease in west of Iran**. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):706-717] (ISSN: 1097 – 8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 106

Keywords: Metabolic syndrome; Coronary artery disease; Risk factor; Iran

1. Introduction

Metabolic Syndrome (MS) also known as syndrome X, is comprised of hypertension, glucose intolerance, high triglycerides, and decreased level of high density lipoproteins (HDL). These defects in the body are considered as risk factors of cardiovascular diseases (Reaven, 1988). MS is also at time referred to as the Deadly Quartet, the Dysmetabolic Syndrome, and Insulin Resistance Syndrome. The above mentioned MS risk factors are considered as the main causes of development and progression of atherosclerosis, which eventually results in a higher risk for coronary artery diseases. MS components have also been associated with a higher risk for diabetes type 2. Generally, there is no single cause for MS; however, abdominal obesity and insulin resistance are the most important risk factors for this disease. Other underlying risk factors that can increase the risk of MS include physical inactivity, aging, hormonal imbalance, and race (Grundy, 2005). Previous research has shown that the MS confers an

approximately twofold increase in relative risk for coronary vascular events. This implies that MS brings a relatively high risk for both CVD and diabetes (Stern et al., 1995). For the sake of brevity and clarity, I have classified the previous studies on MS into five categories. The first group of studies have highlighted the wide range of MS prevalence globally (e.g., Ford, 2002) and regionally including the latest statistics of the disease in Iran by Azizi (2004) and Ghayour-Mobarhan (2007). A second group of studies have emphasized the independent CAD prediction role for MS (e.g., Hunt, 2004; Lakka, 2002; Sadeghi, 2006; Chen, 2008). A third group of studies on MS show the biomolecular basis of MS components and their atherogenicity (Villena, 2004; Ginsberg, 2006; Szapary, 2004). The effect of dietary factors, as well as physical factors on the risk of MS have been emphasized by these studies (see Clark SD, 2000; Maki, 2004; Haffner, 2007). A fourth stream of studies (e.g., Laaksonen, 2002; Lee, 2005) has included life style factors (e.g., physical

activity, smoking habit, etc.) as influential on the risk of being involved in MS. Finally, the fifth category of studies (e.g., Ford, 2005; Ghayour, 2007; Azizi, 2004; Sadeghi, 2006) has suggested the need to explore the problem in different populations as a multivariable model.

The results of these studies have shown that patients with MS have a higher risk of developing CVD mortality & morbidity (Isoma et al. 2001, Chen et al., 2008). The main reason for this association is that a combination of risk factors concomitant with MS interacts synergistically with several other factors thereby causing or accelerating the progression of atherosclerosis (Isoma et al., 2002). It has been found that individuals with one or two of the MS components are at a two-fold greater risk of CAD and CAD mortality (Gorter, 2004; MacNeill et al., 2004). Similar studies have shown that the coronary artery disease is the leading cause of death in general population in Iran (Azizi et al., 2004) Although a strong link between MS and coronary artery disease (CAD) has not been well documented (Petra et al., 2004); studies investigating MS (Maki et al., 2004; Lee et al., 2005; Niaura et al., 2000; Raikkonen et al., 2002) have shown that MS can be influenced by biological, behavioral, and social factors which have already been identified as factors affecting the development of CAD. Likewise, The results of a few studies conducted on prevalence of MS and its risk factors in general population in Iran (Zabetian et al., 2007; Azizi et al., 2003) have suggested that MS factors can trigger CAD development although there is little knowledge determination of risk factors of MS in high risk patents in Iran.

Azizi et al., (2003) and Zabetian et al. (2007) note that over the past years general population in Iran have experienced rapid life style changes with drastic reductions in physical activity and increase in consumption of processed food, resulting in an epidemic of obesity and diabetes. The results of these studies indicate that lifestyle changes and dietary habits that carry the risk of MS, can also lead to aggravation of CAD patients' condition; however, research on life style screening for MS risk factors in CAD patients in the setting of this study-Iran has been scarce. Review of the literature on metabolic syndrome demonstrates that MS is a prevalent syndrome both throughout the world and in Iran (Azizi et al., 2004). As discussed earlier in this chapter, the noteworthiness of the epidemiologic studies on MS in Iran is that the prevalence of this syndrome is considerably higher in this region than the world rate. As a result of the combined effect of risk factors of MS, we know that the prevalence of MS is increasing parallel to the trend in overweight and obesity (Azizi et al., 2004). Generally, the

prevalence of MS increases with age and its prevalence are considerably different among races and ethnic groups, which supports the probable impact of genetic predisposition. Based on the reviewed literature, it becomes evident that the genetic factors as well as the social, environmental, psychological, and behavioral variable are linked to this clinical syndrome to some extent although the direct association of these factors with CAD is still in need of further research. Previous studies (Azizi et al., 2004; Zabetian et al., 2007) have recommended a strong need for more studies to explain the interrelation between MS components and their association with CAD.

Numerous studies have focused on MS in CAD patients. Most of these studies consider MS as an independent predictor of CAD. Lakka (2002) states that individuals with metabolic syndrome are at increased risk for CAD. Similarly, Kragelund et al., (2007) showed that patients with positive exercise electrocardiogram or myocardial radionuclide imaging can suggest ischemia. They also concluded that the metabolic syndrome in women with stable coronary heart disease provides considerable prognostic information on all-cause mortality; however they did not find the same results in men. It is noticeable that this association was independent of diabetes. The invasive measurements of severity of coronary artery disease and left ventricular function, made this study unique in comparison with previous studies of metabolic syndrome and prognosis. In Iran, Zabetian and colleagues (2007) extended the previous knowledge about the value of MS as a risk factor in the general population to patients with stable coronary disease by emphasizing the prognostic significance of MS in women.

Chen and colleagues (2008) investigating the relationship between MS and CAD in elderly concluded that the CAD-MS patients showed a higher prevalence of multivessel disease, unstable lesions and needed more revascularization procedures than the simple CAD patients. Their study also determined that the prevalence of CAD and the number of blocked coronary vessels were directly correlated with MS their findings suggested that MS as a predictor of the prevalence and extent of future CAD in the elderly. Iribarren (2006) examining the association between the metabolic syndrome (MS) and early-onset coronary artery disease (CAD) concluded that the presence of ATP-III MS without diabetes and with diabetes was a strong independent determinant of early-onset CAD, but neither definition of MS remained significantly associated with early-onset CAD in multivariate models adjusting for individual components. Thus, Iribarren (2006) concluded that the MS is a risk factor of earlyonset clinical CAD, but the prognostic information associated with the syndrome was not greater than the sum of its parts. Numerous studies by other investigators have reached similar conclusions. For example, blood pressure, HDL cholesterol, and diabetes, but not presence of MS, were significant multivariate predictors of prevalent CAD in an analysis of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (Alexander et al., 2003). In the Caerphilly and Speedwell population studies, the excess of ischemic heart disease risk associated with MS was no greater than that can be explained by individual effects of the defining variables in a multiple logistic model (Yarnell et al., 1998).

2. Material and Methods

The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP)-Adult Treatment Panel (ATP) has introduced one of the most widely accepted diagnostic criteria for the diagnosis of MS. This criteria works on some measurements including waist circumference, serum triglyceride (TG), HDL-C, Blood pressure (BP), and fasting blood sugar (FBS). Recently, as illustrated below the American Heart Association/National Heart Lung & Blood Institute (AHA/NHLBI) has made some minor modifications on the NECP criteria which is currently used in research focusing on MS and its association with Coronary Artery Diseases (CAD) (Grundy, 2005).

1. Waist circumference > 88 cm in women and >102 in men

2. Fasting triglycerides $\geq 150 \text{ mg/dL}$ or medication for treatment

3. HDL cholesterol < 50 mg/dL in men and <40 in women or medication for treatment

4. Hypertension (systolic blood pressure \geq 130 mm Hg, diastolic blood pressure \geq 85 mm Hg or medication for treatment

5. Fasting glucose $\geq 100 \text{ mg/dL}$ or medication for treatment

The elective coronary angiography was performed using Judkin's approach which has been used by several studies (e.g., Chen, et al., 2007; Jongyoun et al., 2010; Ertek et al., 2010). CAD was defined as > 50% luminal diameter stenosis of at least one major epicardial coronary artery.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 17 and STATA11. Descriptive statistics such as frequencies, percentages, means, ranges and standard deviations were used to describe the data. The Coronary artery disease was considered as the dependent variable, while all other variables were analyzed as independent variables. After checking for normality, for normally distributed continuous variables Paired Samples t-test was used to determine the differences between the case and control groups. For non-normally distributed continuous variables, the Wilcoxton matched pairs signed rank test was used. McNemar's test (sometimes called McNemar's test of symmetry or McNemar symmetry chi-square) was used to determine the association between categorical variables with the CAD, p < 0.05 was used as level of significance. Conditional logistic regression was then applied to quantify the relative odds of CAD associated with MS and its components and other life style risk factors of CAD (The Mantel-Haenszel test could be assessed in the normal stratified analysis method but with the many strata, stratification produces sparse data the CLR algorithm is designed to handle sparse data). Conditional logistic regression (CLR) was used to decide whether MS is a risk factor of CAD independently and quantify the association between CAD and its risk factors via multivariate modeling .seven sequential models were fitted: first a model with no adjustment for covariates (gender and age are adjusted for by design); second a model adjusting for covariates external to MS including smoking and body mass index. In model 3, to ascertain the prognostic importance of the MS above and beyond its components, we then added each of the 5 individual components categorically defined (i.e., all components included in the same model) with CAD. In model 4, we added smoking and BMI to model 3. In model 5,6 and 7, we used (step wised automatically technique), so all the variables added in model if they have related to CAD with p-value < 0.2, one time without and other time with BMI.

3. Results

Patients suffering from metabolic syndrome (cases) were identified and compared with the controls. As shown in table 1, abdominal obesity is prevalent in 59.9% (178) of the cases and 46.5%) (138of controls have. High blood pressure was seen among 90.6% (269) of the cases and 79.1 % (234) of controls. High fasting blood glucose or using medication for that were in Sixty five percent (193) of the cases and 45.4% (134) of the controls had high fasting blood glucose or were using medications for that. High triglycerides were observed in the medical profile of 240(80.8%) of the cases and 193(65.6%) of the controls. Low HDL-cholesterol were seen in 236(80.0%) of the cases and 179(60.5%) of the controls. None of the cases showed zero components while only 6(2.0%) of the controls were found with this characteristic. A total of 258(87.5%) of the cases and 190(64.6%) of the controls were found to have metabolic syndrome disease. Seven (2.4%) of cases and 32(10.9%) of the controls had one component of MS. Thirty (10.2%) of the cases and 66(22.4%) of the controls had two MS components. Seventy-one (24.1%) of the cases and 79 (26.9%) of the controls had three components of MS. There were four MS

components in 107(36.3%) of the cases and 83(28.2%) of the controls. There were five MS

components in 80(27.1%) of the cases and 28(9.5%) of the controls.

 Table 1. Distribution of cases and controls according to Biochemical Data (N=594)

Biochemical analysis	C	ase	Cor	ntrol
	n	%	n	%
Total Cholesterol:				
Desirable (<200 mg/dL)	218	73.4	242	81.5
Borderline High (200-239)	50	16.8	43	14.5
High (≥240)	29	9.8	12	4.0
Triglyceride Serum level:				
Normal (<150 mg/dL)	75	25.3	126	42.4
Borderline High (150-199 mg/dL)	105	35.4	95	32.0
High (200-499)	115	38.7	76	25.6
Very high ≥ 500	2	7	0	0
HDL cholesterol:				
Low(<40MG/dL in men,<50 women)	210	70.7	159	53.5
Between low and high	74	24.9	115	38.7
High(>60 mg/dL)	13	4.4	23	7.7
FBS:				
High(≥100)	185	58.7	130	41.3

3.1 MS Components and CAD Risk

Odds ratios of MS components related to CAD are shown in Table 2.

3.1.1 Waist circumference

There were significant positive association between increased waist circumference (OR=2.48, 95% CI = 1.56-4.03, P=0.00) and risk of CAD.

3.1.2 Triglycerides and Drug Use

Increased TG (or using medication for that) increased the risk of CAD significantly (OR=2.41, 95% CI = 1.57-3.80, P=0.00).

3.1.3 Blood pressure and Drug Use

Increased BP level or using medication for that (OR=2.47, 95% CI=1.50-4.21, P=0.00) increased the risk of CAD significantly.

3.1.4 HDL cholesterol and Drug Use

Decreased HDL-cholesterol or using medication for that increase the risk of CAD significantly (OR=2.70, 95% CI =1.80-4.13, P=0.00).

3.1.5 Fasting blood sugar and Drug Use

Increased FBS level or using medication for that (OR=2.23, 95% CI =1.56-3.22, P=0.00) increased the risk of CAD significantly.

3.2 Number of MS Components

It was also found out that patients with 3, 4, or 5 components of MS increased the risk of CAD significantly with odd ratios of (OR=2.68, 95% CI =1.56-4.61, P=0.00), OR=4.47, 95% CI =2.58-7.74, P=0.00), and (OR=13.08, 95% CI =6.37-26.83, P=0.00), respectively. Finally, MS with ATPIII criteria increased the risk of CAD 4.19 times significantly (OR=4.19, 95%CI=2.603-6.47, P=0.0001).

3.3 MS as an Independent Risk Factor for CAD

Another research question asked if MS was an independent risk factor for CAD among the patients. Test of Independency of Metabolic Syndrome as CAD risk factor was conducted through multivariate modeling, the results of which are presented in the following sections. Conditional logistic regression was conducted to quantify the risk of CAD associated with metabolic syndrome after adjusting for other potential risk factors that were assessed in this study.

Seven sequential models were developed: In the first model, with no adjustment for covariates (age and gender adjusted for by design), before adjusting for external risk factors, the presence of the MS by ATP-III (2005) conferred an almost 4-fold increase in the risk of CAD (odds ratio=4.19, p=0.00).

In model 2, adjustments were made for the two main covariates external to MS which included smoking and body mass index. After adjusting for these external risk factors, the presence of MS by ATP-III conferred an almost 3.5-fold increase in the odds of CAD (odds ratio=3.52, p=0.00).

In model 3, to ascertain the prognostic importance of the MS above and beyond its components, each of the 5 individual components were added with CAD. Multivariate analysis showed that MS conveyed no additional predictive information beyond its components (odds Ratio=0.81, p=0.6).

Association between	I Daily Caloff	e and mudiens	make and C	Joi onal y I	Artery Disease
Cal and nutrients	percentile	Odds Ratio	95%CI	Р	Prob>Chi2
Energy(kcal)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.74	0.46-1.21	0.23	
	50-75	0.69	0.43-1.13	0.14	0.460
	>75	0.74	0.46-4.18	0.20	
Protein (g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.92	0.58-1.46	0.74	
	50-75	0.73	0.45-1.16	0.18	0.190
	> 75	1.19	0.77-1.83	0.42	
Carbohydrate(g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.41	0.25-0.69	0.000**	
	50-75	0.68	0.42-1.11	0.01*	0.006
	> 75	0.55	0.33-0.89	0.01*	
Fat(g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.79	0.50-1.24	0.31	
	50-75	0.69	0.43-1.11	0.12	0.330
	> 75	0.67	0.42-1.06	0.09	
Cholesterol(mg)	<25	1.00			T
× U/	25-50	1.07	0.68-1.69	0.75	
	50-75	1.16	0.73-1.85	0.52	0.781
	> 75	0.92	0.59-1.42	0.71	
SFA(g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.90	0.56-1.44	0.67	
	50-75	1.06	0.66-1.69	0.79	0.909
	> 75	0.92	0.58-1.46	0.74	
MUFA(g)	<25	1.00			
- (8)	25-50	1.07	0.68-1.70	0.75	
	50-75	0.84	0.53-1.32	0.46	0.674
	> 75	0.89	0.56-1.42	0.63	
PUFA(g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	1.24	0.78-1.98	0.35	
	50-75	0.72	0.45-1.13	0.16	0.025
	> 75	0.65	0.41-1.04	0.07	
Fiber(g)	<25	1.00			
(8)	25-50	0.96	0.60-1.52	0.86	
	50-75	0.66	0.41-1.05	0.08	0.288
	> 75	0.82	0 53-1 26	0.38	0.200
Na(mg)	<25	1.00	0.00 1120	0.00	
1(u(iiig)	25-50	0.75	0 48-1 18	0.22	
	50-75	0.92	0.56-1.51	0.75	0.230
	> 75	1.21	0.75-1.94	0.02*	0.230
K(mg)	<25	1.21	0.75 1.91	0.02	
(25-50	0.95	0 60-1 49	0.83	
	50-75	0.81	0.51-1.77	0.36	0.820
	> 75	0.93	0 59-1 47	0.77	0.020
Iron(mg)	<25	1.00	5.57-1.7/	0.77	
non(mg)	25-50	0.65	0.41-1.04	0.07	
	50-75	0.64	0.41 - 1.04 0.30 1.04	0.07	0.220
	> 75	0.04	0.39 - 1.04 0.52 - 1.32	0.07	0.220
Zn(mg)	<25	1.00	0.52-1.55	0.43	+
zn(ing)	25-50	1.00	0.70-1.02	0.94	+
	23-30	0.76	0.79-1.92	0.94	0.050
	> 75	1.42	0.47-1.22	0.03	0.030
	- 1.2	1.44	1 0.71-4.44	1 0.00	1

 Table 2. Association between Daily Calorie and Nutriens Intake and Coronary Artery Disease (N=594)

Vit E(µg)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.98	0.62-1.54	0.94	
	50-75	1.11	0.71-1.73	0.63	0.860
	> 75	0.91	0.59-1.41	0.68	
Vit A(µg)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.89	0.56-1.43	0.65	
	50-75	1.08	0.69-1.69	0.72	0.838
	> 75	0.9	0.57-1.41	0.65	
Vit C(mg)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	1.12	0.71-1.78	0.60	
	50-75	1.12	0.70-1.78	0.61	0.907
	> 75	0.99	0.62-1.56	0.97	
Oleic Acid(g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	0.83	0.51-1.35	0.46	
	50-75	0.75	0.45-1.23	0.26	0.630
	> 75	0.76	0.48-1.21	0.25	
Linoleic Acid(g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	1.17	0.74-1.85	0.98	
	50-75	0.70	0.44-1.11	0.13	0.069
	> 75	0.68	0.43-1.08	0.10	
Linolenic Acid(g)	<25	1.00			
	25-50	1.35	0.84-2.17	0.26	
	50-75	1.09	0.69-1.72	0.70	0.497
	> 75	0.97	0.61-1.54	0.90	

*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). **Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

In model 4, smoking and BMI were added to model three. MS odds ratio still remained with no additional predictive information (odds ratio=0.68, p=0.3).

In model 5 and 6, step wise automatically was used, and all the variables with significant (p-value <0.2) associations with CAD were added to the model once with and once without considering BMI. In both models (with and without BMI), the presence of MS by ATP-III conferred an almost 3.5 till 3.7-fold increase in the odds of CAD (with BMI odds ratio=3.52, p=0.00, and without BMI odds ratio=3.76, p=0.00).

In model 7, to ascertain the prognostic importance of the MS above and beyond its components, each of the 5 individual components were added to the last model with stepwise variables. Multivariate analysis showed that MS conveyed no additional predictive information beyond its components (Odds Ratio=0.53, p=0.3).

In addition to the previous models, hierarchical Conditional (fixed-effects) logistic regression models were also add to these models. In these two hierarchical models (see Hierarchy 1 & 2, next pages), all the variables with significant (p-value <0.2) associations with CAD were added to previous models. Additionally, in the second model, to ascertain the prognostic importance of the MS above and beyond its components, each of the five individual components were added to the first model. The analysis showed that in first model the presence of MS by ATP-III conferred an almost 3.67 -fold increase in the odds of CAD, p=0.00. Multivariate analysis showed that MS conveyed no additional predictive information beyond its components (odds Ratio=0.33, p=0.1) in second model.

4. Discussions

4.1 MS in CAD Patients

Based on the ATP III (revised by the AHA/NHLBI, 2005) guidelines, abdominal obesity was prevalent in 59.9% (178) of the cases and 46.5% (138) of the controls. High triglycerides were observed in the medical profile of 240(80.8%) of the cases and 193(65.6%) of the controls. Low HDL-cholesterol were seen in 236(80.0%) of the cases and 179(60.5%) of the controls. High blood pressure was evident among 90.6% (269) of the cases and 79.1% (234) of the controls. High fasting blood glucose or using medication for that was observed in 65% (193)of the cases and 45.4%(134) of the controls had high fasting blood glucose or were using medications for that (as shown in Table 3).

Metabolic Syndrome	Case(n=297)	Contro	l(n=297)
	n	%	n	%
Abdominal obesity**	178	59.9	138	46.5
Blood pressure ≥130/85 mmHg or using drugs	269	90.6	234	79.1
Fasting blood glucose ≥100 mg/dl or using drugs	193	65.0	134	45.4
Triglycerides ≥150 mg/dl or using drugs	240	80.8	193	65.6
Low HDL-cholesterol <50 mg/dl in women,<40 mg/dl in men or using drugs	236	80.0	179	60.5
Zero component	0.0	0.0	6	2.0
One component	7	2.4	32	10.9
Two components	30	10.2	66	22.4
Three components	71	24.1	79	26.9
Four components	107	36.3	83	28.2
Five components	80	27.1	28	9.5
Defined metabolic syndrome	258	87.5	190	64.6

 Table 3. Metabolic Syndrome Data (ATPIII, AHA/NHLBI* 2005, N=594)

*NCEP/ATP The National Cholesterol Education Program-Adult Treatment Panel modified by AHA/NHLBI

American Heart Association/National Heart Lung & Blood Institute .

** Abdominal obesity: waist circumference >88 cm for women,>102cm for men

The reasons for the occurrence of these abnormalities and the possible causes for their creation have been discussed in the preceding sections. Among the cases no one was found with zero components while only 6(2.0%) of the controls were found to be characterized as zero-component. Overall, a total of 258(87.5%) of the cases and 190(64.6%) of the controls were found to have metabolic syndrome disease. participants with one component comprised 7 (2.4%) of the cases and 32(10.9%) of the controls. Thirty (10.2%) of the cases and 66 (22.4%) of the controls had two MS components. Seventy-one (24.1%) of the cases and 79 (26.9%) of the controls had three components of MS Four-component participants comprised 107(36.3%) of the cases and 83(28.2%) of the controls. Finally, 80(27.1%) of the cases and 28(9.5%) of the controls were identified as having five MS components.

The analysis showed that the highest number among both cases and controls were involved with all five components of MS and fewer patients were identified suffering from a single component. Thus, it might be wise to conclude that MS components are less often developed independently of each other. In other words. MS victims are more likely to be interacted with more than one of its components. These results might also be indicative of a close interaction between different components of MS and their possible synergistic effects on the target patients. Such an understanding of the behavior of MS components among susceptible CAD patients can provide insights into the study of MS and CAD as clinical entities in general and shed light on timely diagnosis and treatment of coronary artery diseases. in particular.

4.2 Individual MS Components and CAD Risk

One of the most widely accepted diagnostic criteria for the diagnosis of MS has been introduced by the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) also called Adult Treatment Panel (ATP), which works on some measurements including waist circumference, serum triglyceride (TG), HDL-C, Blood Pressure (BP), and Fasting Blood Sugar (FBS). Recently some minor modifications have later been made to the NECP criteria by the American Heart Association/National Heart Lung & Blood Institute (AHA/NHLBI), on which is currently used in research focusing on MS and its association with Coronary Artery Diseases (CAD) (Grundy, 2005). The ATP III criteria for the metabolic syndrome have been widely used in both clinical practice and epidemiological studies. An advantage of these diagnostic criteria is that it avoids emphasis on a single cause. The AHA and NHLBI affirm the overall utility and validity of the ATP III criteria and suggest that they continue to be used with minor modifications and clarifications. These modifications and clarifications include allowing for adjustment of waist circumference to lower thresholds when individuals or ethnic groups are prone to insulin resistance; allowing triglycerides, HDL-C levels, and blood pressure to be counted as abnormal when a person is taking drug treatment for these factors; clarifying that the definition of elevated blood pressure is a level that exceeds the threshold for either systolic or diastolic pressure; and reducing the threshold for counting elevated fasting glucose from 110 mg/dL to 100 mg/dL, in accordance with the American Diabetes Association's (ADA's) revised definition of impaired fasting glucose (IFG).

The results of applying these criteria in measurement of MS components this study revealed that the prevalence of these components among the cases were: BP (90.6%), TG (80.8%), HDL-C (80.0%), FBS (65%) and WC (59.9 %) while the frequency of observed MS components in controls were: BP (79.1%), TG (65.6%), HDL-C (60.5%), WC (46.5%), and FBS (45.4%). These results indicate that BP is the most prevalent MS component among the patients followed by TG and HDL-C; however, BP is more prominent among the cases than the controls. This can be due to the fact that there are several factors that may be the cause for high BP among the participants. The participants' low socioeconomic status, lack of knowledge about healthy diet, low levels of literacy and education, and large numbers kids in the family can give rise to unhealthy diet and obesity among the participants. Since hypertension is a major risk factor for CAD, its control in the community should be integrated into a comprehensive preventive program for CAD control. Therefore, screening for high blood pressure, in addition to patients' adherence to the medical management of controlling blood pressure can also is effective in reducing the incidence of the development of CAD.

More specifically, the results of examining the association of PB to CAD showed that increased BP level or using medication for that (OR=2.47, 95%CI =1.50-4.21, P=0.00) increased the risk of CAD significantly. Based on ATPIII criteria, 65.75% (195) of cases and 54.2 % (161) of controls had high Systolic BP, while 42% (125) of the cases and 16% (48) the controls had high Diastolic BP. Increased systolic (OR=1.78, 95%; CI=1.26-2.51; P=0.00) and diastolic blood pressure (OR=3.5, 95% CI=2.22-5.50, P=0.00) increased the risk of CAD significantly.

The data also showed that having history of using drugs for blood pressure significantly increases the risk of CAD. Although patients who used to take medication for lowering PB had normal BP at the time of blood collection, indeed they used to have elevated BP based on their medical profile. The odds ratio (OR=1.93) and 95% CI (1.34-2.77) for the use of blood pressure drugs in association with their risk of CAD development were both statistically significant (P=0.001).

Additionally, the effects of having high triglycerides (TG) or using medication for that on the risk of CAD observed through the medical profile of the patients indicated that increased TG or using medication for that increased the risk of CAD significantly (OR=2.41, 95% CI =1.57-3.80, P=0.00). It is worth noting that 35% of cases and 22% of

controls used lipid lowering medications that decreased TG. The highest risk of CAD was recorded for high and very high categories (OR=2.85, 95% CI =1.82-4.47, P=0.0001) of TG suggesting that the higher the level of TG in patients, the greater the risk of CAD. Similarly, history of using blood lipid drugs that increase HDL as well as previous history of using blood lipid drugs that decrease TG put the patients at significantly greater risk of CAD both (OR=1.80, 95% CI=1.25-2.58, P=0.001). The findings are also supported by the studies by Washio et al. (2001) and Fava et al. (2008) who indicated that elevated fasting triglycerides level is a risk factor for CAD and CVD, and it works independently from other risk factors. Therefore, from a public health perspective it is not enough to focus only on serum triglyceride levels to decrease the burden of CAD in any population. It appears that reduction and /or modification in serum lipids and lipoproteins all together in addition to other risk factors could beneficial.

Low HDL-cholesterol or using medication for that were seen in 236(80.0%) of the cases and 179 (60.5%) of the controls. Lower HDL cholesterol concentrations were 70.7% and 4.4% and higher HDL cholesterol levels were 53.5% and 7.7% in cases and controls, respectively. It was found that decreased HDL-cholesterol or using medication for that increases the risk of CAD significantly (OR=2.70, 95% CI =1.80-4.13, P=0.00). More specifically, the results showed that decreased HDL-C approximately doubled the risk of CAD.

High fasting blood glucose or using medication for that were observed in 65%(193) of the cases and 45.4%(134) of the controls. The results indicated that increased FBS level (more than 100 mg/dL) or using medication for that (OR=2.23, 95% CI =1.56-3.22, P=0.00) increased the risk of CAD significantly. High FBS levels were 185(58,7%) and 130(41.3%) in the cases and controls, respectively (See Table 4). The odds ratio and 95% CI for the use of blood sugar drugs in association with their risk of CAD development were OR=5, 95% CI =2.69-9.29, P=0.001 respectively. Increased FBS is caused due to several factors including obesity. In this study the relatively high prevalence of high FBS may be due the impact of increased sedentary lifestyle and high prevalence of obesity. Based on the fact that the cause of CAD is multifactorial, diabetes mellitus is just one of the contributors. Therefore, there is a need to promote health awareness among the population with an emphasis on controlling and carrying out periodic check up of blood sugar.

Biochemicals		Case			Control		z or t	Р
	Mean	95% CI	SD	Mean	95% CI	SD		
Total cholesterol mg/dl	178.48	3 173.54-183.41	42.67	163.92	159.05-168.80	42.67	t= -4.20	0.000**
Triglyceride mg/dl	195.09	0 186.31-203.88	76.93	169.16	160.63-177.68	74.66	Z= -4.94	0.000**
HDL mg/dl	39.71	38.25-40.89	10.40	44.10	42.92-45.29	10.35	Z=-5.09	0.000**
FBS mg/dl	124.32	2 118.67-129.45	46.80	106.28	100.98-111.59	46.46	t= -4.76	0.000**

|--|

*Difference is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).**Difference is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

In sum, a brief look at the mean values of the five MS components (i.e., BMI, fasting glucose, HDL cholesterol, TG, and BP discussed above) shows diversified values of each component among the patients. This diversity seems a common trend on similar research results. For instance, in Mottillo et al.'s (2010) study in Canada, the 5 components of the metabolic syndrome in different studies related to MS and CAD were reported as: 1) BMI ranged from 22 to 33 kg/m2; 2) fasting glucose ranged from 82 to 196 mg/dl; 3) HDL cholesterol ranged from 37 to 64 mg/dl; 4) triglycerides ranged from 88 to 199 mg/dl; and 5) systolic blood pressure ranged from 117 to 174 mm Hg. In the same vein, Chen et al (2008) in a comparison of the prevalence of MS symptoms in CAD and non-CAD groups (by using NCEP ATP III, 2002 criteria) showed that in CAD group the value of BMI, prevalence of hypertension and hyperglycemia were higher than those of non- CAD group (p < 0.05, p < 0.05 and p < 0.01, respectively) whereas TG and HDL-C did not differ significantly between the two groups. Similar results were achieved by Irribaren et al. (2006) in a case control study comparing CAD and non-CAD patients regarding their MS components. The study, which used the AHA/NHLBI criteria, showed that hypertension followed by low HDL cholesterol and large waist circumference were the most common components among case subjects; low HDL cholesterol and hypertension were also the most common components among control subjects.

The study used two criteria to assess the values of each component. It was found that while 31% of case subjects and 8% of control subjects had high FBS by ATP-III criteria, 49% and 15%, respectively, did by AHA/NHLBI criteria. The case/control prevalence ratio was highest for ATP-III fasting glucose (3.9) and lowest for high triglycerides (Irribaren et al. (2006). The study further discusses that that the components of MS that were more strongly associated with early-onset CAD were hypertension, low HDL cholesterol, and increased FBS. Notably, FBS defined by the lower AHA/NHLBI threshold was more strongly associated with the outcome than FBS defined by the ATP-III criteria (100 and 110 mg/dl respectively). It was concluded that waist circumference and triglycerides were not independently related to early-onset CAD (Irribaren et al, 2006).

Consistent with these studies, in Chen et al.'s (2008) study, of all the aged CAD-patients with MS, obesity, hypertension, hyperglycemia, disorder of TG and hyperfibrinogenemia were more common than the CAD- patients without MS. Obesity, especially abdominal obesity, was found to be the initiating factor of IR (Insulin Resistance), and the hyperglycemic patients corresponding to IR, could had atherosclerosis much more easily. This could be due to the accumulation of fat in the pancreas which causes the dysfunction of b cells and IR accelerates the apoptosis of b cells. The authors concluded that both these procedures evoke the inflammation and thereafter atherosclerosis through the change of the endothelium. Chen et al. (2008) further maintained that because of the smaller stature of Chinese population comparing with the Western people, BMI rather than waist nor was hip circumference chosen as the threshold level for obesity. Moreover, they found that although MS patients only had low to medium grade hypertension, it developed heart disease as in a target organ, while it was known as the main factor to cause CAD. The disorder of serum lipids increases the risk of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in MS patients. The hyperglycemic patients showed an increased level of TG and TG-rich remnant-like particles, considered to be the mainly dangerous factors of CAD as contended by Akayanagi et al. (2004). The study also reports that LDL-C is easier to be oxidized and deposited in the vessel wall, and is difficult to be diminished by the classic metabolic ways, which gives rise to easier development of the atherosclerosis. Research also shows that decreased

714

HDL-C might reduce the clearance of the peripheral cholesterin and diminish the efficacy of anti-atherosclerotic effects.

4.3 MS and CAD Correlation

A total of 258(87.5%) of the cases and 190(64.6%) of the controls were found to have metabolic syndrome. The results indicate that individuals suffering from MS, as measured by ATPIII criteria, had about four-fold increased risk of CAD. (OR=4.19, 95%CI=2.603-6.47, P=0.0001). These results suggest that patients who show symptoms of MS are also at greater risks of coronary artery diseases and therefore need to take necessary actions to uphold their health. Hence, certain healthmaintaining actions such as controlling dietary intake, receiving appropriate and timely medication, avoiding smoking, and performing regular physical exercises, which were shown in this study to improve the conditions of CAD patients, are recommended. Previous research (e.g., Chen et al., 2008; Irribaren et al., 2006; Mottillo et al., (2010) has also documented that patients with MS symptoms are exposed to higher risk of CAD. Chen et al. (2008) using NCEP ATP III, 2002 criteria showed that the cumulated occurrence of MS symptoms was significantly higher in the CAD group than in the non-CAD group (48.7% versus 23.4%, p < 0.01). The study also demonstrated through a logistic regression analysis, that the risk of having future CAD was in direct correlation with MS (b = 1.475, 0.670 (S.E.), Wald = 4.852, p = 0.028, exp (b) = 4.371). Similarly, Irribaren et al (2006), using the AHA/NHLBI criteria, found a 32% prevalence of MS among case subjects and 11% among control subjects. In the same study, it was seen that the presence of the MS by ATP-III criteria in the absence of diabetes conferred an almost 5-fold increase in the odds of early-onset CAD. Irribaren et al (2006) held that the AHA/NHLBI definition resulted in a slightly better prediction of outcome. Likewise, in a study by Mottillo et al.(2010) in Canada, the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome ranged from 1% in a study of women without type 2 diabetes mellitus (Takahashi et al., 2007) and 78% in a study of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (Butler et al., 2006). The study also showed that the point estimates for cardiovascular risk were consistently higher in women compared with men. Overall, consistent with previous research, results of the current study reconfirm the fact the metabolic syndrome is strongly linked to the increased risk of CVD.

4.4 CAD and MS as an Independent Risk Factor

Having discussed the correlation of individual MS component with severity of CAD, the study also intended to find out whether adding all the components of MS together will have different effects on severity of CAD among the patients. In other words, the association of MS as an independent risk factor for CAD was assessed using multivariate modeling programs. To quantify the risk of CAD associated with metabolic syndrome after adjusting for other potential risk factors conditional logistic regression was conducted. It is also assumed that if the metabolic syndrome operates independently of its individual components, its potential interventions may modify the risk of CAD above and beyond intervening on individual risk factors, such as hypertension. In this study all the designed models show that MS is a significant predictor of CAD even of the other confounders and in the presence potentially CAD risk factors (Odds Ratio between 3.5 p<0.000), however by adding MS till 4.15. components to ATPIII(2005) criteria MS conveyed no additional predictive information (Odds Ratio=0.33 up to 0.81, p>0.1). Previous research shows that although both the presence of multiple risk factors and MS itself (Gami et al., 2007) confer an increased risk of CAD, it is unclear whether the adverse impact on health by the MS is greater than those related to the sum of its components (Grundy et al., 2004). It has also been argued that the concept of syndrome implies that the risk associated with having the syndrome ought to be greater than the sum of its parts, and that all the factors should have a common underlying physiology which is responsible for their clustering (Kahn et al., 2005). Alexander et al. (2003) in a large cross-sectional study conducted in the US population aged over 50 (participants of the NHANES III survey), pointed out that MS does not improve prediction of CAD events in the presence of its components considering the ATPIII definition.

On the contrary, in a prospective study on older individuals, the MS by the ATPIII definition but not by the WHO criteria appeared to be an independent predictor of cardiovascular events after adjusting for its components and the traditional cardiovascular risk factors. Additionally, Ford (2003) found that the MS defined by the ATPIII and WHO definitions only had the modest job of predicting cardiovascular disease (estimated summary relative risk of 1.7 to 1.9). Iribarren (2006) examining the association between the metabolic syndrome (MS) and early-onset coronary artery disease (CAD) concluded that the presence of ATP-III MS without diabetes and with diabetes was a strong independent determinant of early-onset CAD, but neither definition of MS remained significantly associated with early-onset CAD in multivariate models adjusting for individual components. Thus, Iribarren (2006) concluded that the MS is a risk factor of earlyonset clinical CAD, however, the prognostic information associated with the syndrome was not

greater than the sum of its parts. Hadaegh et al.'s (2009) findings also confirmed MS as an independent predictor of CAD over and above its individual components in this study. Numerous other studies have not been able to establish the role of MS as an independent risk factor for CAD severity. For example, Alexander et al. (2003) pointed out that blood pressure, HDL cholesterol, and diabetes, but not the presence of MS, were significant multivariate predictors of prevalent CAD in an analysis of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Similarly, Yarnell et al. (1998) reported that the excess of ischemic heart disease risk associated with MS was no greater than that can be explained by individual effects of the defining variables in a multiple logistic model. This finding implies that MS conveyed no additional predictive information beyond its components. A logical interpretation of this finding is that clinicians would be better off addressing the individual risk factors rather than "treating the syndrome." It is also arguable that the identification of a condition like MS, even if it does not provide incremental value over its components, may better motivate physicians to treat the condition and its accompanying risk factors. Previous investigators have reached similar conclusions.

Irrespective of the fact that the result of this study indicate a significant association between MS as an independent risk factor for CAD, the overall results of the above cited investigations are equivocal. Hence, without evaluating whether or not specific biological mechanisms may explain the association between the metabolic syndrome and CAD, it would still remain unclear if the metabolic syndrome should be viewed as an etiologic entity above and beyond its individual components.

In an attempt to offer a logical solution regarding the uncertainty of research over MS as an dependant risk factor. Orchard et al. (2005) suggest that more intensive efforts should be directed toward prevention and management of the individual risk factors than to "diagnosing" the syndrome assert based on the strength of associations observed for the individual components and the fact that the association of the MS with CAD was greatly attenuated and no longer significant after adjustment for its components.. From the standpoint of primary prevention, interventions designed to increase exercise and achieve weight loss have been shown to effectively reduce these risk factors. Finally, the present study in line with previous studies (e.g., Hadaegh et al., 2009; Iribarren et al., 2006; Alexander et al., 2003; Yarnell et al., 1998) provides important information and adds useful insights regarding MS and CAD severity mostly . Based on this body of research, it is recommended that to

reduce the risk of CAD, physicians target individual CAD risk factors for modification and/or treatment. Therefore, it might seem that using information on the metabolic syndrome will not help prediction of CAD as compared with detailed information on well-established individual CAD risk factors.

Acknowledgements:

Authors are grateful to the Department of Nutrition and dietetics (Universiti Putra Malaysia) and Imam Ali Heart Center (Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Iran) for their support to carry out this work.

Corresponding Author:

Shila Berenjy Faculty of Food Sciences and Technology Varamin-Pishva Branch, Islamic Azad University Varamin, Iran E-mail: <u>shila135071@yahoo.com</u>

References

- Alexander, C., Landsman, P., Teutsch, S., & Haffner, S. (2003). NCEPdefined metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and prevalence of coronary heart disease among NHANES III participants age 50 years and older. Diabetes, 52, 1210-1214.
- Azizi F, Salehi P, Etemadi A,Zahedi –Asl S. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in an urban population: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study .Diabetes Res Clin Pract2003;61:29-37.
- Azizi, F., Esmailzadeh, A., & Mirmiran, P. (2004). Obesity and cardiovascular disease risk factors in Tehran adults:a population based study. East Mediterr Health J, 10, 887-897.
- Butler, J., Rodondi, N., & Zhu, Y. (2006). Metabolic syndrome and the risk of cardiovascular disease in older adults. J Am Coll Cardiol, 47, 1595-1602.
- Clarke SD Polyunsaturated fatty acid regulation of gene transcription: a mechanism to improve energy balance and insulin resistance Br J Nutr 2000; 83 Suppll: S59 - S66
- Chen Q, Liu Y, Huang w, et al. Relationship between metabolic syndrome and coronary heart disease in an aged group. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics; 46(2008):107-115.
- Ertek, e. a. (2011). The severity of coronary atherosclerosis in diabetic and non-diabetic metabolic syndrome patients diagnosed according to different criteria and undergoing elective angiography. Acta Diabetol, 48, 21-27.
- Fava, S., Herrington, D., Reboussin, D., & Sherman, M. (2008). Plasma levels of HDL subpopulations and remnant lipoproteins predict the extent of angiographically88 defined coronary artery disease in postmenopausal women. Atherosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, 28, 575-579.
- Ford,ES, Giles WH, Dietz WH. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among US adults: finding from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. JAMA 2002; 287:356-9.
- Gami, A. S., Witt, B. J., Howard, D. E., Erwin, P. J., Gami, L. A., & Somers, V. K., et al. (2007). Metabolic syndrome and risk of incident cardiovascular events and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. J Am Coll Cardiol, 49, 403-414.
- 11. Ghayour-Mobarhan M, Aziminezhad M, Kazemi SM, et al. Comparing different definitions of metabolic syndrome in Iranian population. Abstract.76th Congress of the European

Atherosclerosis Society, June 10-13, 2007, Helsinkey, Finland, PO 16-448.

- Ginsberg HN. Review : efficacy and mechanisms of actions in the treatment of diabetic dyslipidemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91(2):383-392
- Gorter PM, Olijhoek JK, Graff Y, et al. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in patients with coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral arterial disease or abdominal aortic aneurysm. Atherosclerosis; 173(2004):363-369.
- Grundy, e. a. (2004). Definition of Metabolic Syndrome Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association Conference on Scientific Issues Related to Definition. Circulation, 109, 433-438
- Grundy SM, Cleeman J I, Daniels S R, et al. Diagnosis and Management of the Metabolic Syndrome Scientific Statement Executive Summary Circulation 2005;112; e285e290; originally published online Sep 12, 2005;DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATION AHA.105.169405
- Grundy, S. (2005). A constellation of complication: the metabolic syndrome. Clinical cornerstone. Cardio metabolic risk management., 7(2/3), 36-45.
- Hadaegh, F., Harati, H., Ghanbarian, A., & Azizi, F. (2009). Prevalence of coronary heart disease among Tehran adults: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal, 15(1).
- Haffner, S. (2007). AM J Med. Abdominal adiposity and cardio metabolic risk: Do we have all the answers? 120(9), 6-10.
- Hunt KJ, Resendez RG, Williams K, Haffner SM, Stern MP. National Cholesterol Education Program versus World Health Organization metabolic syndrome in relation to all cause and cardiovascular mortality in the San Antonio Heart Study. Circulation 2004;110:1251-7.
- Iribarren, C., Alan, S., & Husson, G., et al. (2006). Metabolic Syndrome and Early-Onset Coronary Artery Disease. J Am college of cardiology 48, 1800-1807.
- 21. Jong-Youn Kim, Hee-Sun Mun, Byoung Kwon Lee, Seong Bo Yoon,* Eui-Young Choi, Pil-Ki Min, Young-Won Yoon, Bum-Kee Hong, Se-Joong Rim, and Hyuck Moon Kwon,Impact of Metabolic Syndrome and Its Individual Components on the Presence and Severity of Angiographic Coronary Artery Disease, Yonsei Med J 51(5):676-682, 2010.
- 22. Kahn R, Buse J, Ferrannini E, Stern M. The metabolic syndrome: time for a critical appraisal: joint statement from the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005; 28:2289–304.
- Kragelund, x., et al., (2007). Metabolic syndrome and mortality in stable coronary heart disease: Relation to gender. International Journal of Cardiology, 121, 62-67.
- Laaksonen, D. E., Lakka, H. M., Salonen, J. T., Niskanen, L. K., Rauramaa, R., & Lakka, T. A. (2002). Low levels ofleisure-time physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness predict development of the Metabolic Syndrom. Diabetes Care, 25, 1612-1618.
- 25. Lakka HM, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA, Niskanen LK, Kumpusalo E, Tuomilehto J, et al. The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle aged men.JAMA2002; 288:2709-16.

- Lee IM et al: Vitamin E in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease and cancer: the Women's Health Study; a randomized controlled trial, JAMA 294:56, 2005.
- 27. MacNeill AM, Rosamond WD, Girman CJ, et al. Prevalence of coronary heart disease and carotid arterial thickening in patients with the metabolic syndrome (the ARIC study). Am J Cardiol 2004;94:1249-54.
- Maki, K. C. (2004). Dietary factors in the prevention of Diabetes Mellitus and Coronary Artery Disease associated with the Metabolic Syndrome. The American Journal of Cardiology, 93 (IIA), 12C-17C.
- Mottillo S., Filion K B., Genest J., Joseph L., Pilote L., Poirier P., Rinfret S., Schiffrin E. L., and Eisenberg M. J. The Metabolic Syndrome and Cardiovascular Risk, A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol, 2010; 56:1113-1132. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2010.05.034
- Niaura, R., Banks, S. M., Ward, K. D, Stoney, C. M., Spiro, A., Aldwin, C. M. & et al. Hostility and the metabolic syndrome in older males: The Normative Aging Study. Psychosomatic Medicine, 2000; 62:7-16.
- 31. Orchard TJ, Temprosa M, Goldberg R, et al. The effect of metformin and intensive lifestyle intervention on the metabolic syndrome: the Diabetes Prevention Program randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2005;142:611–9.
- 32. Petra, M., et.al. (2004). Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in patients with coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral arterial disease or abdominal aortic aneurism. Atherosclerosis, 173, 363-369.
- Raikkonen, K., Mtthews, K.A., & Kuller, L.H. The relationship between psychological risk attributes and the Metabolic syndrome in healthy women: Antecedent or consequences? Metabolism, 2002;51(12):1573-1577
- 34. Reaven GM. Banting Lecture 1988: Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 1988;37: 1595-1607.
- 35. Sadeghi M,Garak-Yaraghi M,rt al.Relationship between the metabolic syndrome and coronary artery disease in patients with stable angina. ARYA J. 2006;2(1):10-14
- 36. Stern, M. (1995). Diabetes and cardiovascular disease the commen soil hypothesis. Diabetes 44(4), 369-374.
- Szapary PO, Reader DJ. The triglyceride-high-density lipoprotein axis: an important target of therapy? AM. Heart J 2004;148(2):211-221.
- Takahashi K, Bokura H, Kobayashi S, Iijima K, Nagai A, Yamaguchi S. Metabolic syndrome increases the risk of ischemic stroke in women. Intern Med 2007;46:643–8.
- Villena JA, Viollet B, Andreelli F, Kahn A, Vaulont S et al. Induced adiposity and adipocyte hypertrophy in mice lacking the AMP-activated protein kinase-alpha2 subunit. Diabetes 2004;53(9):2242-2249.
- Washio, M., Sasazuki, S., Kodama, H., & Yoshimasa, K. (2001). Role of hypertension, dyslipidemia and diabetes mellitus in the development of coronary arthrosclerosis in Japan. Japanese Circulation Journal, 65, 731-737.
- Yarnell, J., Patterson, C., Bainton, D., & Sweetnam, P. (1998). Is metabolic syndrome a discrete entity in the general population? Evidence from the Caerphilly and Speedwell population studies. Heart, 79, 248-252.
- 42. Zabetian A, Hadaegh F, Tohidi M, et al. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome by the ATPIII, IDF and WHO definition and their association to coronary heart disease in Iranian elderly population. Iranian Journal of Diabetes and Lipid Disorders, fall 2007; 7(1(22)):91-101.

12/12/2011

Beneficial effects of the burdock ferment liquid on diabetic disorders in STZ-induced diabetic rats

Tsung-Hung Chang^{1,†}, I-Min Liu^{2,†}, Chi-Ting Horng³, Feng-Chi Tsai⁴, Daih-Huang Kuo², Po-Chuen Shieh², Shih-Chiang Lee⁵, Jeng-Chuan Shiang⁶, Fu-An Chen^{2,*}

¹ Department of Surgery, Kaohsiung Armed Force General Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan
 ² Department of Pharmacy & Graduate Institute of Pharmaceutical Technology, Tajen University, Pingtung, Taiwan
 ³ Department of Ophthalmology, Kaohsiung Armed Force General Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan
 ⁴ Taiwan Panbiotic Laboratories Co. Ltd., Kaohsiung, Taiwan
 ⁵ Dong Yuan Biotech Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., Kaohsiung, Taiwan
 ⁶ Department of Medicine, Kaohsiung Armed Force General Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan
 ⁶ Department of Medicine, Kaohsiung Armed Force General Hospital, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

*fachen@mail.tajen.edu.tw

Abstract: The present study was undertaken to characterize the effects of the burdock (*Arctium lappa* L.) ferment liquid (BFL) on diabetic disorders employing streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (STZ-diabetic rats) as a type-1 diabetic model. There was a tendency towards a reduction in hypercholesterolemia after oral administration of BFL in diabetic rats for 2 consecutive weeks. BFL with abundant inulin was capable of alleviating significantly the hypertriglyceridemia and hyperglycemia. Diabetic-dependent alterations in serum creatinine concentrations, blood urea nitrogen and creatinine clearance were ameliorated after 2-week treatment with BFL in a dose-dependent manner. Additionally, BFL with polyphenolic components was able to scavenge 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl radical as well as to attenuate the oxidative stress, evidenced by the reduction of hyperactivity in antioxidants including superoxide diamutase and glutathione peroxidase in plasma of diabetic rats. Thus, BFL has the ability to decrease the hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia, and alleviate the hyperglycemia-associated oxidative stress in STZ-diabetic rats.

[Tsung-Hung Chang, I-Min Liu, Chi-Ting Horng, Feng-Chi Tsai, Daih-Huang Kuo, Po-Chuen Shieh, Shih-Chiang Lee, Jeng-Chuan Shiang, Fu-An Chen. **Beneficial effects of the burdock ferment liquid on diabetic disorders in STZ-induced diabetic rats.** Life Sci J 2012;9(2):718-726] (ISSN:1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 107

Keywords: Burdock; Arctium lappa L., STZ-diabetic rats; Antioxidant; Hyperlipidemia; hyperglycemia; Oxidative stress

1. Introduction

Diabetes, which ranks highly among the top ten causes of mortality around the world, often leads to disability from the vascular complications of coronary artery disease, cerebrovascular disease, renal failure, blindness, and limb amputation in addition to neurological complications and premature death [1]. It has been demonstrated that the use of pharmacological intervention in combination with lifestyle modifications that include diet and moderate exercise is particularly useful in the management of diabetes [2]. Accordingly, novel treatment with fewer side effects is feasible for the control of diabetic disorder, indicating the merit of additional medication for diabetic patients. In fact, diabetics and experimental diabetic animal models exhibit high oxidative stress due to persistent and chronic hyperglycemia, which thereby depletes the activity of antioxidative defense system and thus promotes de novo free radicals generation [3]. As a new strategy for alleviating the oxidative damage in diabetes, interest has grown in the usage of natural dietary antioxidants.

Burdock (Arctium lappa L.) has long been cultivated as a vegetable in Taiwan for dietary use. Burdock is also used as a folk medicine as a diuretic and antipyretic. It has become a popular health drink in Taiwan in the last decade. Several studies have reported that the root of burdock possesses various pharmaceutical activities including antibacterial activity [4-5], desmutagenic activity [6], antioxidant ability [7-10], hepatoprotective effect [11-12], gastroprotective activity [13-14] and antiinflammatory activity [8], among which the gastroprotective activity, hepatoprotective efficacy, anti-inflammatory activity, and antioxidant activity are associated with the free radical scavenging activity. Additionally, burdock is claimed to be control helpful improve glycemic for in hyperglycemic subjects [15]; however, the related research on diabetes is not clear-cut.

Fermentation using yeast or lactic acid bacteria has long been applied in food industry due to its beneficial effects in flavor development, in inhibition of spoilage bacteria and pathogens, in intestinal health and other health benefits related to cancer prevention, blood cholesterols levels and immune competence, which could be resulted from the modification and/or creation of nutrient, components botanically-active and microbial metabolites [16-19]. The streptozotocin induceddiabetic rats (STZ-diabetic rats) serve as an excellent model to study the molecular, cellular and morphological changes in tissue induced by stress during hyperglycemia [20]. The present study is thus to examine the efficacy of a burdock (Arctium lappa L.) ferment liquid (BFL) on diabetic disorders employing STZ-diabetic rats as a type-1 diabetic model.

Material and Methods Materials

The root of burdock (Arctium lappa L.) with Good Agriculture Practice (GAP) certification cultivated at Gueilai Area, Pingtung, Taiwan was applied as materials for preparation of burdock ferment liquid (BFL). BFL was kindly supplied by Dong Yuan Biotech Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Kaohsiung, Taiwan). 1,1-Diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), inulin, gallic acid. hydroxymethylfuraldehyde (HMF) and streptozotocin (STZ) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Saint Louis, MO, USA). Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany), Cosmosil 5C18-AR-II column was purchased from Nacalai Tesque (Kyoto, Japan). Acetonitrile and methanol were LC grade from Tedia (Fairfield, USA). The diagnostic kits for determinations of glucose (Cat. No. COD12503), cholesterol (Cat. No.COD11539) and triglyceride (Cat. No. COD11529) in plasma were purchased from BioSystem (Barcelona, Spain). Nephrat II enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (Cat. No. NR002) was obtained from Exocell. INC. (PA, PUA). The diagnostic kits for determinations of creatinine concentration in serum or urine (Cat. No. 221-30), and kinetic reagent for measurement of blood urea nitrogen (BUN) (Cat. No. 283-30) were purchased from Diagnostic Chemicals Limited (Connecticut, USA). The colorimetric assay kits for measurements for superoxide dismutase (SOD, Cat. No. 706002) and glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px, Cat. No.703102) activities in plasma were purchased from Cayman Chemical (Michigan, USA). All other reagents were from standard sources.

Determination of total polyphenol and inulin in BFL

Total polyphenols in BFL were determined spectrophotometrically using the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent based on a colorimetric oxidation/reduction reaction. To 0.2 ml of diluted aqueous acetone sample, 1 mL of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent (diluted 10 times with distilled water) was added. After that, 0.8 mL of 7.5 % Na_2CO_3 was added and mixed thoroughly. After 30 min of standing, the absorbance was measured at 765 nm. The amount of total polyphenols was calculated as a gallic acid equivalent based on a calibration curve of gallic acid standard, and expressed as mg gallic acid/mL BFL. All measurements were done in triplicate.

Inulin in BFL was measured using a HPLC method as described by Dall'Amico et al., with minor modifications [21]. Sample preparation for HPLC measurement was performed by diluting BFL with distilled water and then mixed with 200 µl of 70% HClO₄. After boiling for 10 min to hydrolyze inulin to fructose and to convert fructose to hydroxymethylfuraldehyde (HMF), the sample was cooled on ice for 5 min and aliquots of 20 µl were subjected to HPLC analysis. A Hitachi (Tokyo, Japan) L-2130 HPLC pump system equipped with an L-2450 diode array detector, and an L-2200 autosampler was used to analyze HMF on a Cosmosil 5C18-AR-II column (5 μ m; 4.6 \times 250 mm i.d.) with a flow-rate of 1 ml /min and monitored at 280 nm. Mobile phase system A was 3.2 mM HCl, pH 2.8, and B was acetonitrile/3.2 mM HCl (60:40, v/v). The HMF in sample was eluted chromatographically at ambient temperature with a gradient program: 0 % B (0-1 min), 0 %-35% B (1-9 min) and 0 % B (9.1-10 min). The amount of inulin in BFL was calculated based on a calibration curve constructed by plotting the HMF response area vs. inulin concentration. All measurements were done in triplicate.

Evaluation of free radical-scavenging activity of BFL

The free radical-scavenging activity of BFL was evaluated using DPPH free radical-scavenging assay as described previously [22]. BFL was diluted with methanol and an aliquot of 50 μ L of each dilution was transferred into a 96-well microplate (NUNC, Roskilde, Denmark). A working solution of DPPH (250 μ M) in methanol was freshly prepared and then an aliquot of 150 μ L was added to each well. After incubation for 30 min, the remaining percentage of DPPH was measured at 490 nm on an ELISA reader (ThermoLabsystems, Cheshire, UK). Each dilution was performed at least in triplicate.

Animal Models

Male Wistar rats, weighing 200-250 g were obtained from the Animal Center of National Cheng Kung University Medical College (Tainan, Taiwan). They were maintained in a temperature-controlled room $(25 \pm 1^{\circ}C)$ and kept on a 12:12 light-dark cycle (light on at 06:00 h). Standard rat chow and water were available *ad libitum*. STZ-diabetic rats were

prepared by intravenously (i.v.) injecting STZ (60 mg/kg) into male Wistar rats. Animals were considered to be diabetic if they had plasma glucose concentrations of 350 mg/dL or greater in addition to polyuria and other diabetic features. All studies were carried out 2 weeks after the injection of STZ. All animal procedures were performed according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the National Institutes of Health, as well as the guidelines of the Animal Welfare Act. The animal use protocol has been reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) with IACUC approval number 9616.

Treatment protocols

BFL solution were prepared by dilute with distilled water to have the tested solution at the indicated concentration as following: one part of original BFL diluted with one part of distilled water (1:1, v/v) to have solution with 50% BFL; one part of original BFL diluted with three part of distilled water (1:3, v/v) to get solution with concentration of 25% BFL; one part of original BFL diluted with five part of distilled water (1:5, v/v) to get solution with 17% BFL. A metabolism coefficient of 6.25 was employed to convert the recommended daily oral dosage of BFL (20 ml) for adult into rats, assuming that average body weight of an adult is 60 kg. Thus, diluted BFL solution was given by oral gavage at the indicated concentration for 2 mL/kg, twice a day, to the separate groups of the STZ-diabetic rats. Another group of STZ-diabetic rats was received the equivalent volume of distilled water used to dissolve the preparations of interest. All animals were administered twice a day via gastric tube. The standard rat diet and water were available ad libitum throughout the entire treatment period. Two weeks after the treatment, rats were weighed and blood samples were collected from a tail vein: meanwhile. individual rats were placed in metabolic cages (Shineteh Instruments Co., Ltd, Taipei, Taiwan) to obtain 24-hour urine collections for measurements of urine creatinine (Cr). The systolic blood pressure (SBP) of the tail artery was also measured at weekly intervals.

Blood sampling and analysis

Blood sample of rats were centrifuged at 2,000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C, plasma was removed and aliquot for the respective analytical determinations. Plasma glucose concentration was measured by glucose oxidase method. Levels of cholesterol and triglycerides in total plasma were analyzed enzymatically. The serum Cr concentration was determined by the modified Jaffe' method. BUN was determined according to the urease procedure.

Plasma SOD (E.C.: 1.15.1.1) activity was determined by commercial kit for measuring its ability to inhibit the photochemical reduction of nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) in absorbance at 450 nm. One unit of SOD is defined as the amount of protein that inhibits the rate of NBT reduction by 50%. The activity assay for GSH-Px (E.C.: 1.11.1.9) determined by commercial kit was based on the oxidation of NADPH to NAD+, catalyzed by a limiting concentration of glutathione reductase, with maximum absorbance at 340 nm. All analyses were performed in accordance with the manuals provided by the manufacturers.

Analysis of urine parameters

The 24-h urine collected from each diabetic rat and age-matched control was centrifuged at 2,000 g for 10 min. Urinary albumin concentrations were measured by ELISA assay using an anti-rat albumin antibody. The Cr concentration in pooled urine samples was determined by the modified Jaffe' method using the commercial assay kit. All analyses were performed in accordance with the manuals provided by the manufacturers. Creatinine clearance (Ccr) was calculated using the following equation: Ccr (mL/min/kg) = [urinary Cr (mg/dL) x urinary volume (mL)/serum Cr (mg/dL)] x [1000/body weight (g)] x [1/1440 (min)].

Blood pressure measurement

SBP of the tail artery was measured by noninvasive blood pressure system (MODEL BP-6, Diagnostic & Research Instruments Co., Ltd., Taoyuan, Taiwan). The measurements for SBP were recorded in quadruplicate for each rat and the average blood pressure was calculated.

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as the mean \pm SD. The statistical significance between groups was analyzed by an analysis of variance (ANOVA) test, a *p* value of less than 0.05 was considered to be significant.

Results

Contents of total polyphenol and inulin in BFL

The content of total polyphenol and inulin in various dilutions of BFL was shown in Table 1. The total polyphenol and inulin in original BFL was 5.10 \pm 0.27 mg/mL and 304.0 \pm 26.7 (mg/mL), respectively. Dilutions were in inverse proportion to its content of total polyphenol and inulin in BFL.

DPPH radical-scavenging activity of BFL

BFL was able to scavenge significantly DPPH radical with concentration-dependant manner (Table 2). Additionally, the DPPH radical-scavenging activity of BFL was reached a plateau within 30 min and maintained for 120 min (Table 2). In comparison of free radical scavenging activity of BFL with that of vitamin E (40 ppm), the dilution of BFL required to achieve similar effect was 1:10 (v/v) (data not shown).

Table 1. The contents of total polyphenols and inulin in dilutions of BFL

Dilutions (u/u)	Total polyphenol	Inulin
Dilutions (v/v)	(mg gallic acid/mL)) (mg/mL)
100% BEI $(1.0 y/y)$	5.10 ± 0.27	$304.0 \pm$
100 / 0 DFL(1.0, v/v)	$1.0, \sqrt{7}$ 5.10 ± 0.27	26.7
50 % BFL (1:1, v/v)	2.02 ± 0.27	$160.6 \pm$
	2.92 ± 0.27	2.0
25 % BFL (1:3, v/v)	1.49 ± 0.06	$66.9 \pm$
		7.9
17 % BFL (1:5, v/v)	0.76 ± 0.05	$44.1 \pm$
		1.0

Values (mean \pm SD) were obtained for each group of 3 experiments.

General characteristics of STZ-diabetic rats repeatedly treated with BFL

Each diluted BFL solution made influences neither on body weight nor on SBP in STZ-diabetic rats at the end of the 2-week treatment period (Fig. 1A; Fig. 1B). The plasma glucose in STZ-diabetic rats receiving for 2-week treatment with higher concentration of BFL was lower than the corresponding values for vehicle-treated group (Fig. 2A). The higher plasma level of cholesterol was reduced in STZ-diabetic rats receiving for 2-week treatment with 50% BFL solution, but the values did not achieve statistical significance as compared to that of vehicle-treated counterparts (Fig. 2B). At the termination of 2-week treatment, the plasma level of triglyceride in STZ-diabetic rats tended to be reduced by 17% BFL solution. The action of BFL on the alleviation of hypertriglyceridmia was markedly in STZ-diabetic rats treated with 2-week 50% BFL solution (Fig. 2C).

Changes in renal function related parameters in STZ-diabetic rats repeatedly treated with BFL

Following 2-week treatment, STZ-diabetic rats received 17% BFL solution exhibited lower levels of serum Cr, whereas the difference did not achieve statistical significance as compared to those of vehicle-treated group at the corresponding time (Fig. 3A). The levels of BUN in STZ-diabetic rats received 17% BFL solution was also tended to be reduced at the end of 2 weeks treatment, but did not differ from their vehicle-treated counterparts (Fig. 3B). Both values for serum Cr and BUN of STZ-diabetic rats were significantly (p<0.05) lower by 50% BFL solution as relative to their vehicle-treated counterparts at the end of 2 weeks treatment (Fig. 3A; Fig. 3B).

Furthermore, treatment with BFL form 2 weeks onward reduced the increase in urine volume of STZdiabetic rats in a concentration manner (Fig. 3C). Also, treatment STZ-diabetic rat with 50% BFL solution significantly (p<0.05) reduced the increase in Ccr as compared with their vehicle-treated counterparts at the end of 2 weeks treatment (Fig. 3D).

Changes on plasma antioxidant enzyme activity in STZ-diabetic rats repeatedly treated with BFL

The plasma SOD activity in STZ-diabetic rats was gradually reduced by 2 weeks treatment with dilutes BFL solution in a concentration manner. Similarly, 2-week BFL administered diabetic rats displayed significantly lower activity of plasma GSH-Px as compared to their vehicle-treated counterparts (Fig. 1C; Fig. 1D).

Discussion

Diabetics and experimental diabetic animal models exhibit high oxidative stress due to persistent and chronic hyperglycemia, which thereby depletes the activity of antioxidative defense system and thus promotes de novo free radicals generation (23,24). Although adequate control of blood glucose levels may prevent the development of complications, it is difficult to achieve strict blood glucose control, leading to a year-by-year increase in the number of patients with diabetes . Therefore, strategies to reduce oxidative stress in diabetes mellitus may exert favourable effects on the progression of diabetic complication [25]. Among diabetic complications, nephropathy is the most common cause of end-stage renal disease in developed countries and a major cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with diabetes [26]. In assays utilizing unnatural model radicals, the DPPH radical scavenging assay, BFL was shown to scavenge the DPPH radical significantly and concentration-dependently. Hence DPPH assay is one of the most common methods of assessing antioxidant activities [27], the in vitro antioxidant activity of BFL could be considered. STZ-Diabetes provides a relevant example of endogenous chronic oxidative stress and hyperglycemia [20]. Thus, we evaluated the oxidative stress and nephropathy induced by STZ in Wistar rats and examined the potential protective effects of BFL against the changes induced by STZ.

Dilutions (v/v)	The remaining DPPH radicals (%)				
30 min	30 min	60 min	90 min	120 min	
Blank	95.25 ± 2.22	91.55 ± 2.60	91.06 ± 2.70	90.63 ± 2.65	
1:45	$73.23 \pm 1.35^{*}$	68.13 ± 2.07 *	64.85 ± 2.10	62.18 ± 2.07 *	
1:40	$70.06 \pm 1.28^{*}$	64.98 ± 1.77 [*]	61.44 ± 1.71	58.27 ± 2.07 *	
1:35	$65.19 \pm 1.35^*$	59.64 ± 1.26 *	55.67 ± 1.24	52.15 ± 1.25 **	
1:30	$64.64 \pm 2.23^{*}$	58.04 ± 2.62 *	53.02 ± 2.51	48.74 ± 2.49 **	
1:25	$63.19 \pm 2.09^*$	56.79 ± 2.21 *	51.73 ± 2.15	47.34 ± 2.18 **	
1:20	52.92±2.31**	44.15 ± 2.90 **	37.65 ± 2.62**	32.07 ± 2.73 **	
1:15	30.93 ± 1.93	$19.94 \pm 1.96^{**}$	14.65 ± 1.23	13.22 ± 0.70 **	
1:10	$15.37 \pm 0.54^{**}$	$13.83 \pm 0.58^{**}$	13.53 ± 0.58	12.87 ± 0.68 **	

Table 2. The free radical scavenging activity in dilutions of BFL

Values (mean \pm SD) were obtained for each group of 3 experiments. *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.01 compared to the values of blank at the indicated times, respectively.



Fig. 1. Changes of the body weight, systolic blood pressure (SBP) and the antioxidant enzyme activity in STZdiabetic rats receiving 2 weeks of BFL administration. Values (mean \pm SD) were obtained for each group of 6 animals. * p < 0.05 compared to the values of vehicle-treated STZ-diabetic rats.

We observed that 2 week-administration of diluted BFL solution reduced the higher level of serum Ccr and BUN as well as creatinine clearance in STZ-diabetic rats significantly and dose-dependently. Otherwise, the typical characteristics of diabetes with large increase of urine output and the less body weight gain in STZ-diabetic rats were ameliorated by 2-week of BFL administration, implying the product be with the capacity to modify the renal hyperfiltration. After 2 week-treatment with diluted BFL solution, the results revealed significant reduction in hyperglycemia of diabetic animals. The beneficial effect of BFL on diabetic nephropathy may be associated with reduce severity of hyperglycemia.

It has long been known that hypertension is an aggravating factor in increased vascular pressure and may be the key hemodynamic determinant of diabetic renal injury as well; it is therefore well recognized that blood pressure control is important in diabetic patients [28]. Actually, BFL at any concentration was observed to make no influence on the blood pressure in STZ-diabetic rats, indicating that the beneficial effect of BFL on diabetic nephropathy was not linked with the amelioration of hypertension. Besides hyperglycemia and high blood pressure, other risk factors have been identified in the development or progression of diabetic kidnev disease: hyperlipidemia has been associated with occurrence of severe renal failure secondary to development of glomerulosclerosis and tubulointerstitial disease [29-30]. The increased lipid peroxidation in the kidney implies the level of susceptibility to diabetic oxidative stress, leading to diabetic complications. From this view point, prevention of hyperlipidemia and/or lipid peroxidation resulting from oxidative stress is considered to play a crucial role in protection from disorders associated with diabetes [29-30]. We observed that BFL, especially at the higher concentration, be effective in the modification of hypertriglyceridemia as well as alleviation of hypercholesterolemia in STZ-diabetic rats. The beneficial effects of BFL on the amelioration of diabetic renal function are thought to be linked to the observed control of lipid metabolism.

Some dietary components that completely escape glucide digestion, such as resistant starch and oligofructose, have been demonstrated to exert systemic effects by modifying lipid metabolism [31-32]. In contrast to starch, inulin is fermentable dietary fiber, resistant to hydrolysis by pancreatic amylase and saccharidases in the upper gastrointestinal tract. Previous study have been demonstrated that inulin was produced enzymatically from sucrose, and that supplementing inulin be helpful for reduced elevated hepatic levels of triacylglycerols in rats fed with a high-fat and high sucrose diet [33]. Actually, inulin is rich in BFL. It is possible to anticipate that the reduction in elevated levels of hepatic lipids in diabetes was associated with the inulin of BFL.

As established clearly, reactive oxygen species (ROS) are generated in augmented amounts in diabetes, the main mechanisms being increased glucose autooxidation and advanced protein glycation, activation of poliol pathway and attenuated antioxidant defence system. It is known that oxygen radical scavenging enzymes can respond to conditions of increased oxidative stress with compensatory increases in activity [34], our findings are consistent with this fact. SOD is reported to be the first induced enzyme; its higher activity could be due to its induction by increased superoxide anion production. The induction of SOD in turn leads to protection of GSH-Px against inactivation by superoxide anion the net effect being a higher GSH-Px activity [35]. However in BFL administered STZdiabetic rats, the activities of both SOD and GSH-Px in plasma were lower in comparison to diabetic controls, indicating the lower levels of oxidative stress in these rats by BFL treatment. The above observation shows that BFL possesses antioxidant activity, which could exert a beneficial action against pathological alterations caused by the presence of free radicals in STZ diabetes. Taking the above results into consideration, the renoprotective effects of BFL in diabetes were not only attributable to improved dyslipidemia alone, but also likely reflected its antioxidant activity. The combined antioxidant and reducing hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia actions of BFL should be particularly advantageous and perhaps even synergistic in preventing renal injury and other diabetic complications.

Phenolic compounds from fruits and vegetables have been receiving increasing interest from consumers and manufacturers because numerous epidemiological studies have suggested associations between consumption of polyphenol-rich foods or beverages and the prevention of certain chronic diseases dependent of their antioxidant properties[36]. Indeed, polyphenolic compounds were abundant in this burdock product. Application of the burdock product proved the positive influence polyphenols oxidative and of on stress hyperlipidemia through the antioxidants could thus be considerable.



Fig. 2. Changes of the plasma parameters in STZ-diabetic rats receiving 2 weeks of BFL administration. Values (mean \pm SD) were obtained for each group of 6 animals. * p < 0.05 compared to the values of vehicle-treated STZ-diabetic rats.



Fig. 3. Changes of the renal function related parameters in STZ-diabetic rats receiving 2 weeks of BFL administration. Values (mean \pm SD) were obtained for each group of 6 animals. * p < 0.05 compared to the values of vehicle-treated STZ-diabetic rats.

The antioxidant responsiveness mediated by burdock may also be anticipated to have biological significance in eliminating reactive free radicals that may otherwise affect the normal cell functioning.

In conclusion, burdock showed an antidiabetic effect *via* reducing hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia in STZ-diabetic rats. Besides, BFL possesses antioxidant activity which could exert a beneficial action against pathological alterations and diabetic renal complications caused by the presence of free radicals in hyperglycemia. The obtained data strengthen the basis for recommending BFL as an adjuvant for diabetic individuals.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank Gueilai Community Developmental Institute in Pingtung, Taiwan for providing burdock as materials for preparation of burdock ferment liquid. We appreciate Dong Yuan Biotech Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Kaohsiung, Taiwan) for the kind supply of burdock ferment liquid.

Corresponding Author:

Fu-An Chen, Ph.D. Department of Pharmacy & Graduate Instituteof Pharmaceutical Technology, Tajen University, 20 Wei-Shin Road, Yanpu, Pingtung 907, Taiwan. *E-mail address*: fachen@mail.tajen.edu.tw

References

- Grundy SM. (2007) Metabolic syndrome: a multiplex cardiovascular risk factor. J Clin Endocrinol; 92: 399-404.
- Hu G, Rico-Sanz J, Lakka TA, Tuomilehto J. (2006) Exercise, genetics and prevention of type 2 diabetes. Essays Biochem ; 42 : 177-92.
- Schrijvers BF, De Vriese AS, Flyvbjerg A. (2004) From hyperglycemia to diabetic kidney disease: the role of metabolic, hemodynamic, intracellular factors and growth factors/cytokines. Endocr Rev; 25 : 971-1010.
- 4. Chow LW, Wang SJ, Duh PD. (1997) Antibacterial activity of burdock. Food Sci ; 24 : 195-202.
- Holetz FB, Pessini GL, Sanches NR, Cortez DA, Nakamura CV, Filo BP. (2002) Screening of some plants used in the Brazilian folk medicine for the treatment of infectious diseases. *Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*; 97:

Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz ; 97 : 1027-31.

- Morita K, Nishijima Y, Kada T. (1984) A desmutagenic factor isolated from burdock (*Arctium lappa* Linne). Mut Res ; 129 : 25-31.
- Duh PD. (1998) Antioxidant activity of burdock (*Arctium lappa* Linne): its scavenging effect on free-radical and active oxygen. J Am Oil Chem Soc; 75: 455-61.
- Lin CC, Lin JM, Yang JJ, Chuang SC, Ujiie T. (1996) Anti-inflammatory and radical scavenging effect of *Arctium lappa*. Am J Chin Med ; 24 : 127-37.
- Chen FA, Wu AB, Chen CY. (2004) The influence of different treatments on free radical scavenging activity of Burdock and the variation of its active components. Food Chem ; 86 : 479-84.
- Lou Z, Wang H, Li J, Chen S, Zhu S, Ma C, Wang Z. (2010) Antioxidant activity and chemical composition of the fractions from burdock leaves. J Food Sci ; 75 : C413-9.
- Lin SC, Chung TC, Lin CC, Ueng TH, Lin YH, Lin, SY. (2000) Hepatoprotective effects of *Arctium lappa* on carbon tetrachloride- and acetaminophen-induced liver damage. Am J Chin Med ; 28 : 163-73.
- 12. Lin SC, Lin CH, Lin CC, Lin YH, Chen CF, Chen IC. (2002) Hepatoprotective effects of *Arctium lappa* Linne on liver injuries induced by chronic ethanol consumption and potentiated by carbon tetrachloride. J Biomed Sci ; 9 : 401-9.
- Dos Santos AC, Baggio CH, Freitas CS, Lepieszynski J, Mayer B, Twardowschy A, Missau FC, dos Santos EP, Pizzolatti MG, Marques MC. (2008) Gastroprotective activity of the choroform extract of the roots from Arctium lappa L. J Pharm Pharmacol ; 60 : 795-801.
- Chen FA, Lee SC, Chao HR, Fu WC, Hsu MC, Horng CT, Wang CC, Matsui H, Agoramoorthy G. (2009) Effects of burdock extract preparation on gastric mucosal protection. Asian J Chem ;

21:3015-22.

- 15. Cicero AF, Derosa G, Gaddi A. (2004) What do herbalists suggest to diabetic patients in order to improve glycemic control ? Evaluation of scientific evidence and potential risks. Acta Diabetol ; 41 : 91-8.
- Lu M, Toshima Y, Wu X, Zhang X, Cai Y. (2007) Inhibitory effects of vegetable and fruit ferment liquid on tumor growth in Hepatoma-22
- Ojokoh AO. (2007) Effect of fermentation on the chemical composition of mango (*Mangifera indica* R) peels. Afr J Biotechnol ; 6 : 1979-81.
- Sobowale AO, Olurin TO, Oyewole OB. (2007) Effect of lactic acid bacteria starter culture fermentation of cassava on chemical and sensory characteristics of fufu flour. Afr J Biotechnol; 6: 1954-8.
- 19. Bae EA, Trinh HT, Rhee YK, Lee YC, Kim DH. (2008) Antiallergic effect of ginseng fermented with *Ganoderma lucidum*. J Ginseng Res ; 32 : 57-61.
- Aragno M, Parola S, Tamagno E, Brignardello E, Manti R, Danni O. (2000) Oxidative derangement in rat synaptosomes induced by hyperglycemia: restorative effect of dehydroepiandrosterone treatment. Biochem Pharmacol; 60 : 389-95.
- Dall'Amico R, Montini G, Pisanello L, Piovesan G, Bottaro S, Cracco AT, Zacchello G, Zacchello F. (1995) Determination of inulin in plasma and urine by reversedphase highperformance liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl; 672: 155-9.
- 22. Chen FA, Wu AB, Shieh PC, Kuo DH, Hsieh CY. (2006) Evaluation of antioxidant activity of *Ruellia Tuberosa*. Food Chem ; 94 : 14-8.
- 23. Prabhakar S, Starnes J, Shi S, Lonis B, Tran R. (2007) Diabetic nephropathy is associated with oxidative stress and decreased renal nitric oxide production. J Am Soc Nephrol ; 18 : 2945-52.
- 24. Vasavada N, Agarwal R. (2005) Role of oxidative stress in diabetic nephropathy. Adv Chronic
 - Kidney Dis ; 12 : 146-54.
- 25. Koya D, Hayashi K, Kitada M, Kashiwagi A, Kikkawa R, Haneda M. (2003) Effects of antioxidants in diabetes-induced oxidative stress in the glomeruli of diabetic rats. J Am Soc Nephrol; 14 : S250-3.
- Rossing P. (2006) Diabetic nephropathy: worldwide epidemic and effects of current treatment on natural history. Curr Diab Rep ; 6 : 479-83.
- 27. Prior RL, Wu X, Schaich K. (2005) Standardized methods for the determination of antioxidant capacity and phenolics in foods and dietary

supplements. J Agric Food Chem ; 53 : 4290-302.

- Bakris GL. (2004) The importance of blood pressure control in the patient with diabetes. Am J Med ; 116 : S30-8.
- Dominguez JH, Tang N, Xu W, Evan AP, Siakotos AN, Agarwal R. (2000) Studies of renal injury III: lipid-induced nephropathy in type II diabetes. Kidney Int; 57: 92-104.
- 30. Schrijvers BF, De Vriese AS. (2007) Novel insights in the treatment of diabetic nephropathy. Acta Clin Belg ; 62 : 278-90.
- Younes H, Levrat, MA, Demigne C, Remesy C. (1995) Resistant starch is more effective than cholestyramine as lipid-lowering agent in the rat. Lipids ; 30 : 847-53.
- Daubioul CA, Taper HS, De Wispelaere LD, Delzenne NM. (2000) Dietary oligofructose lessens hepatic steatosis, but does not prevent hypertriglyceridemia in obese Zucker rats. J Nutr; 130 : 1314-9.
- Wada T, Sugatani J, Terada E, Ohguchi M, Miwa M. (2005) Physicochemical characterization and biological effects of inulin enzymatically synthesized from sucrose. J Agric Food Chem ;

53:1246-53.

- 34. Gonzalez E, Rosello-Catafau J, Jawerbaum A, Sinner D, Pustovrh C, Vela J. (2000) Pancreatic nitric oxide and oxygen free radicals in the early stages of streptozotocin induced diabetes mellitus in the rat. Braz J Med Biol Res ; 33 : 1335-42.
- Shull S, Heintz NH, Periosery M, Manoha M, Johnssen YM, Marsh JP. (1991) Differential regulation of antioxidant enzymes in response to antioxidant. J Biol Chem ; 266 : 24398-464.
- Manach C. Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A, Remesy C. (2005) Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans: I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. Am J Clin Nutr ; 81 : S230-42.

5/3/2012

Chemical Characteristics and Antioxidant Capacity of Egyptian and Chinese Sunflower Seeds: A Case Study

S.F. Hamed*, Suzanne M. Wagdy, and M.G. Megahed

Fats and Oils Dept., National Research Centre, 33 Tahrir St., 12622 Dokki, saidfatouh123@yahoo.com

Abstract: In the last few years Chinese sunflower seed has invaded our Egyptian market increasingly. We took it and the Egyptian sunflower seed as a comparable case study to characterize and investigate them as a source of effective natural antioxidants, oil and protein. Chemical characteristics of the two seeds revealed that protein, oil, ash, moisture and total phenolic contents (TPC) increased significantly (P<0.05) after dehulling with pronounced larger amount of these parameters in the Egyptian sunflower seed compared to the Chinese one. Fatty acid analysis showed that Egyptian sunflower oil contains more than 86% and Chinese sunflower oil contains more than 80% unsaturated fatty acids which give these oils a relative advantage. Chlorogenic acid was the major phenolic compound present in TPC as measured by HPLC. Antioxidant activity (AA %) of the phenolic extracts was followed up by measuring radical scavenging activity (RSA %) of the stable DPPH• radical, the degradation rate of β -carotene-linoleic acid o/w emulsion, and the oxidation stability measured by the fully automated active oxygen method (Rancimat). Egyptian sunflower seed have more AA % than Chinese seed as revealed by the higher RSA%, less degradation rate of β -carotene-linoleic acid color and higher induction period measured by Rancimat. Results also demonstrated the suitability of Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seed to be an effective source of protein, with some good functional properties such as solubility, dispersibility water absorption capacity, and emulsifying capacity. Contrary, it showed poor foaming and gelling abilities. Egyptian sunflower oil can also be used as an effective source of unsaturated fats and natural antioxidants (TPC). Hence, can be supplemented in many foods and can replace the synthetic antioxidant with their remarkable hazards.

[S.F. Hamed, Suzanne M. Wagdy, and M.G. Megahed. Chemical Characteristics and Antioxidant Capacity of Egyptian and Chinese Sunflower Seeds: A Case Study. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):727-735] (ISSN:1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 108

Key words: sunflower seed, chlorogenic acid, total phenolic content, antioxidant activity.

1. Introduction

Sunflower is one of the major oilseed crops ranking fourth with a worldwide production of about 10.6 million metric tons in 2006⁽¹⁾. Sunflower is an annual plant native to the Americas belonging to the family Asteraceae. Per 100 g the seed enclose protein up to 20.78 g, total lipid (fat) up to 51.46 g, ash up to 3.02 g, fiber up to 8.6 g with total energy of 2445 kj. The oil accounts for 80% of the value of the sunflower crop, as contrasted with soybean which derives most of its value from the meal. Sunflower oil is generally considered a premium oil because of its light color, high level of unsaturated fatty acids and lack of linolenic acid, bland flavor and high smoke points. The primary fatty acids in the oil are oleic and linoleic (typically 90% unsaturated fatty acids), with the remainder consisting of palmitic and stearic saturated fatty acids. The primary use is as a salad and cooking oil or in margarine. In the USA, sunflower oils account for 8% or less of the market, but in many sunflower-producing countries, sunflower is the preferred and the most commonly used oil⁽²⁾.

Egypt's production of edible vegetable oils suffers several problems nowadays. During the early sixties, Egypt used to be self-sufficient in edible vegetable oils, where self-sufficiency ratio reached 95%. Such ratio followed a declining trend until reaching as low as 31.6% in 2007, which led to increasing volume of oil imports that reached 5.6 thousand tons worth L.E 1.992 billion in $2007^{(3)}$. The problem is further complicated by the reliance of the edible oils industry in Egypt on imported raw materials, where private sector's dependency ratio is estimated at 85% ⁽³⁾ and according to Egyptian-British Chamber of Commerce Egypt imported 92% of edible oil consumed in 2010⁽⁴⁾. As a result of such a gap between consumption and production Chinese sunflower seed has increasingly invaded the Egyptian market during the last few years.

Lipid oxidation is well known to cause deterioration of fats or fat-containing foods. Also, reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced during natural biological activity in the human body tends to accumulate therein. Antioxidants are needed to retard or delay lipid oxidation and to scavenge ROS. Antioxidants can act by the following mechanisms in lipid peroxidation: (1) decreasing localized oxygen concentrations, (2) preventing chain initiation by scavenging initiating radicals, (3) binding catalysts, such as metal ions, to prevent initiating radical generation, (4) decomposing peroxides so they

cannot be reconverted to initiating radicals, and (5) chain-breaking, to prevent continued hydrogen abstraction by active radicals ⁽⁵⁾. Commonly utilized chain-breaking antioxidants include butvlated hydroxy anisole (BHA), butylated hydroxy toluene (BHT), tert- butylhydroquinone (TBHQ), propyl gallate (PG) and the naturally occurring tocopherols. There are some serious problems concerning the safety and toxicity of BHA, BHT and TBHQ related to their metabolism and possible absorption and accumulation in body organs and tissues ⁽⁶⁾. Therefore, the search for natural antioxidants is highly desirable. The phenolic components and tocopherols are the most important antioxidants for storage stability, as well as, nutritional quality of food made from sunflower seeds. Cells contain a complex system of antioxidant defenses to protect against the harmful consequences of activated oxygen species. When such a complex mechanism inside the cell fail to get rid of ROS it may cause many dangerous diseases such as inflammation, cardiovascular-diseases, cancer and aging (7, 8). Numerous scientific articles refer to several natural phenols delaying the in vitro oxidation of simple or complex lipid matrices (9).

So, the aim of this work was to take Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seeds as a comparable case study for investigating their suitability as effective sources for natural antioxidants, oil and protein.

2. Materials and Methods Materials

Two samples of sunflower seed, an Egyptian and a Chinese, were purchased from the local market, Dokki district, Cairo, Egypt. Chlorogenic acid (CGA) and TBHQ were purchased from Sigma. All reagents were BDH or of analytical grade.

Methods

Proximate composition of sunflower seeds

Sunflower seeds were divided into two parts. Half of the seeds were used as such with hull and designated whole seed (WS) while the rest half was dehulled manually and designated (DS). Hulls were separated by aspiration. WS and DS were ground and sieved to pass an 80 mesh screen and then analyzed for their proximate composition that is moisture, crude protein, oil content, crude ash, and crude fiber as recommended by A.O.A.C. ⁽¹⁰⁾. Oil content was measured using a soxthlet extractor and n-hexane as a solvent. Hexane was evaporated using a rotary evaporator (Buchi Rotavapor Switzerland) at 40°C. The oil was dried over anhydrous sodium sulphate then placed in a vacuum oven until constant weight. The oil was kept at -20°C until analyses. The defatted meal resulting from WS and DS was spread to dry at room temperature and designated defatted meal of whole seeds (DMWS) and defatted meal of dehulled seeds (DMDS). The meal was kept in closed containers at -20°C until further work.

Phenolic extract preparation

Preparation of phenolic extracts was carried out following scientific literature regarding this subject ⁽¹¹⁻¹³⁾. Briefly, ground samples of whole (WS) or dehulled (DS) sunflower seeds (20 g) were extracted with 200 ml of solvent consisting of methanol, 0.16 M hydrochloric acid and water, mixed in proportion 8:1:1, respectively, for 2 h. The above mentioned procedure was repeated on the residue and extracts were combined and washed three times with 15 ml hexane to remove escaped oil using separatory funnel. The combined methanol layer was dried using rotary evaporator at 40°C and stored in darkness at -20°C.

Total phenolic content (TPC)

Total phenolics were determined colorimetrically using Folin-Ciocalteau reagent according to Hung et al. ⁽¹⁴⁾. The absorbance was measured at 725 nm using a UV – 1601 PC UV-visible spectrophotometer (Shimadzu, Japan). Total phenolics were quantified by calibration curve obtained from measuring the absorbance of a known concentration of chlorogenic acid and the results were expressed as milligrams chlorogenic acid equivalent (CAE) per 100 g extract.

Chemical characteristics and fatty acid composition

The chemical characteristics of the oils used for the experiment have been determined according to A.O.A.C.⁽¹⁰⁾

For determination of fatty acid composition sunflower oil methyl esters were prepared according to A.O.A.C. method ⁽¹⁰⁾. Determination of fatty acids composition was performed using a Hewlett Packard HP 6890 gas chromatograph, operated under the following conditions: Detector, flame ionisation (FID); column, capillary, 30.0 m X 530 µm, 1.0 µm thickness, polyethylene glycol phase (INNO Wax); N2 with flow rate, 15 ml/ min with average velocity 89 cm/s (8.2 psi); H2 flow rate, 30 ml/min; air flow rate, 300 ml/min; split ratio, 8:1, split flow, 120 ml/min; gas saver, 20 ml/min. Detector temperature, 280°C; column temperature, 240°C; injection temperature, 280°C. Programmed temperature starting from 100°C to reach a maximum of 240°C was used for eluting the fatty acid methyl esters. The identification of the peaks was made as compared

with chromatograms of standard fatty acids methyl esters (Sigma, USA).

Antioxidant Activity (AA%)

Antioxidant activity was determined by three methods: Radical scavenging activity $^{(15)}$, by the β carotene/ linoleic acid method described by Al-Shaikhan et al. (16) and the fully automated active oxygen (i.e. Rancimat) method. The later method was carried out using the Rancimat 679[®] (Metrohm AG, Herisau, Switzerland) instrument at 110°C with the air flow rate of 20 L/hr⁽¹⁷⁾. The oxidative stability was expressed as induction time (hr).

All antioxidant activity experiments were performed using 500 ppm of phenolic extracts in purified (stripped) sunflower oil.

Sunflower oil stripping (purification)

Sunflower oils were stripped from antioxidants and from trace metals and other prooxidants according to Fuster et al., 1998 (18) via adsorption chromatography to yield purified sunflower triacylglycerols fraction. A glass column (40×2.5 cm i.d.), plugged with glass wool, was packed with 250 g of alumina (activated at 100°C for 8 h and then at 200°C for 12 h) suspended in n-hexane, capped with sea sand, and conditioned by prewashing with 200 mL of n-hexane. The oil (100 mL) was dissolved in an equal volume of hexane and passed through the column, which was then washed with 200 mL of nhexane. The chromatographic column was wrapped with aluminium foil to prevent light-induced oxidations during the purification process, and triacylglycerols were collected in an aluminum foil wrapped flask. Analysis of the purified oils by thinlayer chromatography (Merck precoated silica gel 60 thin-layer chromatographic plates, 0.25 mm layer thickness and chloroform diethyl ether; 90:10, vol/vol) showed that they are composed mainly of triacylglycerols (data not shown).

Functional properties of sunflower defatted meals

Nitrogen solubility index (NSI), protein (PDI) were determined as dispersibility index described by Smith and Circle ⁽¹⁹⁾. Water absorption capacity (WAC) was estimated according to Huber ⁽²⁰⁾. Oil holding capacity (OHC) according to Childs and Forte⁽²¹⁾. Emulsifying Capacity (EC) as indicated by Shahidi *et al.*⁽²²⁾. Foam Stability (FS) as described by A.A.C.C.⁽²³⁾. Gelation according to Circle et al.⁽²⁴⁾.

HPLC Analysis

Methanolic extracts (5 µL) were injected in An Agilent 1100 Series HPLC system with a quaternary solvent delivery system, an online degasser, an autosampler, a DAD detector was used for the analysis. The column was a Phenomenex Luna C18 (5 µm, 250 mm X 4.6 mm) and column temperature was maintained at 30 °C. Two mobile phases, A 0.1% phosphoric acid and B acetonitrile were used in a gradient elution at a flow of 1 ml/min with the following gradient profile: 20 min from 10-22% B, 20 min with a linear rise to 40% B, 5 min reverse to 10% B, and additional 5 min equilibration time $^{(34)}$. The system was controlled and data analysis was performed by Agilent Chemstation Software. All the calculations concerning the quantitative analysis were performed with external standardization by the measurement of peak areas.

Statistical analysis

All chemical analyses were performed in three replicates and the results were statistically analysed. Statistical analysis was performed using the GLM procedure with SAS (25) software. Duncan's multiple comparison procedure was used to compare the means. A probability to $p \le 0.05$ was used to establish the statistical significance.

3. Results and Discussion

Proximate composition of sunflower seeds

Results in Table 1. Revealed that Moisture content in WS $(9.2\pm0.85\%)$ and in DS $(8.9\pm0.24\%)$ of Chinese seeds was higher than that of the Egyptian ones $(7.02\pm 0.66\%$ and 7.45 ± 0.35 in whole and dehulled seeds, respectively. Protein content in WS (22.96±1%) and DS (28.46±0.5%) of Egyptian sunflower were higher compared to the Chinese ones (21.22±0.99% and 26.69±1.99%, for WS and DS, respectively). The same trend was recorded for oil content where Egyptian sunflower seeds had higher oil content both in WS and DS than the Chinese seeds. The former recorded oil content of 22.11 $\pm 1.01\%$ and 29.09 $\pm 0.99\%$ while the latter recorded oil content of 16.33 ±0.96% and 20.36 ±0.89% in WS and DS, respectively. Whereas, the ash content of Chinese seeds recorded higher percentages both in whole $(7.36\pm0.14\%)$ and dehulled $(8.3\pm0.33\%)$ seeds than whole $(3.95\pm0.22\%)$ and dehulled $(5.53\pm0.62\%)$ seeds of the Egyptian type. Chinese sunflower seeds showed lower crude fiber content (31.51±2.1%) in WS than that of Egyptian WS (34.91±2.1%) but, higher crude fiber (18.81±0.36%) in Chinese DS than Egyptian DS (16.36±0.34%) were recorded. Nitrogen free extract (calculated) was higher in DS than WS, also higher in Chinese seeds than the Egyptian ones.

From the results we notice that after dehulling there is a significant increase in all constituents except crude fiber which is high in the seed hulls. Similar finding were also found by some other scientists ^(26, 27). Bhagya and Sastry ⁽²⁸⁾ also reported similar effects of dehulling on Niger seeds.

Parameter	Egyptian		Chinese	
	WS*	DS*	WS	DS
Moisture (%)	7.02 ± 0.66^{a}	7.45±0.35 ^b	9.2 ± 0.85^{d}	8.9±0.24 ^c
Protein (%)	22.96±1.2 ^b	28.46±0.5 ^d	21.22±0.99 ^a	26.69±1.99°
Oil Content (%)	$22.11 \pm 1.01^{\circ}$	29.09 ± 0.99^{d}	16.33 ± 0.96^{a}	20.36 ± 0.89^{b}
Ash (%)	3.95±0.22 ^a	5.53±0.62 ^b	7.36±0.14 ^c	8.3±0.33 ^d
Crude Fiber (%)	34.91±2.1 ^d	16.36±0.34 ^a	$31.51\pm2.1^{\circ}$	18.81 ± 0.36^{b}
Nitrogen Free Extract	9.05±0.86 ^a	13.11±0.59 ^b	14.38±0.75 °	16.94±0.98 ^d

Table 1.	Proximate	composition	of Egyptian	and Chinese	sunflower	seeds
I HOIC II	1 i Ommate	composition	or Egyptian	and chinese	bailitower	beeab

Means followed by the same letter within the same row are not significantly different (P<0.05) *WS: Whole seed; DS: Dehulled seeds. Values are mean \pm SD.

Total phenolic content (TPC)

According to the results (Table 2.) the total phenolic content (TPC), expressed as chlorogenic acid equivalent (mg/100g), was significantly higher (P<0.05) in dehulled seeds (DS) than in whole seeds (WS) of both Egyptian and Chinese sunflowers. The TPC was lower by about 35% in WS than DS. The highest TPC in WS (772 ± 3.3 mg CAE/100 g) and in the DS (1088 ± 3.95 mg CAE /100 g) was in Egyptian seeds. Chinese seeds showed less phenolics content both in WS (625 ± 2.1 mg CAE /100 g) and in the DS

(886 ±3.5 mg CAE /100g). Various scientists have investigated the content of phenolic compounds in sunflower seeds ⁽²⁹⁻³²⁾. De Leonardis and coworkers ⁽³⁰⁾ reported that TPC in sunflower was in the range of 1.11 to 1.15 mg/mL chlorogenic acid equivalent which is in good agreement with our findings, while Fisk et al.⁽³¹⁾ determined the TPC in sunflower seeds and found it to be 2700 mg/100 g. Comparison is hardly possible because of differing analytical methodologies, and differences in the sample material and origin.

 Table 2. Total phenolic compounds (mg/100g CAE*) in Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seeds

Parameter	Egyptian		Chinese	
	WS*	DS*	WS	DS
Total Phenolics (mg CAE [*] /100g,				
(spectrophotometric)	772±3.3 ^b	1088 ± 3.95^{d}	625±2.1ª	886±3.5°
Chlorogenic acid (mg/100gm, HPLC)	501.8 ^b	728.96 ^d	400.2 ^a	602.3 ^c

Means followed by the same letter within the same row are not significantly different (P<0.05), CAE *: chlorogenic acid equivalent *WS: whole seed; DS: dehulled seeds. Values are mean \pm SD.

In the two (Egyptian and Chinese sunflower oils) samples, chlorogenic acid was the most abundant phenolic compound, 602.3-728.96mg/100gm for DS and 400.2- 501.8 for WS, respectively constituting $\approx 65\%$ of total phenolics (Table2.) as measured by HPLC. Other phenolic constituents were present in too small amounts to be detected by HPLC. Results of Žilić et al.⁽³³⁾ were comparable to our results where they found that TPC of sunflower oil comprised principally of chlorogenic acid, while caffeic acid, ferulic acid, rosmarinic acid, mvricetin, and rutin were found in very small percentages. De Leonardis et al.⁽³⁰⁾ showed that phenolic spectrum of sunflower seeds included seven components (chlorogenic acid, protocatechuic, caffeic acid, o-cinnamic acid, ferulic acid, syringic acid and an unidentified phenolic compound). These authors also reported that the chlorogenic acid was the most abundant phenolic compound (≈79.4% of total phenols). Phenolic compounds in seeds and kernels of sunflower deserve much more attention

because the total phenolic content, strongly correlate (r=0.93, P<0.05) with total antioxidant activity $^{(30,33)}$.

Chemical characteristics and fatty acid composition

The chemical characteristics of the Egyptian and Chinese sunflower oil samples are shown in Table 3. Results revealed that acid and peroxide values of the two samples were moderate and comparable to each other and were not significantly different (P< 0.05). Iodine value (IV) which represents the degree of unsaturation indicated that Egyptian sunflower oil has higher IV (129.41) compared to IV of the Chinese oil (115.18), hence Egyptian sunflower oil had significantly (P< 0.05) higher total unsaturation than the Chinese one. Regarding the ester value, saponification value, and unsaponifiable matters, results showed that the Egyptian sunflower oil had higher values than the Chinese one (P< 0.05).

Parameter	Egyptian	Chinese
Acid value (mg KOH /g oil)	3.23±0.22 ^a	3.8±0.31 ^a
Peroxide value (meq.O ₂ /kg oil)	0.71±0.33 ^b	0.88±0.23 ^b
Iodine value	129.41±1.44 ^d	105.18±1.54 ^c
Saponification value (mg KOH / g oil)	189.4±2.1 ^b	187.6±2.3 ^a
Unsaponifiable matter (%)	1.85 ± 0.15^{b}	1.74±0.13 ^a
Ester value	186.17±1.53 ^b	183.8±0.99 ^a

Table 3. Chemical characteristics of Egyptian and

 Chinese sunflower oils

Means followed by the same letter within the same row are not significantly different (P<0.05), Values are mean \pm SD.

Regarding fatty acid profile, Table 4 shows that palmitic acid contents ranged from 6.50 to 9.53%. palmitoleic acid contents from 1 to 1.3%, stearic acid contents from 7.25 to 9.78%, oleic acid contents from 32.95 to 27.8% and linoleic acid contents seeds ranged from 52.3 to 51.56% for Egyptian and Chinese sunflower oils, respectively. As seen from Table 4. almost 86% of Egyptian sunflower oil and 80% of Chinese sunflower oil are of good unsaturated type. Clinical studies show that higher unsaturated fat diets may be preferable even to lowfat diets because they lower total cholesterol, low density lipoprotein (LDL) or bad cholesterol and triglycerides, while maintaining beneficial high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, which is needed to carry the "bad" cholesterol away⁽²¹⁾.

Table 4. Fatty acid composition of Egyptian andChinese sunflower oils

Fatty Acid	Egyptian	Chinese
Palmitic acid	6.5 ± 0.77^{a}	9.53±0.98 ^b
Palmitoleic	1±0.39 ^a	1.33±0.64 ^a
Stearic	7.25±0.44 ^a	9.78 ± 0.86^{b}
Oleic	32.95±0.79 ^b	27.8±0.69 ^a
Linoleic	52.3±0.85 ^b	51.56±0.8 ^a
Total Saturation (SFA)	13.75 ^a	19.31 ^b
Total unsaturation (UFA)	86.25 ^b	80.69 ^a
SAT/USAT	0.16 ^a	0.24 ^b

Means followed by the same letter within the same row are not significantly different (P<0.05), Values are mean \pm SD

Antioxidant activity (AA%)

The antioxidant property of sunflower seed extracts influenced by the presence of phenolic compounds was followed up by measuring the capacity of scavenging DPPH• (RSA %), the oxidation of β -carotene- linoleic acid o/w emulsion and as well as measuring oxidation stability by the automated active oxygen method (Rancimat).

Radical scavenging activity (RSA%)

The stable DPPH• is scavenged by accepting a hydrogen atom or an electron from the antioxidant

and DPPH• transforms into its reduced form, DPPH-H⁽³⁴⁻³⁶⁾. DPPH• has a maximum UV-Vis absorbance at 516 nm. Decreasing the absorbance of DPPH solution indicates an increase in DPPH radical scavenging in terms of hydrogen-donating ability. The solution of the purple-colored DPPH radical changed to yellow-colored DPPH-H after reduction. The time taken for the initial DPPH• concentration to reach 50% is called TC₅₀. Decrease of TC₅₀ indicates high RSA% and vice versa. TC₅₀ of Egyptian and Chinese were shown in Fig. 1. As shown in Fig.1 the RSA% of dehulled seed extracts were higher (TC₅₀ ranged 7.5-15.33 min) than whole seed extracts (TC₅₀) ranged 10.5-18.5 min) for Egyptian and Chinese sunflower, respectively. Egyptian sunflower seeds revealed significantly (P<0.05) higher RSA% both in WS and DS than Chinese seeds.



Figure 1. DPPH radical-scavenging activity in Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seed extracts expressed as TC_{50} ; WS: whole seed; DS: dehulled seeds.

β-Carotene – linoleic acid assay

The oxidation stability of WS and DS of Egyptian and Chinese sunflower TPC extracts in emulsions, was assessed by the coupled oxidation of β -carotene and linoleic acid in o/w emulsion. The test is based on the fact that β -carotene undergoes rapid discoloration in the absence of antioxidant and during oxidation an atom of hydrogen is abstracted from the active methylene group of linoleic acid located on carbon-11 between the two double bonds^(37, 38). The pentadienyl free radical so formed then attacks highly unsaturated β -carotene molecules to reacquire an hydrogen atom. As the β -carotene molecules lose their conjugation, they lose their characteristic orange color. This process can be monitored spectrophotometrically⁽³⁹⁾. The presence of phenolic antioxidant can hinder the extent of β -carotene degradation by neutralizing the linoleate free radical and any other radicals formed within the system. The rate of β -carotene bleaching by Egyptian (WS and DS), Chinese (WS and DS) sunflower seeds, TBHQ and α -tocopherol was shown in Fig.2. Among the six tested samples the least B-carotene bleaching (i.e. highest antioxidant activity) was recorded for TBHQ while highest β -carotene bleaching (i.e. least

antioxidant activity) was that of Chinese WS. The order of decreasing antioxidant as shown in Fig.2 was TBHQ>Egyptian DS> Egyptian WS > α -tocopherol >Chinese DS > Chinese WS.





Active oxygen method (Rancimat)

The measurement of fat and oil oxidation stability is commonly assessed by the fully automated version of active oxygen method available in Rancimat apparatus (Metrohm Ltd, Herisau, Switzerland) and is accepted as a standard method by American Oil Chemists' Society (AOCS Cd 12b-92) (10, 40-42)

Rancimat method determines the induction period by measuring the increase in volatile acidic by-products released from the oxidizing fat at 100-110 °C. The concentration of degradation products which are transferred into distilled water is monitored by measuring the conductivity. Longer induction periods suggest stronger activity of the added antioxidants.

It is clear that TBHQ revealed the highest protection as indicated by its longest induction period (12.3 hr) among all the tested samples, whereas the control (stripped sunflower oil without any addition) showed the least induction period (3.28 hr). The descending order of antioxidant capacity was TBHQ>Egyptian DS> Egyptian WS \geq Chinese DS >Chinese WS >control.



Figure 3. Effect of Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seed extracts on oxidation stability of stripped sunflower oil measured by Rancimat, WS: whole seed; DS: dehulled seeds.

Functional properties of defatted sunflower meals.

Proximate composition of the defatted meal of whole seed (DMWS) and defatted meal of dehulled seeds (DMDS) for both Egyptian and Chinese seeds are represented in Table 5.

Removal of the oil from WS meal and DS meal resulted in concentration of almost all other constituents specially protein.

Protein content was raised from 22.96 and 28.46% (Table 1) for Egyptian WS, and DS, respectively, to 45.36 and 51.43% protein for DMWS and DMDS (Table 5), respectively. While the Chinese WS and DS contained 21.22 and 26.69% protein respectively (Table 1), which increased upon defatting to 43.89 and 49.72% protein for DMWS and DMDS, respectively (Table 5). Other values in table 5 are self explanatory.

Apart from their nutritional properties, the functional properties of protein and protein products must be taken into account as stated by Finch ⁽⁴³⁾. Pour –El ⁽⁴⁴⁾ had broadly defined functionality as any property of a food or food ingredient except its nutritional ones that affected its utilization. The range of desirable and attractive functional properties that should be looked for is almost as broad as the range of foods themselves. Some of the important functional properties were chosen and investigated for DMWS and DMDS protein, and their results are illustrated in Table 6.

 Table 5. Proximate composition of defatted meal of whole seed (DMWS) and defatted meal of dehulled seed (DMDS) of both Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seeds

Parameters	Egyptian		Chinese	
(%)	DMWS*	DMDS*	DMWS	DMDS
Moisture	8.23±0.56	7.69±0.66	7.99±0.85	9.01±0.23
Protein	45.36±0.62	51.43±0.55	43.89±0.98	49.72±0.42
Oil	0.5±0.16	0.4±0.35	0.2±0.57	0.4±0.62
Ash	6.7±0.52	8.04±0.43	9.01±0.72	10.12±0.29
Crude fiber	35.91±0.64	18.23±0.86	34.69±0.39	20.12±0.65
Nitrogen free extract	3.3±0.01	14.21±0.34	4.22±0.41	10.63±0.33

*DMWS= defatted meal of whole seeds; DMDS= defatted meal of dehulled seeds

Functional Properties	Egyptian		Chinese		Soya bean* meal
	DMWS	DMDS	DMWS	DMDS	
NSI (%)	5.5±.23	7.9 ±.11	$5.6 \pm .35$	$6.9 \pm .27$	$15.48 \pm .66$
PDI (%)	$6.0 \pm .44$	9.4 ±.45	$4.0 \pm .36$	$15.5 \pm .55$	$16.25 \pm .51$
WAC (%)	480 ±.35	450 ±.26	480 ±.16	$460 \pm .36$	$300 \pm .32$
OHC (%)	$5.4 \pm .72$	$6.3 \pm .56$	$6.3 \pm .32$	$7.14 \pm .14$	$1.875 \pm .71$
EC (%)	20.0 ±.	$20.8 \pm .31$	$20.0 \pm .55$	$20.8 \pm .46$	$20.8 \pm .42$
GE (%)	$1.0 \pm .42$	$1.0 \pm .37$	$1.0 \pm .53$	$1.0 \pm .12$	3. ±.41
Foam Stability After					
40 Second	$18.3 \pm .34$	$12.85 \pm .51$	$19.76 \pm .31$	$10.86 \pm .43$	$32.5 \pm .33$
50 Second	$18.4 \pm .25$	$15.67 \pm .17$	$21.7 \pm .11$	$14.13 \pm .44$	$130.5 \pm .54$
60 Second	$20.03 \pm .55$	$20.03 \pm .55$	$21.35 \pm .53$	8.7±.62	$160.3 \pm .66$

Table 6: Functional properties of defatted meal of whole seed (DMWS) and defatted meal of dehulled seed (DMDS) proteins of both Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seeds, as well as soybean meal for comparison.

*Taha and Ibrahim (46).N.S.I: Nitrogen Solubility IndexE.C.: Emulsifying CapacityP.D.I.: Protein Dispersibility indexO.H.C : Oil Holding Capacity ml oil to mg sampleW.A.C: Water absorption CapacityG.E: Gelation

Nitrogen Solubility Index (NSI)

NSI is a very important measure of the functionality of the proteins in different food systems, especially in fortifying nutritious beverages, instant foods, bakery products, salad dressings, soups and others. The American Dairy Products Institute emphasized that a high value of the NSI indicates that the product is less soluble. NSI of sunflower protein products indicate very good solubility of protein compared to soybean meal protein. NSI values for DMWS(Egyptian), DMWS (Chinese), DMDS (Chinese), DMDS (Egyptian), and soybean meal were 5.5, 5.6, 6.9, 7.9, and 15.48%, respectively.

Protein Dispersibility Index (PDI):

PDI is another criterion similar to NSI. It confirms the good solubility of sunflower protein. Soybean meal possessed 16.25% PDI, while DMDS (Chinese) had a close PDI 15.5% to soybean. On the other hand sunflower products, namely DMDS (Egyptian), DMWS (Egyptian), DMWS (Chinese) had 9.4, 6.0, and 4.0 % PDI, respectively, showing superiority to soybean protein.

Water absorption capacity (WAC):

It is the ability of a product to absorb water or swell. This property is important in the manufacture of bakery products, pastas, doughnuts and others. Sunflower protein products show better WAC than soybean meal protein thus is even more suitable to fortify the above mentioned products . DMDS (Chinese), DMWS (Egyptian), DMWS (Chinese), DMDS (Egyptian) showed 480, 480, 460, and 450% WAC, respectively, compared to 300 % WAC of soybean meal.

Oil Holding Capacity (OHC)

OHC is the ability of a protein to bind with oil. It is an important criterion in the meat industry (sausages, hamburgers etc.) OHC % for DMDS (Egyptian), DMDS (Chinese), DMWS (Egyptian), DMWS (Chinese), and soybean meal were 6.3, 7.14, 5.4, 6.3, and 1.875, respectively.

Emulsifying capacity (EC)

Emulsifying and film forming ability of plant proteins is essential for those proteins to perform well in meat systems. Also a protein's ability to form emulsion is critical to their application in mayonnaise, salad dressing, milks, and frozen desserts. EC of whole seed proteins is 20ml oil/100g sample which means less than soybean meal. EC of defatted meals is comparable to that of soybean meal (20.8ml oil/100g) sample. González –Pérez and Vereijken ⁽⁴⁶⁾ reported that the emulsifying properties of sunflower protein, show very interesting perspectives to enhance their usage, as they seem at least comparable to those of soy protein.

Gelling Ability or Gelation (GE)

It is an important criterion as a protein's EC in comminuted meat systems. It is reported as the lowest concentration of protein that remained as a stable gel after 30 min at room temperature. Soybean meal gelled at 3% protein concentration while sunflower protein products gelled at 1% protein concentration which indicates better gelling properties. On the other hand González –Pérez and Vereijken (⁴⁶) reported that gelling properties of sunflower were not as promising as the EC.

733

Foam Stability (FS)

FS Is the capacity to form stiff, stable foam and is a requirement of proteins to be incorporated into gel cakes, whipped toppings, desserts and soufflé like products. Results in Table 6. reveal low foam stability of all sunflower protein products compared to soybean meal. Poor foaming properties of sunflower protein was in agreement with González – Pérez and Vereijken (⁴⁶⁾ concluded poor foaming properties for sunflower protein.

In conclusion Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seed and meals did not show much difference between the functional properties of their meal proteins.

Conclusion

This work assessed that dehulling of sunflower seeds either Egyptian or Chinese increase significantly total proteins, total fats (of which the majority is unsaturated), and total phenolics. Egyptian seed and oil was found to be superior to the Chinese ones in most chemical characteristics and in its content of protein, fat and antioxidant activity. Although, its production is insufficient to meet the consumption of edible oils Egyptian sunflower seed can be used efficiently in supplementation of many foods due to its superior protein, unsaturated fat, and natural antioxidants contents. On the other hand, Egyptian and Chinese sunflower seeds and meals did not show much difference between the functional properties of their meal proteins.

Corresponding author

S.F. Hamed

Fats and Oils Dept. National Research Centre, 33 Tahrir St., 12622 Dokki, Cairo, Egypt. E-mail: saidfatouh123@yahoo.com

References

- 1-FAO-STAT (2008). Food Bulletin. Website: http://faostat.fao.org/site/567/default.aspx.
- 2- USDA (2008). Accessed on, 2009/07/25, http:// www. nal. usda. gov/ fnic/ food comp/ cgibin/ list_nut_edit.pl
- 3- Hassan M. B., Sahfique F. A. (2010). Current situation of edible vegetable oils and some propositions to curb the oil gap in Egypt. Nature and Science, 8: 1-7
- 4- Egyptian-British Chamber of Commerce Report (2010). Food Industry in Egypt – Spotlight on Egypt , 18 May 2010.
- 5- Shahidi, F. and R. Wanasundaras (1992). Phenolic antioxidants. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 32: 67–103.
- 6- Linderschmidt, R.; A. Trylka; M. Goad and H. Witschi (1986). The effects of dietary butylated

hydroxytoluene on liver and colon tumor development in mice. Toxicology, 38: 151-160.

- 7- Kregel KC, Zhang HJ (2006). An integrated view of oxidative stress in aging: basic mechanisms, functional effects, and pathological considerations. Am. J. Physiol., 292: 18-36.
- 8- Wang JS, Maldonado MA (2006). The ubiquitinproteasome system and its role in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Cell Molecular Immunol., 3: 255-261.
- 9- Fukumoto, L.R. and Mazza, G., 2000. Assessing antioxidant and prooxidant activities of phenolic compounds. J. Agric. Food Chem. 48: 3597–3604.
- 10- A.O.A.C. (2000). The Official Methods and Recommended Practices of the American Oil Chemists Society, 5th ed., AOCS Press, Champaign, Illinois.
- Leung J, Fenton TW, Clandinin DR (1981). Phenolic components of sunflower flour. J Food Sci. 46: 1386-93.
- Pedrosa MM, Muzquiz M, Garcia-Vallejo C, Burbano C, Cuadrado C, Ayet G, Robredo LM. (2000). Determination of caffeic and chlorogenic acids and their derivatives in different sunflower seeds. J Sci Food Agic 80: 459-64.
- 13- Paśko P , Bartoń, Zagrodzki P, Gorinstein S, Fołta M, Zachwieja Z. (2009) Anthocyanins, total polyphenols and antioxidant activity in amaranth and quinoa seeds and sprouts during their growth. J Food Sci 115: 994-98.
- 14- Hung Y; Sava VM; Makan SY and Chen THJ. 2002. Antioxidant activity of melanins derived from tea: Comparison of different oxidative states. *Food Chem.*, **78**, 233-240.
- 15- Blois MS. (1958). Antioxidant determinations by the use of a stable free radical. Nature;26:1199–1200.
- 16- Al-Shaikhan MS; Howard LR and Miller JC Jr. 1995.Antioxidant activity and total phenolics in different genotypes of potato. J. Food Science, 60, 341-343.
- 17- Läubli M.W., and P.A. Bruttel (1986). Determination of the oxidative stability of fats and oils: comparison between the active oxygen method and the Rancimat method. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 63: 792–795.
- 18- Fuster M. D, A-M. Lampi, A. Hopia, and A. Kamal-Eldin (1998). Effects of α and γ -tocopherols on the autooxidation of purified sunflower triacylglycerols, Lipid, 33(7): 715-722.
- Smith A.K. and Circle S.J. Editors (1997).Nitrogen solubility index and protein dispersibility index. In "Soybean: Chemistry and Technolgy" Volume 1. Proteins, Appendix pp415-454 AVI Publishing Company.
- 20- Huber H. (1982). Water binding of rye flour during its processing. Proceedings of the World Cereal Bread Congress (WCB 82), Prague, Czechoslovahia, p.765.

- 21- Childs E.A. and Forte J.F.(1976). Enzymatic and ultrasonic techniques for solubilization of protein from heat-treated cottonseed products.FJ.Food Science 41:652-655.
- 22- Shahidi, F., Xiao-Qing, H., Synowieck J., (1995) Production and Characteristics of protein hydrolysates from capelin (Mallotus villosus) Food Chem., 53, 285-293.
- 23- A.A. C. C. (1990). American Association of Cereal Chemists. Approved methods 12th ed. Pup. Univ. of Fam. St., Paul, Minn, USA
- 24- Circle S.J., Meyer E.W., and Whitney RW(1964)Rheology of soybean dispersions: effects of heat and other factors on gelation Cereal Chem. 41: 157.
- 25- SAS (2004). Statistical Analysis System. SAS User's Statistics SAS Institute Inc. Editors, Cary, NC.
- 26- Srilatha K, Krishnakumari K (2003). Proximate composition and protein quality evaluation of recipes containing sunflower cake. Plant foods for Human Nutri., 58: 1-11.
- 27- Nadeem M., Anjum F. M., Arshad M. U. and S. Hussain (2010). Chemical characteristics and antioxidant activity of different sunflower hybrids and their utilization in bread, African Journal of Food Science Vol. 4(10): 618-626.
- 28- Bhagya S., Sastry MCS (2003). Chemical, functional and nutritional properties of wet dehulled niger (Guizotia abyssinica Cass.) seed flour. Lebensm.-Wiss. u.-Technol., 36: 703–708.
- 29- Pedrosa, M.M., Muzquiz, M., Garcia-Vallejo, C., Burbano, C., Cuadrado, C., Ayet, G. and Robredo, L.M., 2000. Determination of caffeic and chlorogenic acids and their derivatives in different sunflower seeds. J. Sci. Food Agric. 80: 459–464.
- 30- De Leonardis, A., Macciola, V. and Di Domenico, N., 2005. A first pilot study to produce a food antioxidant from sunflower seed shells (Helianthus annuus L.). Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 107: 220– 227.
- 31- Fisk LD, White DA, Carvalho A, Gray DA (2006). Tocopherol – An Intrinsic Component of Sunflower Seed Oil Bodies. J. Am. Oil Chem., Soc., 83: 341– 344.
- 32- Hamed S.F., H.S.A. Hassan (2005).Fruit and oil quality of three olive cultivars grown under different climatic regions. J. Agric. Sci. Mansoura Univ., 30 (3): 1617-1630.

- 33- Žilić, S., Maksimović Dragišić, J., Maksimović, V., Maksimović, M., Basić, Z., Crevar, M., Stanković, G. (2010). The content of antioxidants in sunflower seed and kernel. *HELIA*, 33 (52): 75-84.
- 34- Kim S., Nga W. K., Shena S., Donga Y., Tan R. B.H. (2009). Phase behavior, microstructure transition, and antiradical activity of sucrose laurate/propylene glycol/the essential oil of Melaleuca alternifolia/water microemulsions Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects 348: 289–297
- 35- Huang, D., Ou, B., & Prior, R. L. (2005). The chemistry behind antioxidant capacity assays. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53, 1841–1856.
- 36- Prior, R. L., Wu, X., Schaich, K. (2005). Standardized methods for the determination of antioxidant capacity and phenolics in foods and dietary supplements. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 53, 4290–4302
- 37- miller, H.E. (1971). A simplified method for the evaluation of antioxidants. JAOCS, 48: 91.
- 38- Frankel, E.N. (1998). Hydroperoxide formation. In *Lipid oxidation* (pp. 23-41). Dundee: The Oily Press.
- 39- Hamed, S.F. (2006). Edible oil as an olternate solvent of antioxidant components from natural herbs. Journal of Applied Sciences Research, 2 (9): 567-571.
- 40- Antolovich M., P. D. Prenzler, E. Patsalides, S. McDonald, and K. Robards, (2002) Analyst, 127, 183.
- 41- Pratt D. E., 1995. in Y. H. Hui, ed., Bailey's Industrial Oil and Fat Products, Edible Oil and Fat Products, Products and Application Technology, 5th ed., Wiley, New York, p. 523.
- 42- Dziedzic S. Z. and B. J. F. Hudson(1984), J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc., 61, 1042.
- 43- Finch R. (1970) Fish protein for human foods. CRC Reviews in Food Technology 1(4): 519
- 44- Pour- El A. (1981). Protein functionality: Classification, definition and Methodology. Chapter 1 in "Protein Functionality in Foods" Ed., J.P. Cherry, pp1-9, ACS Series 147, Washington DC.
- 45- Taha FS and Ibrahim M.A.(2002), Effect of degree of hydrolysis on the functional properties of some oilseed proteins. Grasa y Aceites 53: 273-281.
- 46- González-Pérez S. and Vereijken J.M. (2007) Review. Sunflower proteins: physicochemical, structural and functional properties. J. of the Science of Food and Agriculture 87: 2173-2191.

4/29/2012

Synthesis and molecular modeling study of novel pyrrole Schiff Bases as anti-HSV-1 agents

Khalid M. H. Hilmy^{1*}, Dalia H. Soliman², Esmat B. A. Shahin³, Rakia Abd Alhameed¹

¹ Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Menoufiya University, Shebin El-Kom, Egypt ²Pharmaceutical Chemistry Department, Faculty of Pharmacy (Girls), Al-Azhar University, Cairo, Egypt ³Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine (Girls), Al-Azhar University, Cairo, Egypt <u>hilmykhaled@yahoo.com</u>, <u>khaledhilmy@hotmail.com</u>

Abstract: A series of novel pyrrole Schiff bases were synthesized by reaction of 2-amino-1,5-diaryl pyrrole-3carbonitrile **1a-h** with different aromatic aldehydes using P_2O_5 as a catalyst to obtain **2a-p**, which were evaluated against herpes simplex virus type1 (HSV-1). The compounds **2d**, **2h**, **2m**, and **2n** were found to reduce the virus yield by 94-99 %, while compounds **2g**, **2k** and **2o** showed moderate activity (65-70%) compared to ACV (96%). The rest of the compounds were found to be inactive against HSV-1. Molecular modeling studies were carried out through docking the compounds in its most stable conformation into the active site of HSV-1 TK. The study revealed that the best fitted conformer was **2n** with a higher docking score (-7.32) and a better binding mode than ACV. The O-atom of the OCH₃ group formed two H-bond interactions with Arg¹⁷⁶ and Tyr¹⁰¹, hydrogen bonds were also formed with Arg¹⁶³ and Tyr¹³² all of which are crucial amino acid residues for the enzyme activity, in addition to a Hbond interaction between the N²-pyrazole and Gly⁵⁹. It could be suggested that the van der Waal interactions demonstrated by 1, 5-diaryl pyrrole located the molecule in close proximity to the active site Arg¹⁷⁶, Tyr¹⁰¹, Arg¹⁶³ and Tyr¹³².

[Khalid M. H. Hilmy, Dalia H. Soliman, Esmat B. A. Shahin and Rakia Abd Alhameed. Synthesis and molecular modeling study of novel pyrrole Schiff Bases as anti-HSV-1agents. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):736-745] (ISSN:1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 109

Keywords: Pyrrole Schiff bases/HSV-1/HSV-Thymidine Kinase/Molecular modeling studies.

1. Introduction

Herpes simplex virus (HSV) causes herpes labialis, herpes keratitis, genetic herpes and lifethreatening herpes encephalitis. HSV infections are more severe in immunocompromised patients, which are characterized by chronic and extensive lesions of the mucous membranes [1]. Most therapies directed against HSV infections are nucleotides, nucleosides or pyrophosphate analogues, such as acyclovir (ACV), valacyclovir, penciclovir and famciclovir. After uptake by virus-infected cells, these drugs are phosphorylated by virus-encoded thymidine kinase (TK), compete with the nucleotides to inhibit the viral DNA polymerase and subsequently cause the termination of growing viral DNA chains [2]. Although these drugs are effective in the treatment of many acute infections, the intensive use of these drugs has led to the emergence of resistant viral strains, mainly in immunocompromised patients. Inspite of the substantial advance in HSV therapy through the introduction of ACV, this anti-HSV compound and most of the other compounds under pharmaceutical development are substrate analogs of thymidine kinase [3]. It is important to note that TK is not a direct target of antiviral therapy because it is not required for virus replication; however viral TK activity may be required for reactivation of the virus from latency in the nerve cells [4]. Since antiviral drug resistance has become an issue of increasing

clinical importance, the need for structurally unrelated agents which incorporate novel mechanisms of viral inhibition is apparent. Therefore, search for new non-nucleoside compounds as anti-HSV could be useful TK inhibitors. Pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidines are purine analogs that display remarkable biological activities such as ant-inflammatory [5], anticancer[6-10], antimicrobial [11], antibiotics containing this moiety [12], antiasthmatic [13] and antiviral [14-15]. In addition, Tubercidine and Sangivamycin are pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidine nucleoside antibiotics isolated from Streptomyces species that inhibit HSV replication [16]. Many bioactive natural products and synthetic drugs contain a pyrrole moiety as their key skeleton [17,18], subsequently highly substituted pyrroles has been one of the major targets in synthetic chemistry. Virtually, they were found to possess a wide variety of biological activities such as antibacterial[19], anticancer [20-23], antifungal [24], anti-inflammatory [25-28] and anti-oxidants [29].Many studies have reported on the antiviral activity of pyrroles [30-33], interestingly it was established that Congocidine and Distamycin are pyrroleamidine antibiotics isolated from Streptomyces chromagens that inhibits the multiplication of DNA virus HSV [34,35]. Moreover, Schiff bases derived from pyrrole were effective antiviral agents [35].Schiff bases also deserve great interest due to their biological properties [36]. The above mentioned facts encouraged us to undertake the synthesis of some new Schiff bases of 2-amino-3-

cyano-1,5-disubstitutedpyrrole to be evaluated as anti HSV-1.



Figure 1. Structures of selective natural pyrrole and pyrrolopyrimidine lead compounds used as anti HSV-1.

2. Results and Discussion

The synthetic route utilized for the synthesis of the target compounds is outlined in Scheme 1. Condensation of 2-amino-3-cyano-1,5-diarylpyrroles 1a-h [37] with various aryl aldehydes in the presence of a catalytic amount of phosphorous pentoxide (P₂O₅)for 2-12 hrs yielded the Schiff bases 2a-p. The structures of the new compounds 2-arylideneamino-1,5-diaryl-1H-pyrrole-3 carbonitriles2a-p were confirmed by spectral data. The main feature characterizing their IR spectra is the presence of CN band at 2202-2212 cm⁻¹, the disappearance of the band corresponding to NH₂ group and the detection of a strong C=N stretching band at 1580-1645 cm⁻¹ evidenced the formation of the Schiff base. Moreover, ¹H-NMR of the synthesized compounds revealed a singlet at around $\delta 6.6$ attributed to the pyrrole hydrogen, another singlet characterized the ¹H-NMR



spectra at approximately δ 9.1 corresponding to the imine hydrogen. The ${}^{13}C{1H}$ NMR spectrum of 2j in DMSO-d₆ showed downfield signals at δ 162.7 ppm (C₂-naphthyl), 159.8 ppm (C-imine), 157.8 ppm (C₄'phenyl) as well as a signal to up field at δ 55.5 ppm (OCH₃). It is worth mentioning here that, the use of the strong dehydrating agent phosphorous pentoxide (P_2O_5) in catalytic amount allowed the reaction to proceed forward in much less time (TLC monitored) and significantly higher yields. Different structural aldehydes were used to conduct a comparative study on the time of the reaction as well as its yield. The reaction of O-vanillin and salisaldehyde took place easily with good yield especially when pyrrole derivatives with substitution on two phenyl group were in para position. The reactions of cinnamaldehyde were faster and gave better yield than the pyrazole-4-carbaldehyde derivatives.

Compound No.	R	R ₁
1a	4-Cl	Н
b	3-CF ₃	Н
c	4-OCH ₃	4-C1
d	Н	4-Br
e	4-CH ₃	Н
f	Н	Н
g	4-Br	Н
h	4-OCH ₃	Н

(i)Absolute ethanol, P₂O₅, reflux. **Scheme1.** Synthesis of Schiff bases of 2-amino-3-cyano-1,5-diaryl-pyrroles.

3. Antiviral Screening

The newly synthesized compounds 2a-p were evaluated for their in vitro antiviral activity against herpes simplex virus type 1. The antiviral screening was performed using the plaque reduction assay against HSV-1 in vero cell; ACV was used as the standard drug showing 96% reduction in the number of virus plaques. Table 1 summarizes the anti HSV-1 activity of these compounds with respect to Acyclovir. Compounds 2d, 2h, 2m, and 2n reduced the virus yields by 99-94 %. Both 2d and 2nproved to be the most active among the tested compounds and even more than ACV by reducing the number of HSV-1 plaques by 99% and 97% respectively. The antiviral activity of compounds 2h and 2m was comparable to the standard ACV, 96% and 94% respectively. Compounds 2g. 2k and 2o showed moderate activity (65-70%) compared to ACV (96%). The rest of the compounds were found to be inactive against HSV-1.Extensive SAR exploration of this novel series showed that the 5-pyrrole position of the most active compounds 2d and 2n was occupied by a 4-methoxyphenyl, the highest activity was achieved by compound 2d which also had a 4methoxybenzylideneamino in position 2 of the pyrrole ring. However, a total loss in the activity was conferred when the 4-methoxybenzylideneamino was replaced by 2-hydroxy-4-methoxybenzylideneamino. The high activity of 2n could be attributed to the combination of the 4-methoxyphenyl and the pyrazole ring which itself has reported antiviral activity [38]. The Schiff base derived from cinnamaldehyde 2g expressed moderate antiviral activity thus, we aimed to enhance the activity by replacing the 5-phenylpyrrole with a 4-methoxyphenl counterpart, unfortunately this resulted in an inactive compound 2i, while 5-(4-bromophenyl) pyrrole2h showed the same activity as ACV. The moderate activity of compounds 2k and 20 could be attributed to the reported antiviral activity of quinoline and pyrazole [38,39]. Bulky rigid structures as 2j and 2l were devoid of antiviral activity. The results indicate that there is no main substituent on the pyrrole that is responsible for the activity, instead all those substituents work together to bring up activity and help position the compound in the best fit into the enzyme.

The experimental concentrations of the 1,5diaryl-2-(ylideneamino)-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitriles (**2a-p**) were 50 μ M and ACV concentration was 10 μ M. a) % per cent of reduction = $[1-(t/c)] \times 100$

b) NA: Non active

c) ACV: acyclovir has been included for comparison purposes

1. Docking Studies

Thymidine kinase acts catalytically to phosphorylate thymidine, getting it ready for further phosphorylation and eventual incorporation into DNA [40]. Thus, the research into the binding capabilities of TK and other ligands can serve to develop more effective HSV treatment that would act as inhibitors of this enzyme rather than substrates. In the present study, the ligand-receptor interactions of compounds 2d, 2h, 2m and 2n with herpes simplex virus type-1 thymidine kinase were investigated by performing docking studies using Molecular Operating Environment (MOE)version 2008.10[41]. The crystal structure of herpes simplex virus type-1 thymidine kinase in complex with acyclovir (PDB code 1KI5) [42] was retrieved from the Protein Data Bank [43] and the accuracy of MOE docking protocol was validated and confirmed by docking the cocrystallized acyclovir inside the active site of thymidine kinase where the docked acyclovir showed 1.7841 Å root-mean-squared deviation fig.2.The compounds were docked in their most stable conformation in the active site of HSV-1 TK and subjected to energy minimization. The docking scores are presented in Table 2.

The docking interaction of compound 2d with the active site of thymidine kinase is represented in figure 3. It was observed that the oxygen of the two methoxy groups formed H-bond acceptor interactions with Lys^{62} (2.8 Å) and Tyr^{132} (3.2 Å) two of the amino acids in the active site of the enzyme [40, 42, 44, 45], Thr^{63} (2.7, 3.6 Å) in addition to H-bond acceptor interaction between the cyano nitrogen and Arg222 (2.8 Å). Hydrophobic interactions between pyrole and His^{58} as well as the phenyl ring with Arg^{222} and Lys^{62} appear to constrain the molecule in close proximity with the amino acids forming the forementioned hydrogen bonding. Moreover. compound 2d formed van der Waals interactions with non polar atoms of (Trp⁸⁸, Ile¹⁰⁰, Tyr¹⁰¹, Gln¹²⁵, Met¹²⁸, Tyr¹³², Asp¹⁶², Arg¹⁶³, Ala¹⁶⁸, Tyr¹⁷², Arg¹⁷⁶ and Arg²²²) similar to those reported for the ligands deoxythymidine (dT) and ACV [40,42,45], in addition to hydrophobic interactions with (Glu⁸³, Glu²²⁵, Gly⁵⁹, Gly⁶¹, Ile⁹⁷).

Compound No.	R	R ₁	Ar	Cytotoxicity of compound	% Reduction in cytopathic effect of HSV-1 ^a
2a	4-Cl	Н	\bigcirc	10-2	NA ^b
2b	4-Cl	Н		10-2	NA
2c	3-CF ₃	Н		10-2	NA
2d	4-OCH ₃	4-Cl	OH H.CO	10-2	99
2e	Н	4-Br	Н3СО ОН	10-2	NA
2f	4-CH ₃	Н	НаСО ОН	10-2	NA
2g	Н	Н		10-2	65
2h	4-Br	Н	$\frown \bigcirc$	10-2	96
2i	4-OCH ₃	4-Cl	$\frown \bigcirc$	10-2	NA
2j	4-OCH ₃	4-Cl	OH	10-2	NA
2k	Н	4-Br		10-2	67
21	Н	Н		10-2	NA
2m	Н	Н		10-2	94
2n	4-OCH ₃	Н		10-2	97
20	Н	Н		10-2	70
2p	4-Br	Н		10-2	NA
ACV ^c	-	-	-	10^{-2}	96

Table 1. The Anti-HSV-1 activity of the 1,5-diaryl-2-(ylideneamino)-1*H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitriles (2a-p)



Figure 3.Interaction of compounds 2d with thymidine kinase.

Table 2. Docking sco	ores of the	acyclovir, 2d, 2h,
2m and 2n.		

Compound	Docking Score
Acyclovir	-12.74
2d	-11.30
2h	-11.44
2m	-8.98
2n	-7.32

The binding mode observed for compound **2n** shows that it binds within the deoxythymidine binding pocket with a docking score better than ACV (-7.32), the oxygen of the OCH₃ forming two hydrogen bonds, one with $\operatorname{Arg}^{176}(2.8\text{ Å})$, a crucial residue in the TK binding site, and another one with $\operatorname{Tyr}^{101}(2.8\text{ Å})$ that resembles the bond made by the 3' O of dT [42,46]. The imine nitrogen establishes a hydrogen bond with the residue $\operatorname{Arg}^{163}(2.6\text{ Å})$, which

is responsible for making hydrogen bond interaction with the 5' O of dT [40, 46]. Additionally the cyano nitrogen forms a hydrogen bond with Tyr¹³²(3.2 Å) and another one is observed between theN²pyrazoleand with Gly⁵⁹ (3.0Å). Further stabilization is obtained by hydrophobic interactions with His⁵⁸ and by van der Waal interactions between (Tyr¹³², Arg¹⁶³, Ala¹⁶⁸, Trp⁸⁸, Met²³¹, Met¹²⁸,Tyr¹⁷²) as reported [40,42,45], other hydrophobic interactions were also observed withGly⁵⁹, Gly⁶¹, Lys⁶², Thr⁶³, Thr⁶⁴, Glu⁸³, Ile⁹⁷, Tyr¹⁰¹, Gln¹²⁵, Asp¹⁶², Arg¹⁷⁶, Arg²²⁰andGlu²²³ (figure 4).It is worth mentioning here, that Arg²²² formed strong hydrophobic interactions with 1,3diphenyl pyrazole moiety that could be responsible for bringing the molecule into close proximity with the crucial active sites of the enzyme.



Figure 4. Interaction of compounds 2n with thymidine kinase

Given that the pyrrole derivative 2n presentation is similar to that of dT and Acyclovir, and that ACV is considered a weak substrate [47], the potential phosphate-binding function (the hydroxyl group) was replaced by a methoxy group. It would appear that its inhibitory properties arise from the much greater binding enthalpy that the van der Waals interactions of the additional hydrophobic moieties give rise to. The high affinity, arising, no doubt, from these interactions, may restrict the flexibility of the complex to allow phosphorylation of the ligand [42].In case of compound **2h** (supplementary data), only hydrophobic interactions were observed with His^{58} , Gly^{59} , Lys^{62} , Thr^{63} , Glu^{83} , Trp^{88} , Ile^{97} , Ile^{100} , Tyr^{101} , Met^{128} , Tyr^{132} , Asp^{162} , Arg^{163} , Ala^{167} , Ala^{168} , Tyr^{172} , Arg^{176} , Arg^{222} and Glu^{225} . Similarly, compound **2m** showed only hydrophobic interactions with His⁵⁸, Gly⁵⁹, Lys⁶², Thr⁶³, Glu⁸³, Trp⁸⁸, Ile⁹⁷, Ile¹⁰⁰, Tyr¹⁰¹, Gln¹²⁵, Met¹²⁸, Tyr¹³², Asp¹⁶², Arg¹⁶³, Ala¹⁶⁷, Ala¹⁶⁸, Tyr¹⁷², Arg¹⁷⁶, Arg²²² and Glu²²⁵(supplementary data). Compounds **2h** and **2m**

although possessed a significant antiviral activity and their docking scores were comparable to ACV yet their docking into TK did not show any hydrogen bonding interactions in the binding site of the enzyme, suggesting that the compounds may have another mechanism for their antiherpetic activity.

Conclusion

In this article, a series of new pyrrole Schiff bases2a-p has been synthesized. The new pyrrole Schiff bases 2a-p were tested for anti HSV-1 activity in vero cell. The tested compounds 2d and 2n demonstrated potent antiviral activity against HSV-1 more than the standard drug. Also, the compounds2h and 2m exhibited antiviral activity comparable to the standard drug. However, the rest of the pyrrole Schiff bases didn't have such an influence on activity. Molecular modeling studies showed that the binding mode of compound 2n, in spite of its size difference, was very similar to the previously reported ACV and dT. Thus, 2n could be a potential ligand to target /inhibit TK of herpes simplex virus.

2. Experimental

2.1. General

Melting points (°C uncorrected) were recorded with a Gallenkamp apparatus (Weiss-Gallenkamp, London, UK). The IR spectra were recorded on KBr pellets on a Jasco FT/IR 460 plus (Japan). ¹HNMR and ¹³CNMR spectra were recorded on Varian Gemini spectrophotometer (200 MHz) in DMSO-d₆ or CDCl₃ as solvent, using tetramethyl-silane (TMS) as internal reference standard. The chemical shifts values are expressed in ppm (parts per million). Elemental analyses were performed by a Vario III CHN analyzer (Germany). All compounds were within $\pm 0.4\%$ of the theoretical values. Mass spectra were performed on DI analysis Shimadzu QP-2010 plus mass spectrometer. All spectroscopic data and elemental analysis were made at the Micro analytical center, Cairo University, Egypt. The progress of the reaction and purity of the compounds were monitored by TLC analytical silica gel plates 60 F₂₅₄ (E. Merck Germany) using the appropriate eluent. The chemical reagents used in synthesis were purchased from Fluka, Sigma and Aldrich.

2.2. Synthesis of compounds 1,2

2.2.1. General procedure for the synthesis of compounds 1a-h[37]

Derivatives of phenacylmalononitrile were refluxed with different anilines in ethanol in the presence of conc. HCl to give pyrrole derivatives **1a-h**.

2.2.2. General procedure for the synthesis of 2-(arylideneamino)-1,5-diaryl-*1H*-pyrrole-3 carbonitriles 2a-p A mixture of **1a-h** (0.01mol) and various aromatic aldehydes (0.01mol) in ethanol (20 mL), in the presence of catalytically amount of P_2O_5 was refluxed for 2-12 hrs. The separated solid was filtered and recrystallized from ethanol.

2.2.2.1. 2-(Benzylideneamino)-1-(4-chlorophenyl)-5-phenyl-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2a)

Yield 80%; m.p. 164-166 0 C. IR (KBr) v cm⁻¹: 2208 (CN); 1580 (C=N).¹HNMR spectrum (CDCl₃). δ ppm: 6.65 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.11–7.75 (m, 14H, Ar-H); 9.12(s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>). MS m/z (%): 381(M⁺, 19).Anal. Calcd for C₂₄H₁₆ClN₃ (381.86): C, 75.49; H, 4.22; N, 11.00.Found: C, 75.45; H, 4.25; N, 11.03.

2.2.2.2. 1-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-(2-

hydroxybenzylideneamino)-5-phenyl-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2b)

Yield 81%; m.p. 176-178 °C. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2207 (CN); 3413 (OH); 1591 (C=N).¹HNMR spectrum (CDCl₃). δ ppm: 6.64 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}), 7.10–7. 54 (m, 13H, Ar-H); 9.18 (s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>); 11.34(s, 1H, OH). MS m/z (%): 398 (M⁺, 32); 400 (M⁺², 2).Anal. Calcd forC₂₄H₁₆ClN₃O (397.86): C, 72.45; H, 4.05; N, 10.56. Found: C, 72.48; H, 4.08; N, 10.50.

2.2.2.3. 2-(2-Hydroxybenzylideneamino)-5phenyl-1-3-(trifluoromethyl)-5-phenyl-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2c)

Yield 78%; m.p. 178-180 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2210 (CN); 3410 (OH); 1599 (C=N).¹HNMR spectrum (CDCl₃). δ ppm: 6.67 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.11–7. 61 (m, 13H, Ar-H); 8.92 (s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>); 11. 29 (s, 1H, OH). MS m/z (%): 431 (M⁺, 100).Anal. Calcd for C₂₅H₁₆F₃N₃O (431.41): C, 69.60; H, 3.74; N, 9.74. Found: C, 69.57; H, 3.76; N, 9.72.

2.2.2.4. 5-(4-Chlorophenyl)-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-(4-methoxybenzylideneamino)-1H-pyrrole-3carbonitrile (2d)

Yield 83%; m.p. 220-222 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2206 (CN); 1620 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (CDCl₃). δ ppm: 3.92(s, 6H, 2OCH₃); 6.68(s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.00–7. 54 (m, 12H, Ar-H); 9.11(s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>). MS m/z (%): 441 (M⁺, 32); 443 (M⁺², 21).Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₂₀ClN₃O₂ (441.91): C, 70.67; H, 4.56; N, 9.51.Found: C, 70.70; H, 4.59; N, 9.48.

2.2.2.5. 5-(4-Bromophenyl)-2-(2-hydroxy-4methoxybenzylideneamino)-1-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2e)

Yield 80 %; m.p. 218-220 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2210 (CN); 3412(OH); 1643 (C=N).¹HNMR spectrum (CDCl₃). δ ppm: 3.89 (s,3H, OCH₃); 6.70 (s, 1H, CH_{pytrole}); 7.00–7. 52 (m, 12H, Ar-H); 9.33(s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>); 11. 27(s, 1H, OH).MS m/z (%): 471 (M⁺, 26); 473 (M⁺², 15).Anal. Calcd for C₂₅H₁₈BrN₃O₂ (472.33): C, 63.57; H, 3.84; N, 8.90. Found: C, 63.54; H, 3.87; N, 8.88.

2.2.2.6. 2-(2-Hydroxy-4-

methoxybenzylideneamino)-5-phenyl-1-(p-tolyl)-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2f)

Yield 79 %; m.p. 230-232 °C. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2212 (CN); 3408 (OH); 1592 (C=N).¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆). δ ppm:2.37 (s, 3H, CH₃); 3.82 (s, 3H, OCH₃); 6.69 (s, 1H,CH _{pyrrole}); 7.00–7.26 (m, 12H, Ar-H); 9.26 (s, 1H, -C=N<u>H</u>); 11.29 (s,1H,OH). MS m/z (%): 407 (M⁺, 100).Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₂₁N₃O₂ (407.46): C, 76.64; H, 5.19; N, 10.31.Found: C, 76.63; H, 5.16; N, 10.29.

2.2.2.7. 1,5-Diphenyl-2-(3-

phenylallylideneamino)-1H-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2g)

Yield 75%; m.p. 184-186 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2210 (CN); 1609 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆).δ ppm: 6.65 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.07(t, 1H, C<u>H</u>=CH); 7.10–7.41 (m, 15H, Ar-H); 7.70-7.72 (d, 1H, CH=C<u>H</u>- Ph); 8.77-8.83 (d, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>). MS m/z (%): 373 (M⁺, 100).Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₁₉N₃ (373.45): C, 83.62; H, 5.13; N, 11.25. Found: C, 83.65; H, 5.10; N, 11.28.

2.2.2.8. 1-(4-Bromophenyl)-5-pheny-2-(3-

phenylallylideneamino)-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2h)

Yield 74 %; m.p. 208-210 $^{\circ}$ C. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2210 (CN); 1622 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆).δ ppm: 6.69 (s, 1H, CH_{pytrole}); 7.08 (t, 1H, C<u>H</u>=CH); 7.11–7.54 (m, 14H, Ar-H); 7.70-7.72 (d, 1H, CH=C<u>H</u>-Ph); 8.75-8.80 (d, 1H, <u>H</u>C=N).MS m/z (%): 452 (M⁺, 37); 454 (M⁺², 8).Anal. Calcd for C₂₆H₁₈BrN₃ (452.35): C, 69.04; H, 4.01; N, 9.29.Found: C, 69.00; H, 3.99; N, 9.27.

2.2.2.9. 5-(4-Chlorophenyl)-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-(3-phenylallylideneamino)-*1H*-pyrrole-3carbonitrile (2i)

Yield 80 %; m.p. 252-254 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2210 (CN); 1588 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆).δ ppm: 3.80 (s, 3H, OCH₃); 6.91 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.07(t, 1H, C<u>H</u>=CH); 7.11–7.40 (m, 13H, Ar-H); 7.70-7.72 (d, 1H, CH=C<u>H</u>- Ph); 8.61-8.70 (d, 1H, <u>H</u>C=N). MS m/z (%): 437 (M⁺, 35), 439 (M⁺², 12).Anal. Calcd for C₂₇H₂₀ClN₃O (437.92): C, 74.05; H, 4.60; N, 9.60.Found: C, 74.04; H, 4.63; N, 9.57.

2.2.2.10. 5-(4-Chlorophenyl)-2-[(2hydroxynaphthalen-1-yl)methyleneamino]-1-(4-

methoxyphenyl)-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2j) Yield 79%; m.p. 237-239 0 C. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2208 (CN); 3396 (OH); 1614 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆).δ ppm: 3.83 (s, 1H, OCH₃); 6.72 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.11-8.28 (m, 14H, Ar H); 10.11 (s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>); 12.93 (s, 1H, OH). ¹³CNMR (CDCl₃) δ ppm: 55.53 (OCH₃); 111.94 (C₁-naphthyl); 114.84 (<u>C</u>N); 119.10, 120.00, 124.11, 128.01, 128.68, 129.31 (Carom); 131.05 (N-<u>C</u>₁-phenyl); 132.87(C₄-pyrrole); 135.98(<u>C</u>-Cl); 157.89 (<u>C</u>-OCH₃); 159.86 (<u>C</u>=N); 162.73 (HO- \underline{C}_2 -naphthyl). MS m/z (%): 477 (M⁺, 100); 479(M⁺², 33).Anal. Calcd for $C_{29}H_{20}CIN_3O_2$ (477.94): C, 72.88; H, 4.22; N, 8.79.Found: C, 72.86; H, 4.23; N, 8.81.

2.2.2.11. 5-(4-Bromophenyl)-1-phenyl-2-[(quinolin-4-yl)methyleneamino]-*1H*-pyrrole-3carbonitrile (2k)

Yield 72 %; m.p. 254-256 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2211 (CN); 1609 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (CDCl₃). δ ppm: 6.69 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.22–8.10 (m, 15H, Ar-H); 8.34 (s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>); 9. 32 (s, 1H, N=C<u>H_{quinoline}</u>). MS m/z (%): 476 (M⁺, 16); 478 (M⁺², 21).Anal. Calcd for C₂₇H₁₇BrN₄ (477.35): C, 67.93; H, 3.59; N, 11.74.Found: C, 67.90; H, 3.62; N, 11.70.

2.2.2.12. 1,5-Diphenyl-2-(3-

phenoxybenzylideneamino)-1H-pyrrole-3carbonitrile (21)

Yield 70 %; m.p. 186-188 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2208 (C=N); 1607 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (CDCl₃). δ ppm: 6.70 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.01–7. 74 (m, 19H, Ar-H); 8.32 (s, 1 H, - N=C<u>H</u>). MS m/z (%): 439 (M⁺, 79).Anal. Calcd for C₃₀H₂₁N₃O (439.51): C, 81.98; H, 4.82; N, 9.56.Found: C, 81.97; H, 4.80; N, 9.63.

2.2.2.13. 2-[(1,3-Diphenyl-1H-pyrazol-4yl)methyleneamino]-1,5-diphenyl-*1H*pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2m)

Yield 74 %; m.p. 204-206 0 C. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2209 (CN); 1644 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆). δ ppm: 6.66 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.12-7.97 (m, 20H, Ar-H); 8.63 (s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>); 9.17 (s, 1H, CH_{pyracle}). MS m/z (%): 489 (M⁺, 91).Anal. Calcd for C₃₃H₂₃N₅ (489.57): C, 80.96; H, 4.74; N, 14.31.Found: C, 80.93; H, 4.70; N, 14.28.

2.2.2.14. **2-**[(1,3-Diphenyl-1H-pyrazol-4yl)methyleneamino]-1-(4-methoxyphenyl)-5phenyl-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (2n)

Yield 75%; m.p. 202-204 °C. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2209 (CN); 1599 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆).δ ppm: 3.82 (s, 3H, OCH₃); 6.71 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.11-7.67 (m, 19H, Ar-H); 8.42 (s, 1H, C<u>H</u> =N); 9.15 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrazole}). MS m/z (%): 519 (M⁺, 30).Anal. Calcd for $C_{34}H_{25}N_5O$ (519.60): C, 78.59; H, 4.85; N, 13.48.Found: C, 78.56; H, 4.82; N, 13.44.

2.2.2.15. **1,5-Diphenyl-2-[(3-(4**nitrophenyl)-1-phenyl-1H-pyrazol-4yl)methyleneamino]-*1H*-pyrrole-3-carbonitrile (20)

Yield 77%; m.p. 260-262 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2209 (CN); 1645 (C=N). ¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆).δ ppm: 6.71 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.11-7.97 (m, 19H, Ar-H); 8.23 (s, 1H, C<u>H</u>=N); 9.17 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrazole}). MS m/z (%): 534 (M⁺, 100).Anal. Calcd for C₃₃H₂₂N₆O₂ (534.57): C, 74.14; H, 4.15; N, 15.72.Found: C, 74.16; H, 4.14; N, 15.69.

2.2.2.16. 1-(4-Bromophenyl)-2-[(3-(4chlorophenyl)-1-phenyl-*1H*-pyrazol-4yl)methyleneamino]-5-phenyl-1H-pyrrole-3carbonitrile (2p)

Yield 73%; m.p. 210-212 ^oC. IR (KBr) vcm⁻¹: 2209 (CN); 1602 (C=N).¹HNMR spectrum (DMSO-d₆).δ ppm: 6.81 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrrole}); 7.12-7.97 (m, 18H, Ar-H); 8.26 (s, 1H, -N=C<u>H</u>); 9.19 (s, 1H, CH_{pyrazole}). MS m/z (%): 603 (M⁺, 27), 605 (M⁺², 8).Anal. Calcd for $C_{33}H_{21}BrClN_5$ (602.91): C, 65.74; H, 3.51; N, 11.62.Found: C, 65.71; H, 3.55; N, 11.65.

6.3. Antivirus activity

2.3. 1. Cells and virus

Herpes simplex Virus type-1 (HSV-1) was kindly supplied by The National Research Center, Dokki, Egypt. The virus was propagated in Vero cells (cells isolated from the African green monkey), which were commercially obtained from The Egyptian Organization of Serum and Vaccines. Minimal essential medium (MEM) was used as growth and maintenance medium for tissue culture with 10% or 2% fetal calf serum (FCS), respectively.

6.3.2. Titration of HSV-1 by plaque assay [48]

Cell suspension (3 ml) with the concentration 10⁵ cells/ml GM was dispensed into each of the wells of 6-well plates (Falcon). Plates were incubated at 37°C in a 0.5% CO2 for 24-48 hrs to obtain a confluent sheet. Ten-fold dilution of the virus stock $(10^{-1}-10^{-7})$ was done as mentioned under titration of HSV by TCID₅₀ endpoint. Then growth medium was aspirated from the wells and 0.2 mL/well of each virus dilution was added in duplicate manner. For each plate, two wells were left uninoculated as cell control, each contained 0.2 mL MEM only; incubation at 37°C in a 0.5% CO₂ incubator for one hour, to permit virus adsorption. Then 30 ml 1% agarose solution was melted at 48°C in a water bath, and mixed with 2 x 30 mL MEM (supplied with 1% antibiotic solution and 2% FCS) in a ratio of 1:1 to prepare an overlay mixture. Then 3 ml of overlay mixture was added quickly to each well in the plate. After overlay solidification, plates were inverted and incubated at 37°C in a 0.5% CO₂ incubator. Daily observation was carried out for early plaque detection; usually it takes 2-3 days for plaque detection. After plaques development, cells were fixed by flooding with 10% formalin solution for 1 h at room temperature. Agarose overlay was removed with forceps; cell monolayers were washed under tap water and stained with 10% crystal violet solution for 10 min. Plaques were recorded as clear unstained areas against a violet background of stained viable cells and counted either visually or using a stereomicroscope. The infectivity titer represented as number of plaque forming unit/mL (PFU/mL) of the stock virus suspension. It was calculated form the following equation: PFU/mL = No. of plaques x reciprocal of dilution x reciprocal of volume in mL.

6.3.3. Determination of the solvent Cytotoxicity

Growth medium was decanted from 96 well micro titer plate after a confluent sheet of cells was formed. Ten-fold serial dilutions of 2-(arylideneamino)-1,5-diaryl-1*H*-pyrrole-3-

carbonitriles were made in MEM medium without FCS, starting from 5000 μ m/mL till 10¹⁰ dilution, 0.2 ml of each dilution was tested in 3 different wells and leaving two wells/row as control receiving only maintenance medium. The plate was incubated in a CO₂ incubator at 37°C and examined for up to 3 days. Cells were checked for any physical signs of toxicity, partial or complete loss of the monolayers, shrinkage, or cell granulation. Then, the non-toxic concentration of each substance was used in this study.

6.3.4. HSV-1 yield reduction assay

Vero cells were seeded into 96-well tissue culture plates at a concentration of 10,000 cells in 0.2 ML of minimal essential medium with Earle salts, MEM(E), supplemented with 10% FCS, and incubated at 37° C in a humidified 3% CO₂ – 97% air atmosphere. After 24 hrs, plates were inverted over a waste vessel, medium was shaken out, and the plates were allowed to drain for 5 to 10 s on a sterile paper towel. Cultures were incubated with HSV-1 at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5 PFU/cell in 0.2 mL of MEM (E) supplemented with 5% FCS, 100 U penicillin/mL, and 100 µg streptomycin sulfate/mL. Cultures were incubated at 37°C for 2 hrs to permit virus adsorption. Virus inoculum's was replaced with 0.2 MI of fresh medium and test compounds were added to the cultures.

The first row of 12 wells was left undisturbed and served as virus controls. Each well in the second row received an additional 0.1 mL of MEM (E) containing 5% FCS, antibiotics, and test compound at three times the desired final concentration. The contents of the 12 wells were mixed by repeated pipetting and then serially diluted 1:3 down the plate by repeated transfer and mixing of 0.1 mL of drugcontaining medium. In this manner, six compounds could be tested in duplicate on a single plate with a concentrations range of nearly 1000-fold between the highest and the lowest dilutions (0.10 µM to 80 µM minuscule example). Plates were incubated at 37°Cover night and then subjected to one cycle of freezing at -76°C and thawing at 37°C to disrupt the cells. Aliquots of 0.1 mL from each of the eight wells of a given row were transferred to the row of a fresh 96-well monolayers culture of Vero cells. Contents were mixed and serially diluted 1:3 across the remaining 11 rows of the second plate. Each row of the original primary plate was diluted across a separate plate in this manner. A culture was incubated at 37°C for 2 h to permit virus adsorption and then the virus inoculum's was replaced with 0.2 mL of fresh medium. Cultures were incubated for 2 days, medium was removed, and the cell sheets were stained with0.1% crystal violet in 20% methanol. Plaques were counted under 20-fold magnification in the row of wells having the dilution which gave 5 to 20 plaques per well. Virus titers were calculated according to following formula:

titer (PFU/mL) = number of plaques x 5x 3^{n} ; where n represents the nth dilution of the virus used to infect the well in which plaques were counted.

6.4. Docking methodology

Docking studies were performed using Molecular Operating Environment (MOE) [41] version 2008.10 running on an Intel Core 2 Duo PC running Windows 7 as operating system. Crystal structure of herpes simplex virus type-1 thymidine kinase in complex with acyclovir (PDB code 1KI5) [43] was retrieved from the Protein Data Bank. From the PDB file of the complex, all the water molecules were removed and the missing hydrogens and partial charges were added using MOE. For ligands, 3D structures were constructed using the Builder module of MOE and optimized by energy minimization using MMFF94X force field. All docking calculations were carried out using the MOE Dock module. The parameters used were alpha triangle as placement methodology and London dG as scoring function with force field refinement. The highest scoring pose for each ligand was selected for further investigation. Ligand interactions were generated using the Ligand Interactions module in MOE.

Corresponding author

Khalid M. H. Hilmy Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science, Menoufiya University, Shebin El-Kom, Egypt <u>hilmykhaled@yahoo.com</u>, <u>khaledhilmy@hotmail.com</u>

References

- Whitley, R.J. (2001): Herpes simplex viruses *Field's* Virology, 2461–2509, 4th edn. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins: D.M. Knipe, P.M. Howley, D.E. Griffin, M.A. Martin, R.A. Lamb, B. Roizman (eds).
- 2. Hsiang, C.Y.; Ho, T.Y. (2008): Emodin is a novel alkaline nuclease inhibitor that suppresses herpes simplex virus type-1 yields in cell cultures. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 155(2):227-235.
- Mathew, J.T.; Terry, B.J.; Field, A.K (1993): The structure and function of the HSV DNA replication proteins: defining novel antiviral targets. *Antiviral Res.*, 20(2): 89-114.
- 4. Tenser, R.B. (1991): Role of herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase expression in viral pathogenesis and latency. *Intervirology*, 3276-92.
- Chin, J.E.; Hatfield, C.A.; Winterowd, G.E.; Krezesicki, R.F.; Shull, K.L.; Fidler, S.L.; Kolbasa, K.B.; Brashler, J.R.; Griffin, R.L.; Fleming, W.E.; Justin, J.M.; Banitt, L.S.; Bundi, G.L.; Richards, I.M. (1999): <u>Preclinical evaluation of anti-inflammatory activities of the novel pyrrolopyrimidine</u>

PNU-142731A, a potential treatment for asthma. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 290(1): 188-95.

- Ghorab, M.M.; Helmy, H.; Khalil, A.; Abou El Ella, D.A.; Noaman, E. (2008): "Computer-Based Ligand Design and Synthesis of some new Sulfonamides Bearing Pyrrole or Pyrrolopyrimidine Moieties having Potential Antitumor and Radio protective Activities. *Phosphorus Sulfur and Silicon*,183:90–104.
- Clark, M.P.; George, K.M.; Bookland, R.G.; Chen, J.; Laughlin, S.K.; Thakur, K.D.; Lee, W.; Davis, J.R.; Cabrera, E.J.; Brugel, T.A.; VanRens, J.C.; Laufersweiler, M.J.; Maier, J.A.; Sabat, M.P.; Golebiowski, A.; Easwaran, V.; Webster, M.E.; De, B.; Zhang, G. (2007): Development of new pyrrolopyrimidine-based inhibitors of Janus kinase 3 (JAK3). *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 17:1250–1253.
- Merighi, S.; Miramdola, P.; Varanik, K.; Gessi, S.; Leung, E.; Baraldi, P.G.; Tabrizi, M.A.; Borea, P.A.A (2003): Glance at adenosine receptors: novel target for antitumor therapy. *Pharmacol. Therapeut.*, 10031–48.
- Moriarty, K.J.; Koblish, H.K.; Garrabrant, T.; Maisuria, J.; Khalil, E.; Ali, F.; Petrounia, I.P.; Crysler, C.S.; Maroney, A.C.; Johnson, D. L.; GalemmoJr, R.A. (2006): The synthesis and SAR of 2-amino-pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidines: A new class of Aurora-A kinase inhibitors. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.*, 16: 5778–5783.
- Abou El Ella, D.A.; Ghorab, M.M.; Noaman, E.; Heiba, H.I.; Khalil, A.I. (2008): Molecular modeling study and synthesis of novel pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidines and pyrrolotriazolopyrimidines of expected antitumor and radio protective activities. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 16: 2391-2402.
- Hassan, S.M.; El-Maghraby, A.A.; Abdel Aal, M.M.; Bashandy, M.S. (2009): Hetero aromatization with sulfonamido phenyl ethanone, part I: Synthesis of novel pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidine and pyrrolo[3,2e][1,2,4]triazolo[1,5-c]pyrimidine derivatives containing dimethylsulfonamido moiety. *Phosphorus Sulfurand Silicon* , 291–308.
- 12. Saffer J.D. and Glazer, R.I. (1981): Inhibition of Histone H1 phosphorylation by sangivamycin and other pPyrrolopyrimidine analogues *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 20(1):211-217.
- Esteve, C.; Nueda, A.; Dıaz, J.L.; Cardenas, J.; Lozoya, A.; Cadavid, E.; Loza, M.I.; , M. I.; Vidal, H. (2006): New pyrrolopyrimidin-6-yl benzenesulfonamides: Potent A2B adenosine receptor antagonists. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 16:3642–3645.
- Turk, S.R.; Shipman JR, C.; Nassiri, R.; Genzlinger, G.; Krawczyk, S.H.; Townsend, L.B.; Drach, T.C. (1987): Pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidine nucleosides as inhibitors of human cytomegalovirus. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, 544-550.
- Evers, D.L.; Breitenbach, J.M.; Borysko, K.Z.; Townsend, L.B.; Drach, T.C. (2002): Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 1 by purines and pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidines does not correlate with antiviral activity. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.*, 46(48): 2470-2476.
- Turk, S.R.; Cook, P.D.; Reinke, C.M.; Drach, J.C. (1987): Inhibition of herpes simplex virus DNA replication by aratubercidin. *Antiviral Research*, 8: 97-102.
- Boger, D.L.; Boyce, C.W.; Labroli, M.A.; Sehon, C.A.; Jin, Q. (1999): Total Syntheses of ningalin A, Lamellarin O, Lukianol A, and permethyl storniamide A utilizing heterocyclic azadiene Diels-Alder reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 12:154.
- Walsh, C.T.; Garneau-Tsodikova, S.; Howard-Jone, A.R. (2006): Biological formation of pyrroles: Nature's logic and enzymatic machinery. *Nat. Prod. Rep.*, 23: 517.
- Baraldi, P. G.; Bovero, A.; Fruttarolo, F.; Preti, D.; Tabrizi, M. A.; Pavani, M. G.; Romagnoli, R. (2004): DNA minor groove binders as potential antitumor and antimicrobial agents. *Med. Res. Rev.*, 24: 475–528.

- Padro'n, J.M.; Tejedor, D.; Expo'sito, A.S.; A-Tellado, F.G.; Martı'n, V.S.; Villar, J.A. (2005): New approach to the synthesis of 1,2,3,5-tetrasubstituted pyrroles. *Bioorg .Med*. *Chem .Lett.*, 15: 2487–2490.
- 21. Bally, C. (2004): Lamellarins from A to Z: a family of anticancer marine pyrrole alkaloids. *Current Med. Chem. Anticancer Agents*, 4(4): 363-78.
- 22. Shinohara, K.; Bando, T.; Sugiyama, H. (2010): Anticancer activities of alkylating pyrrole-imidazole polyamides with specific sequence recognition. *Anticancer Drugs*, 21(3): 228-42.
- Biava, M.; Porretta, G.C.; Cappelli, A.; Vomero, S.; Manetti, F.; Botta, M.; Sautebin, L.; Rossi, A.; Makovec, F.; Anzini, M. (2005): 1,5-Diarylpyrrole-3-acetic acids and esters as novel classes of potent and highly selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. J. Med. Chem., 48: 3428-3432.
- El Gaby, M.S.A.; Gaber, A.M.; Atalla, A.A.; Abd-Al Wahab, K.A. (2002): Novel synthesis and antifungal activity of pyrrole and pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidine derivatives containing sulfonamide moieties. *IlFarmaco*, 57(8): 613-617.
- Harrak, Y.; Rosell, G.; Daidone, G.; Plescia, S.; Schillaci, D.; Pujol, M.D. (2007): Synthesis and biological activity of new anti-inflammatory compounds containing the 1,4benzodioxine and/or pyrrole system. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 154876–4890.
- 26. Mohamed, M.S.; Kamel, R.; Fathalla, S.S. (2011): New condensed pyrroles of potential biological interest syntheses and structure-activity relationship studies. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 46(7):3022-9.
- Ushiyama, S.; Yamada, T.; Murakami, Y.; Kumakur a, S.; Inoue, S.; Suzuki, K.; Nakao, A.; Kawara, A.; Kimura, T. (2008): Preclinical pharmacology profile of CS-706, a novel cyclooxygenase-2 selective inhibitor, with potent antinociceptive and anti-inflammatory effects. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*,57876.
- Lessigiarska, I.; Nankov, A.; Bocheva, A.; Pajeva, I.; Bijev, A. (2005): 3D-QSAR and preliminary evaluation of antiinflammatory activity of series of N-pyrrolylcarboxylic acids. *IlFarmaco*, 60:209.
- Lehue'de, J.; Fauconneau, B.; Barrier, L.; Ourakow, M.; Piriou, A.; Vierfond, J.M. (1999): Synthesis and antioxidant activity of new tetraarylpyrroles. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*, 34:991.
- Stare'evic, K.; Kralj, M.; Ester, K.; Sabol, I.; Grce, M.; Pavelic, K.; Karminki-Zamola, G. (2007): Synthesis, antiviral and antitumor activity of 2-substituted-5-amidinobenzimidazoles. *Bioorg. Med .Chem.*, 15: 4419.
- Almerico, A.M.; Diana, P.; Barraja, P.; Dattolo, G.; Mingoia, F.; Loi, A.G.; Scintu, F.; Milia, C.; Puddu, I.; La Colla, P. (1998): Glycosidopyrroles. Part 1: Acyclic derivatives: 1-(2hydroxyethoxy)methylpyrroles as potential anti-viral agents. Il Farmaco, 53(1):33-40.
- Almerico, A.M.; Lauria, A.; Diana, P.; Barraja, P.; Cirrincione, G.; Dattolo, G. (2000): Glycosidopyrroles. Part 4. 1-β-D-ribofuranosyl-pyrroles and indoles as potential antiviral agents. *ARKIVOC*, 4:486-496.
- Ekblad, M.; Bergstrom, T.; Banwell, M.G.; Bonnet, M.; Renner, J.; Ferro, V.; Trybala, E. (2006): Anti-herpes simplex virus activities of two novel disulphatedcyclitols. *Antiviral Chem. Chemother.*, 17:97-106.
- Bialer, M.; Yagen, B.; Mechoulam, R.; Becker, Y. (1980): Structure-activity relationships of pyrroleamidine antiviral antibiotics. J. Med. Chem., 22(10):1296-1301.

- Jones, R. A. (1992): The Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds, Pyrroles: The synthesis, reactivity and physical properties of substituted pyrroles. Part 2, Vol. 48:547-593, copyright © 1992 by John Wiley &Sons.
- Bharti, S.K.; Nath, G.; Tilak, R.; Singh, S.K.; Synthesis, antibacterial and anti-fungal activities of some novel Schiff bases containing 2,4-disubstituted thiazole ring. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.*2010, 45651–660.
- Hilmy, K. H. and Pedersen, E.B. (1989): Nitriles in Heterocyclic Synthesis: A novel synthesis of 2-amino-3pyrrolecarbonitriles. *Liebigs. Ann. Chem.*, 1145–1146.
- Ouyang, G.; Chen, Z.; Cai, X. J.; Song, B.A.; Bhadury, P.S.; Yang, S.; LJin, H.; Xue, W.; Hu, D.Y.; Zeng, S. (2008): Synthesis and antiviral activity of novel pyrazole derivatives containing oxime esters group. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.*, 16 (22): 9699.
- Souza, T.M.L.; De Souza, M.C.; Ferreira, V.V.F.; Canuto, C.V.B.; Marques, I.P.; Fontes, C.F.L.; Frugulhetti, I.C.P.P. (2008): Inhibition of HSV-1 replication and HSV DNA polymerase by the chloroxoquinolinicribonucleoside 6chloro-1,4 dihydro-4-oxo-1-(-d-ribofuranosyl)quinoline-3carboxylic acid and its aglycone. *Antiviral Res.*, 77: 20-27.
- 40. Champness, J.N.; Bennett, M.S.; Wien, F.; Viss, R.; Summers, W.C.; Herdewijn, P.; Ostrowski, E.; sJarvest, R.L.; Sanderson, M.R. (1998): Exploring the active site of herpes simplex virus type-1 thymidine kinase by X-Ray crystallography of complexes with Aciclovir and other ligands. *Proteins Struct. Funct.Genet.*, 32:350-361.
- Molecular Operating Environment (MOE) (2008): , Chemical Computing Group Inc.,Montreal, Quebec, Canada. <u>http://www.chemcomp.com</u>.
- 42. Bennett, M.S.; Wien, F.; Champness, J.N.; Batuwangala, T.; Rutherford, T.; Summers, W.C.; Sun, H.; Wright, G.; Sanderson, M. R. (1999): Structure to 1.9 A⁰ resolution of a complex with herpes simplex virus type-1 thymidine kinase of a novel, non-substrate inhibitor: X-ray crystallographic comparison with binding of acyclovir. *FEBS Lett.*, 443 (2):121-125.
- 43. RCSB Protein Data Bankhttp://www.pdb.org.
- Holtje, H.D.; Sippol, W.; Rognan, D.; Folkers, G. (2008): Molecular modeling: basic principles and applications, vol 5,218-228, 3rd edn. copyright © 2008 Wiley & Co Weinheim.
- 45. Luyten, I.; De Winter, H.; Busson, R.; Lescrinier, T.; Creuven, I.; Durant, F.; Baizarini, J.; De Clercq, E.; Herdwijn, P. (1996): Synthesis of 2'-deoxy-5-(isothiazol-5yl)uridine and its interaction with the HSV-1 thymidine kinase. *Helvetica Chimica Acta*, 79(5):1462-1474.
- 46. Brown, D.G.; Visse, R.; Sandhu,G.; Davies, A.; Rizkallah, P.J.; Melitz, C.; Summers, W.C.; Sanderson, M.R. (1995): Crystal structure of the thymidine kinase from herpes simplex virus type-1 in complex with deoxythymidine and gancyclovir. *Nat. Struct. Biol.*, 2:876-881.
- 47. Xu, H.; Maga, G.; Focher, F.; Smith, E.R.; Spadari, S.; Gambino, J.; Wright, G.E. (1995): Synthesis, properties, and pharmacokinetic studies of N₂-phenylguanine derivatives as inhibitors of herpes simplex virus thymidine kinases. *J. Med. Chem.*, 38: 49-57.
- Hong, Y.; Cho, M.; Yuan, Y.; Chen, S.(2008): Molecular basis for the interaction of four different classes of substrates and inhibitors with human aromatase. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 75:1161–1169.

4/28/2012

Analysis of medications returned to community pharmacies in Alexandria, Egypt

Samaa Z. Ibrahim¹, Heba M. Mamdouh² and Iman Z. El-Haddad³

¹Department of Health Administration and Behavioural Sciences, High Institute of Public Health, Alexandria

University.

²Department of Family Health, High Institute of Public Health, Alexandria University.

³Faculty of Pharmacy, Alexandria University

Abstract: This study aimed to determine the patterns of returning unused medications to a sample of the community pharmacies affiliated to Medical Central Region in Alexandria. A cross-sectional descriptive study design was used. All drugs returned unused by all individuals attending the selected 60 pharmacies over a period of one month were documented. The randomly selected pharmacies were visited by the researcher and invited to participate in the current study. When a medicine was returned, the pharmacist interviewed the person returning it to complete a questionnaire that was especially developed for the study. This study demonstrated that an enormous amount of drugs are returned to community pharmacies in Alexandria, Egypt. "Treatment change" was the most frequent reason for the drug returns, with cardiovascular and anti-infectives are the predominant groups returned. Investment in proper patient and health-care provider education is an appropriate first step in reducing medication waste. Changing the prescription policy is needed to overcome this waste.

[Samaa Z. Ibrahim, Heba M. Mamdouh and Iman Z. El-Haddad. Analysis of medications returned to community pharmacies in Alexandria, Egypt. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):746-751] (ISSN:1097-8135). <u>http://www.lifesciencesite.com</u>. 110

Keywords: returned medication, community pharmacy, Egypt.

1. Introduction

The problem of unused medicines is widespread throughout the world, with complex multifaceted causes and multiple effects on the cost of healthcare, public health, and environment [1]. In addition to the costs of unused drugs, their economic value includes the time needed to prescribe and dispense these medications, also poor adherence leads to increased health costs through additional hospital admission and doctor visits [2].

An unused drug is a drug which is purchased after a prescription or not, but which is not taken [3]. It is likely that a number of factors influence the quantities and types of medicines that are unused. These factors may include oversupply, changes in therapy, errors in prescribing or in supply, adverse drug reactions, poor compliance or death of the patient [1]. Other factors include expired medications, patient felt better, allergic reactions and patients didn't want to take the drugs [4].

It appears that, while there are variations between different countries, the reasons for unused medicines and even the types of medicines that are commonly unused are similar across the world [1]. More than two thirds of returned medicines mostly capsules and tablets are prescription drugs; the remainder consists of over the counter products and a few samples [5]. Most returned drug classes, however, aren't necessarily those that cost the most. Studies have found that 20% to 53% of returned medicines were unopened, with many of the remainder being almost complete [6,7].

In some Arab countries, over 50% of drug products obtained from community pharmacies are

purchased either without a prescription or on the advice of the pharmacist. In addition, many medicines that require a prescription in more developed world can be purchased over the counter in these countries [8, 9].

Unused medicines generally have only been the subject of a small number of studies worldwide and consequently the data available on these remains limited and many attempts to minimize the incidence of unused medicines have been based on anecdotal evidence and estimates [1].

In Egypt, unwanted medicines are accepted for resale by the pharmacies which are not accepted from ethical and safety point of view, because it is not possible to guarantee that they were stored under appropriate conditions. Investigating medication returns may indicate areas for targeting interventions to reduce waste. To our knowledge there is a paucity of published research examining unused medicines in Alexandria, Egypt. Therefore the aim of this study was to quantify the amount of returned unused medicines to a sample of the community pharmacies in Alexandria and identify the most contributing reasons to their return.

2. Material and Methods Study Setting and Design

The study was carried out in a sample of the community pharmacies in Alexandria, Egypt. A cross-sectional descriptive design was used for the conduction of this study.

Sampling Design

Using MedCalc 11/5/1/0 trial version, and based on an average cost per returned item of medication of 13 Egyptian Pounds (LE.) [10], taking a 95% confidence level, with 80% power and assuming a SD double the mean with an accepted error of E3, the minimum required sample size was approximately 600 unused returns.

Based on pilot study, 60 pharmacies would be needed to reach the required sample size in one month. A two-stage random sample was used, where one district was selected randomly from among the seven districts in Alexandria. A list of all pharmacies was obtained from Central Medical Region at Ministry of This region contains 600 community Health. pharmacies and the required number of pharmacies was selected from the list randomly. A number of pharmacies were invited to participate and it was stated that participation would be voluntary. Sixty community pharmacies were randomly selected, with a response rate of 93%. All the drugs returned unused by all individuals attending theses pharmacies were documented. A total of 657 drugs were returned by 600 patients to the 60 pharmacies during the study period.

Data Collection Methods

Data were initially gathered over a 4-week period from community pharmacies during March 2011. Data were collected using interview technique. Pharmacists working at the pharmacies that agreed to participate were asked to collect the drugs that were returned voluntarily by individuals attending their pharmacies. When a medicine was returned or when a person asked the staff members to discard a medicine, the pharmacist interviewed the person returning it to complete a pre-designed questionnaire that was especially developed for the study. Pharmacists working at the selected pharmacies were trained by the researchers on filling the questionnaire.

The information recorded on the questionnaire included: pharmacy name, patient's personal data, who was returning the drug, who recommended the drug, number of returned drugs, returned medicine data (trade name, pharmaceutical form, pharmacological category, expiry date, amount to be discarded, total sales price of amount to be returned or discarded), payment method (health insurance system, patient himself) and the reason for returning or discarding the medicine.

The drugs were counted and classified according to the British National Formulary classification of active ingredients [11]. Costs were determined by multiplying cost per pill by the estimated number of pills remaining in the container according to the list of drug prices provided by the Egyptian Ministry of Health. Cost was calculated in Egyptian currency (1 USD equals 5.93 LE.).

Statistical analysis

The collected data were entered into a data base and a descriptive statistical analysis was performed using Statistical package for Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 11.5 (SPSS Inc., Chicago IL, USA).

3. Results

In 60 community pharmacies, 657 returned drugs were collected during one month from 600 patients with an average number of drugs returned per patient of 1.09. Males constituted the higher percentage of the participants (56.7%). Elderly having 60 years or above constituted the highest proportion of the sample (28.3%), while the lowest percentage (4.0%) was within the age group "10 to less than 20". Concerning the sample's occupations, the highest percentages of the patients pertained to the employee category (29.8%) followed by not working category (28.3%).

Of the 657 returned drugs, the predominant groups were cardiovascular system (19.4%) and anti-infectives (19.2%), as shown in Table 1.

Figures 1& 2 showed that in more than half of the returned drugs the patients in person (57.2%) returned their drugs. Relatives returned a considerable proportion of drugs (32.9%). The majority of drugs had been prescribed by physician (53.7%), or pharmacist (24.9%). Friends recommended 11.8% of the returned drugs and 9.4% were chosen by the patient himself.

The reasons for the drugs being returned were listed in Table 2. The most frequent reason stated was treatment change (35.2%) followed by ineffective drug (12.0%). On the other hand, error in dispensing was the reason with the lowest frequency (0.8%).

Regarding the cost of the returned medicines, data from Table 3 illustrated that the average drug cost per pharmacy per month was 825.1 LE (140 \$). The estimated total cost was 49507.2 LE (8348.5 \$), with the mean drug cost of 75.5 LE. "Cardiovascular" drugs was the therapeutic category of the highest cost percentage (44.6%) total cost of 22.115 LE., while "ear, nose, throat" was the therapeutic category of lowest cost percentage (1.12%) with a total cost of 556.2 LE. Concerning who had initially paid for retuned drugs, 68.6% of the cost had been borne by patient himself, with the remaining percent (31.4%) had been borne by health insurance system (data not shown).

4. Discussion

Improper drug use has major ramifications not only in the therapeutic and economic fields, but also from the environmental perspective [4, 7]. Moreover, the number of times a drug is returned gives an indication of frequency of prescribing and the level of medication noncompliance [12].

Drug category	Number	%
Anti-infectives	126	19.2
Cardiovascular system	127	19.4
Endocrine system	49	7.5
Ear-Nose-Throat	7	1.1
Gastrointestinal system	66	10.9
Genitourinary system	7	1.1
Musculo-skeletal system	2	0.3
Nutrition and Blood	69	10.6
Nervous system	61	9.3
Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory	64	9.8
Respiratory system	58	8.9
Skin care	19	2.9
Total	657	100
Average number of drug returned per patien	t 1.09	

Table 1 Therapeutic classifications of drugs returned to the selected community pharmacies during the study period

Table 2 Reasons for returning drugs to the	Table 2 Reasons for returning drugs to the selected community pharmacies during the study period.					
Reason	Number (N=657)	0/_				
Treatment change	178	35.2				
Inoffective drug	70	12.0				
	79	12.0				
Get back money	/4	11.3				
Oversupply	71	10.8				
Patient feels better	69	10.5				
Passed expiry date	68	10.4				
Inconvenience to use	59	9.0				
Patient non compliance	36	5.5				
Patient died	31	4.7				
Side effects	26	3.9				
Manufacture problem	20	3.0				
Error in dispensing	17	2.6				

Table 3 Cost of drugs returned to the s	selected community pharmacies d	uring the study period.
Drug Category	Cost (LE.)	Cost percent
Anti-infectives	5801	11.71
Cardiovascular system	22115.75	44.6
Endocrine system	3621.2	7.3
Ear-Nose-Throat	556.2	1.12
Gastrointestinal system	2999.3	6.05
Genitourinary system	648	1.3
Musculo-skeletal system	194.5	0.39
Nutrition and Blood	3786.2	7.6
Nervous system	5117.95	10.3
Non-Steroidal anti-inflammatory	1241.1	2.5
Respiratory system	2200	4.44
Skin Care	1225	2.44
Total	49507.5=8251 \$	100
Mean drug cost ± SD 75.5 L.E.		
Average drug cost per pharmacy per m	nonth 4950.6 E.P (825.1 \$)	

LE stands for Livre Egyptian (the Egyptian currency).



Figure 1: Person who returned the unused drugs to the selected community pharmacies during the study period (N=657).

No drugs were returned during the study period in only 10 out of 60 pharmacies that participated in the present study. This is considered within the normal variability among pharmacies, their locations and number of patients they are serving.

Patients aged 50 years or over made half of the return events (51.5%). This may not necessarily indicate that this age group uses less of their prescribed medications. However, there is some evidence that inappropriate prescription may decrease adherence in elderly patients [13, 14]. This aligns with other studies which showed increased spending on prescribed medications with increasing age [14-16].

The two main reasons indicated for the medications not being used were 'treatment changes' (35.2%) and 'ineffective drug' (12%). Other frequent reasons declared by the present respondents were 'oversupply', 'patient feels better' and 'sell to get back money'. These reasons were somewhat consistent with that of other published studies [6, 12, 14].

Change of treatment as a frequent reason for returning drugs is important as the most likely time for changing the prescribed medications for a patient is during the early phases of treatment, so it may be prudent not to dispense the whole of the prescription quantity when treatment is being initiated. This may also allow the prescriber to more closely monitor the effectiveness of the chosen treatment. The huge percentage of patients returned their medications due to treatment change in the present study indicates an urgent need to change the current dispensing practices. Trial prescriptions have been implemented in Canada to overcome this problem and they lead to reducing the direct cost of medication wastage [17].

Medication wastage resulting from oversupply can be reduced through reducing the dispensed



Figure 2: Person who recommended the drugs returned to the selected community pharmacies during the study period (N=657).

package size or by adapting the pack to the most frequent dosages, or by synchronization of prescription quantities and the deletion of inappropriate items from the repeat order forms or even by dispensing through individualized dosing system depending on each prescription.

'Patient feels better' was one of the frequent reasons for returning drugs in the current study (10.5%). This might give an indication to the important role that should be played by comprehensive doctor/patient counseling on appropriate drug use especially in chronic conditions where long term treatment course should be followed.

Considerable proportions of the current participants returned unused drugs to get their money back, and this might be due to the finding that the highest percentage of payment for drugs was by the patient himself.

Drug reaching expiry date was among frequent the reasons for returning unused drugs. However, no information about the date of dispensing could be recorded in order to evaluate how long people tend to keep drugs they have stopped using. The information on the reason for returning each drug together with a note stating the age of the returned drug would help to provide a quantitative estimate of the relative importance of the reasons for drug being returned unused.

The therapeutic groups responsible for the most present returns were 'cardiovascular system', 'antiinfectives' and 'gastrointestinal' (Table 1). This finding is somewhat consistent with that of another Egyptian study [12]. Studies from different countries showed variability in the returned drugs by therapeutic groups, with cardiovascular and nervous systems among the highly ranked groups [14, 18, 19]. Generally, the majority of patients taking medications for cardiovascular system are chronic patients. Patient adherence to prescribed therapy (especially with chronic illness) is often not ideal, which may explain why a large number of returned drugs belonged to the cardiovascular system. Patients' non adherence to treatment could be the root cause that stands behind many other cited reasons [20]. Unfortunately, over-the-counter antibiotic use is common in Egypt, with evidence on over use of many antibiotics [21, 22]. This mostly explains why antiinfective ranked the first on the list of restored drugs in the present study.

When comparing based upon the cost of the returns, in the current study the therapeutic categories that showed the highest percentages of occurrence were also responsible for the highest cost, where the 'cardiovascular' group represents 19.4% of returns by number, and 44.6% of the cost. In a study conducted in New Zealand, although cardiovascular category showed the highest percentage of return, respiratory system category showed the highest cost [14].

In relation to the cost of the returned drugs in the present study, the average drug cost per pharmacy per month was 825.1 LE (140 \$). This value is higher than that was reported by another Egyptian study (average drug cost per pharmacy per month of 549.4 LE (103.5 \$) [12]. This confirms the substantial economic value of the unused drugs. Unfortunately, when considering the total number of pharmacies in Alexandria Governorate (3443), the average drug cost per month would be expected to reach 1.891.584 LE (318.986 \$).

The present data also indicated that patients themselves paid for almost 70% of the returns. In contrast, a study conducted in Spain revealed that the public insurance paid for more than 50% of the returns [18]. Payment systems for drugs vary between countries due to differences in the health care systems.

We acknowledge that there are limitations to the present study. The questionnaire on the returned medicines was answered by the patient, relative or others, which highlights the subjectivity of the answers. In some instances, respondents may not have known exactly why the medicines had not been used, especially when the patient was deceased.

Also the return of unused medicines may be subjected to seasonal variations, so data better to be collected over a longer period (1 year) before a reasonable annual figure can be estimated. This study had not attempt to quantify the other routes of disposal or to estimate quantities of unused medicines in patient's homes, therefore, it is likely that it has substantially underestimated the extent of unused medicines in the community.

Conclusion

In this study, more than one third of the return events made were attributable to changes in prescribed therapy. Additionally, cardiovascular and antiinvectives drugs were the most frequent therapeutic categories returned. This emphasizes the need for changing the drug dispensing policy, especially in chronic patients, and for anti-infectives, policy revision would have the highest priority. Based on the present findings, it is necessary to consider new measures to reduce the size and the cost of unused drugs in Egypt that entails more efficient prescription and dispensing systems. An investment in proper patient -and health provider education is an appropriate first step in reducing medication waste.

Acknowledgement

We would like to sincerely thank the volunteered community pharmacies. Their help and support were of paramount importance to the completion of this study.

Conflicts of interest

The study was fully funded by the researchers themselves. No financial disclosures were reported by the authors of this paper.

The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

Corresponding author

Samaa Z. Ibrahim High Institute of Public Health, Alexandria, Egypt. samaa752002@yahoo.com

References

- Mackridge AJ. (2011): Medicines non-use in primary care. Doctor of philosophy. Aston University, England, 2005 (available online at <u>http://mackridge.com/wp-content/_uploads/2008</u> /12/complete-thesis-web.pdf, accessed 8 October, 2011).
- Kevin G, Mikki J, Kathy B, Melinda N. (2004): Economic consequences of unused medications in Houston, Texas. The Annals of Pharmacotherapy, 38: 1165-8.
- Marchiset-Ferlay N,Gerbaud L, sauvant, MP, *et al.* (2001): Description of unused drugs collected in the pharmacies in the puy-de-dome region in France. Revue Epidemiol Sante Publique, 49:551-8.
- Cameron S. (1996): Study by Alberta pharmacists indicates drug wastage a "mammoth "problem. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 155:1596-9.
- 5. Garey KW, Johle ML, Behrman K *et al.* (2004): Economic consequences of unused medications in

Housten, Texas. The Annals of Pharmacotherapy, 38:1165-8.

- 6. Ekedahl A B. (2006): Reasons why medicines are returned to Swedish pharmacies unused. Pharmacy World Science, 28:352-8.
- Bronder E, Rlimpl A. (2001):Unused drugs returned to pharmacy –new data. International Journal Clinical Pharmacology & Therapy, 39:480-3.
- 8. Abou Auda HS. (2003): The extent of medication use and waste among families in Saudi Arabia and gulf countries. Clinical Therapy, 254:1276-92.
- 9. Benjamin H, Motawi A, Smith F. (1995): Community pharmacists and primary health care in Alexandria. Journal of Social & Administrative Pharmacy, 12:3-11.
- Bradley M. (2009): Waste medication. Community Pharmacy Audit Report 2008/09, NHS: Cumbria.
- 11. British National Formulary (2009): 58th edition. British Medical Association and the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain.
- 12. EL-hammasy M. (2011): Unused medications: how cost and how disposal of in Cairo, Egypt. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Studies & Research, 2: 21-7.
- 13. Mansur N, Weiss A, Beloosesky Y. (2009): Is there an association between inappropriate prescription drug use and adherence in discharged elderly patients? The Annals of Pharmacotherapy, 3: 177–84.

14. Braund R, Matthews R. (2009): Investigating unused medications in New Zealand. Pharmacy World Science, 31:664-9.

- 15. Braybrook S. (1999): A survey of why medicines are returned to pharmacies. Pharmaceutical Journal, 263(7063): R30.
- Ekedahli A. (2003): Unused drugs returned to pharmacies- a few patients return a large proportion of the unused drugs. Journal of Social & Administrative Pharmacy, 20(6):257.
- 17. Paterson JM, Anderson GM. (2002): 'Trial'' prescriptions to reduce drug wastage: results from Canadian programs and a community demonstration project. American Journal of Managed Care, 8(2):151–8.
- Coma A, Modamio P, Lastra C.F, *et al.* (2008): Returned medicines in the community pharmacies of Barcelona, Spain. Pharmacy World Science, 30:272-7.
- 19. Mackridge AJ. Marriott JF. (2007): Returned medicines: waste or a wasted opportunity? Journal of Public Health, 29:258-62.
- Osterberg L, Blaschke T. (2005): Adherence to medication. New England Journal of Medicine, 353: 487–97.
- Borg M, Zarb P, Ferech M, Goossens H. (2008): Antibiotic consumption in southern and eastern Mediterranean hospitals: results from the ARMed project. Journal Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 62(4): 830-6.
- 22. Zaki A, Abdel-Fattah M, Bassili A *et al.* (1999): The use of medication in infants in Alexandria, Egypt. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal, 5: 320-7.

5/2/2012

Efficiency of Some Disinfectants on Bacterial Wound Pathogens

Benjamin Thoha Thomas^{1*}, Adebare Johnson Adeleke², Remi Ramota Raheem-Ademola¹, Rachael Kolawole³, Oluwaseunfunmi Sikirat Musa⁴

- 1. Department of Medical Microbiology and Parasitology, Olabisi Onabanjo University College of Health Sciences, Sagamu, Ogun-State, Nigeria.
 - 2. Department of Microbiology, University of Ibadan, Oyo State, Nigeria.
 - 3. Department of Cell Biology and Cytogenetics, University of Lagos, Lagos State, Nigeria.
 - 4. Department of Microbiology, Olabisi Onabanjo University, Ago Iwoye, Ogun State, Nigeria.

Benthoa2009@yahoo.com

Abstract: Disinfectant are chemical agent used on inanimate object but can also be employed as antiseptic at a very low concentration. It is therefore imperative to determine the efficiency of some commonly used disinfectants on the frequently encountered bacterial wound pathogens. The antibacterial effects of these chemical agents were carried out using standard microbiological techniques. Results showed that the investigated disinfectants at 50% and 100% concentration cause 100% bacterial cell reduction. The Minimum inhibitory concentration of the investigated disinfectant ranged from 0.78 - 6.25% while the MBC ranged from 3.13 - 12.5%. The MBC to MIC ratio also ranged from 1 - 4, asserting the bactericidal power of the tested disinfectants. It can therefore be concluded that professionals involved in the care of wounds should consider the use of these agents for washing the surfaces of infected wounds in order to minimize the possible spread of multi-drug resistant bacterial pathogens from wound to other sources.

[Benjamin Thoha Thomas, Adebare Johnson Adeleke, Remi Ramota, Raheem-Ademola, Rachael Kolawole, Oluwaseunfunmi Sikirat Musa. Efficiency of some Disinfectants on Bacterial Wound Pathogens. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):752-755] (ISSN:1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 111

KEYWORDS: Disinfectants, bacteria, wound, pathogens

1. Introduction

Wound infection has been defined as the presence of pus in a lesion, as well as other general or local features of sepsis including pyrexia, pain and indurations (Shija, 1973). Wound may be encountered in clinical practice either post operatively, following trauma, in association with haemoglobinopathy or could primarily be of infective origin (Sule et al., 2002). All wounds, regardless of their origin may be contaminated by microorganisms or foreign bodies or both and all are likely to contain a significant amount of devitalized or necrotic tissue (Bell Chan et al., 1999). Wound infections represent an important cause of mobidity and account for 70 -80% mortality (Wilson et al; 2004). The development of such infections represent delayed healing causing anxiety and discomfort for patient, longer stays in hospitals and add to cost of health care services significantly (Mohantay et al, 2004). If infection is deep seated or becomes generalized, appropriate systemic treatment must be administered (Murtlay et al., 1998). However, the management of infected wound is a challenge (Sule et al., 2002 but it is important that, the entry site be cleansed daily and treated with appropriate antiseptic (Kiernan, 1998). The present study was therefore designed to determine the efficiency of some commonly used disinfectants on the frequently encountered bacterial wound pathogens.

2. Materials and Methods 2.1 Disinfectants

Three commonly used disinfectants were selected for this study and they included; Methylated spirit, Dettol and Lysol. The table below presents the common names, scientific name and the commercial concentration of the selected disinfectants.

2.2 Test Organisms

Staphylococcus aureus, Enterococous faecalis, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli, Klebsiella species, staphylococcus epidermidis and Proteus mirabilis were obtained from the Department of Medical Microbiology of the Olabisi Onabanjo University Teaching Hospital, Ogun State, Nigeria. Isolates were from clinical wound samples. The isolates identities were further confirmed in our laboratory using standard biochemical procedures (Barrow and Feltham, 1993). The isolates were maintained on Trytone soy agar (TSA) (Oxoid) at 4^oC before use for this work (Efuntoye *et al.*, 2010).

Table 1. Types and Commercial Concentration of Disinfectants used in the study							
Disinfectants	Scientific Name	Commercial Concentration (Percentage (%))	_				
Dettol	Chloroxylenol	4.8 w/v oleum pini					
Methylated Spirit	Idoptrophy Alcohol	95% Alcohol (v/v)					
Lysol	Saponated cresol	5% cresol					

Fable 1.	Types and	Commercial	Concentration	of Disinfectants	used in t	he study

2.3 Antibacterial Activity of the Disinfectants

The antibacterial activity of the selected disinfectant on the frequently encountered bacterial wound pathogens was evaluated using time kill test as describes by Ogunledun (2008). The minimum inhibitory concentration and the Minimum bactericidal concentration were carried out as described by NCCLS (2002). The minimum bactericidal concentration was defined as the lowest concentration of the disinfectants that produced negative subcultures. The MBC to MIC ratio was also determined and interpreted as described by Hazen (1998).

The results of the effect of the disinfectants on the frequently encountered bacterial wound pathogens as summarized in table 2 and 3 showed that the disinfectants were very effective at both 50% and 100% concentrations. These agents causes 100% reduction in the bacterial growth examined. Results of the minimum inhibitory concentration of the tested disinfectants showed that the disinfectants demonstrated inhibitory activities against the test organisms to varying degrees. The minimum bactericidal concentrations of all the disinfectants ranged from 3.13 - 12.5%. The minimum bactericidal concentration to the minimum inhibitory concentration (MBC/MIC ratio) were found to be between 1-4%.

3. RESULTS

Table 2:	Effect of Some Disinfecta	nts on bacterial wound j	pathogens at 100% concentration
Organisms	Dettol	Lysol	Methylated Spirit
		Bactericidal growth (%)	_

				D	actericidar g	nowm	(70)	_	
	30S	60S	90S	120S	30S	60S	90S	120S	308 608 908 1208
SA	0	0	0	0	О	0	0	0	0 0 0 0
EF	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0
PA	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0
EC	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0
KS	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0
SE	0	0	0	Ο	0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0
PM	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0

Table 3:	Effect of some disinfectants on bacterial wound pathogens at 50% concentration						
Organisms	Dettol		L	ysol		Methylated Spirit	
					Ba	ctericidal growth (%)	
		30S	60S	90S	120S	30 60 90 120	30 60 90 120
SA		0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0
EF		0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0
PA		0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0
EC		0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0
KS		0	0	0	0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0
SE		0	Ο	0	0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0

PM	0 0	0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0
Table 4:	Minimum Inhibito	ry Concentrations of	the selected Disinfectant	s on Bacterial Wound
Pathogens				

		Disinfectants (%)	
Organisms	Dettol	Lysol	Methylated Spirit
SA	3.13	6.25	6.25
EF	3.13	6.25	6.25
PA	3.13	3.13	6.25
EC	1.56	3.13	3.13
KS	1.56	3.13	3.13
SE	3.13	6.25	3.13
PM	0.78	1.56	1.56

Pathogens				
		Disinfectants (%)		
Organisms	Dettol	Lysol	Methylated Spirit	
SA	6.25	12.5	12.5	
EF	6.25	12.5	12.5	
PA	6.25	6.25	12.5	
EC	3.13	6.25	12.5	
KS	3.13	6.25	12.5	
SE	3.13	12.5	12.5	
PM	3.13	6.25	6.25	

Table 5: Minimum Bactericidal Concentrations of Some Selected Disinfectants on Bacterial Wound

Table 6: Minimum bactericidal concentration and Minimum inhibitory concentration of the tested disinfectants.

_	<u>MBC</u> MIC ra	ratio for the investigated disinfectants		
Organisms	Dettol	Lysol	Methylated Spirit	
SA	2	2	2	
EF	2	2	2	
PA	2	2	2	
EC	2	2	4	
KS	2	2	4	
SE	1	2	4	
PM	4	4	4	

5. Discussion

Over the years, disinfectants have played important roles in the control of infections (Rutala, 1996). All the tested disinfectants were very active against the wound pathogens. This finding is contrary to the findings of Ihsan and Thuraya (2011) who reported some commonly used disinfectants in Iraq which were not effective against bacterial wound pathogens at 100% and 50% concentration. The difference observed in our study could be due to difference in the species or strains of the organisms used. The minimum inhibitory concentrations for all the disinfectants were found ranging from 0.78 -6.25%. This observation corroborates that of Frohm et al. (1996) who also asserted that bacteria will continue to be killed even at a surface level if they come in contact with a disinfectant regardless of the concentration of such disinfectants. The MIC to MBC ratio ranged from 1 - 4 and incidentally falls within the range reported by Hazen (1998) to be cidal for any agents. This observation further stressed that these agents are effective bactericidal agents. It can therefore be concluded that these agents should be used for cleansing the inanimate objects that could serve as formites for wound pathogens and also, at a very low concentration, should be considered good cleansers for infected wounds.

Correspondence to:

Benjamin Thoha Thomas

Department of Medical Microbiology and Parasitology, College of Health sciences, Olabisi Onabanjo University, P.M.B.2022, Sagamu, Ogun State, Nigeria.

Tel. +234-806-401-1412.

Email: Benthoa2009@yahoo.com

REFERENCES

- 1.Barrows GI, Feltham RKA (eds). Cowan and Steel's Manual for the identification of medical bacteria,3rd edition University Press, Combridge.1993
- 2.Bellcham J, Harris JM, Cullinan P, Gaya H, Pepper JR .A prospective study of wound infection in coronary. Eur J. Cardiothorac Surg.1999; 15(1): 45 – 50.
- 3.Efuntoye MO, Ayodele AE, Thomas BT, Ajayi TO.Does host plant affect the antibacterial activity of Tapinanthus bangwensis (Engl. And K. Krause) Danser (Loranthuceae)? Journal of Medicinal Plants Research 2010; 4 (13) : 1281 1284).
- 4.Hazen KC.Fungicidal Versus fungistatic activity of terbinafine and Itraconazole: an in vitro comparison. J. Am. Dermatol; 1998;38: 537 – 541.

- 5.Frohn N. Biochemical and antibacterial analysis of human wound and blister fluid. Euro J. Biochem 1996;237 (1): 86 – 92.
- 6.Ihsan EA, Thuraya JM.Efficiency of Some disinfectants and extracts of medicinal plants on bacterial pathogens isolated from post-operative wounds. Journal of Medicinal Plants Research 2011;5(4): 539 – 542.
- 7.Kiernan M. Post Operation Wound Care. Community Nurse 1998;4 (8): 48 – 49.
- 8.Mohantay M, Colliers A, Falanga YT.Assessing and Controlling wound infection. Clin Plast Surg. 2004;30(1): 25 – 35.
- 9.Murtlay R, Sengupta S, Maya N, Shivanada PG.Incidence of post operative wound infection and their antibiogram mateaching and referral hospital. Indian Journal of Med. Sci.1998;52 (12): 533 555.
- 10.National Committee for Clinical Laboratory Standards.Dilution Antimicrobial Susceptibility tests for Bacterial that grow Aerobically. Approved Standar. 2nd edition, NCCLS document M7 – A3 (ISSBN 1 – 56238 – 469). Pennysylvarua, USA, 2000.
- Rutala WA.APIC guideline for selection and use of disinfectants. Am. J. Infect. Control 1996;23: 313 – 342.
- 12.Shija JK.The Incidence and Patten of Sepsi Among general Surgical In Patients at Muhimbili Hospital, Doaarr Salam. East African Medical Journal 1973; 53(3): 153 – 159.
- 13.Sule AM, Thanni LOA, Sule Odu OA, Olusanya O.Bacterial Pathogenes Associated with Infected wounds in Ogun State University Teaching Hospital, Sagamu, Nigeria African Journal of Clinical and Experiemental Microbiology 2002;3(1):13 – 17.
- 14.Wilson APR, Gibbons C, Raeves BC, Hogson B, Liu M, and Plummer D.Surgical wound infections as a performance indicator: agreement of common definItion of wound infections in 4773 Patients. B.M.J.2004;329: 720 – 722.
- 15.Ogunledun A, Deji Agboola AM, Efunshile AM, Mutiu WB, Banjo TA, Adedeji SO, Igile GO.In vitro Antimicrobial Efficacy of Carex Powerful Antiseptic liquid. Nigerian Journal of Health and Biomedical Sciences 2008;7 (22) : 045 – 052.

5/5/2012

Reduction of Toxic Cr⁶⁺ Ions in Presence of Non Toxic Acid

Mona A. Darweesh

Department of Physical and mathematical engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Tanta University, Loaned To chemistry department, Faculty of Science, Tabuk University. <u>mona_ahmed_dar2006@yahoo.com</u>

Abstract: Chromium VI is a toxic and carcinogenic element; it could be detected in waste water getting out from many industries as tannery, textile and electroplating of metals. Oxidation reduction process is the most economic and simple way of removing Cr^{6+} by conversion into Cr^{3+} (non hazard). The rate of reduction reaction of Cr^{6+} to Cr^{3+} in K₂Cr₂O₇ has been studied in absence of nontoxic acids and it is found to be first order reaction. Different acids as acetic acid, formic, glycinecitric acids were also tested at different temperatures and reactions. The rate of the reaction in each case was measured. Thermodynamic parameters ΔG^* , ΔH^* and ΔS^* are estimated from the experimental measurements. [Mona A. Darweesh. Reduction of Toxic Cr^{6+} Ions in Presence of Non Toxic Acid. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):756-762] (ISSN:1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 112

Keywords: waste water, heavy metals, removal of hexavalent Cr

1. Introduction

Environmental preservation is nowadays matter of deep concern; that is why much work has been done on this subject in the last years. The word "pollution" has no many presences in our lives, due to the great development in the industrial field. Pollution can be identified as very contaminants that could change the nature balance due to human levels (1). Water is essential for life, since it is required for various purposes in community life such as cocking, drinking, washing, warring gardens, etc. but as the community developed and with concentration of pollution in cities, the demand of water increases. Also, with the rapid industerlization-take place, a vast amount of water is required to run industries. Subsequently, amount of industrial wastes discharged into water resources increased, and the demand for industrial water treatment, particularly containing heavy metals, in necessary.

Heavy metals release in waste waters is one of the most worrying pollution causes. As it affects on life may particularly serious, referring to plants and animals (mainly fishes), or to man, reached indirectly by the toxics through food chain.

The removal of heavy metals from waste is a topic with great industrial importance, as there are a great number of large industries, which must spend millions of dollars each year to deal with this issue. The most common heavy metals to be removed are: cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, lead, manganeses, mercury, vanadium and zinc.

There are many industries where process operations results in large quantities of the pollutants in the effluents being discharged, e.g., refineries, gas, gas undertakings, alloys, electroplating rinse solution, metal finishing industries and reach and effluent solutions from the manufacture of chemicals.

Processes of metal removal from waste water effluents must be selected to remove the metal either in

this existing form, or converted to a form suitable for the removal processes. In general, metals must either be precipitated or else attached to an insoluble species, e.g. through adsorption or ion exchange ⁽²⁾.

Chromium:

Chromium is steel-grey, lustrous, hard, metallic, and takes a high polish. Its compounds are toxic. It is found as chromites ore. Siberian red lead (crocoites $PbCrO_4$) is a chromium ore prized as a red pigment for oil paints ⁽³⁾.

Chromium exists in several valence states, ranging from chromium (III) to chromium (VI). However, the three major forms of chromium that commonly exist in the environment are chromium (0), chromium (III) and chromium (VI). Only trivalent and hexavalent are biologically significant ⁽⁴⁾. Hexavalent chromium compound appear to be 10 to 100 times more toxic than their Cr^{3+} counterparts when both are administers the oral route ⁽⁵⁾. Metallic chromium (0) is relatively non toxic.

1.3 Hexavalent chromium

Hexavalent chromium compounds are chromium trioxide, chromium anhydride, chromium acid and dichromate salts.

 Cr^{6+} , a know carcinogen, forms relatively soluble precipitates, and dose not absorb readily. Cr^{6+} is carcinogenic because it is highly reactive interacting with the body's chemistry and functions ⁽⁶⁻⁹⁾.

Health effects

Chromium III is required for health, and all ordinary exposures are considered to be safe. Chromium VI can produce liver and kidney damage, internal hemorrhage, dermatitis, respiratory damages and lung cancer.

Environmental effects

Chromium has been associated with soil infertility only in a few places because of high concentration. Chromium in the form of chromate chemicals is toxic to plant. Chromium VI is toxic to aquatic life. Chromium water concentration should not exceed 10 ppm for protection of aquatic species.

Cementation is one of the oldest and simplest hydrometallurgical processes, which has been used as a means of extracting metals from solution. Only in the past 20 years, considerable attention has been paid to two main industrial applications of cementation. The first involves the recovery of metals from leach solution $^{(10-12)}$ and the second is concerned with the purification of electrolyte solutions to remove metals which are more electropositive than the metal to be deposited, e.g. Cu, Co, Ni, Cd from ZnSO₄ electrolyte $^{(13-15)}$

Many applications have been reported in industry ⁽⁷⁻¹¹⁾ for the recovery of metals and purification of electrolyte solution. Almost all the authors have reported that electrochemistry of the reaction at room temperature is diffusion-controlled ⁽²⁰⁾.

The most important source of chromium pollution is dusterial. Hexavalent chromium compounds causes dermatitis ⁽²¹⁾, perforation of nasal septum and inflammation of larynx and liver. Skin lesions and kidney damage could be produced as a result of occupational exposure to hexavalent chromium compound is probably a carcinogen and the lung is principle site of action ⁽²²⁾.

Aim of work

The objective of the present work is devoted to study the kinetics of the reduction of Cr^{+6} to Cr^{3+} on rotating iron cylinder in presence of some non toxic organic acids at different concentrations and different rpm to remove as much as possible the Cr^{+6} from waste water.

2. Experimental work

Figure (1) is a block diagram of the apparatus used in recovery of (Cr^{+6}) from the solution which permits the rotation of an immersed iron cylinder in a 600ml glass beaker containing 499ml of experimental solution. The iron cylinder used in each run is of 7cm length and 1.4cm diameter, only the peripheral surface of pure iron was exposed to the solution. The cylinder was rotated in experimental solution with variable speed motor. The frequency of rotation recorded as revolution per second was counted by an optical tachometer.

Kinetic measurement

Analar potassium dichromate and redistilled water containing 1.5 mol 1^{-1} sulfuric acid (98% w/w) were used in the preparation of blank solution (0.05 mol 1^{-1}) as well as in the presence of five different concentrations of acid. The rate of reaction was determined at different temperature 25, 30, 35 and 40°

C as well as at different rotations 650, 500, 375, 250 and 125 r.p.m. Analar 4 non toxic acids were used.

Through the proceeding reaction, at different time intervals 10, 20, 30 minutes, 1ml sample was taken from reaction solution and diluted to 10ml by redistilled water. The determination of hexavalent (Cr^{+6}) concentration was carried out at 365 nm using UV-160A spectrophotometer through the equation (7).

3. Results and Discussion

Chromium occurs in liquid wastes in two forms, trivalent and hexavalent. Hexavalent chromium is toxic and known to be carcinogenic substance. It is responsible for lung cancer, chrome ulcer, perforation of nasal septum and kidney damage. According to IS: 2490 and IS: 2296 (environmental protection agency 1985) the threshold-limiting value for hexavalent chromium is 0.1 mg/l. the limit of liquid wastes discharged into the sea is 1 ppm. For trivalent chromium, it is a practice to keep the concentration below 4 ppm.

Chromic acid and its salts are used in tanning industries and as oxidizing agents in the manufacture of organic chemicals. They are also widely used in electroplating industries for the deposition of chromium metal ⁽¹⁶⁾.

In fertilizer-industry waste, hexavalent chromium is between 20 and 30 ppm and must be removed before biological treatment. It finds its way into the liquid effluent through the blow-down of the cooling tower. Chromates and dichromates are present in the cooling water as scale and corrosion inhibitors. Blow-down is done when the total amount of dissolved solids in the water increases to around 700 ppm from an initial value of 100 ppm.

Reduction precipitation

The reduction precipitation $^{(7,9)}$ method finds wide applications in the treatment of chromium. It is economical and the removal efficiency is high (98-99 per cent). However, there are three steps involved in this methods:

- 1. pH adjustement
- 2. Reduction
- 3. Precipitation.

pH adjustement is achieved with the use of sulphuric acid whereby the pH is reduced to 2-3. At this level, the reduction of Cr^{+6} to Cr^{+3} can be achieved very efficiently. The equalization technique where acidic waste from some other plant is mixed with the liquid waste can also be used, thereby reducing the cost of treatment.

3.3 The order of the reaction

In our work, oxidation-reduction reaction between potassium dichromate and iron takes place to

produce trivalent chromium ions (Cr^{+3}). The kinetics of this reaction have been studied extensively ⁽²³⁻²⁵⁾ where, the rate controlling step was found to be the diffusion of hexavalent chromium ions (Cr^{+6}) to iron surface. In such case, the rate of change of hexavalent chromium ions (Cr^{+6}) concentration in the solution is followed as in equation (1)

$$\frac{dc}{dt} = -KA * \frac{C}{V}$$
(1)

Assuming that (Cr^{+6}) concentration is negligible at iron solution interface, C is (Cr^{+6}) concentration represented in (mol l⁻¹) at time t (sec), K is the mass

3Fe _____

 $Cr^{+ 6}$

bulk

Reaction at the anode (a)

Reaction at the cathode (b)

(c)

This reaction is diffusion controlled whose rate in a batch reactor can be represented by integration equation (2)

 $Cr^{+6} + 6e^{-7}$

$$Ln C_o/C = KA^* / V'$$
 (2)

This equation may be represented as a straight line where, C_o is (Cr^{+6}) concentrations at zero time and the other symbols have the definition mentioned above. Figure (2) shows the relation between log C_0/C against time for the blank solution while figure (3) demonstrate the relation between log C_0/C against time at different concentrations of acetic acid at 250 rpm. Table (1) and figures (2,3) show that, the reaction is a first order reaction in according to equation (1) and (2).

The rate constant of reaction for different acetic acid derivatives composition were calculated from the slopes of $\ln C_0/C$ Vs time lines. Table (1) summarizes the obtained results at different temperatures. It is found that Cr^{+6} reduction process is inhibited by addition of acids. The percentage of inhibition for Cr^{+6} reduction is calculated from the following relation:

% inhibition =
$$\frac{k-k}{k}$$
100

where k is reaction rate constant in blank solution at [250 rpm].

 \mathbf{k} = rate constant of the reaction in presence of organic acid. Table (3) gives the relation between the percentages of inhibition of the rate of Cr⁺⁶ reduction and organic acid concentration at 25° C. It was found that the % inhibition depending on the types of organic

transfer coefficient which depends upon fluid flow and temperature conditions (cm/sec), A^* is the exposed area of the iron cylinder (cm²) and V represents the volume of the solution (cm³).

Accordingly, the rate of decreasing the hexavalent chromium ions (Cr^{+6}) concentration is proportional to its concentration and the exposed iron area, the mechanism of the reaction seems to be electrochemical in nature i.e. it takes place through a galvanic cell where Fe act as the cell anode where Cr^{6+} reduction take place at cathode site as follows

 Fe^{+2} + 6e⁻ (dissolution of metal in acidic medium)

(mass transfer step)

Cr⁺³

 Cr^{+6}

interface

(charge transfer step)

acid and its concentration. The order of Cr^{+6} reduction inhibition is

citric >glycine> Acetic acid > formic

The decrease in the rate of Cr^{+6} reduction in the presence of acid may be attributed to:

Organic acid may form a thin adsorbed film on the iron metal which leads to decrease the rate of reduction reaction, also adsorption of organic acid on the surface depends mainly on the structure. Citric, glycine have more than one functional group which are adsorbed on the surface of the metal more than acetic acid which has one functional group ^(25, 26).

(i) The decrease in the diffusion coefficient (D); of Cr^{+3} in solutions containing acids is due to the increase in the interfacial viscosity η in accordance to Stokes-Einstein equation^(9, 10)

$$\eta \frac{D}{T} = \text{constant}$$
 (5)

Where T is the absolute temperature. The increase in the interfacial viscosity is caused by the adsorption of acids molecules on the iron surface.

Trichloro acetic acid is more inhibitors than other because it has more than one functional group. From table (3) it is obvious that the order of decreasing the rate of reduction as follows:

Formic <Acetic <glycine< Citric

3.4 Effect of stirring on the reaction

Figures (4,5) give the variation of log C_0/C with time at different speed of rotation (rpm) of iron cylinder at 25^oC for acidified 0.05 mol l⁻¹ potassium dichromate solution as a blank solution as well as in the presence of formic acid. The effect of rotational speed on the mass transfer coefficient (K) can also be used to determine whether the reaction is diffusion or chemically controlled. If the mass transfer coefficient increases with increasing stirring speed, then the reaction is diffusion controlled. If the mass transfer coefficient (K) is independent on stirring speed, then the reaction is chemically controlled. The data shown in table (3) represent that the reaction is diffusion controlled $^{(16 \text{ and } 17)}$.

Adsorption isotherm

The degree of surface coverage $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ was calculated by the relation

$$\theta = \frac{K - \overline{K}}{K} \tag{6}$$

 \mathbf{K} = rate of the reaction for blank solution K = rate of the reaction in presence of additive The adsorption of surfactant on Zn electrode is found to obey Langmuir isotherm equation (7)

$$\frac{\theta}{1-\theta} = \operatorname{Ac}\left[\exp\frac{\Delta G}{RT}\right] \tag{7}$$

where A = constant

C = concentration of organic substances

 ΔG = energy of adsorption

 $R = Gas constant, [8.314 J.mol^{-1}.l^{-1}]$

Fig. (4) and table (4) represents a typical plot of log $(\theta/1-\theta)$ vs. log c which would give straight line. The slopes of the curves are nearly equal to unity and are reasonably linear in accordance with Langmuir isotherm equation (7).

It has been postulated on the derivation of Langmuir isotherm that adsorbed molecules do not interact with each other ⁽¹⁵⁾. Interaction of adsorbed species by mutual repulsion or attraction would make the slope of the plot deviate from unity.

Thermodynamic treatment of the reaction

From the integrated form of Arrhenius equation

$$\ln K = \frac{-E}{RT} + \ln(A)$$
⁽²⁾

where R is the gas constant, E is the activation energy and A is the frequency factor. The values of E are given in table (6).

The values for enthalpy of activation, ΔH^* , entropy of activation ΔS^* , and free energy of activation ΔG^* , can be obtained by using the following equations:

 $\Delta H^* = E - RT \tag{7}$

$$\frac{\Delta S^*}{R} = \ln(A) - \ln\left(\frac{\alpha Te}{h}\right) \tag{8}$$

 $\Delta G^* = \Delta H^* - T\Delta S^*$ (9) where α is the Boltzman constant, e is 2.7183 and h is Plank's constant.

Although the change in the free energy of activation, ΔG^* , with the acids concentration for all used acids is only small, (Tables 6), and variations occur in the enthalpy of activation ΔH^* and the entropy of activation ΔS^* , with acids concentration where in all these cases ΔH^* and ΔS^* compensate each other to produce little changes in ΔG^* .

It is noticed that all values of ΔS^* are highly negative values, indicating a more ordered system and non-random distribution of the acids on the electrode. These values are found to be independent of the type of acids and the number of the substituent present in each acid, where these acids compounds affect the process by dissolution of copper metal.

In general, it is found that the values of E and Δ H* decreases as the acid concentration decreases as shown in Table (6), which may be attributed to that; the acids increase the local solution viscosity at the Fe surface with a consequent decrease in the diffusivity of Cr⁶⁺ ion, and , also , the acids molecules accelerate the natural convection flow arising from the density difference between the bulk solution and the solution at the electrode surface due to the repulsion force between the Fe and the COOH group of the acid, leading to decrease in the rate of oxidation.

Conc. 10^4 mol 1^{-1}							
Acid	0.0	0.5	1	5	10	50	
		k. 10^3 sec^{-1}					
Acetic	7.6	5.7	4.4	3.3	2.7	2.0	
Monochloro Acetic	7.6	5.00	3.85	3.1	2.65	1.90	
Dichloro Acetic	7.6	4.6	3.53	2.90	2.60	1.82	
Trichloro Acetic	7.6	4.4	3.40	2.81	2.51	1.71	

Table (1) The values of rate constants (k.10³) for solution of different concentration of acids at 25°C and 250 rpm.

The values of the rate constants k. 10^3 at different temperatures for all acids and at 250 rpm c = 1x 10^4 mol. 1^{-1}

Acid	Temperature					
	25	30	35	40		
Acetic Acid	4.3	5.14	6.12	7.18		
Formic Acid	3.85	4.55	5.55	6.53		
Glyceric Acid	3.53	4.28	5.23	6.34		
Citric Acid	3.4	4.2	5.01	6.10		

Table (2b) The values of rate constant for solutions in presence of 5x10⁻⁵ mol l⁻¹ CH₃COOH.

rpm	k. 10 ³
125	2.13
250	3.11
375	4.70
500	7.60
rpm	k. 10 ³
rpm 125	k. 10³ 1.22
rpm 125 250	k. 10³ 1.22 1.75
rpm 125 250 375	k. 10³ 1.22 1.75 3.10

Table (3) :The values of percentage inhibition for all acids at 25°C and 250 rpm.

Acids	Conc. 10^4						
	0.5	1	5	10	50		
Formic Acid	25	39.3	56.57	64.5	73.7		
Acetic Acid	34.2	49.3	59.21	65.5	75.0		
Glyceric Acid	39.47	53.55	61.85	66	76.1		
Citric Acid	42.1	55.26	63.0	67	77.5		

Table (4):The values of the rate constants k.10³ for solution in presence of different concentration of acids at different temperatures and 250 rpm.

$C.10^4 \text{ mol } l^{-1}$	0.0	0.5	1.0	2.0	3.0	4.0	5.0	
T°C								
a) Formic acid								
25	7.7	5.7	4.4	3.3	2.66	2.2	2.0	
30	8.5	6.6	5.2	3.7	3.2	2.63	2.37	
35	9.86	7.91	6.15	4.75	3.7	3.3	3.1	
40	11.11	9.1	7.3	5.61	4.7	4.0	3.7	
b) Acetic acid								
25	7.6	5.70	3.85	2.95	2.30	2.0	1.63	
30	8.5	6.0	4.6	3.55	2.70	4.33	2.1	
35	9.86	7.20	5.65	4.30	3.43	3.2	2.7	
40	11.11	8.50	6.8	5.25	4.21	3.8	3.3	
C)glycineacid								
25	7.6	4.6	3.6	2.6	2.1	1.7	1.3	
30	8.5	5.6	4.3	3.15	2.15	2.15	1.7	
35	9.86	6.8	5.3	3.8	3.1	2.7	2.10	
40	11.11	8.10	6.4	4.7	3.8	3.31	2.7	
c) Citric acid								
25	7.6	4.4	3.4	3.01	2.9	2.7	2.6	
30	8.5	5.2	4.0	3.3	3.2	3.1	2.5	
35	9.86	6.3	5.4	5.2	4.8	4.5	4.2	
40	11.11	8.0	6.2	5.4	5.1	4.8	4.7	

Table (5): The relation betw	een the degree o	f coverage an	d concentration of acid

	U	0				
Acids	C.10 ⁴ Mol. 1 ⁻¹	θ	1-θ	$\frac{\theta}{1-\theta}$	$\log \frac{\theta}{1-\theta}$	log C
	0.5	0.342	0.658	0.519	-1.715	-5.30
	1	0.493	0.507	0.972	-1.9878	-5.0
Acetic Acid	5	0.592	0.408	1.45	0.1616	-4.30
	10	0.655	0.345	1.898	0.278	-4.00
	50	0.75	0.25	3.0	0.477	-3.20
	0.5	0.25	0.75	0.333	-0.477	-5.30
	1	0.343	0.607	0.647	-0.188	-5.0
Formic Acid	5	0.566	0.454	1.246	0.096	-4.30
	10	0.645	0.455	1.417	0.1513	-4.00
	50	0.737	0.263	2.802	0.448	-3.20
	0.5	0.395	0.605	0.6528	-0.185	-5.30
	1	0.536	0.464	1.155	0.063	-5.0
Glyceric Acid	5	0.619	0.38	1.628	0.212	-4.30
-	10	0.66	0.34	1.941	0.288	-4.00
	50	0.755	0.25	3.00	0.477	-3.20
Citric Acid	0.5	0.421	0.589	0.721	-0.14	-5.30
	1	0.553	0.447	1.237	0.092	-5.0
	5	0.63	0.37	1.70	0.230	-4.30
	10	0.67	0.33	2.030	0.31	-4.00
	50	0.775	0.225	3.444	0.537	-3.20

Table (6): Thermodynamic parameters for all acid used

Aaid	Doromotor	$C \ge 10^4 \pmod{l^{-1}}$							
Aciu	rarameter	0	0.5	1.0	2.0	3.0	4.0	5.0	
	E	19.986	26.20	29.683	29.817	31.518	34.4	36.9	
Acetic	ΔH	17.507	23.70	27.207	27.338	29.04	32.11	34.3	
Acid	$-\Delta S$	226.8	210.5	199.95	201.7	198.11	188	183	
	ΔG	85.13	86.00	86.819	87.500	88.1	88.6	88.9	
	E	19.986	24.603	26.188	28.568	28.71	31.36	32.891	
Formic	ΔH	17.507	22.125	23.709	26.09	26.262	28.881	30.30	
Acid	$-\Delta S$	226.8	213.7	210.5	205	206.2	194.0	195	
	ΔG	85.13	85.84	86.479	87.25	87.742	88.215	85.461	
	E	19.986	29.382	21.35	30.56	33.21	34.6	37.3	
Glyceric	ΔH	17.507	26.90	18.875	28.00	30.73	32.1	34.9	
Acid	$-\Delta S$	226.8	199.0	228	200.5	193	190	183	
	ΔG	85.13	85.357	86.895	87.79	88.9	88.8	89.50	
	E	19.986	19.04	32.655	34.31	32.6	32.62	33.8	
Citric	ΔH	17.507	16.67	30.1	31.833	30.13	30.1	31.3	
Acid	$-\Delta S$	226.8	234.1	191	186.6	192	193	189.4	
	ΔG	85.13	86.4	87.14	87.50	87.57	87.5	87.9	

Corresponding author

Dr. Mona A. Darweesh

Department of Physics and mathematical Engineering Faculty of Engineering, Tanta University, loaned to Chemistry Department, faculty of Science, Tabuk University.

mona_ahmed_dar2006@yahoo.com

4. Aknowledgment

Thanks for Chemistry Department ,Faculty of Science, Tabuk Universities for their supports, facilities and allowing me to do the Experiments in their labs

5. References:

1. Alloway B.J. ,and D.C.A Yres(1993): Chemical principles of environmental pollution . Blackie academic and professional , London, 1st ed., 5.
- 2. Metcalf C. and A. Eddy(1972): inc, McGraw-Hill Series in Water Resources and Environmental Engineering, McGraw – Hill Book Company, New York ;.
- Ahmed A.M. and M. .A.AKatat (2000): Kinetic Stndy of Removal of (Cr⁺⁶) on Rotating Iron Cylinder in Presence of Sulfur Compounds, M.SC., Alexandria University, Egypt.
- Mayer L.M. and L.L Schick(1981) J. of Environ .Sci. Technol., 15:1482.
- Katz S. A. and H. Salem (1993) J. Appl. Toxical., 13, 217-244.
- 6. Singh D. B., D. C. Rupainwar and G. Prasad (1992) , J.Chem.Tech. Biotechnol. ,53, 127-131.
- Gang D., S. K. Banerji and T. E. Clevenger(2002): Proceeding of the 1999 Conference on Hazardous Waste Research, Columbia, Missouri, 64-67.
- Vouk V. B. (1979): Hand Book on The Toxicology of Metals, Amesterdam, New York, Oxford, Elsevier Science publishers.
- 9. Morel., F. M. M. and J. G. Hering(1993): Principles And Applications of Aquatic Chemistry. Wiley press, New York, N.Y,
- 10. John Harte, Cheryl Holdren, Richard Schneider, and Christine Shirtey, Printed in the United States of America Copyright (1991) by the Regents of the University of California.
- 11. Biswas A. K. and W. G Daven Part(1979): Book of Extractive Metallurgy of copper, Pergamon Press, New York.
- 12. Ettel V. (1981): Vol 2, Ed J O'M Bockris, Plenum, New York.
- 13. Bro P. and K. C. Lang(1974): J. Environ Sci Technol, 8, 925-930.
- 14. Genon G. and P. Parti(1983): J. Gaglia Chim Ind (Milan), 65: 79.

- Hendrickson D. J., M. M. Benjamin, J. F. Ferguson and L. Goebel. J. (1984): Removal of Water Pollution Control Federation, 5: 468.
- 16. Gould J. P., M. Y. Masingale and Miller. J. (1984): Water Pollution Control Federation, 3: 280.
- 17. Ku Y. and C. Chen, (1992):J Sep. Sci. Tech., 27: 1259.
- 18. Mackinnon D. J. and T. R. Ingraham(1971):J. Can. Metall. Q., 10:197.
- 19. Mackinnon D. J., T. R. Ingraham and R. Kerby, Can. Metall.Q., 10, 165, (1971).
- Nadakarni R. M., C. E. Jelden, K. C. Bowles, H. E. Flanders and M. W. Wadsworth (1980):J. Trans. Metall. Soc. AIME, 239: 581.
- 21. Nadakarni R. M., M. W. Wadsworth(1967):J. Trans. Metall. Soc. AIME, 239 1066.
- 22. Environmental Health Criteria 61, "Chromium" World Health Organization, Genwa, (1988).
- 23. Bigaliev P., A. Montaldi and E. Majone(1982): Carcinogenisis, 3: 1333.
- 24. El Subruiti G. M. and A. M. Ahmed(1995): Alex Eng. J. 33: 69.
- 25. Environemental Protection Agency, Health Assessment Document for Chromium. Final report. EPA 600/8-83-014F. Washington, D.C.(1985).
- 26. Saad E. F., E. A. Hamed, A. A. El-Bardan and A. M. Ahmed(1991): Bull of Electrochemistry, 7: 87.
- 27. National Research Council Chromium, Washington, D.C. Committee on Biologic effects of Atmospheric Pollutants, National Academy of Sciences (1974).

5/2/2012

Plasma Levels of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Dress Style in a Sample of Egyptian Female University Students

Maggie M. Fawzi^{1*}, Enas Swelam¹ and Nagwa S. Said²

Departments of ¹Clinical Pathology and ²Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt <u>*mag0000eg@yahoo.com</u>, <u>mounir.fawzi40@gmail.com</u>

Abstract: Background: Sunlight exposure is the most important source of vitamin D. Nevertheless, there are indications of a high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in a number of sunny countries. Concealed clothing, as it blocks the absorbance of UV light, is hypothesized to be the cause of impairment of vitamin D production. The objectives of the present study were to determine the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and whether vitamin D status is related to the dress style among apparently healthy female university students in a prototype of Egyptian governorates *which enjoy* a good deal of *sunny* weather. **Methods:** A random sample of 120(90 females; 30 males) apparently healthy undergraduate students, Zagazig University, Sharkia, Egypt, were enrolled in a cross sectional study. Females were divided according to their dress style into three groups, Western, Hegab and Nekab dress style group. Vitamin D status was determined in terms of plasma 25(OH) D levels using electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA). **Results:** Mean serum 25(OH)D level was 23.7 \pm 12.681 ng/mL. Levels did not differ between males and females or between females grouped by dress style. Using a cutoff point of 30 ng/mL, 74.6% of the sample (61.7% and 79.2% of males and females, respectively) had low vitamin D status. **Conclusions:** This study demonstrates a high prevalence of low vitamin D status among university students in Zagazig, Egypt. Results, however, are not in support of the hypothesis that concealing clothing is the cause of the vitamin D insufficiency. Thus, other factors must be sought to explain the low vitamin D status of the sufficient solar source of this vitamin.

[Maggie M. Fawzi, Enas Swelam and Nagwa S. Said Plasma. Levels of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Dress Style in a Sample of Egyptian Female University Students. Life Sci J 2012;9(2):763-767] (ISSN:1097-8135). http://www.lifesciencesite.com. 113

Keywords: 25(OH) D; Dress Style; Egypt; Hegab; Nekab; Vitamin D.

1. Introduction

The steroid hormone vitamin D, also known as the "sunshine vitamin," plays a major role as a precursor in calcium homeostasis of the human body. By far, the most important source of vitamin D is sunlight exposure. Hence, limited skin exposure to sunlight is presumed to be the cause of vitamin D deficiency(Holick, 2005). The liver and other tissues metabolize vitamin D, whether from the skin or oral ingestion, to 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) which is the principal circulating form of vitamin D. Further metabolism of 25(OH)D to the active metabolite 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D occurs mainly in the kidneys (Henry, 2011). Although 1,25(OH)D is the principal hormonal form of vitamin D, it is not the ideal measure for vitamin D status. This is mainly because the plasma half-life of circulating 1,25(OH)D is only 4-6 hours and the 1,25(OH)D circulating levels are thousand fold less than those of 25(OH)D (Anderson et al., 2003). By contrast, 25(OH)D, the principal circulating form of vitamin D has a half-life of approximately 2-3 weeks. Therefore, measurement of 25(OH)D is widely considered a robust 'gold standard' indicator of vitamin D status (Hollis, 2005; Hollis and Horst, 2007; Springbett et al., 2010).

Low levels of vitamin D metabolites are associated with malabsorption of calcium, which results in bone loss and variety of many other conditions including cancers of prostate, colon and breast, hypertension, lack of proper immune modulation and diabetes (**Khazai** *et al.*, **2008**). This is especially true for people more prone to vitamin D deficiency, including people of darker skin color photo proteced by melanin (**Brok** *et al.*, **2011**). Because of recent recognition of its broad pathophysiological importance, vitamin D has become a hot topic in medical research during the last decade (**Grant, 2006; Bacchetta** *et al.*, **2010;**).

There appears to be an unrecognized epidemic of vitamin D deficiency in many parts of the world (Holick and Chen, 2008). However, there are wide regional differences in the 25(OH)D levels with an observed latitude effect, which has already been addressed in several countries by implementing dairy fortifications policies (Rucker et al., 2002, Kull et al., 2009;). Most of the studies concerning vitamin D status have focused on Western countries situated at temperate latitudes, though studies in the East have shown similar observations. Thus, a greater prevalence of the disease has been reported in the northern regions of China where the intensity of summer ultraviolet (UV) light is less than in the south (Strand et al., **2009**). This suggests that vitamin D deficiency is simply the consequence of inadequate exposure of the skin to the sun. Given the significant role of sunlight in vitamin D synthesis, one should expect low prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in tropical countries. Contrary to expectation, however, a number of studies conducted in sunny countries such as Tunisia (Meddeb et al., 2005), Morocco (Allali et al., 2009) Lebanon (Gannagé-Yared et al., 2000), Saudi Arabia (Al Faraj and Al Mutairi, 2003) United Arab Emirates (Al Anouti et al., 2011) and Iran (Hovsepian et al., 2011; Kaykhaei et al., 2011) have reported a high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency. One plausible presumption of the high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in the Middle Eastern countries, despite the abundant sunlight almost throughout the year, has been related to clothing style. Concealed clothing, such as veiling worn by women, which is the cultural norm in most of the Middle Eastern countries, is hypothesized to be the cause of impairment of vitamin D production as it blocks the absorbance of UV light.

Egypt, like other Middle Eastern countries, enjoys a good deal of sunny weather, and likewise, the available few studies are hinting that Egyptian females may be, nevertheless, at high risk of vitamin D insufficiency (El Badawy et al., 2009). Also, it is not vet ascertained whether vitamin D insufficiency is because of insufficient sunlight exposure as a result of concealing clothes. Egyptian women are dressed in different styles ranging from, as locally called,"Nekab" (totally covering the whole body, including the hands and face) and "Hegab" (covering the whole body but excluding the hands and face) to the western dress styles. Laboratory in vitro and in vivo studies have shown that clothing inhibits the production of previtamin D and serum vitamin D respectively (Matsuoka et al., 1992; Salih, 2004).

The objectives of the present study were to determine the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency by measuring plasma levels of 25(OH)D, and to find out whether vitamin D status is related to the dress among apparently healthy female university students in an Egyptian governorate.

2. Subjects and Methods Subjects

A random sample of 130 (96 females; 34 males) apparently healthy undergraduate students, Zagazig University, Sharkia, Egypt, were enrolled in a cross sectional study. Female subjects were classified by their dress style into three groups: the "Nekab" dress group where subjects have their whole body totally covered but eyes, the "Hegab" dress group where subjects have their body covered except hands and face, and the Western dressgroup.

Exclusion criteria were chronic illnesses, chronic use of medications (including vitamin D supplementation) or failure to give written informed consent. The study was approved by the ethics committee of Faculty of Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt.

Methods

All subjects were studied within the same period of one month (April, 2011) to minimize seasonal variations in the levels of vitamin D. A study questionnaire was completed for each participant to collect socio-demographic data. Dress style (for women), skin color, and milk product daily consumption were also recorded. A full clinical examination and clinical history were taken from all subjects.

Anthropometrical measurements

Height and weight were measured with the patient standing in light clothes and without shoes. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as body weight divided by height squared (kg/m^2).

Determination of plasma 25(OH)D levels

Plasma samples were obtained in EDTA tubes. mixed and centrifuged for 15 minutes at 2500 rpm. Plasma samples were stored at -20°C until time of assay. Plasma levels of 25(OH)D were assayed in duplicate, with control quality samples.using electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) performed on the Cobas e601 immunoassay analyzer (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, D-68298 Mannheim, Germany),(detectable range: 3.00-70.0 ng/ml.). Values below the limit of detection are reported as < 3.00ng/ml. Values above the measuring range are reported as > 70.0 ng/ml. A value of 30 ng/ml is defined as vitamin D sufficiency. A value of < 20 ng/ml is defined as vitamin D deficiency and values between 20 and 30 ng/ml are defined as vitamin D insufficiency.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous data were expressed as mean (±standard deviation) and were compared by use of Student's t-test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Categorical data were expressed as frequencies and percentages, and were analyzed with the two-tailed chi-square test. Data were analyzed using SPSS version 11.0.1. Software (SPSS for Windows, 2001). Two-tailed p values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results

Mean age of participants was 21.1 ± 2.17 and 20.8 ± 1.96 years for male and female students, respectively. A comparison between the characteristics of these subjects by gender is shown in Table 1. A significant difference was found between males and females as regard BMI and daily consumption of milk products.

Mean plasma 25(OH)D concentration was 23.7 \pm 12.681 ng/ml. As shown in Table 2, mean plasma 25(OH)D level was not significantly different between males (26.6 \pm 12.19) and females (22.8 \pm 12.75). Also, no differences were noted when categorical comparisons

were made by stratifying plasma 25(OH)D levels into deficiency, insufficiency and sufficiency levels. Using a cut-point of 30 ng/ml, 74.6% of this sample (61.7% and 79.2% of males and females, respectively) had low vitamin D status.

Characteristics of female subjects, classified by their dress style, are shown in Table 3. Students dressed in Western style clothing were the youngest.

Table 1.	Characteristics	of the	study	sample.
1 4010 10	Char actor is they	or the	Scutty	Sumpres

Otherwise there were no significant differences between the three female groups along parameters studied. Table 4 shows that plasma 25(OH)D levels were not different between these groups. Seventy five percent,81.4% and 82.3% of females with Western, Hegab and Nekab dress style, respectively, had plasma 25(OH)D concentrations indicative of deficiency or insufficiency levels.

	v 1				
Parameter	Male	Female	Total	Analysis	
	(N=34)	(N=96)	(N=130)		
	Mean (±SD)	Mean (±SD)	Mean (±SD)		
Age (yr)	21.1 (±2.17)	20.8 (±1.96)	20.9 (±2.01)	t=0.638; p=0.525	
BMI ⁽¹⁾	26.1 (±6.53)	30.3 (±6.15)	29.2 (±6.49)	t=3.313; p=0.001*	
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)		
	. ,				
Skin type					
Fair	5 (14.7)	22 (22.9)	27 (20.8)		
Intermediate or dark	29 (85.3)	74 (77.1)	103 (79.2)	$\chi^2 = 1.029; p = 0.310$	
Milk product daily consumption					
Yes	12 (35.3)	16 (16.7)	28 (21.5)		
No	22 (64.7)	80 (83.3)	102 (78.5)	$\chi^2 = 5.155; p = 0.023*$	
*Significant (1) BMI- Body mass index					

Significant (1) BMI= Body mass index

Table 2. Distribution of 25-hydroxyvitamin Dlevels in plasma, by gender

Table 2. Distribution of 25 nytroxy reaning Dievers in plasma, by Sender.				
25-OHD*	Male	Female	Total	Analysis
	(N= 34)	(N=96)	(N=130)	
Mean (±SD) ng/ml	26.6(±12.19)	22.8(±12.75)	23.7 (±12.681)	t=1.512; <i>p</i> =0.133
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
		·····		
<20 ng/ml	6 (17.6)	31 (32.3)	37 (28.5)	
<30 ng/ml	15 (44.1)	45 (46.9)	60 (46.1)	
\geq 30 ng/ml	13 (38.3)	20(20.8)	33 (25.4)	χ^2 =4.929; <i>p</i> =0.085
	_			

*OHD= Hydroxyvitamin D.

Table 3. Characteristics of the female subjects, by dress style.				
Parameter	Western	Hegab	Nekab	Analysis
	(N= 36)	(N=43)	(N=17)	
	Mean (±SD)	Mean (±SD)	Mean (±SD)	
Age (yr)	19.7 (±1.72)	21.1 (±1.87)	20.9 (±2.04)	F=3.476; <i>p</i> =0.035*
BMI ⁽¹⁾	29.7 (+6.63)	30.6 (+6.23)	30.8(+5.03)	E=0.287; $p=0.751$
Divit	$\frac{27.7 (\pm 0.05)}{N(\%)}$	N (%)	N (%)	1-0.237, p-0.751
	1 (70)	1 (70)	14 (70)	
Skin type	<u> </u>		······································	
Fair	8 (22.2)	8 (18.6)	6 (35.3)	
Intermediate or dark	28 (77.8)	35 (81.4)	11 (64.7)	$\chi^2 = 1.937; p = 0.380$
Milk product daily use				
Yes	5 (13.9)	8 (18.6)	3 (17.6)	
No	31 (86.1)	35 (81.4)	14 (82.4)	$\chi^2=0.328; p=0.849$
*Significant	(1) BN	II= Body mass inde	X	

25-OHD*	Western	Hegab	Nekab	Analysis
	(N= 36)	(N=43)	(N=17)	
Mean (±SD) ng/ml	24,5(±13.86)	21.4(±12.03)	22.5(±12.76)	F=0.586; p=0.558
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	
<20 ng/ml	11 (30.6)	15 (34.9)	5 (29.4)	
<30 ng/ml	16 (44.4)	20 (46.5)	9 (52.9)	
\geq 30 ng/ml	9 (25.0)	8 (18.6)	3 (17.7)	$\chi^2 = 0.832; p = 0.934$

Table 4.Distribution of 25-h	vdroxvvitamin Dlevels amon	g females.bv dress style.
	,	

*OHD= Hydroxyvitamin D.

4. Discussion

Below latitude of approximately 35° North, UVB radiation is sufficient for vitamin D3 synthesis all year round (Pierrot-Deseilligny and Souberbielle, 2010; Tsiaras and Weinstock, 2011). The latitude of Zagazig, Egypt, where this study was carried out, is 30°N. There should be, therefore, no problem with the solar source of vitamin D. However, this study, in keeping with a number of previous studies in other countries sharing Egypt a sunny climate (Mishal, 2001; Elsammak et al., 2011) demonstrates a high prevalence of low vitamin D status (61.7% and 79.2% of males and females, respectively) among university students in Zagazig, Egypt. Yet, in contrast to other studies which claim that covered dressing style causes vitamin D insufficiency (Guzel et al., 2001; Budak et al., 2004; Allali et al., 2009) we found no differences in plasma 25(OH)D levels between groups, classified by dress style. Thus, our findings do not support the hypothesis that concealing clothing is the mechanism by which vitamin D production is impaired in this sunny country. By contrast, it could be that excess sun exposure itself is the factor responsible for the decrease in vitamin D status. As a regulatory process of vitamin D synthesis in face of continued skin exposure to UVB radiation, pre-vitamin D₃ is broken-down and vitamin D_3 is converted to inactive photoproducts and hence, an increase in vitamin D status is controlled (Tsiaras and Weinstock, 2011: Webb and Engelsen, 2008).

Moreover, it should be noted that in the present study, vitamin D levels did not differ between males and females or between females with Western dress style and those with more concealing dress styles, i.e., those wearing Hegab or Nekab. More than 60% of males and 75% of females with Western dress style had low plasma 25(OH)Dlevels. Thus, several reasons other than sun exposure could be involved in such reduction of vitamin D levels among Egyptian university students. Further studies are required to search for these reasons.

Our study had a number of limitations. First, we examined the plasma vitamin D in students of Zagazig University only. Thus, we cannot extrapolate our results to students in other universities or to other populations. Second, we did not measure parathyroid hormone, Ca and PO4levels to exclude any cases of secondary hyperparathyroidism. Yet, many studies have indicated that such serum biomarkers may not reflect the true status of an individual's vitamin D status. Third, while we measured baseline plasma 25(OH)D, we did not have details for sun exposure data of the participants, including holidays in the sun. Evaluation of the impact of dress style on vitamin D status might have been limited by the possibility that many students were spending most of their time indoors. Finally, a larger sample would have been preferred.

Conclusions

This study, in Zagazig, Egypt, in support of those in other Middle East countries, demonstrates a high prevalence of low vitamin D status among university students. Yet, in contrast to other studies we failed to confirm that concealing clothing is the cause of the vitamin D insufficiency. Thus, despite having sufficient solar source of vitamin D, other factors do play a role in these low levels. Further research is needed in this area of interest. While importance of vitamin D supplementation, perhaps not only for conservatively dressed females, is obvious, the most efficacious strategy to improve vitamin D levels remains a subject for further study.

Conflict of interests: None.

Corresponding author Maggie M. Fawzi

Departments of ¹Clinical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt *mag0000eg@yahoo.com

5. References

- Al Anouti F, Thomas J, Abdel-Wareth L, Rajah J, Grant WB, Haq A. (2011). Vitamin D deficiency and sun avoidance among university students at Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. Dermatoendocrinol.;3(4):235-9.
- Al Faraj S, Al Mutairi K. (2003). Vitamin D deficiency and chronic low back pain in Saudi Arabia. Spine; 28(2):177-9.
- Allali F, El Aichaoui S, Khazani H, Benyahia B, Saoud B, El Kabbaj S, Bahiri R, Abouqal R, Hajjaj-Hassouni

N. (2009). High prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in Morocco: relationship to lifestyle, physical performance, bone markers, and bone mineral density. Semin Arthritis Rheum.;38(6):444-51.

- Anderson PH, May BK, Morris HA. (2003). Vitamin D metabolism: new concepts and clinical implications. Clin Biochem Rev.;24(1):13-26.
- Bacchetta J, Ranchin B, Dubourg L, Cochat P. (2010). Vitamin D revisited: a cornerstone of health?Arch Pediatr.;17(12):1687-95.
- 6. Brok J, Huusom L, Cortes D. (2011). Severe vitamin D deficiency in children born in Denmark of dark-skinned women.UgeskrLaeger.;173(26):1862-3.
- Budak N, Ciçek B, Sahin H, Tutus A. (2004). Bone mineral density and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level: is there any difference according to the dressing style of the female university students. Int J Food Sci Nutr.; 55(7):569-75.
- El Badawy AA, Eassa S, GhalilGM, Gharib AS, El Badawy SA. (2009). Vitamin D status and some related factors among a sample of females living in rural area of Sharkia Governorate. Egyptian Osteoporosis Prevention Society Conference, Cairo, Egypt: 9th -10th April, 2009.
- Elsammak MY, Al-Wossaibi AA, Al-Howeish A, Alsaeed J. (2011). High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in the sunny Eastern region of Saudi Arabia: a hospital-based study.East Mediterr Health J.; 17(4):317-22.
- Gannagé-Yared MH, Chemali R, Yaacoub N, Halaby G. (2000). Hypovitaminosis D in a sunny country: relation to lifestyle and bone markers. J Bone Miner Res.;15(9):1856-62.
- Grant WB. (2006). Epidemiology of disease risks in relation to vitamin D insufficiency.ProgBiophysMol Biol.; 92(1):65-79.
- Guzel R, Kozanoglu E, Guler-Uysal F, Soyupak S, Sarpel T. (2001).Vitamin D status and bone mineral density of veiled and unveiled Turkish women. J Womens Health Gend Based Med.;10(8):765-70.
- 13. Henry HL. (2011). Regulation of vitamin D metabolism. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.;25(4):531-41.
- Holick MF, Chen TC. (2008). Vitamin D deficiency: a worldwide problem with health consequences. Am J ClinNutr.;87(4):1080S-6S
- **15.** Holick MF. (2005). The vitamin D epidemic and its health consequences.J Nutr.;135(11):2739S-48S.
- Hollis BW, Horst RL. (2007). The assessment of circulating 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)2D: where we are and where we are going. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.;103(3-5):473-6.
- 17. Hollis BW. (2005). Circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels indicative of vitamin D sufficiency: implications for establishing a new effective dietary intake recommendation for vitamin D.J Nutr.;135(2):317-22.

- Hovsepian S, Amini M, Aminorroaya A, Amini P, Iraj B. (2011). Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among adult population of Isfahan City, Iran.J Health Popul Nutr.;29(2):149-55.
- Kaykhaei MA, Hashemi M, Narouie B, Shikhzadeh A, Rashidi H, Moulaei N, Ghavami S. (2011). High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in Zahedan, southeast Iran.Ann NutrMetab.;58(1):37-41.
- Khazai N, Judd SE, Tangpricha V. (2008). Calcium and vitamin D: skeletal and extraskeletal health. Curr Rheumatol Rep.;10(2):110-7.
- Kull M Jr, Kallikorm R, Tamm A, Lember M. (2009). Seasonal variance of 25-(OH) vitamin D in the general population of Estonia, a Northern European country. BMC Public Health.;9:22.
- Matsuoka LY, Wortsman J, Dannenberg MJ, Hollis BW, Lu Z, Holick MF. (1992). Clothing prevents ultraviolet-B radiation-dependent photosynthesis of vitamin D3.J ClinEndocrinolMetab.;75(4):1099-103.
- Meddeb N, Sahli H, Chahed M, Abdelmoula J, Feki M, Salah H, Frini S, Kaabachi N, BelkahiaCh, Mbazaa R, Zouari B, Sellami S. (2005). Vitamin D deficiency in Tunisia. Osteoporos Int.;16(2):180-3.
- Mishal AA. (2001). Effects of different dress styles on vitamin D levels in healthy young Jordanian women. Osteoporos Int.;12(11):931-5
- 25. Pierrot-Deseilligny C, Souberbielle JC. (2010). Is hypovitaminosis D one of the environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis?Brain.;133(Pt 7):1869-88
- Rucker D, Allan JA, Fick GH, Hanley DA. (2002). Vitamin D insufficiency in a population of healthy western Canadians.CMAJ.;166(12):1517-24. Erratum in: CMAJ 2002;167(8):850.
- Salih FM. (2004). Effect of clothing varieties on solar photosynthesis of previtamin D3: an in vitro study. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed.;20(1):53-8.
- 28. Springbett P, Buglass S, Young AR. (2010). Photoprotection and vitamin D status. J Photochem Photobiol B.;101(2):160-8.
- Strand MA, Perry J, Zhao J, Fischer PR, Yang J, Li S. (2009). Severe vitamin D-deficiency and the health of North China children. Matern Child Health J.;13(1):144-50.
- Tsiaras WG, Weinstock MA. (2011). Factors influencing vitamin D status. Acta Derm Venereol.; 91(2):115-24.
- Webb AR, Engelsen O. (2008). Ultraviolet exposure scenarios: risks of erythema from recommendations on cutaneous vitamin D synthesis. AdvExp Med Biol.; 624:72-85.
- 5/2/2012

Life Science Journal

(Acta Zhengzhou University Overseas Edition)

Call for Papers

The academic journal "*Life Science Journal*" (ISSN: 1097-8135) is inviting you to publish your papers.

Life Science Journal, the Acta Zhengzhou University Oversea Version registered in the United States, is an international journal with the purpose to enhance our natural and scientific knowledge dissemination in the world under the free publication principle. The journal is calling for papers from all who are associated with Zhengzhou University-home and abroad. Any valuable papers or reports that are related to life science-in their broadest sense-are welcome. Other academic articles that are less relevant but are of high quality will also be considered and published. Papers submitted could be reviews, objective descriptions, research reports, opinions/debates, news, letters, and other types of writings. Let's work together to disseminate our research results and our opinions.

Please send your manuscript to editor@sciencepub.net.

Address: Life Science Journal - Acta Zhengzhou University Overseas Edition Marsland Press PO Box 180432, Richmond Hill, New York 11418, USA Telephone: (347) 321-7172 Emails: editor@sciencepub.net; sciencepub@gmail.com; lifesciencej@gmail.com; Website: http://www.sciencepub.net; http://www.lifesciencesite.com Volume 9, Number 2, (Cumulative No.29) Part 5 June 25, 2012 ISSN:1097-8135

Life Science Journal



Copyright © 2005-2012 Marsland Press / Zhengzhou University

